## School of Design and Built Environment

# The Influence of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Productivity in the Open-plan Workplace

Samhar Hikmat Rashid Rashid

This thesis is presented for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

of

Curtin University

## DECLARATION

To the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where due acknowledgement has been made.

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university.

Signed: Samhar Rashid

Date: November 2021

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

For the strength, the determination, the health, the courage and the patience that God embraced me with, I eagerly thank Almighty Allah, the Most Gracious and Most Merciful and Generous God.

During this long journey, many setbacks and frustrating events happened, along with propitious and encouraging ones. These altogether have contributed to push and accelerate the wheel of progress forward towards completing this thesis.

This humble work might be the best thing that has happened to me if I exclude my marriage to my lovely husband, and my sweet daughters Sarah and Lara.

Here, I would like to present my deepest thanks and respect to my supervisor, Dr. Tanja Glusac, for her commitment and her support. She is an excellent academic supervisor.

I would like to show my tremendous gratitude to my mentor Dr. Jane Matthews. No words will be enough to express my gratitude to Jane, and I hope she knows that. Not to forget presenting deep respect and thanks to A/Professor Dianne Smith. I would like also to extend my thanks to Dr. Robert Kane for his assistance in statistical analysis. I have learnt from him the meaning of giving without waiting for something in return. My gratitude also goes to Dr. Amanda Davies for her sincere support, especially during my darkest moments. Many thanks to Dr Christina Houen of Perfect Words Editing for editing the thesis in accordance with the standards of the university and the Institute of Professional Editors (IPEd). Many thanks to my family back in Iraq.

Finally, I would like to thank the Higher Committee for Education Development in Iraq for showing great kindness, supporting and sponsoring my study.

### ABSTRACT

Advances in technology and a drive for increased economic efficiency have resulted in many organisations adopting an open-plan workplace design. Within the education sector, academics are facing increased demands on performance, driven by changes in work roles responses to space pressures, increased student numbers and recruitment of high-profile staff. In addition, there is an increasing need for staff to work more collaboratively, particularly in relation to the exchange of knowledge between the education sector and industry partners. In response to these changes, it has become necessary to adapt and evolve new academic workplaces that are flexible enough to cope with these new demands. While a number of studies have evaluated the effect of indoor environment quality (IEQ) on productivity in commercial open-plan workplaces, only a limited number of studies have focused on the education sector. Due to the unique nature of academic work, which distinguishes it from the other sectors, it is not applicable to apply the results of previous studies related to other spaces such as commercial ones to academic spaces. Therefore, there is a clear need for a study solely concerned with academic work spaces. This thesis bridges the gap identified in the existing literature that reveal limitations and lack of studies concern with academic workplace and productivity. More specifically, this research investigates the effectiveness of the open-plan office layout for academic work within the tertiary education sector and aims to determine which aspects of IEQ impact upon academic productivity within this context. The research question is: "How does the indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces?" This gives rise to the objectives, which are to:

- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on satisfaction.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on mood.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on motivation.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on productivity, and
- Explore whether the impact of IEQ on satisfaction, motivation or mood affects academic staff perceptions of productivity.

A case study-mixed method methodology was adopted, to explore the effects of six individual IEQ factors (thermal comfort, air quality, lighting, sound levels, workplace layout and colour) on academic staff satisfaction, motivation, mood and productivity. In addition, the relationships of satisfaction, motivation and mood with productivity were explored. Three academic open-plan workplaces in Western Australia were selected for the study. Four instruments were used for data collection: physical measurements, a questionnaire survey, a series of semi-structured interviews with academics working in open-plan workplaces, and researcher observations.

The results show that some IEQ factors had a significant impact on academic satisfaction, motivation, mood, and productivity. Particularly, the sound level and workplace layout proved to have the greatest impact. More specifically, distraction from the conversations of other colleagues, and the lack of visual and auditory privacy had the biggest negative impact on productivity. In addition, the study confirmed a strong relation between academic productivity on the one hand and satisfaction, mood, and motivation on the other. By increasing satisfaction, mood, and motivation the productivity increases and vice versa. Also, the study concluded that applying Australian Standards for workplace design does not necessarily guarantee the provision of a work environment that supports user comfort and performance. As a result, academic workplaces need specific designs that facilitate academic work activities and take into consideration sound levels and workplace layouts' impact to create private, secure and quiet office spaces. This study ultimately provides a better understanding of the academic open-plan workplace, including guidelines on how to reach the optimal design that meets all the requirements of academic work, and is thus an important reference for future research.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATION	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
ABSTRACT	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	<b>v</b>
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	XIII
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
<ul> <li>1.1 INTRODUCTION</li> <li>1.2 RESEARCH AIM AND OBJECTIVES</li> <li>1.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY</li> <li>1.4 THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY</li> <li>1.5 STRUCTURE OF THE DISSERTATION</li></ul>	1 4 4 7 7
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	9
<ul> <li>2.1 INTRODUCTION</li> <li>2.2 TERTIARY EDUCATION</li> <li>2.2.1 Productivity in Tertiary Education</li> </ul>	
2.2.2 Evaluation of Academic Workplaces	
2.3 PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT OF OPEN-PLAN WORKPLACE	16 16
2.3.2 The Contemporary Workplace	
2.3.2.1 The Open-plan Workplace	
2.3.3 Territory, Personalisation and Identity in Open-Plan Workplaces	
2.4 THE PHYSICAL WORK ENVIRONMENT	
2.4.2 Mood and Emotion in the Workplace	
2.4.2.1 Distinguishing Between Mood and Emotion	
2.4.2.2 Studies of Mood in the Workplace	
2.4.2.3 Measurement Methods for Feelings	
2.4.3 Motivation	
2.5 INDOOR ENVIRONMENT QUALITY	
2.5.2 Air Quality	41
2.5.3 Lighting	
2.5.4 Sound Levels	44
2.5.5 Layout	45
2.5.6 Colour	

2.6 CONCLUSION	50
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	52
3.1 INTRODUCTION	52
3.2 PHILOSOPHY AND THE RESEARCH DESIGN	52
3.3 CASE STUDY RESEARCH	54
3.3.1 Case Study Mixed Method Approach	56
3.3.2 Triangulation	60
3.3.3 Case Studies Selection	61
3.3.4 Participant Sample	62
3.4 QUANTITATIVE METHOD	63
3.4.1 Questionnaire	63
3.4.1.1 Degree of satisfaction	66
3.4.1.2 Mood evaluation scale	66
3.4.1.3 Motivation evaluation scale	67
3.4.1.4 Measurement of occupant productivity	67
3.4.2 Physical Measurements	68
3.5 QUALITATIVE DATA: SEMI-STRUCTURED INTERVIEWS AND RESEARCHER OBSERVATION	ns 69
3.6 Research Framework and Procedures	70
3.7 DATA ANALYSIS	72
3.7.1 Quantitative Data Analysis	73
3.7.2 Statistical Reliability of Mood and Motivation	74
3.7.2.1 Mood scale	74
3.7.2.2 Motivation	77
3.7.3 Qualitative Data Analysis	78
3.7.3.1 Open Coding	79
3.7.3.2 Axial coding process	81
3.7.3.3 Selective Coding Process	81
3.8 Research Trustworthiness	82
3.8.1 Credibility	83
3.8.2 Transferability	83
3.8.3 Dependability	83
3.8.4 Confirmability	83
3.8.5 Ethics Approval	83
3.9 Chapter Summary	84
CHAPTER 4: CASE STUDIES ANALYSIS AND RESULTS	86
4.1 INTRODUCTION	86
4.2 CASE STUDY ONE: CURTIN UNIVERSITY SUSTAINABILITY POLICY (CUSP) INSTITUTE 4.2.1 Overview	88 88
4.2.1.1 Participants	88

4.2.1.2 Academic Activity in the Workplace	88
4.2.1.3 Open-plan Layout	89
4.2.1.4 Workstation Layout	91
4.2.1.5 Lighting/windows	92
4.2.1.6 HVAC System	93
4.2.1.7 Summary of Case Study One Overview	93
4.2.2 Quantitative Results for CUSP	94
4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements	94
4.2.2.1.1 Summary of Indoor Environment Quality Measurements for CUSP	
4.2.2.2 Statistical Analysis of the Questionnaire	99
4.2.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction	
4.2.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Mood	101
4.2.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Motivation	102
4.2.2.2.4 The Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity	103
4.2.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood, and Motivation	105
4.2.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for CUSP workplace	108
4.2.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results	109
4.2.3 Results of Semi-structured Interviews with Academics	110
4.2.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results	116
4.2.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CUSP Workplace	116
4.3 CASE STUDY TWO: CURTIN TEACHING AND LEARNING (CTL)	120
4.3.1 Overview	120
4.3.1.1 Participants	120
4.3.1.2 Academic Productivity in the Workplace	120
4.3.1.3 Open-plan Layout	121
4.3.1.4 Workstation layout	125
4.3.1.5 Lighting/windows	126
4.3.1.6 HVAC System	127
4.3.1.7 Summary Case Study Two Overview	127
4.3.2 Quantitative Results for CTL	128
4.3.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements	128
4.3.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements	
4.3.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire	133
4.3.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction	133
4.3.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Mood	135
4.3.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Motivation	136
4.3.2.2.4 The Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity	
4.3.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation	
4.3.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for CTL workplace	141
4.3.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results for CTL	142
4.3.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)	143

4.3.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CTL Workplace       148         4.4 CASE STUDY THREE: CENTRAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (CIT)       151         4.4.1 Overview       151         4.4.1 Overview       151         4.4.1.1 Participants       151         4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace       151         4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layou       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       164         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       165         4.4.2.2 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       166         4.4.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       167         4.4.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Produ	4.3.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CTL	147
4.4 CASE STUDY TUREE: CENTRAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (CIT)       151         4.4.1 Overview       151         4.4.1 Participants       151         4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace       151         4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layou       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layou       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.5 Nummary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       153         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Statifaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Statifaction       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.3.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Results Gr CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182	4.3.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CTL Workplace	148
4.4.1 Overview       151         4.4.1.1 Participants       151         4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace       151         4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.5 Uighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Moot       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Moot       166         4.4.2.2.4 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Moot and Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Saff Productivity       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3.3 Isummary of Qualitative Results CIT       178         4.4.3.4 Summary of Qualitative Results CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DI	4.4 CASE STUDY THREE: CENTRAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (CIT)	151
4.4.1.1 Participants       151         4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace       151         4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CTT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satiffaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satiff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Satif Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Satif Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Satif Motivation       169         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.3.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.4 Summary of Qualitative Results CTT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitati	4.4.1 Overview	151
4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace       151         4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CTT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 I Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction <t< td=""><td>4.4.1.1 Participants</td><td></td></t<>	4.4.1.1 Participants	
4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout       152         4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2 Unatitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Isomrary of Physical Measurements       153         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.3.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Satif Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Satif Productivity       167         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results of crusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)         179       CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION       182       5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mod       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ an Perceived Productivity <td>4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace</td> <td></td>	4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace	
4.4.1.4 Workstation layout       155         4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.1.5 Lindoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satif Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satif Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results for CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood	4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout	
4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows       156         4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       153         4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       163         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on the Impact on Statisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Qualitative Results fOT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 I Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perc	4.4.1.4 Workstation layout	
4.4.1.6 HVAC system       156         4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.1 Summary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results for CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 I Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mod       186         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mod       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       194 <t< td=""><td>4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows</td><td></td></t<>	4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows	
4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview       157         4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.1 Isummary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.3 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mod       186         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Pactors on Motivation       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Pereeived Productivity       191	4.4.1.6 HVAC system	
4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT       157         4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.4 Lapact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 I Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity	4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview	
4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements       157         4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.1 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.2.1 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       166         4.4.2.4.1 Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Qualitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 I Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Modi       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived	4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT	
4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements       163         4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Statisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ reactors on Modivation       188         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       194         5.2.2 Recomme	4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements	
4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study       198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES <td>4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements</td> <td></td>	4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements	
4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction       163         4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Modod       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study	4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire	163
4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood       165         4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Modod       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study       198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202	4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction	163
4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation       166         4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity       167         4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results for Cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Qualitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       198         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood	165
4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity.       167         4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis       — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mod       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study       199         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation	166
4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation       169         4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       171         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       194         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study       198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity	
4.4.2.5 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace       1/1         4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation	
4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CI1       172         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)       173         4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       198         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.2.4 Since the second secon	1/1
4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)	4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT	
4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT.       178         4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179 <b>CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION</b> 182         5.1 INTRODUCTION.       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction.       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood.       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity.       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study.       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200 <b>REFERENCES</b> 202 <b>APPENDIX 1</b> 234	4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)	) 173
4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace       179         CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION       182         5.1 INTRODUCTION.       182         5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction.       183         5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood.       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity.       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION.       196         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study.       198         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES.       202         APPENDIX 1       234	4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT	
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION1825.1 INTRODUCTION1825.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction1835.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood1865.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation1885.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity1915.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?1945.2 CONCLUSION1965.2.2 Recommendations from this Study1985.2.4 Future Studies200REFERENCES202APPENDIX 1234	4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace	
5.1 INTRODUCTION.1825.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction.1835.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood.1865.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation1885.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity.1915.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?1945.2 CONCLUSION.1965.2.2 Recommendations from this Study.1985.2.3 Limitations of this Study.1995.2.4 Future Studies200REFERENCES.202APPENDIX 1	CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction	5.1 INTRODUCTION	
5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood       186         5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation       188         5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION       196         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study       198         5.2.4 Future Studies       200 <b>REFERENCES</b> 202         APPENDIX 1       234	5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction	
5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation1885.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity.1915.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?1945.2 CONCLUSION.1965.2.2 Recommendations from this Study.1985.2.3 Limitations of this Study.1995.2.4 Future Studies200REFERENCES202APPENDIX 1	5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood	
5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity.       191         5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?       194         5.2 CONCLUSION.       196         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study.       198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study.       199         5.2.4 Future Studies       200         REFERENCES         202         APPENDIX 1	5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation	
5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?	5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity	
194         5.2 CONCLUSION         196         5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study         198         5.2.3 Limitations of this Study         199         5.2.4 Future Studies         200         REFERENCES         202         APPENDIX 1	5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Pro-	ductivity?
5.2 CONCLUSION1965.2.2 Recommendations from this Study1985.2.3 Limitations of this Study1995.2.4 Future Studies200REFERENCES202APPENDIX 1234		
5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study	5.2 CONCLUSION	
5.2.3 Limitations of this Study	5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study	
5.2.4 Future Studies	5.2.3 Limitations of this Study	
REFERENCES	5.2.4 Future Studies	
APPENDIX 1	REFERENCES	202
	APPENDIX 1	234

APPENDIX 2	
APPENDIX 3	
APPENDIX 4	
APPENDIX 5	
APPENDIX 6	
APPENDIX 7	
APPENDIX 8	242

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1 Traditional academic workplace (Rashid 2015)14
Figure 2-2 Larkin Administration Building / Frank Lloyd Wright / Buffalo, New York /
1904-06. 2016, Digital Image. Reproduced from: flickr17
Figure 2-3 Carol M. Highsmith, Work area at the Johnson Wax Building, headquarters of the
S.C. Johnson and Son Co., Racine, Wisconsin. 2011, Digital image. Reproduced by
PICRYL18
Figure 2-4 Comfort model of workplace environment adapted from (Vischer 2008, 101)27
Figure 2-5 A model of the effect of open-plan work environment on workers attitude and
behaviour based on effective theory adapted from (Ashkanasy et al. 2014, 1178)32
Figure 2-6 Perspective of enclosure workstation (Rashid 2019)47
Figure 3-1 Mixed methods design adapted from (Creswell et al. 2007, P.158)
Figure 3-2 Research framework for the current study (Rashid 2020)
Figure 4-1 Number of academics conducting types of work (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-2 Floor plan of CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015)90
Figure 4-3 Small meeting room (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-4 Large meeting area (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-5 Booth seating for casual meeting (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-6 Workstation design arrangements in the workplace (Rashid 2015)92
Figure 4-7 Workstation design arrangements in the workplace (Rashid 2015)92
Figure 4-8 Lighting Distribution (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-9 Identified spots for physical measurements in CUSP (Rashid 2015)95
Figure 4-10 Temperature measurements for CUSP (Rashid 2015)96
Figure 4-11 Humidity measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015)96
Figure 4-12 CO <sub>2</sub> concentration measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015)97
Figure 4-13 Lighting measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015)98
Figure 4-14 Sound level results for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-15 Results of the respondents' perceptions of environment satisfaction for CUSP
(Rashid 2015)101
Figure 4-16 Results of the respondents' perceptions of mood for CUSP (Rashid 2015)102
Figure 4-17 Results of the respondents' perceptions of motivation for CUSP (Rashid 2015).
Figure 4-18 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CUSP (Rashid
2015)
Figure 4-19 Outcomes of CUSP workplace (Rashid 2018)119
Figure 4-20 Number of academics conducting different types of work (Rashid 2015) 121
Figure 4-21 Floor plan for the CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)122
Figure 4-22 Meeting room accommodates eight persons (Rashid 2015)
Figure 4-23 Meeting room accommodates six persons (Rashid 2015)123
Figure 4-25 Quiet room, in blue colour, for work requiring concentration (Rashid 2015)123
Figure 4-24 Quiet room, in orange colour, for work requiring concentration (Rashid 2015).

Figure 4-26 North side of the workplace overlooking the common room (Rashid 2015)	.124
Figure 4-27 Opposite side of the common room, allowing daylight to enter the workplace	e
(Rashid 2015)	124
Figure 4-28 Common room for informal interactions (Rashid 2015)	125
Figure 4-29 Planter wall on the south side of the workplace (Rashid 2015)	125
Figure 4-30 Team enclosure design for workstations (Rashid 2015).	126
Figure 4-31 Individual workstation design (Rashid 2015).	126
Figure 4-32 Set of windows in west side of the workplace (Rashid 2015)	127
Figure 4-33 Uniform lighting distribution (Rashid 2015).	127
Figure 4-34 Identified spots for physical measurements in CTL (Rashid 2015)	129
Figure 4-35 Temperature measurements for CTL (Rashid 2015)	130
Figure 4-36 Humidity measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)	130
Figure 4-37 CO <sub>2</sub> concentration measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)	131
Figure 4-38 lighting measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)	132
Figure 4-39 Sound level results for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)	133
Figure 4-40 Results of respondents' perceptions of environment satisfaction for CTL (Ra	shid
2015)	135
Figure 4-41 Results of the respondents' perceptions of mood for CTL (Rashid 2015)	136
Figure 4-42 Results of respondents' perceptions of motivation for CTL (Rashid 2015)	137
Figure 4-43 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CTL (Rashid	1
2015)	138
Figure 4-44 Outcomes of CTL workplace (Rashid 2018).	150
Figure 4-45 Number of academics conducting different types of work (Rashid 2015)	152
Figure 4-46 Floor plan for CIT workplace	153
Figure 4-47 Meeting room that accommodates six (Rashid 2015)	154
Figure 4-48 Large meeting room (Rashid 2015).	154
Figure 4-49 Individual offices for managers (Rashid 2015)	154
Figure 4-50 Common room (Rashid 2015)	155
Figure 4-51 Orange wall on the north side of the workplace (Rashid 2015)	155
Figure 4-52 Workstation designed in an 'L-shape (Rashid 2015)	156
Figure 4-53 Uniform lighting distribution (Rashid 2015).	156
Figure 4-54 Identified spots for physical measurements in CIT (Rashid 2015)	
Figure 4-55 Temperature measurements for CIT (Rashid 2015)	159
Figure 4-56 Humidity measurements for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015).	
Figure 4-57 CO2 concentration results for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015)	161
Figure 4-58 Lighting measurements for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015)	162
Figure 4-59 Sound level results for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015)	163
Figure 4-60 Results of the respondents' perceptions of environment satisfaction for CIT	
(Rashid 2015)	165
Figure 4-61 Results of the respondents' perception of mood for CIT (Rashid 2015)	
Figure 4-62 Results of the respondents' perceptions of motivation for CIT (Rashid 2015)	. 167
Figure 4-63 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CIT (Rashid	
2015)	.168
Figure 4-64 Outcomes of CIT workplace (Rashid 2018).	.181

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1 Set of mixed methods designs to explain the priority of qualitative and quant	itative
data (adapted from Johnson and Christensen 2017, 478).)	59
Table 3-2 Participant numbers across the three case studies (Rashid 2015)	63
Table 3-3 Structural design of questionnaire for the current study.	64
Table 3-4 Structural design of interview for the current study	70
Table 3-5 Cronbach's alpha test results for mood construct for the current study	75
Table 3-6 Mood responses associated with thermal conditions CUSP	76
Table 3-7 Mood responses associated with lighting levels CUSP	76
Table 3-8 Mood responses associated with thermal conditions CTL	77
Table 3-9 Mood responses associated with colour CIT	77
Table 3-10 Cronbach's alpha test results for motivation contract for the current study	78
Table 3-11 Example of the first step of the open coding process for the current study	80
Table 3-12 Example of the three steps of coding for the current study	81
Table 3-13 Summary of approaches to the research process for the current study	84
Table 4-1 Demographics of the CUSP workplace participants (Rashid 2015)	88
Table 4-2 A summary of CUSP-academic open-plan workplace characteristics (Rashid	
2015)	94
Table 4-3 Numbers of respondents and mean score of satisfaction for CUSP (Rashid 20)	)15).
	100
Table 4-4 Productivity in CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).	103
Table 4-5         Numbers of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CUSI	P
(Rashid 2015)	104
Table 4-6 The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CUSP workplaces for	or the
current study	106
Table 4-7 The correlation between productivity and mood in CUSP workplaces for the	
current study	107
<b>Table 4-8</b> The correlation between productivity and motivation in CUSP workplaces for	or the
current study	107
Table 4-9 Demographic of the CTL workplace participants (Rashid 2015).	120
Table 4-10 Summary of CTL workplace characteristics (Rashid 2015)	127
Table 4-11 Numbers of respondents and mean score of satisfaction for CTL (Rashid 20)	)15).
	134
Table 4-12 Productivity in CTL workplace (Rashid 2015)	137
Table 4-13 Numbers of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CTL	1
(Rashid 2015)	138
Table 4-14 The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CTL for the curren	t
study	139
Table 4-15 The correlation between productivity and mood in CTL workplaces for the	
current study	140
Table 4-16 The correlation between productivity and motivation in CTL workplaces for	r the
current study	141

<b>Table 4-17</b> Demographics of the CIT workplace participants (Rashid 2015).
<b>Table 4-18</b> A summary of the three-academic open-plan workplace characteristics (Rashid
2015)
<b>Table 4-19</b> Numbers of respondents and mean score of satisfaction for CIT (Rashid 2015).
<b>Table 4-20</b> Productivity in CIT open-plan workplace (Rashid 2015)
<b>Table 4-21</b> Number of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CIT
(Rashid 2015)168
<b>Table 4-22</b> The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CIT workplaces for the
current study

### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Open-plan offices have attracted much attention in organization studies, which have found that the physical environment of the workplace can trigger organizational work change, such as when and where the occupant does the work (Smollan 2015). For example, Hurdley (2010) stated that corridors in a university building have been used by academic staff not just as walkways, but also as places for work-related conversations.

The open-plan workplace was adopted as an alternative to individual offices to support and enhance creativity, collaboration, and social interaction among occupants, in addition to allowing better use of the space through new, flexible workplace design (Clarke, Kenny and Loxley 2015). Contrary to expectations, a number of studies have proven that the open-plan layout can prevent interaction among employees (Bernstein and Turban 2018; Gaskell 2018; Orel and Almeida 2019; Kim and de Dear; 2013). For example, Bektas (2013) reported that occupants in open-plan workplaces tend to personalise their space in order to maintain their sense of privacy. This territorial demarcation prevents occupants from effective interaction. Similar to these findings, Bernstein and Turban (2018) showed that occupants' concerns about causing distraction to their colleagues resulted in less collaboration between occupants in an open-plan workplace. Moreover, some studies showed that an open-plan workplace has a negative impact on environmental comfort, wellbeing, and productivity (Danielsson and Bodin, 2008; Kaarlela-Tuomaala et al. 2009; Pejtersen et al. 2006). However, it has been argued that these results stem from the fact that most of the open-plan workplaces are poorly designed. Oldman and Rothe (2017) found that people in open-plan workplaces generally tend to experience more negative impact than in individual workplaces, but at the same time, open-plan workplaces demonstrated the highest-performing results in comparison with individual offices. These findings were based on the results of a survey conducted in industry with 250,000 participants. The study suggested that a comfortable physical work environment could greatly minimise the negative impacts associated with open-plan workplaces.

The tertiary education sector has been exposed to many changes, such as in market demand, academic identity, responses to space pressures, increased student numbers, the development of teaching delivery methods, and the increasing workload on academics. In line

with these changes, and mimicking the commercial sector, open-plan in some universities has been represented as a solution to fulfil all these requirements and support work transformation (Wilhoit et al. 2016; Lancione and Clegg 2013). For example, universities which this applies are the UTS Business School in Sydney (Lancione and Clegg 2013) and the Dutch University of Utrecht (Gastelaars 2010).

As in other sectors, the purpose of adopting open-plan offices in universities is to increase productivity, efficiency, and sustain collaboration and interaction between occupants (Hassel 2016). However, a study conducted by Wilhoit et al. (2016) found that the outcomes of academic open-plan workplaces are complex and sometime contrary. The authors stated that open-plan may not be operative for academic purposes due to unintentional social consequences such as change resistance, lack of control over the space, and staff members threatening to leave the university. The researchers suggested that academic workplace design should seek solutions to these issues through designs that fulfil academic requirements and enable academic staff to work effectively and sustainably (Wilhoit et al. 2016).

The physical environment, including indoor environmental quality (IEQ) such as temperature, lighting, noise, air quality, layout and furniture, includes the environment quality of a building and its influence on the wellbeing and behaviour of the occupants (Mujeebu 2019). Indoor environment quality has a crucial role in work satisfaction and influences occupants' performance in the workplace (Gifford 2014). Prior studies in environmental psychology have shown that an employee's satisfaction with his/her physical environment is a key indicator of individual wellbeing and performance (Yee, Yeung and Cheng 2008; O'Neill 2008). Vischer and Wifi (2017) emphasised that satisfaction with environment quality is achieved when the work environment meets occupants' needs and has a positive effect on their morale and productivity, enhancing their quality of work and of life. This suggests that satisfaction with a workplace environment exceeds a general evaluation of what occupants like or dislike about their work environment. Building performance should be assessed by evaluating the environment's ability to support occupants' needs. Fassoulis and Alexopoulos (2015), in their study of productivity in the University of Athens (UOA) and its relation with workplace satisfaction, found that the administrative staff were not satisfied with their new open-plan workplace, because they believed that the new design did not support their work types, and that had a negative effect on their perception of productivity.

A significant relationship has been found between the physical environment and emotions in the workplace. Ashkanasy, Ayoko and Jehn (2014) explained that poor IEQ in open-plan workplaces may cause emotional reactions such as anger, which has negative outcomes (Weiss and Cropanzano 1996). Similarly, Kim (2014) stated that the physical environment of the workplace has a significant impact on emotional and behavioural outcomes, which in turn impact work performance.

The move of academic staff from traditional individual offices into shared open-plan layouts creates different mood responses from workers. Academic work, which is competitive while also collaborative, takes place in a stimulating environment that produces both negative and positive mood responses (Stets 2010). This study argues that the impact of mood and motivation within the complexities of the higher education workplace is an important consideration in design and, so far, is an under-explored area of research. The shift to open-plan in workplace design has a significant impact on the occupants' satisfaction, mood, motivation, and individual productivity, and has attracted interior designers and environmental psychology researchers who wish to better understand the impact of the physical work environment on occupants (Bluyssen, Aries and van Dommelen 2011; Vischer 2008).

This study focuses on how IEQ influences occupants' productivity in academic openplan workplaces for several reasons. Firstly, while many studies have focused on IEQ and its impact on occupant's satisfaction and productivity in commercial open-plan offices, limited studies have investigated the influence of the IEQ of academic open-plan work environments on the occupants' productivity (Sadick, Kpamma and Agyefi-Mensah 2020; Wilhoit et al. 2016). Secondly, academic activities are unique and diverse, including writing and research, administrative work, and meetings with students, which require a high level of concentration and collaboration. Given this diversity, expectations of productivity in an academic setting are different from those in other sectors, and a better understanding is needed of the IEQ effect in academic workplaces. Thirdly, this research addresses literature disagreements on this subject and gives a consistent perspective on the impact of IEQ on occupant productivity in academic open-plan workplace.

#### **1.2 Research Aim and Objectives**

The aim of this study is to explore the impact of six IEQs (temperature, air quality, lighting, sound level, layout, colour) in open-plan workplaces on academic productivity within the tertiary education sector. The intention is to evaluate the suitability of open-plan layout for academic purposes and establish a knowledge base for optimum workplace design that supports academic work needs.

This study identifies links between the key factors of IEQ and the mood associated with academic work satisfaction and motivation, and individual academic's perceived productivity in open-plan workplace. Therefore, the main question is: "How does indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces?" This is further expressed via the following sub-questions:

- 1. To what extent does the IEQ influence academic satisfaction, mood, and motivation in open-plan workplaces?
- 2. Which IEQ factor/s has the most influence on occupants' satisfaction, mood, motivation, and perceived productivity?
- 3. To what extent are open-plan workplaces suitable for academic purposes? And how might academic workplaces function differently?
- 4. To what extent do feelings of satisfaction, mood or motivation affect academic perceptions of productivity?

To address the research question, the researcher has the following five objectives:

- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on satisfaction.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on mood.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on motivation.
- Evaluate the impact of IEQ on productivity, and
- Explore whether the impact of IEQ on satisfaction, motivation or mood affects academic staff perceptions of productivity.

#### **1.3 Research Methodology**

This research consists of a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods and is designed

in four stages: literature review, case studies, data collection, data analysis and conclusions. The four stages are outlined below.

- A preliminary review of the literature was conducted from articles, publications, texts, and journals related to the research subject, focusing on trends in workplace design, the academic workplace, and the impact of the indoor environmental quality of a workplace on behaviour and wellbeing. To this end, interdisciplinary literature was reviewed, including discipline areas such as interior design, built environment, environmental psychology, and organizational change, to obtain a better understanding. The results from the literature review were used to conceptualise a framework for evaluating the impact of the physical environment of an open-plan workplace on the occupant.
- 2. Three case studies were undertaken to investigate academic productivity in open-plan workplaces. In 2015, the researcher visited a number of universities in Perth, Western Australia, in order to identify open-plan academic workplaces suited to the research. Five open-plan workplaces were identified: two in Curtin University, two in the Central Institute of Technology and one in Edith Cowan University. Three open- plan workplaces (two in Curtin and one in the Central Institute of Technology) were purposefully selected for in-depth study using the criteria listed below. They were Curtin University Policy (CUSP), Curtin Teaching and Learning (CTL) and Central Institute of Technology (CIT). The criteria for selection were, firstly, open-plan layout divided into small spaces by low panels that separate workstations occupied by academics (Oommen, M. Knowles and Zhao 2008). Secondly, workplaces that have been designed, built, or refurbished with an open-plan layout between 2010 and 2015. Thirdly, the workplace includes a variety of alternate work settings for the occupants, such as permanent individual workstations, meeting rooms, and some enclosed offices. Fourthly, the size of the open-plan workplaces is medium, accommodating 9-24 occupants, and large, accommodating more than 24 people, to provide rich information relevant to academic experience. Finally, the cases were selected purposively to reflect the different types of academic work in addition to the usual academic activities; in particular, CUSP focuses on research work, CTL focuses on administration work, and CIT focuses on teaching work.
- 3. Case study mixed methods were used for data collection: quantitative data (physical environment measurements and questionnaire) and qualitative data (interviews and

researcher observations). The findings from the literature review were used as the theoretical base for the development of the questionnaire and interview. The methods for data collection are detailed below:

- Physical measurement refers to measurement of the basic IEQ factors, including lighting illuminance (lux), sound level (dB), thermal conditions (temperature °C and relative humidity in %), and air quality (carbon dioxide (CO2) concentration in ppm). The physical measurements were performed in each of the three open-plan environments studied, once during the morning and once in the afternoon. Primarily, the physical measurements were taken in order to draw comparisons between the IEQ of each of the three case studies and the recommended Australian Standards for occupant comfort.
- Questionnaire data were gathered from academics in each of the three selected open-plan workplaces, with the aim of evaluating how occupant satisfaction, mood, and motivation are affected by IEQ, and what impact that has on academic productivity.
- Interviews were conducted with individual academics directly after completing the questionnaire, to further explore whether occupant productivity, satisfaction, mood, and motivation are affected by IEQ, and in what ways.
- Research observations were recorded during visits to each of the case studies to measure factors such as occupancy rates, notable features, and occupant behaviour.
- 4. Data analysis was undertaken on the data collected from the literature review and case studies to determine the effect of each indoor environment quality factor on academic productivity. The quantitative data gathered from the questionnaire were analysed and then organized through SPSS statistics software, while the qualitative data were organized by using Nvivo software, then analysed manually by the researcher using three stages of coding: open coding, axial coding and selective coding.
- 5. Finally, data from the literature review together with the qualitative and quantitative results were discussed in order to synthesise findings.

#### **1.4 The Significance of the Study**

The significance of this study is threefold.

Firstly, tertiary education plays a significant role in developing societies by creating and disseminating knowledge, skills, ideas, entrepreneurships, relationships, and future thinking. Academic work is always evolving, and academics from part of a diverse and complex group of workers in the tertiary education sector. Therefore, investigating the role of IEQ within the academic open-plan workplace in regard to workers' satisfaction, mood, motivation, and productivity is an important measure to ensure that the workplace supports the academics' activities and their psychological well-being.

Secondly, open-plan workplaces for academics have not been given adequate attention or scrutiny in the literature. This research seeks a nuanced understanding of what works well for academics in open-plan environments in terms of satisfaction and productivity and what does not. This study will address the limitations of research into academic open-plan workplaces and will add new knowledge to help professionals and designers to better understand and design academic open-plan workplaces, becoming an important reference for future research. It is hoped that this study will be useful in raising awareness of the need for workplace design that improves workers' productivity and comfort, and that further studies will be conducted in this field.

Finally, the purpose of this study is to contribute to new knowledge with regard to the significance of the indoor environment quality and its perceived impact on occupant satisfaction, mood, motivation and productivity. The outcomes of the study inform understandings of how the academics interact with the indoor environment quality in order to undertake their work.

#### **1.5 Structure of the Dissertation**

This dissertation is divided into five chapters, which are related and complementary to each other.

Chapter 1 begins with a discussion of the research background, then introduces the research aim and objectives, provides a summary of the methodology and methods employed in this study, and the significance of the research. Finally, the chapter presents an outline of the dissertation.

Chapter 2: The literature review was generated from peer reviewed publications including books, reports and journal articles, sourced through Curtin library catalogues, ProQuest, Wiley Online Library, Emerald, JSTOR, Google Scholar, and relevant websites. The literature review covered three subjects in three sections. The first section includes an overview of tertiary education and evaluation of academic workplace environments. The second section covers the physical open-plan environment and provides a theoretical framework for the impact of the physical work environment and occupant satisfaction. Finally, empirical studies of the impact of six indoor environment quality factors (IEQ) on occupants in open-plan workplaces are discussed.

Chapter 3 presents and discusses the structure of the research design and the chosen methodology. It also provides the justification of the adopted methods of quantitative and qualitative data collection. Information on the data collection procedures, the questionnaire and interview design, and the case study selections (including the sample population) are given. The primary form of data analysis of both methods is also discussed in this chapter, in addition to the research trustworthiness and ethical considerations.

Chapter 4 consists of an in-depth description of the cases, findings of quantitative data including physical measurements and results from the questionnaire, and the results of the semi-structured interviews; the two sets of results were then merged together to interpret the data, based on convergent design from Creswell and Plano Clark's (2007) four techniques of designing mixed methods. This was done for each case study separately: CUSP, CTL, and CIT open-plan workplaces.

Chapter 5 provides a discussion of the combined quantitative and qualitative results. In this chapter, key findings are discussed in relation to the current research objectives and how they relate to prior research. In addition, the overall findings, the contributions of the research, and conclusions are summarised. The theoretical and practical implications of the research are explained, and recommendations made for future study.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **2.1 Introduction**

This study explores design of open-plan academic workplaces by focusing on the relationships between academics and their physical work environment, including indoor environment quality (IEQ). The literature review provides a foundation for this study by presenting an overview of contemporary tertiary education in terms of academic identity and recent changes in academic work. Productivity in tertiary education is discussed, followed by an overview of the academic workplace. Then the open-plan workplace is discussed as a construct, starting with a historical review of literature on open-plan workplaces across the 20th and 21st centuries, highlighting the key characteristics. This leads to an evaluation of the contemporary workplace, focusing on open-plan design and discussing some of the controversial points of open-plan workplaces, such as occupant interactions and privacy. In addition, this chapter provides a theoretical framework for how the physical environment affects occupants' behaviour, satisfaction, mood, and motivation in relation to their productivity. Finally, it evaluates the effect of the key IEQ factors that have a significant effect on occupants' satisfaction and performance in the workplace.

The literature review draws on contemporary workplace literature, with a particular focus on the general open-plan workplace to contextualise the academic workplace. The research instruments and the interpretation of the thesis findings are presented. While there are a number of studies investigating workplace design for general purposes, there is limited research, and therefore, a lack of evidence for the effect of workplace design solutions on productivity, particularly in the academic context (Sadick, Kpamma and Agyefi-Mensah 2020; Wilhoit et al. 2016). This chapter adopts a cross-disciplinary perspective that includes higher education studies, environmental psychology, organisational behaviour, architecture and interior architecture, to inform a synthesised framework for this study.

#### **2.2 Tertiary Education**

Tertiary education (TE) is an important sector in most countries and contributes not only to determining a student's prospects in life, but also informs the general population's knowledge and expertise in all aspects of life activities. It contributes to strengthening the global and local economies and the capacity of societies. In Australia, the National Tertiary Education Union (NTEU) states that "academics are critical to the overall ability of an institution to achieve excellence in teaching and research" (Allport 2007, 27).

Traditionally, academic productivity focused on two main activities, teaching and research (Altbach 2016; Fanghanel 2012). However, since the 1980s, TE worldwide has undergone profound changes (Altbach 2013; Altbach 2016), leading to a rolling series of significant restructures within the tertiary education sector, including TE in Australia. With the impact of technologies and significant shifts in funding models, the historic model of academic activities has changed to involve the creation of new knowledge, ways in which this is disseminated, and how it is to be applied. In addition, expectations for collaboration have increased, with academics more often being expected to work in teams rather than as individuals, to be responsible for collegial development, to be active in external engagement with industry and practice, to build international engagement, and to engage in interdisciplinarity (Hassell 2020). Academics are expected to perform various additional activities, including research grant applications, administering research contracts, participation in teaching award programs, supervising PhD research to completion, and delivering teaching and research across multiple geographic locations and multiple electronic platforms. We need to understand how and why shifts have occurred over time, and what is driving the change towards the academic's open-plan workplace, and to evaluate this trend's suitability for academic productivity education (Courtney 2013).

Traditionally, for most academics, the workplace has primarily been an individual office. However, over the past decade or more, the TE sector has moved towards open-plan workplaces for academics. This shift to the open-plan workplace has coincided with changes in academic activities, as described above. However, the consequences of these changes are yet to be understood. For many, these are seen as a positive opportunity for teams to work more closely in collaboration, with increasing interaction among the workers. Others debate the effects on academic privacy and the ability to think deeply over sustained periods of time (Nordback, Hakonen and Tienari 2021). The questions are, do those factors (collaboration, team interaction, and privacy) remain relevant to productivity, and what are the environmental factors that impact on academic productivity?

Hassell (2020) and Cai et al. (2017) posit that changes in contemporary academic work are being driven by market demands, with the aim of stimulating both innovation and economic advancement. In response to this drive, universities in Australia have been

encouraging academics to increase their collaboration with industry and their contributions to innovation, thereby making research and teaching more productive and more applicable (Dane 2017). This push has increased university funding. For example, between 2000 and 2017, research funding from industry rose by 90 per cent to \$730 million (Norton and De Costa 2018). In addition, the increase in international student numbers has contributed significantly to both university incomes and Australia's prosperity.

Another driving force that leads to adoption of open-plan workplaces is changes in academics' identity. Academics have become increasingly mobile, moving often between institutions and countries (Crozier and Woolnough 2020; Bristow et al. 2017). Today, the make-up of any discipline cohort is more internationalised, and more entrepreneurial. Diversity is highly valued, as are a broader set of research and job skills that go beyond traditional discipline boundaries for academic productivity (Hassell 2020). In addition, the new generation of academics are bringing different skills and attitudes to the workplace. They also bring expectations that they will progress in their careers, and that the workplace will facilitate this with more open, controllable, flexible, and technology-rich spaces that promote wellbeing (Hassell 2016). Universities can attract new students by providing convenient environments that support diverse academic activities (Dane 2017).

Funding and space pressures have pushed universities to increase campus space utilisation rates (Valks et al. 2021). Kwiek and Antonowicz (2013) stated that academics spend 30%–40% of their work week in their office; the remainder of their time, they are engaged with other activities related to teaching, meetings with students, annual leave, and working in labs or in the field — for example, in hospital. Universities are motivated to minimise empty desks by enabling workplace flexibility and change.

Increases in student numbers (Coates and Goedegebuure 2010), and changes to traditional teaching methods with new approaches, have created new challenges for universities, leading to changes in their requirements for academic workplaces, which, for a long time, had remained immune to change. In this context, Scottish Funding (2006) Spaces for Learning report described the process of changing from the instruction model to the learning model, and how transformation had an impact on developing the role of higher educational institutes from a place of education to a place of learning production to fulfil the emerging needs in education. In response, many higher education institutions have moved

towards digital learning and teaching strategies (Currie and Eveline 2011; Halloran and Friday 2018)

#### 2.2.1 Productivity in Tertiary Education

Universities in Australia have increasingly been subjected to globalisation (Altbach 2016). Globalization can be defined generally, according to Beck (2007), as a process in which countries lose their identities, independence, and orientations due to their engagement in different international and supranational organizations. Moreover, globalisation can be seen as a process that leads to the integration of the economy through financial and business activity around the world (Martens and Raza 2010). Globalisation in terms of tertiary education may include rapid development and expansion of information technology, increased demands of tertiary education, increased number of enrolled students in tertiary education (international and local students) and the financial stringency of funding (Altbach 2016). This, in turn, has put added extra pressure on universities to achieve their goals. In addition, universities have become increasingly internationalised, as competition became global (Altbach 2016). The market for student income is a global market. This is particularly evidenced by recent trends in comparative global positioning, with data collected across a range of performance indicators that are then published through university league tables that compare university global rankings.

Global ranking is constructed based on different criteria, depending on the judgement of the ranking organisation. For example, in 2003, Shanghai Jiao Tong University issued the first classification for global academic ranking called Academic Ranking of World Universities (ARWU) with the aim of comparing universities across the world in terms of academic performance and scientific research (Hou and Jacob 2017, p. 31). Since 2003, many other ranking systems have emerged; for example, the annual QS World University Rankings and Times Higher Education (Hou and Jacob 2017, p. 29). It is important to note that the global ranks do not measure quality of education and student needs, and they focus on scientific fields more than other fields (Hou and Jacob 2017).

The global rankings have a significant effect on a university's ability to maintain and build its institutional position and reputation (Henry, Marshall and Ramburuth 2013). A university's ranking can have an impact on its economic growth by attracting local and international students, in addition to industry partners and private investors (Halloran and Friday 2018). The impact of rankings extends beyond the university and are considered an

indicator of the economic and competitive strength of any country (Halloran and Friday 2018; Salmi 2009). In Australia, the TE sector is struggling to keep pace with international competitiveness, to attract high quality academics, produce high quality recognised research, build exemplary learning and teaching reputations, and provide work environments that enable both academic track records of innovation and the building of new knowledge (Gaston, Heimeriks and Hoekman 2017).

In this climate, the university's management needs to allocate resources to meet the extra demands of academic activities, in order to be considered competitive within global ranking systems. They also need to monitor their resources to ensure that they are properly allocated. Therefore, performance measurement has become necessary for educational institutions. Universities have attempted to adopt strategies to measure their performance in terms of teaching, research, and services (Comm and Mathaisel 1998). Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are a measurable value that determines how effectively the education institutions are achieving their aims and directs their policy formulation and target setting. KPIs measure factors that are linked to the drivers of success in TE. For example, financial KPIs measure profits, costs, and fund raising (Ordenes 2019). Administrative/enrolment KPIs are utilised to understand how students are passing through the institution, for example, by measuring the percentage of students who enrol in universities. Student outcome KPIs are a measure of the number of students per class, as well as the ratio of the number of students per teacher (Duncan, Tilbrook and Krivokapic-Skoko 2015). Research KPIs are considered an indicator of the amount of interaction between universities and communities by providing information and research of interest to communities and contributing to their progress. Using KPI measures helps education institutions to monitor, evaluate and direct university policy and future directions (Duncan, Tilbrook and Krivokapic-Skoko 2015).

#### 2.2.2 Evaluation of Academic Workplaces

As considered in the previous section, academic work activities have changed dramatically due to market demands, academic identity changes, funding and space pressures, increased student numbers, and the development of teaching delivery methods. As a result, academic work has become more complex and the workload on acdamics has increased. In managing these changes, the physical academic workplace is also undergoing changes in a way that suits the needs of the new tasks. This section evaluates the academic workplace and discusses how the new workplace suits the evolving diversity of academia.

Although academic workplace designs vary from one university to another, some common features can be recognised within most universities in Australia. Academic workplaces have often been cellular offices, or small shared offices including separate desks, a meeting space for two to four people for consultation with students and colleagues, storage cabinets, and bookshelves that are usually full of books and papers (Gorgievski et al 2010, Pinder et al 2009). The size and facilities of the offices provided were based on hierarchy and position of the person within the university (Fink 2005); i.e., with larger offices for professors and heads of school (Figure 2-1).



Figure 2-1 Traditional academic workplace (Rashid 2015).

Additionally, there is usually a large meeting room for holding large group meetings and seminars. An academic department usually consists of rows of offices, arranged on either side of a central corridor. Social interaction space for staff is often limited to a corridor, breakout or kitchen area. Due largely to the nature of the work and the need for the spaces to accommodate both focus group and private conversations, the HE sector has been slow to follow the workplace changes witnessed in other sectors (Parkin et al. 2011; Hassel 2014). In comparison, generally, administrative staff often occupy open-plan workplaces, due to the nature of their work, which follows their corporate counterparts with clear institutional hierarchies. Full-time academic staff are the slowest to accept changes in workplaces which stem from lack of hierarchy and a more traditional orientation such as the needs for freedom from distraction, privacy, and secure offices (Hassell 2020).

The open-plan workplace has developed, presumably, as an alternative to cellular offices to meet changing needs and enhance creativity, critical thinking, and collaboration

(Dane 2017), with improved space utilisation through new, flexible workplace design. (Clarke, Kenny and Loxley 2015). In 2016, Hassell ran a project to collect information from seven recently designed academic open-plan workplaces in Australia by interviewing the workplace stakeholders and analysing the floor plans. The project aimed to expose the main drivers of academic workplace change. The study concluded that space efficiency is not necessarily the main objective of academic workplace change. Rather, the objective is to encourage more interaction and engagement with the place (Hassell 2016). Based on these aims, the workplace design shifted from enclosed offices to more flexible open-plan workplaces, including set of workstations for employees, small, enclosed rooms for concentrated work, and meeting rooms for sharing information. More recently, workplace design has moved towards a variety of settings that allow employees to choose according to the type of work activity to support their work throughout the day; this is often called an activity-based workplace (Arundell et al. 2018). According to Dane (2017), a key approach for designing successful academic workplaces is for the design to be based upon existing and emerging academic work. Some studies evaluate the workplace by measuring the suitability of the space to the progression of the academic work. These studies found that the most common concerns about open-plan workplaces in universities are noise, privacy, and unwanted disruptions which affect deep thinking tasks as well as professional identity (Lou and Ou 2019; Baldry and Barnes 2012; Kang, Ou and Mak 2017).

There are other studies that emphasise the positive features of open plan, such as interaction and communication with colleagues and industry partnerships. For example, a study conducted by Loughborough University in the United Kingdom (Parkin et al. 2011) to explore shared work environments for academics examined various academic spaces from individual office facilities to open-plan with hot-desks for group centred research. There was widespread agreement among the academics that opening out the workplace encouraged informal interaction, which was extremely valuable for their work. On the other hand, the participants indicated some negative influences of open plan, such as lack of privacy and a high level of noise. The study concluded that the trend for open plan work environments is growing due to pressure on building costs, but more significantly, a recognition of the importance of interaction and collaboration between researchers. Gorgievski (2010) conducted a post-occupancy evaluation in Delft University to examine the response of academic staff to a new open-plan workplace. The results showed that the academics were dissatisfied with the lack of privacy and security, the noise, and the lack of storage space.

However, overall, the participants' experience was considered to be positive because of the benefit of the increased interactions. The study noted that the daily occupancy level in the workplace was low at just under thirty per cent, as many academics work from home. This fact tempered the success of the new workplace (Gorgievski 2010).

There is an increasing trend for designing open-plan workplaces throughout the world. Although there are many studies of open-plan offices, additional research specifically looking at academic open-plan workplaces is still needed (Wilhoit et al. 2016). Academic work patterns and their workplace layouts are usually quite different from other common open-plan offices, such as those for commercial work.

#### 2.3 Physical Environment of Open-Plan Workplace

This section provides a historical overview of the development of the workplace over time, highlighting some of the drivers of change, and the evolution of the open office with its problems and contradictions. It also provides a theoretical framework for understanding how the physical environment of the open-plan workplace affects occupants' behaviour, satisfaction, mood, and motivation, and the relationship of these with workers' productivity.

#### 2.3.1. Historical Review of Workplace

Across the last century and the beginning of the 21st century, the open-plan workplace has evolved based on changes in the nature of work and economic and technological developments. The purpose of this section is to outline the development of the open-plan workplace and to define its key characteristics and the philosophies behind the design through an analysis of the literature. This historical review covers the development of workplace design during the last century, exploring how design contributes to organisational goals, and how design supports work requirements and potential future needs.

The period across the late 19th and 20<sup>th</sup> century has witnessed advancements in building techniques and high-rise buildings, which have created the new cityscape. The design of these buildings was supported by Fredrick Taylor's scientific management concept (Taylorism). Taylorism office design is characterised by central surveillance for clerical workers who sit in rows of desks. In this sense, Taylorism was the first spark for the emergence of the open-plan office, which was considered the best solution to accomplish tasks at that time. In this period, designers did not consider the physiological and

psychological aspects for the workers, and the managers treated workers as units of production (Duffy 1999; Sundstrom 1986). An example of this design is Frank Lloyd Wright's design for the Larkin Administration Building in 1906 (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2-2 Larkin Administration Building / Frank Lloyd Wright / Buffalo, New York / 1904-06. 2016, Digital Image. Reproduced from: flickr

The figure shows the workers sitting in rows of desks, with the layout organised hierarchically to facilitate circulation of papers. At the time, inflexible layouts and the central manager's strict supervision limited workers' interactions. At this stage, the open-plan layout was similar to factory design, with desks arranged in rows facing the same direction. The first open-plan prototype was characterised by the absence of barriers, which allowed continuous monitoring of employee by mangers. Hofbauer (2000) stated that the degree of interaction in this office was limited due to the nature of office design which limited interaction between workers.

In the academic context, during these times, university workplaces often consisted of rows of individual academic offices, and other support spaces located on both sides of a central corridor or surrounding a central area. Social interaction was usually limited to the circulation spaces and tea rooms. In most universities, offices for academic staff included workstations for work requiring concentration, and a small space for student meetings and professional visitors (SMG 2006). The size of office was generally based on academic position within the community (Pinder et al. 2009). For example, large academic offices for

Deans and senior staff may be equipped with a workstation, meeting table, storage cabinets and a sitting area, whereas junior staff may have small individual offices or share two- or three-person offices. Administrative and clerical staff frequently shared offices, sometimes in open-plan areas. In general, there was no significant change in the design of academic workplaces between 1900 and the 1990s (Pinder et al. 2009).

The open office continued to spread and began gaining credibility in the workplace in the 1940s. This period witnessed a developing awareness of the physical and sociotechnical needs of workers (Rassia 2017), giving workers freedom of movement. While this allowed for more collaboration, there was more for the managers to monitor. In addition, indoor environment quality gradually improved as organisations realised that comfortable office furniture and convenient ventilation systems improved workers' productivity (Sundstrom 1986). The open-plan office from The Johnson Wax building, designed by Frank Lloyd Wright, New York 1939, represents a good example of open-plan design (Figure 2.3). The workplace showed more space allocated for each person and more flexibility in workers' movements, allowing collaboration (Rassia 2017).



**Figure 2-3** Carol M. Highsmith, Work area at the Johnson Wax Building, headquarters of the S.C. Johnson and Son Co., Racine, Wisconsin. 2011, Digital image. Reproduced by PICRYL.

After the Second World War, there was a need to find design solutions that support the idea that all employees share equal responsibility and power, thereby reducing the hierarchy that Taylorism emphasised for decades. The goal of these changes was to increase productivity and profit. A new design emerged in Germany during the mid-1950s to mid-1960s (Kotlyarov 2015) and was further developed throughout the 1960s by Eberhard and Wolfgang Schnelle. Known as Burolandschaft (office landscape), these ideas marked an important turning point in the history of office design. The new office design was characterised by a group of desks within one workplace, and partitions, such as plants, paintings, and natural elements between these groups of desks. The design also incorporates adjustable and movable desks to improve visual communication within the work environment and to support team work rather than individual work (Hofbauer, 2000). Hofbauer (2000) stated that "management theories" have been adopted in office design, focusing on the wellbeing of workers in the first place.

By the mid-1970s, heavy criticism of the open-plan workplace designs emerged, with a demand for more control and privacy over the work environment (Duffy 1992). In response, the Herman Miller Company introduced the concept of cubicle open-plan offices (Kotlyarov 2015). The cubicles concept provided private workspace that was surrounded by three partitions within the open-plan workplace (Kotlyarov 2015). This design dominated workplace design from the mid-1970s till the 1990s. Though the cubical design was supposed to create a balance between privacy and interaction for employees, it failed to minimise the level of noise, which caused distraction and concentration difficulties for the workers, resulting in lowered productivity (Kim and de Dear 2013).

The 1990s represent the beginning of the rise of the Information Age. Developments in computer technology, use of the World Wide Web, and the resultant reduction in the amount of paper and storage required in the workplace, all contributed to the spread of the idea of hot-desks and mobile workplaces, as employees could work from anywhere at any time, using the internet and their laptops (Neumann 1999). Hot-desking emerged as a trend, with different employees becoming quite mobile throughout their workdays, as they adopted impermanent workstations during different time periods and types of activities, while at the same time saving on space and resources (Rassia 2017). This period focused on the concept that one design does not fit all, therefore, diversity in design appeared to suit different work needs. In the 1990s, academic workplaces were influenced by an urgent need for new buildings, or major remodelling of workplace designs that supported both the economic rationalist movement and the revolutionary developments in computer technology (Pinder et al. 2009). The key design feature of that time was the emergence of small and medium-sized seminar rooms to accommodate the increasing number of tutorial groups (SMG 2006).

One of the distinguishing characteristics of working in the 2000s is that organisations have taken advantage of contemporary technology in their work, such as the internet, to give their employees flexibility and freedom from working exclusively in the office (Plaskoff 2017; Metzker 2010). Creative organisations have provided their buildings with entertainment facilities and bright colours, to make workplaces feel more comfortable or more like home, thereby blurring the boundaries between work and home. Organisations at the forefront of the technological revolution have used workplace design to attract elite talent in their particular fields. An example for this trend of workplace design is the Google office in Dublin, Ireland, the design supports an office culture that promotes collaboration between employees by providing different designs that support particular activities. Open-plan workplaces in different sectors spread fast compared to the slower pattern in the higher education sector. The transition to open-plan offices in the higher education sector was, in part, a consequence of building costs. In addition, it reflects a growing awareness of the importance of interaction and collaboration in improving performance and knowledge flow (Pinder et al. 2009).

In the 2010s, workplaces were designed to promote informal interaction and collaboration globally. Designers realised that the office should no longer designed for the needs of the building's owner. Instead, the needs of the workers became dominant in the design (Kaufmann-Buhler 2020). Increasingly, offices have incorporated sustainable design such as green buildings and energy efficiency (Reppeto and Stone 2009). Activity-based working (ABW) environments began to emerge in many organisations. The idea was to provide a combination of options, including open office workspaces, with other task-oriented spaces (also known as "agile" or "flexible" working); the aim was to eliminate many problems accompanied with open-plan, such as distraction and lack of sound privacy, by providing individual offices with the required equipment to complete tasks (Arundell et al. 2018). ABW design provides a flexible work environment in which workers can choose the workplace according to the nature and the needs of the tasks they perform. In the last few years, ABW layout has emerged in universities (Berthelsen, Muhonen and Toivanen 2018); for example, Massey University in New Zealand provides a variety of settings that suit a range of different academic tasks, such as individual and collaborative work, concentration work, phone conversations, and meetings with colleagues.

#### 2.3.2 The Contemporary Workplace

To discuss the field of new workplace design, it is important to first understand the philosophy of the contemporary design of work environments. This section tracks key shifts

in the workplace in the new millennium, as reported in the international literature. First, work has become more dependent on knowledge than ever before, and thus technology and social skills have become one of the most important characteristics of work (Pyoria 2005). Knowledge work tends to be collaborative work, leading to changes in the organisations that direct that work. Organisations have become more competitive, less hierarchical in structure and decision authority, changing recruitment to more casual contracts, and providing fewer lifelong jobs (Heerwagen, Kelly and Kampschroer 2016).

A second important factor that has been contributing to workplace design change is that the employees' demographics are changing as well. Formerly, the workplace witnessed three successive generations. The first generation, called Baby Boomers (born 1946-64) have mostly retired; Generation X (born 1965-79) and Generation Y or Millennials (born 1980-2004) compose today's workforce (Holmberg, Hribar and Tsegai 2017). The newest generation has different working styles and preferences. The characteristics of the period called for new ways of working with mobility and telecommunications, which provide, for example, opportunities to work outside of the office environment (Howitz-Bennett 2014). Millennials are motivated by communication, teamwork, diversity, and flexibility in the work environment (Nosworthy 2015; Plaskoff 2017). The workspace design will influence whether the Millennial is attracted to an organisation, and whether the design supports work activities that they are interested in participating in (Holmberg et al. 2017).

Finally, the tools available to do the work are changing. The digital age of employment emerged during the latter half of the twentieth century and has continued to the present day (Cascio and Montealegre 2016). This change has had a significant effect, not only on the way we work, but also on where we work. For example, telecommuting is a new way of working that has dramatically affected the workplace by allowing the worker to work anywhere, including the office, home, or a café, and extends operating hours from 9-5 towards a 24-hour, seven days a week (24/7) culture (Bresnahan, Brynjolfsson and Hitt 2002; Frey and Osborne 2017). Telecommuting has several benefits for teleworkers. One of the benefits of telecommunication is reduction of the cost for both the stockholders and the workers in terms of office costs and in savings on transportation, clothing and food. As a result, the new situation offers more freedom for people in terms of the ability in organise their personal responsibilities such as work, family and leisure activity (Algrari 2017). Recently, many people across the globe have experienced working from home due to
COVID-19. However, telecommuting can also lead to feelings of isolation and increased levels of overwork (Algrari 2017).

Within the complexities of these changes, it seems that the 'one size fits all' workstation cannot meet the needs of everyone (Greene and Myerson 2011; Cole, Oliver and Blaviesciunaite 2014). The following sections will discuss new trends in workplace design.

#### 2.3.2.1 The Open-plan Workplace

The term 'open-plan' refers to an open space divided into small spaces by movable, low panels that separate workers (Oommen, Knowles and Zhao 2008). Historically, in 1939, the pioneer architect, Frank Lloyd Wright, designed Johnson Wax building, the first open-plan office to fit the needs of clerical employees (Rassia 2017). In this office, new features were added to improve the internal working environment; for example, acoustic isolation materials and better lighting were added, and the thermal comfort improved to enhance workers' productivity. The idea of this design was to provide a workplace with bright lights and acoustic materials and place many workers on one floor to increase their productivity (Sundstrom 1986). After World War II, and specifically during the late 1950s, designers' awareness of the need to give more space for workers to interact with each other has increased. They developed a new model of workplace layout called Action Office (Haynes, Suckley and Nunnington 2017). This model was characterised by various work settings, such as meeting rooms, large individual workstations, and some more enclosed spaces. The design sustained communication and provided a good level of privacy (Haynes et al. 2017). The open-plan layout has dominated workspaces in commercial sectors (Wong 2013). According to Veitch et al. (2007) the main reasons for the 'favourable attitude' towards open plan workplaces related to the economics and interaction benefits. The economic benefits are gained through less space provided per person, which encourages employers to adopt this concept of workplace design (Duffy 1999; Lansdale et al. 2011). Moreover, open-plan design has been reported to save up to 20% in development costs and energy, such as through ventilation system efficiency (Oommen, M. Knowles and Zhao 2008). A study by Shahzad (2016) compared the effect of thermal control on satisfaction and energy consumption in two types of workplaces: the individual office, where the participants have control over thermal environment, window and blind; and the open-plan workplace, where the participants have limited control over the thermal environment, window and blind. The results indicated that energy consumption in individual offices was much higher than in open-plan workplaces.

Another advantage of the open-plan office lies in the collaborative and social environment it provides for employees. This includes improved casual interaction, knowledge sharing, innovation, and reduced stress (O'Neill (2007). As offices become more open, the opportunity for collaboration between employees increases dramatically, as employees can freely interact and share information with other colleges within the office.

However, studies have proven that the open-plan layout can also prevent interaction amongst employees (Gaskell, 2018). For example, Bernstein and Turban's (2018) study found that the actual interaction between occupants in open-plan workplace was reduced by 70% in comparison with interaction in individual offices. The study suggested that the openplan workplace makes everyone observable and that gives rise to employees creating other strategies to maintain the sense of privacy, such as sending emails instead of having actual conversations which anyone around can hear. Furthermore, (Kim and Dear 2013) agreed that the high level of noise that comes from background interactions causes distraction for those people who are not participants in the interaction. According to Sundstrom (1978), such social communication in an open-plan work environment may have a negative impact on workers' stress, eventually causing discomfort, lowering performance levels, and causing a decline in satisfaction and productivity. A lack of privacy, a noisy environment, and thermal conditions are factors that negatively impact employees' satisfaction within the work environment and hinder employees' performance of their tasks (Tanabe, Haneda and Nishihara 2015).

Moreover, open-plan offices have a negative effect on health and transmission of disease (Pejtersen et al. 2011, Colenberg et al 2020). A study conducted by Oommen, Knowles and Zhao (2008) found that working in open-plan environments causes stress and high blood pressure, which leads to higher rates of absenteeism. A study of Pejtersen et al. (2011) in which 2403 participants participated compared the open-plan workplace and the individual office to investigate the number of absentees due to illness in both offices. It was found that absentee days in the open-plan workplace were sixty-two percent more than in workplaces with individual offices.

Considering the advantages of collaboration in open-plan workplaces and the need for privacy that individual offices meet, a multi-ABW workspace with areas for open interaction and other areas for private concentration is found to keep the office place running to its best capacity (Pochepan 2018). ABW design of a space that supports the differing needs of

workers gives the employee responsibility and sufficient space, within boundaries, to decide how, where, when, and with whom to work (Berthelsen, Muhonen and Toivanen 2018). This is achieved by providing a diversity of spaces to support the performance of each required workplace activity, such as open areas for collaborative work, meeting rooms for formal meetings, small individual offices for deep thinking tasks, game rooms for entertainment, and kitchen areas for social interaction (Berthelsen, Muhonen and Toivanen 2018).

A study conducted by Candido et al. (2019) investigated the effect of office layout on workers' satisfaction, daily activity, and productivity perceptions. The study collected empirical evidence from previous studies conducted on the same participants who had occupied open-plan offices then were relocated into an ABW office. The results showed that the ABW participants were significantly more satisfied with their indoor environment quality and perceived productivity. Office layout was found to be a significant element that motivates the daily activity of the occupants. A study of four ABW workplaces conducted by Haapakangas et al. (2018) for the Swedish Transport Administration Agency aimed to investigate factors that affect perceived productivity, wellbeing, and the time consumed to select an appropriate design setting. A survey was conducted 12 months after the relocation. The results showed that evaluation of individual performance is intrinsically linked to the individual's satisfaction with the internal environmental, communication and privacy, and the higher level of satisfaction is positively reflected in the personal productivity. However, the participants reported that time consumed to find a suitable design setting had a negative impact on their productivity. Arundell et al. (2018) investigated eating behaviours, workplace satisfaction, and productivity before and after moving to an ABW workplace. A self-report survey and interviews were used to collect data from 21 participants. The results stated that the occupants in the ABW showed improvements in terms of physical activity, satisfaction with their physical environment and social relationship with colleagues. However, the results also showed a drop in perceived productivity. The authors explained that the time taken to adapt to the new environment should be considered, since the participants had only spent six to nine months in the ABW workplace, and they might need a longer time to adjust.

The use of technologies, including for information and communication, affects changing work patterns, which leads workplace design towards being smart and flexible, with more open space and less privacy. However, it is not yet known whether such workplace design contributes positively to academic productivity.

## 2.3.3 Territory, Personalisation and Identity in Open-Plan Workplaces

The concept of territory in the workplace relates to the need to keep a certain distance from others, as well as a feeling of ownership over a space (Sundstrom 1986). In general, a territory is an area occupied by a person, or group of people, through various physical/social objects (Haynes, Greene and Myerson 2011). The concept of territory in the workplace extends beyond the physical barriers of spaces into another dimension, such as having a level of control over the workplace (Altman 1975). Vischer (2008) identified two types of control in the workplace: 'mechanical control' and 'empowerment'. Both types represent a form of territoriality. Mechanical control refers to control over physical ambient conditions; for example, adjustable and movable furniture, switchable lighting, heating, and being able to control sound. The second type of control, empowerment, refers to how powerful workers feel when they are enabled to participate in workplace decision-making. In addition to meeting the psychological comfort needs of workers, providing empowerment control can help workers to adapt more quickly to an environment. A lack of control over a workplace has been described as demotivating (McCoy and Evans 2005).

The psychological value of territory often stimulates workers to express themselves by personalising the spaces they occupy (Fischer 1989; Sundstrom, Herbert and Brown 1982). Personalisation is expressed in terms of environmental psychology as: "the display of personal or work-related items or the arrangement of the workspace to distinguish the occupant from others" (Sundstrom 1986, 218). Personalisation of space is effected by rearrangements that demonstrate an individual's identity as a form of self-expression. Personalisation in the workplace gives a visual indication of the identity of the occupant, which expresses their ownership of the place (Pratt and Rafaeli 2001). According to Brunia and Hartjes-Gosselink (2009) and Wells, Thelen, and Ruark (2007), personalisation can help to promote oneself in a workplace, and can positively or negatively affect emotions, job satisfaction, productivity, a sense of territory, and a sense of position. Wells et al. (2007) found that by making the workplace environment more pleasing, and by enhancing an emotional attachment to the workplace, personalisation may also play a role in helping an employee to cope with workplace related stress. Reducing opportunities for personalisation in the workplace, which is often a high risk in open-plan layouts, not only negatively affects the level of occupants' satisfaction, but also engenders negative feelings associated with a lack of territory (Vischer and Fischer 2005).

## **2.4 The Physical Work Environment**

Over the past decade, changes have occurred in the design of academic workplaces for many reasons, including, but not limited to, the attempt to mimic the design of commercial offices and transit to open-plan offices, as well as the technological advances that provided the opportunity to work at any time and place (Hassell 2020). This new, flexible workplace has broken down the barriers of traditional office working hours, thereby enabling remote work from any place at any time. The shift in the workplace concept has a significant effect on the occupants' behaviours and experiences in the workplace; this change has received the attention of interior designers and environmental psychology researchers who wish to better understanding the correlation between occupants' behaviour and the physical work environment (Bluyssen, Aries and van Dommelen 2011; Vischer 2008).

From a built environment perspective, theories concerned with the physical environment of the workplace posit that the workplace design significantly influences behaviour and performance outcomes (Gifford 2014; Ayoko, Ashkanasy and Jehn 2009; Ashkanasy, Ayoko and Jehn 2014). However, there is limited data on the impact of contemporary open-plan workplace settings on academics and their productivity. This section presents and examines evidence regarding the relationship between the physical work environment and behaviour change and well-being for workers in the open-plan workplace.

According to Vischer (2008), the role of the physical work environment is not only to fulfil basic needs; it includes the need for a workplace where occupants can experience functional and psychological comfort, as described by environmental comfort theory. Environmental comfort premises that when the work environment can provide most of the workers' needs, they will feel safe and be productive (McCoy and Evans 2005; Thatcher and Milner 2012). When the physical environment factors in a workplace are comfortable, this enhances mood and contributes to employees' satisfaction and productivity. For instance,

control over light, thermal environment, and furniture to meet individual preferences have been shown to have a significant impact on occupant's productivity (Lee and Brand 2010).



Figure 2-4 Comfort model of workplace environment adapted from (Vischer 2008, 101)

As illustrated in Figure 2-4, the environmental comfort theory breaks down the model for comfort in workplace design into three categories (Vischer 2008): the first is physical comfort, which represents the basic human needs, for example, feeling secure and healthy. The second category is functional comfort, which involves creating an environment able to support different activities performed by employees. For example, the provision of appropriate lighting and layout, and ergonomically designed furniture to meet functional comfort levels. The last category is psychological comfort, which stems from the feeling that the place is appropriate and one has ownership and workplace control. This theory assumes that when the quality of the three comfort levels is achieved, this ensures an optimal work environment that supports work performance. Since the environmental comfort theory was introduced, a number of workplace studies have attempted to evaluate the impact of the three categories of environmental comfort on occupants' performance levels (Vischer 2008; Zibarras and Lewis 2013).

Bluyssen, Aries and van Dommelen (2011) proposed a work environment model to comprehend the potential impact of the physical work environment on levels of comfort. The suggested model highlights the effect of both the physical environment and social context on the personal factors. They investigated the relationship of the physical environment, the social environment, and personal factors, including states of consciousness and mental health (thinking, emotions and memories) on levels of perceived comfort and health. The data were collected by self-report questionnaires from 5732 participants occupying 59 different workplaces and data from the 'European Health Optimisation Protocol for Energy-efficient buildings' (HOPE). The results found a strong relationship between workers' perceived comfort and health with personal factors and physical and social environment. This study emphasised the vital role of the social environment in influencing work performance. It also emphasised the need to take into account the individual differences of workers when designing the physical environment. (Bluyssen, Aries and van Dommelen 2011).

Kim (2014) introduced a conceptual model of organisational performants that emphasised the importance of the physical environment of the workplace on affective and behavioural outcomes, which impacts outcomes of work performance.. The model represents the physical workplace environment (space arrangement, technological alignment of indoor environment, accessibility, and symbolic features) that affects emotional and behavioural responses, ultimately creating better work performance outcomes (Kim 2014, 503). However, this relationship will vary according to individual perceptions of the environment. For example, an earlier study by Fisher and Noble (2004) stated that successful employees are more satisfied than less successful employees with their physical environment.

#### 2.4.1 Satisfaction in the Workplace

Occupants' satisfaction in the workplace environment is mostly related to indoor environment factors such as light, views to the exterior, sound level, temperature, air quality, layout, and furnishings of the workplace (Frontczak et al. 2012). Previous environmental psychology studies suggested that there is a strong relationship between the individual's satisfaction with their physical environment and their individual well-being and performance (Yee, Yeung and Cheng 2008; O'Neill 2008). Since the 1960s, researchers have explored the effects of the environment on occupants' satisfaction; the feeling of satisfaction with the environment is an indicator for evaluating the work environment (Friedmann, Zimring and Zube 1978; Craik 1966).

The concept of workplace environment satisfaction goes beyond what occupants like or dislike to assessment of building performance itself by evaluating how well the building performs to support different activities undertaken by employees (Samani et al. 2018). When users feel satisfied with the physical workplace environment, the workplace is considered to be performing well. A post-occupancy evaluation (POE) is commonly used to evaluate workers' satisfaction with the physical workplace environment. Information gained through the POE can be used both to enhance the quality of existing buildings and to improve the building's performance. Preiser (1995) defined the POE process as a procedure designed to make a comparison between the factual evidence of a building's performance and performance standards and/or codes. Such comparisons should include all positive and negative aspects of the building under evaluation. Preiser and Vischer (2005) stated that POE was originally designed to evaluate a building's performance based on the occupants' experiences: their satisfaction levels, perceptions, preferences and behaviours. The POE is often conducted around 24 months after the building has been occupied but can also be implemented at any time in the life cycle of a building (Khalil and Husin 2009). In principle, the evaluation includes the collection of relevant data regarding the occupants and the building through questionnaires, interviews, and field visit observations. By measuring the occupants' satisfaction, POE can expose the benefits and reveal aspects of the IEQ that need to be improved and/or developed in workplaces (Lee and Guerin 2009).

A number of studies suggest that an occupants' productivity correlates with their satisfaction and comfort levels within the workplace. Studies show that when the worker rates their workplace as an unsatisfactory environment, the perception of productivity levels drops (Leaman and Bordass 2007). A study conducted by professional researchers, ZZA Responsive User Environments (2013), was commissioned by the School of Economics and Political Science in London; they were keen to know the effect the new workplaces had on the occupants and so requested to evaluate their newly completed building at 32 Lincoln's Inn Fields (32 LIF) in terms of how the indoor environment affects their occupants. The school invested £56m to provide a contemporary and flexible workplace for staff and postgraduate students. ZZA's POE examined two categories of occupants, the first being 'residents', including academic staff who occupied both individual and shared offices, administrative staff, who occupied shared offices, and postgraduate students, who were working in open-plan offices. The second category was 'non- resident' occupants, including students who were occupying learning and social spaces in a transitory way. The POE

participants were asked to complete a questionnaire to identify experiences in the workplace. The survey covered key aspects of the work environment, including furniture, indoor environment quality, and how users felt about their environment and the building's management. From the academic staff surveyed, 70% were satisfied with the 'individual office' workplace environment, whereas 30% believed that the traditional workplace (individual offices) reduces the opportunity for interactions and improvements through collaborative work. They also emphasised the importance of informal social spaces, such as a kitchen, which provide good opportunities for discussion among academics. Results from the administration staff showed that 50% identified noise from people in corridors, social spaces, doors, and mobile phone conversations as a significant issue affecting their satisfaction and performance. Results from the postgraduate students showed that they were, overall, satisfied with their open-plan layout. However, 43% identified the lack of clarity surrounding visitors' arrangements as a problem (ZZA 2013).

#### 2.4.2 Mood and Emotion in the Workplace

Wang and Boubekri (2011) stated that there is a strong influence of the physical environment on occupants' emotions in the workplace. However, research into mood within the TE sector is limited and mainly confined to students rather than the academics, despite the shifts that TE faces in the way of working and workplace design, which can potentially engender different mood responses from workers. Leathwood and Hey (2009, 429) claim that mood is difficult to evaluate in the TE workplace, because it covers many different job sectors, ranging from administrative work and marketing through to academic research. Moreover, it is an important consideration that the nature of academic work is competitive (through a structured hierarchy of promotional scales), while also collaborative (necessitating frequent interactions with a diverse population of both students and colleagues), and as such is an environment that engenders both negative and positive mood responses (Stets 2010). In addition, Berthelsen, Muhonen and Toivanen (2018) stated that moving the academic staff from traditional individual offices towards open-plan layouts reduces communication and social support between occupants, causing low job satisfaction. The participants stated that they thought seriously of finding a new job in a new place after the relocation. The study found that there was no improvement in the social and psychological work environment after the transition. Therefore, this study argues that the impact of emotion within the complexities of the tertiary education workplace is an important and, so far, under-explored area of

research. The aim is to understand the impact of the workplace on academics' mood and productivity in an open-plan setting.

When considering emotion in the workplace, research reveals complex interrelations between employees' emotions and wellbeing and factors in their workplace environment. (Weiss and Cropanzano 1996; Ashkanasy et al. 2014). Affective event theory (AET) presents a framework within which emotional events can be understood in depths. The theory deals with the causes and consequences of the occupants' emotional states in the workplace (Weiss and Cropanzano, 1996). AET explains the linkage between the worker's emotions and moods and their reactions to their work environment, which affect productivity and wellbeing. The theory argues that employees are prone to display either affect-driven behaviours or judgement-driven behaviours. Though, originally, AET was developed to investigate job satisfaction in offices, it has been applied to diverse organisational and work-related studies such as health, employee motivation, individual and team performance, and stress (Wegge et al. 2006).

Ashkanasy et al. (2014) present an appropriate theoretical framework based on AET for integrative understanding of how the physical workplace environment, specifically in open-plan workplaces, reshapes occupants' attitudes and behaviour. In Figure 2-6, the model displays three phases: in the first phase, the model links affective events and emotional reactions, and establishes that a variety of workplace events (such as privacy issues and uncontrollable environments) that are stimulated by physical workplace features can reinforce a specific emotional reaction (such as feel annoyed and frustrated). The next phase identifies what emotional reactions mostly affect worker's attitudes toward their work environment. As a consequence of emotional reactions, employees are likely to be involved in conflict, and become territorial (affect-driven behaviour). Ashkanasy et al. (2014) explained that employees in an open-plan workplace with high levels of noise can be expected to have negative emotions, which in turn, cause withdrawal. The last phase shows the affective events in open-plan workplaces may have a direct effect on employees' performance, job satisfaction and even lead to them quitting (judgment-driven behaviour), or they can be mediated by employees' emotions and attitudes to how they fit within their organisation. Certain emotional reactions will likely affect employees' behaviours, leading them to depend on their judgment when doing specific jobs, or workplace behaviour in general. The theory emphasises that the physical workplace environment determines occupants' emotion and behaviour, which ultimately affects individual productivity.



Figure 2-5 A model of the effect of open-plan work environment on workers attitude and behaviour based on effective theory adapted from (Ashkanasy et al. 2014, 1178)

## 2.4.2.1 Distinguishing Between Mood and Emotion

The conceptualisation of mood and emotion as distinct terms has received much attention in the literature of psychology. The terms seem confusing for many people; however, studies that have attempted to distinguish mood and emotion have concentrated on the structural features of each (Rottenberg, Gross and Gotlib 2005; Watson and Clark 1997). Malik (2011) considers emotions to be feelings raised towards a specific stimulus, person, or event and lasting for only a short time. Importantly, emotion is considered to be produced by an external cause, such as a significant event in life or a 'thing', whether it be real or imagined (Russell and Barrett 1999). According to Ekman (1992), people express six basic types of emotion: anger, fear, sadness, happiness, disgust, and surprise. Mood, on the other hand, is defined here as the experience of a general feeling, often lasting for hours or days (Hofmann et al. 2012); for example, anxiety, depression, energy and fatigue. Essentially, moods have a cause and can be crucial for workers, because in the workplace, mood impacts the ability to interact with the requirements of the workplace environment (Dimotakis, Scott and Koopman 2011). Moreover, moods experienced as energy and fatigue are feelings of having or not having the capacity to complete mental or physical activities (Jones et al. 2007). As this study is concerned with longer durations of feelings within the workplace environment, it will focus on moods rather than emotions.

#### 2.4.2.2 Studies of Mood in the Workplace

During the 1930s, attempts were made to understand the role of mood on human behaviour in the workplace, mostly focusing on the effect of mood on job satisfaction (Wright et al. 2007; Avey et al. 2010). By the mid-1980s and early 1990s, there was a significant shift towards studies that focused more on understanding the effect of mood on behaviour. A number of studies have demonstrated that employees' mood responses are affected by their experiences at work as well as the quality of their surrounding workplace environments and that, importantly, this can in turn influence workers' performance levels and satisfaction (Lan and Lian 2009; Wang and Boubekri 2011). This section will focus on the impact of the physical workplace environment on the mood of employees.

The mood of the workers can be affected both negatively and positively by a variety of indoor environment elements within the workplace, such as light, colour and temperature (Gifford 2014). Küller et al. (2006), for example, investigated the impact of light on mood in actual workplace environments at different time of the year across four different countries: Argentina, Saudi Arabia, Sweden, and the UK. The workplaces were illuminated by fluorescent light. The results showed that workers were negatively affected at low illuminance, and that they reported being comfortable when the illuminance was at a higher level. However, when the illuminance was too bright, there was a decline in the workers' positive mood (Küller et al. 2006).

Küller, Mikellides, and Janssens (2009) conducted experiments to identify the psychological and physiological effects of colour on occupants in different coloured workplaces. The study first compared the effect of a multi-coloured room with that of a grey room, followed by a comparison between red and blue coloured rooms. The participants spent time in each room completing different tasks, while their brain excitement and heart rates (EEG and EKG) were monitored. The results indicated that both mood and performance of workers were enhanced in the multi-coloured environment compared to the grey room.

When comparing the effects of warm and cool colours, the results indicated that the red room was perceived as more pleasant than the blue room, which could be due to warm colours putting the brain into a more excited state (as shown in the EEG and EKG tests) and causing an occasional and paradoxical slowing of the heart rate.

The layout of workstations has been found to have a significant effect on mood through stimulating interactions. The arrangement and height of partitions between workstations plays a significant role in either preventing or stimulating interactions among co-workers (Kim and de Dear 2013). Dimotakis, Scott, and Koopman (2011) pointed out that the ability to have social interactions with co-workers within the workplace has a direct correlation with mood; when workers experienced positive interactions, this generated positive moods; conversely, negative interactions engendered negative moods.

## 2.4.2.3 Measurement Methods for Feelings

Three different types of measurements have been commonly used to assess occupants' feelings: self-reported measurements, physiological measurements, and behavioural acts. By far the most widely used is the self-reported measurement method, often used to measure emotional reactions to specific stimuli. This section evaluates some of the most frequently used self-reported measurements.

#### Verbal self-report

This measurement allows individuals to describe their emotions verbally via open-ended questions, or through rating their emotions utilising a Semantic Differential (SD) scale. SD scales were initially introduced in the 1950s by Charles Osgood as a tool for measuring word and concept meanings. Osgood, Suci, and Tannenbaum (1957, 336-337) found three basic categories to be useful when describing emotional states. Each category includes the opposite polar characteristic. These three categories are evaluated by a scale divided into seven points, started with 'extremely X' and ending with 'extremely Y'. The first category, 'evaluation', represents "good-bad, kind-cruel, wise-foolish, beautiful-ugly, happy-sad, candid-deceitful, sociable-unsociable, friendly-unfriendly, willing-unwilling and honest-dishonest'', the second category, 'potency', represents "hard-soft, strong-weak, heavy-light, masculine-feminine, deep-shallow, potent-impotent, severe-lenient, domineering-lax, brave-cowardly and large-small''. The last one, 'activity', represents "active-passive, fast-slow, difficult-easy, hot-cold, motivated-aimless, moving-still, excitable-calm, alive-dead, emotional-unemotional and complex-simple" (Osgood et al. 1957, 336-337).

John Flynn, considered to be a pioneer of environmental psychology in the 1970s, was interested in the quality of light in the built environment. A series of studies conducted by Flynn and his colleagues investigated human responses to lighting, including an experimental study in 1973, in which Flynn and his colleagues examined human responses to six different lighting arrangements (Flynn et al. 1973). Flynn's pioneering work on the relationship between environmental psychology and the quality of light in the indoor environment adapted five factors from Osgood's SD rating scale to measure the impressions of occupants: evaluation, perceptual clarity, complexity, spaciousness, and formality. Flynn and his colleagues noted that three factors were more significant than any others — evaluation, perceptual clarity, and spaciousness. The results showed that different lighting conditions can generate different experiences for participants. Flynn also demonstrated a link between lighting modes, including overhead/peripheral, uniform/non-uniform and bright/dim, as well as subjective human responses towards them. Flynn's scale was designed specifically to measure the effect of indoor environment lighting and had not, at that time, been tested or adapted as a tool to measure other IEQ factors (Flynn et al. 1973).

#### Visual self-report

As a measure of individual feelings, this method is similar, in some respects, to a verbal self-report. However, it focuses on visual forms that reflect different emotions or sensations rather than verbal scales. Self-Assessment Manikin (SAM) and PrEmo are the most commonly adopted visual-self reporting tools used to measure individual feelings. The SAM method was developed by Lang (1980); the method displays three sets of images of a human representing three dimensions: pleasure, arousal, and dominance. PrEmo uses a similar system, but interestingly, was originally produced to measure individual feelings towards design (Desmet, Hekkert, and Jacobs 2000; Desmet 2002). PrEmo consists of 16 figures, each reflecting a particular emotion displayed for a very short time. These figures comprise eight positive emotions (surprise, amusement, satisfaction, desire, fascination, inspiration, admiration, and pleasure) and eight negative emotions (contempt, displeasure, dissatisfaction, boredom, disgust, indignation, disappointment and surprise). The subject is asked to point to a figure that best represents their emotions and feelings and to indicate the degree of this emotion (strong, moderate or weak). One of the main differences between PrEmo and SAM is that multiple feelings can be recorded by using PrEmo. This method is also well suited for use with children and non-native English speakers (Bradley and Lang 1994) and is an indicator of short-term emotion, rather than mood.

#### **Profile of Mood States (POMS)**

The Profile of Mood States, POMS, was developed in 1971 by Douglas McNair, Maurice Lorr and Leo Droppleman. POMS is widely used for measuring mood by using a self-reporting questionnaire. The measure was first explored in the USA in 1964, with the original goal being to "construct and develop a useful method for identifying and assessing mood states in psychiatric outpatient populations" (McNair, Lorr, and Droppleman 1971, 620). POMS was subsequently applied in exercise psychology, and later in workplace psychology (McNair, Lorr and Droppleman 1971). Originally, POMS included a long and a short version. The long version contains 65 items for six different factors: tension–anxiety, anger, depression, vigour, confusion and fatigue. The response scale is sorted out into five categories starting from "not at all" to "very strong". The short version of POMS contains 24 items on four scales (vigour, fatigue, irritability, depression/anxiety). The POMS short version is used to measure either the 'last 24 hours' or the 'last week'. In contrast, the long version is used to measure the 'last week including today'. This method provides a good indication of mood rather than emotion, and has been commonly used to evaluate workers' moods in relation to different IEQ factors (Morfeld et al. 2007).

## 2.4.3 Motivation

Motivation is a basic psychological process (Taghipour and Dejban 2013) that has been described as an internal feeling needed to fulfil and achieve a particular goal (Dobre 2013). Rahim and Daud (2012) consider motivation to be a feeling that stimulates and directs a person's behaviour and performance. Maslow's (1943) human motivation framework, which comprises a human basic needs hierarchy, argues that the need to achieve levels of being controls the mind and changes individual behaviour. The hierarchy is categorised into five connected levels of needs. The first level is physiological needs, which represent the basic human requirements such as shelter, food and drink. The second level is safety needs, which represent the need to feel secure through, for example, police and medical care. The third level represents human emotional needs such as love and belonging. The fourth level represents the need for self-esteem, respect, reputation, having self-worth, feeling strong. The top level in Maslow's hierarchy is self-actualisation. This level indicates that individual is able to realise their full potential and it is possible to achieve the desired goals as well as individual self-realisation. These needs must usually be met sequentially as they complement each other, and there is always a desire to progress to the following needs (Maslow 1943).

According to Santisi et al. (2014), maintaining employees' motivation to work is essential to increasing their satisfaction and performance. Ogbogu (2017) stated that employees with low motivation might show low productivity and negative attitudes. In addition, positive motivation improves the employees' willingness and enthusiasm to complete their tasks (Torres and Sidorova 2015). Self-determination theory (SDT) provides an insight into how motivation, well-being, and employees' productivity are connected. This theory was designed as a framework for studying personality and individual motivation (Ryan and Deci 2018), with propositions focusing on how the surrounding environment facilitates or undermines an individual's sense of willingness, well-being and productivity. SDT posits that autonomy, competence, and relatedness are psychological needs stimulating motivation, engagement with work, and creativity. In addition, SDT theory suggests that there is a relationship between individual performance and wellbeing on one hand and the fulfilment of individual's psychological needs on the other hand, and that providing these needs will have a positive impact on performance (Prentice Jayawickreme and Fleeson 2019).

Gagné and Deci (2005) found that motivation and willingness to perform work are determined by both internal and external causes. Internal motivation comes from a worker's personal enjoyment in undertaking a particular task; for example, for people who are satisfied with their job, their motivation is being able to practise the work itself. The authors added that internal motivation is a very important factor for stimulating creativity. While external motivation steams from the surrounding environment of the individuals, such as the work environment setting, financial reward, fame, and competition are all examples of external motivators (Gagné and Deci 2005).

Academics at universities might be motivated by the income they earn, rewards or improved chances of promotion, or they may be motivated by the need for respect and status through being recognised by colleagues and educated society. In addition, academic staff are usually motivated by the job itself (Zhang 2014). They are influenced the desire for achievement, a sense of responsibility, performance recognition, job significance, and personal growth. These factors have different effects on the academic's motivation at work.

Increasingly, researchers have sought to determine how employees can be effectively and successfully motivated to enhance their productivity, because motivated employees are instinctively interested in their work (Markova and Ford 2011). Motivation plays an important role for every employer who is looking to improve employees' performance and organisational productivity. Lan, Lian, and Pan (2010) found that motivation and productivity in the workplace can be affected by the qualities of the indoor physical environment. In China in 2013, an experimental study was conducted to evaluate the effects of five different temperatures (22 °C, 24°C, 26°C, 29°C and 32°C) on motivation and productivity. The study included 36 participants divided into two groups, A and B. Participants in group A were examined at all five temperatures and those in group B were examined at 26°C only. As a part of the experiment, the participants conducted a memory typing task, similar to general office work. They were then asked to complete a questionnaire about perceived environment, workload, and motivation to work, measured in a seven-point rating scale: "extremely low (0) very low (1), slightly low (2), neutral (3), slightly high (4), very high (5), extremely high". Results from the study showed that the participants' work was significantly affected by temperature change, and that the participants were more motivated when they were comfortable with the temperature. It also showed that performance increased because of higher motivation, demonstrating that productivity can be affected by the physical environment and worker motivation. The findings show that the optimum temperature range for performance is between 22°C and 26°C, and that an overly warm environment has a negative effect on both motivation and worker productivity (Cui et al. 2013).

### **2.5 Indoor Environment Quality**

This section evaluates the effectiveness of indoor environment quality (IEQ) in an openplan workplace on occupants' perceived productivity. Evaluating IEQ in the workplace helps to determine the success of its design, which has a direct effect on the occupants (Lee and Kim 2008; Landy 1989).

Workplace research has identified several key elements which can impact on occupants' productivity in workplace. The current study adopted and adapted key indoor environment qualities from an IEQ survey by The Centre for the Built Environment (CBE). The IEQ survey is the most popular standardised occupant assessment instrument in the workplace; the objective is to improve the environmental quality and energy efficiency of buildings (https://cbe.berkeley.edu/resources/occupant-survey/). The survey is designed to evaluate building performance and occupant's satisfaction based on seven environmental factors in the workplace: "air quality, lighting, office layout, maintenance, office furnishings, thermal comfort and acoustics quality" (https://cbe.berkeley.edu/resources/occupant-survey/).

This section reviews the existing literature on IEQ to identify the factors considered to be most likely to affect productivity. Each factor will be examined in detail in order to establish its role in open-plan workplaces.

## 2.5.1 Thermal Conditions

Thermal conditions play an important role in the workplace environment as one of the IEQ indicators (Huizenga et al. 2006). The ASHRAE<sup>1</sup> standard definition of thermal comfort is a "condition of the mind which express[es] satisfaction with the thermal environment" (ASHRAE 2010, 55). Thermal comfort can be determined by four factors: air velocity, room temperature, humidity, and thermal emission (Bluyssen 2010). These factors have an effect on the occupants' perception of thermal comfort; for example, the amount of humidity depends primarily on the temperature of the air, because warmer air holds more humidity than cooler air. People often showed different needs regarding thermal comfort; some theories have emerged that attempt to explain these differences among occupants. For example, the thermal equilibrium theory of the human body suggests that there are individual factors, such as occupant's activity level, age, individual physical differences and preferences such as clothing, all of which have an impact on thermal comfort (de Dear and Brager 2002). Other theories have attempted to interpret the thermal sensation from a different angle and suggest that occupants' expectations and preferences regarding their thermal sensations are determined by their prior expectations. If these expectations are a mismatch with their environment, they will experience feelings of dissatisfaction and discomfort and vice versa; for example, during colder winter months, occupants expect colder conditions inside the building (Nicol and Humphreys 2010).

Muller et al. (2011) stated that thermal comfort can stimulate and irritate the brain to induce different mood responses and occupant's behaviors such as, social interaction. A mutual relation between thermal comfort and state of mood was found in studies conducted separately by Ibrahim et al. (2019). Ibrahim et al. (2019) studied the influence of thermal comfort and assessed how human mood may influence perception of it; for example, anger stimulated negative thermal comfort perceptions among occupants, whereas a happy mood stimulated positive thermal comfort perceptions. Another study dealt with the influence of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The American Society of Heating, Refrigeration and Air-conditioning Engineers is an international organisation that establishes standards for heating, ventilation and air conditioning through its research. Their mission is "to advance the arts and sciences of heating, ventilation, air conditioning and refrigerating to serve humanity and promote a sustainable world" (ASHRAE 2009).

workplace temperature on employees' productivity. The productivity data was collected and measured by analysing literature from previous studies. The results demonstrated that there is a strong link between high indoor temperature and reduced productivity; that is, there is 2% productivity decrease per degree over 25°C (Seppanen, Fisk and Faulkner 2004). However, in contrast to this, it has been found by measuring cerebral blood flow that high temperatures can increase cognitive capacity, which leads to improved productivity quality and speeds up performance (Tanabe, Nishihara, and Haneda 2007).

Thermal comfort is subject to the nature of each individual's responses; therefore, it becomes difficult to set an optimum temperature within an open-plan workplace (Bluyssen 2010; ASHRAE 2010). However, there are standard measurements used to examine and set the best thermal conditions for an indoor environment to be accepted by at least 80% of the occupants. The ideal office temperature, according to AS60068.3.6 (2003) ranges between 20 and 24°C. Even though these standards are adopted and applied in many buildings, there are studies that challenge them.

Professor Richard de Dear, an international expert in thermal comfort, emphasised the importance of employees having control over their workplace temperature settings (de Dear 2012). The level of control that people have influences their psychological response and is directly related to their degree of satisfaction with the workplace environment (Kwon et al 2019). Control over the environment enhances feelings of empowerment and ownership of a space, and provides a certain degree of self-expression that, in turn, positively affects feelings of satisfaction (Sundstrom and Altman 1974). Occupant satisfaction may be positively affected by providing the building's occupants with more than one choice and enabling the occupant to have control over their environment (Hellwig 2015). Shahzad (2016) investigated the impact of thermal control on workers' satisfaction with their environment, comfort level, health and productivity; the study was conducted in both individual and open-plan workplaces. Occupants of the individual offices have a high degree of flexibility and control over their office temperatures, and a blackout window for each office. Occupants of the openplan workplace in the same study were provided with a limited level of control over the temperature and had limited access to windows. Satisfaction and productivity levels in the individual offices where the occupants exercised high levels of thermal and window control were higher than those of the occupants of the open-plan office. The author concluded that the individual office provides a high level of control over environmental factors.

From all the above, it is apparent that the thermal condition within an office environment influences the employee's psychological and physiological state and therefore their productivity. Furthermore, empowering employees by enabling more control over their office environments, thereby enhancing feelings of ownership, will produce more satisfaction and comfort.

## 2.5.2 Air Quality

A number of studies have established a positive relationship between indoor air quality (IAQ) and human health and wellbeing (Apte and Salvi 2006). In general, IAQ can be affected by many aspects of the indoor environment, including the ventilation rate and indoor pollution from the building, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentration, furniture, and the number of occupants and materials (Varjo et al. 2015). For example, using wood for interior design, such as covering the walls, can improve the indoor air quality (Cho et al. 2019). A high rate of CO2 gas indicates an efficient ventilation system It has been shown that reducing the CO<sub>2</sub> levels to below 800ppm improves occupant's satisfaction and reduces negative physical symptoms for occupants (Kabrein et al. 2017).

As open-plan workplaces accommodate more occupants than the individual office, the differences between the two types of offices can influence different workplace temperatures and the amount of contaminants produced in these environments. Poor air quality causes serious physiological issues, such as tiredness and nervousness, whereas AC systems cause "dry eyes and throat, congested or runny noses, itchy and watery eyes, lethargy, headaches, respiratory complaints, chest tightness" (Hodgson and Fisk 2006, 627-632), and psychological issues such as psychological distress and mental disturbance (Kim et al. 2018). Kamaruzzaman and Sabrani's (2011) findings show that the majority of occupants are not satisfied with their office air quality, which is believed to be one of the factors that affect work productivity and stress levels. Clements-Croome (2013) pointed out that most complaints in open-plan workplaces are due to poor ventilation and thermal comfort and the lack of space allocated to each employee, and found that it is possible to increase the productivity of the individual by as much as 4-10 percent when improvements are made to those factors. This is supported by many studies (Mujan, Andelkovic, Muncan, and Ruzic 2019; Mulville, Callaghan and Isaac 2016), which have found that air quality in the workplace has a direct impact on health and well-being.

## 2.5.3 Lighting

Lighting is a fundamental element of the overall design of any building. It is necessary for optimal visual function, enabling us to see our surroundings and complete our work tasks. Innes (2012) defined indoor lighting as comprising natural daylight as well as artificial lighting. Artificial lighting has many characteristics, each of which has a direct effect on an environment:

**Luminance** is the intensity of light emitted or reflected by a surface. It is measured by candles per square metre  $(cd/m^2)$  and is often used for measuring intensities of displays, for example (Innes 2012).

**Illuminance** is the light produced by a source which falls on a surface. Lux is used to measure illuminance in lumens per square metre (Innes 2012).

**Glare:** The consequence of bright light in the field of vision, which causes annoyance, discomfort and/or loss in visual performance and visibility (Sundstrom 1986).

**Correlated colour temperature (CCT):** This is one of the light characteristics that describes whether a light seems 'cool' or 'warm'. It is measured in degrees Kelvin (K). The colour of light plays a role in determining the impression of a whether a room feels warm or cold (Brandi 2012).

**Colour rendering index (CRI):** Is a measure of the susceptibility of a light source in terms of its effect on the appearance of color. The CRI scale ranges between 0 and 100 percent, which gives an indication of the accuracy of any source in rendering the color of objects; the higher the reading, the higher the accuracy (Boyce 2003).

**Lighting distribution:** The spectral distribution of light sources is an important feature of IEQ, with CRI and CCT being used together to describe the spectrum and temperature of a source respectively (Wei et al. 2014). Boyce (2003) found a slightly higher positive response to background lighting using spotlights, which created a more relaxed and attractive environment through influencing the perception of brightness and the appearance of a space.

The Australian Standard sets the level of illuminance for a workstation to be between 160 and 320 lux, depending on the tasks performed, such as typing, reading, or writing (AS/NZ5 1680.0 1998). Cuttle (2013) revealed that many offices suffer from insufficient light, and in some cases, the recommended standards may not provide an office with the

appropriate lighting levels; each task requires a certain level of lighting, and individuals have different requirements and preferences, even when completing the same task. This was demonstrated by Moore et al. (2003), who conducted a long-term study (for a year) on the impact of lighting in four separate open-plan workplaces. The participants in the four workplaces were undertaking office-work activities. The results indicated that, even though the occupants were all undertaking the same type of activities, there were significant differences in lighting preferences.

Artificial light and daylight have a significant part in shaping our perceptions of the indoor environments we occupy, influencing physical, emotional and behavioural responses to the indoor environment. Gifford (2014) points out that lighting intensity and distribution can impact arousal, comfort levels and interpersonal communication. For example, a simulation workplace environment study investigated the effect of two illumination levels, 1000lx and 200lx, on participants' mood, task performance, and physiological effects. The study employed self-report and objective measures such as self-reported mood, auditory Psychomotor Vigilance Task, heart rate, and skin conductance measures for data collecting. The results showed that participants felt more energetic and happier when exposed to 1000lx than to 2001x. There were no significant differences in physiological effect and performance between the two lighting conditions (Smolders and Kort 2014). However, many studies make the link between lighting and occupant satisfaction and productivity (Katabaro and Yan 2019); for example, So and Leung (1998) concluded that there is a significant relationship between illuminance and rate of concentration; a high degree of illuminance led to 94% of people feeling more concentrated, while 64% felt more relaxed under low illuminance. Duffy and Wright (2005) also stated that unsuitable lighting can cause concentration difficulties and sleep disorder, with negative effects on individuals' productivity. In addition, access to windows positively affects general health and mood, and increases the interaction between occupants with the outside (Sanchez et al. 2018). A study found that students who study in rooms with good exposure to daylight performed better than students with poor daylight (Al Zaabi, Nassif and Mushtaha 2017). However, sometimes glare and reflection can disturb the occupants and cause headaches (Al Zaabi et al. 2017).

The reaction to intensity of illuminance can differ between men and women and across age ranges. Nelson, Nilsson, and Johnson (1984) showed that, under higher illuminance levels, women had increased levels of concentration, activation, and were more amiable compared to men. Knez and Kers's (2000) study indicated that younger workers

maintained a negative mood in warm white lighting, whereas cool white lighting had the same effect on older workers when engaged in mental work. In addition, the study found younger females can maintain positive and negative moods better than a younger male. These studies suggest that providing uniform lighting for everyone in open-plan workplaces might not support human differences and the preference to achieve individual productivity.

## 2.5.4 Sound Levels

Several studies have found direct relationships between sound level and occupant productivity, job satisfaction, and health in the workplace (Lee, Back and Chan 2015; Smith-Jackson and Klein 2009; Landström et al. 1995). Acoustic comfort and sound privacy issues have been identified as major factors impacting on occupant satisfaction and productivity (Toftum et al. 2012; Kang, Ou, and Mak 2017; Kim and de Dear 2013). However, with the growth of open-plan workplaces, the existence of various types of noise source, including background sounds, conversation, outdoor noise, and noise from office equipment, are very common features of the contemporary work setting (Lee et al. 2015). As a result, there has been much effort directed towards understanding the impact of sound in the open-plan workplace. Background noise that comes from co-workers' conversation and phone calls is the main reason for the discomfort in the open plan workplace (Mak and Lui 2012). According to a number of studies, background noise can lead to occupants' dissatisfaction and results in low productivity in the workplace (Lee and Aletta 2019; Mak and Lui 2012). For example, noise in the workplace has a disruptive impact on cognitive tasks due to the negative effect of conversational noise on the worker's ability to recall, proofread and complete mentally complicated tasks (Haapakangas et al. 2017). However, occupants can respond towards a noise level in different ways based on their personality and task type; for example, Roskams et al.'s (2019) study conducted in three open-plan office environments investigated how personality characteristics and work activities are correlated to comfortable sound level, productivity, and well-being in the open-plan office. Data collected from 166 participants in a questionnaire indicated that participants highly sensitive to noise were dissatisfied and had lower self-rated productivity because they were annoyed, stressed, and had concentration difficulties due to background noise. Moreover, the study found that the participants who had less social communication in the workplace responded that the workplaces had a negative impact on their productivity and they had lower work engagement. This suggests that the open-plan workplace is more appropriate for certain types of work activity than for others. Other studies have dealt with the impact of noise levels on the

psychology of workers, such as emotion and motivation. Jahncke et al. (2011), for example, simulated an open-plan workplace to investigate task-based performance, physical measures for stress, and self- reported mood and fatigue. Two noise conditions were investigated: high noise, considered to be 51 LAeq, and low noise, considered to be 39 LAeq. The participants in the experiment underwent two sessions, one at low noise and the second at high noise level. Each session lasted for two hours, with memory tasks such as "response inhibition, logical problems and operation span and reading span". The results from the study showed that the participants' performances decreased in the high noise environment, and they were more fatigued and less stimulated to work because of distractions from background noise than they were in the low noise environment.

Some strategies have been proposed in order to control noise in the workplace, such as those by Mahn (2015), who identified the benefits of using specialised materials for absorbing sound and using electronic sound-masking techniques to cover the noise in workplace. However, the case for open-plan workplaces is complicated, because a large number of employees react to the sound level in different ways based on their personalities and the nature of the work. Therefore, the sound levels in open-plan workplace environments need more attention by researchers to find the ideal combination for these strategies to be implemented successfully.

### 2.5.5 *Layout*

The layout of the office is described as the systematic arrangement of partitions, furniture, and equipment within an existing floor space (De Croon et al. 2005). Al Horr et al. (2016) and Duffy (1999) identified different types of office layout, based on the architecture and the function: a cell office is a single-person office consisting of immovable partitions and a door; a shared office is where two to three people work in a 'cell' office and use the same office every day; and an open-plan workplace is where barriers such as walls, high partitions, and doors have been removed. Open-plan offices are often large open spaces designed by arranging a number of workstations or cubicles, separated by partitions of varying heights. The open-plan office can be divided into three types based on intended occupancy: small, which accommodates 4-9 occupants; medium, which accommodates 9-24 occupants; and large, which accommodates more than 24 people.

The open-plan office type has been increasingly adopted by a variety of organisations. This is often attributed to the fact that this type of environment encourages communication between workers and provides value for money to an organisation (Fayard and Weeks 2011; O'Neill 2008). The advantages and disadvantages of open-plan offices have been extensively covered in Section 2.3.2.1, where it is noted that this type of office layout has also been criticised for a lack of visual privacy and increased distraction, both of which can negatively affect occupants' satisfaction and productivity. In a university setting in Ghana, a study by Sadick et al. (2020) investigated different IEQ impacts on occupants' satisfaction and productivity in three academic and professional workplace types: open-plan, individual, and shared offices. The information was collected from academics and support staff across all schools in the university via an online questionnaire survey. The results showed that academic and professional staff were most unsatisfied with privacy and acoustic levels in the open-plan workplace layout: speech privacy, intelligibility of speech, and control over the environment were identified as issues impacting their satisfaction. They were most satisfied in individual offices which had higher levels of privacy and acoustic comfort. The results indicated that lack of acoustic comfort, privacy, ventilation, and thermal comfort have a significant negative influence on productivity for academics in open-plan and shared workplaces and positive influence in individual offices. In contrast, the IEQ impacted positively on professional staff productivity in all office layouts. The authors attributed this contrast to the differences in roles, work activity types, and different levels of thinking and mental engagement between academic and professional staff. Moreover, professionals spend most of their work hours in their offices and therefore are more adapted to their work environment, unlike academics, who spend their time between office work, teaching, and meetings with members of the faculty, students or external partners. Hence, university office layouts should be designed based on different staff activities, and attempt to guarantee optimal workplace environments that meet the needs of different staff activities (Sadick et al. 2020). Candido et al. (2016) studied the impact of three types of open-plan workplace (Candido et al. 2016): activity-based work (ABW), hive, and individual offices, on occupants' satisfaction with IEQ, perceived productivity, and health in commercial workplaces. The study collected the post-occupancy evaluation data from 5,171 participants in 30 workplaces in Australia. This study demonstrated that with the ABW layout, the workers' overall satisfaction and perceived productivity and health were enhanced due to increase interaction, better air quality and building aesthetics. The authors explained that the flexibility and multi-space setting of ABW gives the occupants more control over the way they prefer to work. However, individual offices outperformed the other two types of ABW and hive layouts by providing a good level of visual and sound privacy.

A number of studies have discovered evidence that through facilitating face-to-face interactions, open-plan layouts encourage collaborative work among workers. However, the problems associated with privacy needs and distraction mean that these increased interactions do not always translate into increased productivity (Kaarlela-Tuomaala et al. 2009; Rashid, Wineman, and Zimring 2009). Workstation design, including partition height, attempts to address privacy issues. Partition height plays a significant role in enhancing or discouraging desired interaction among workers. Newsham (2003) suggested that screen heights should be between 1,300 and 1,400 mm high in order to provide acceptable visual privacy, while at the same time allowing the daylight to penetrate the space as much as possible. Appropriate workstation design that provides a sense of visual and sound privacy helps to improve workflow and reduce occupant stress levels (Lindberg et al. 2018). Moreover, workstations can affect the way workers interact with their colleagues (O'Neill 2008); for example, team enclosure workstations are usually designed to accommodate four or six individual workstations situated in a group, as shown in Figure 2-7. This design aims to facilitate teamwork, permitting members of the same team to work together and focus on tasks with minimal interruption from other teams. Furthermore, the amount of space and access to adequate work surface areas have been shown to have a powerful effect, outweighing the effect of all other IEQ factors on overall occupants' workplace satisfaction (Kim and de Dear 2013). Kim and de Dear (2013) explain that the amount of personal space is apparently an essential condition or baseline expectation, whereas holding discreet conversations, for instance, is not a basic expectation in workplace.



Figure 2-6 Perspective of enclosure workstation (Rashid 2019)

Generally, the studies discussed above agree in principle on the importance and the effect of layout and furniture on workers' productivity and satisfaction. The design of the open-plan workplace allows for a more efficient use of space, because open-plan environments reduce the overall floor area required. However, the open-plan design decreases visual and acoustic privacy and can affect workers' interactions and productivity.

## 2.5.6 Colour

While colour is often considered to significantly affect how we perceive the indoor environment, it is not often a focus of IEQ studies. However, colour is included in this study in an attempt to cover a number of IEQ factors that may have an influence on productivity, and in an attempt to understand the relationship between these IEQ factors and the workers' satisfaction, motivation, and mood.

Colour is an optical phenomenon generated by the way light is reflected by any particular surface. Colour perception and preferences are influenced by people's differences in terms of age, gender, cultural aspects, and background (Sorokowski et al. 2014; Baniani and Yamamoto 2015). It has been found that colour in the workplace can influence workers' productivity. The positive changes in the productivity of employees occur when the interior of the workplace is designed with consideration for the workers' needs, especially when this is done well. A number of studies aim to understand how colour may affect productivity; for example, Mehta and Zhu (2009) conducted an experimental study of the effect of colour on cognitive task performance. In this study, the participants first performed a task and then completed a questionnaire. The results showed that red and blue coloured rooms have different associations for cognitive work. Red is associated with avoidance but enhances performance in detail-oriented work. In contrast, blue is associated with motivation and enhances performance of creative tasks. Similarly, an experimental study by Kwallek and Lewis (1990) evaluated the effects of three colours (red, green and white) on workers' productivity and mood in a simulated workplace setting. These participants completed a mood-scale questionnaire both before and after undertaking a reading task in one of the three simulated offices, each of which was coloured red, green or white. Results of this study suggest that the participants in the red office made less errors than participants in the white office. Yet, the results also found that the participants preferred to work in the white office environment and considered white to be the most appropriate colour for an office, because white offices seem to be acceptable as the norm and are prevalent, while red was considered to be more distracting. Conversely, when the investigation was conducted in a real workplace, responses showed no significant effect for colour on productivity. For example, Bakker et al.'s (2013) research focused on testing warm colours and cool colours,

represented by red and blue, within a real workplace setting. Fifty-two participants used both coloured rooms in turn and were asked to complete questionnaires two or three days after using the meeting room. The findings reveled that there were no differences between the blue and red environments in relation to either perceived wellbeing or the workers' productivity. The researchers concluded that, in an actual work environment, there are so many contributing factors affecting perceived wellbeing and productivity that measuring the effect of colour alone is extremely difficult. Therefore, to create better work environments, considerable attention should be paid to choosing the colour scheme. An inappropriate colour scheme might have a negative psychological impact on occupants, such as depression, boredom, or stress (Haller 2017).

Other studies have focused on investigating the psychological effects of colour on workers. Stone (2001) for example, conducted an experimental study to evaluate the effect of different colours on satisfaction, mood, motivation, and performance of the participants across a range of different task types. The participants were adult students randomly assigned to one of the tasks/colour pairs: a low or high work requirement, undertaken in a red or blue environment. The environment comprised a workstation surrounded by three partitions, 610 mm high above the workstation desktop, with all three partitions being either dark red or light blue. The results showed that, under these conditions, performance seems to be influenced by environment colour. When the participants worked at a high demand task, their performances were generally inefficient in the red environment compared with the blue one. The red colour was described as distracting by participants, affecting their concentration and reducing their productivity. In regard to mood, positive moods were experienced in the blue open-plan workplace in contrast with the red workplace, because of the calming effects of cool colours and stimulating effects of warm colours. Participant motivation was not shown to be affected by the colour of the workplace.

Colours have an impact on temperature perception; Wang et al. (2018) conducted an experimental study to investigate the impact of colour on thermal perception, satisfaction, comfort level, and heart rate. The experimental study, conducted on 16 participants, used three air temperature conditions and seven wall colours in a chamber. The results indicated that thermal perception and heart rate increased with warm-coloured walls and decreased with cool-coloured walls. In addition, the participants were more comfortable and satisfied with cool colours in a warm environment and more comfortable with warm colours in a cold environment. Colour in workplaces is critical to inducing or reducing occupant's

productivity; therefore, more attention should be paid to investigating in depth the effect of colour on productivity.

## 2.6 Conclusion

The workplace design evolved over time, from individual and shared office to cubical, open-plan and ABW office layout. These changes were brought on by requirements to enhance creativity, collaboration, and social interaction among co-workers. This chapter established the lack of consensus in literature reviewed with regards to the effects the indoor environment quality has on the open-plan office performance in commercial sector. Some studies confirmed a strong relationship between the collaborative work in the open-plan office and increase in productivity (Clarke, Kenny and Loxley 2015), while other studies disputed these results concluding that the open-plan workplace can impede the interaction among employees (Gaskell 2018; Orel and Almeida 2019; Kim and de Dear; 2013; Bernstein and Turban 2018). Moreover, the review of literature found that the open-plan office can have a negative impact on workers' privacy and control over the workspace, which in turn may reduce the productivity.

Studies concerned with academic open-plan workplace have only recently come to fore due to the delay in adopting open-plan office layout in academic field compared to other sectors. Therefore, the studies do not adequately address this phenomenon comprehensively (Sadick, Kpamma and Agyefi-Mensah 2020; Wilhoit et al. 2016). Accordingly, the open-plan office in academic sector needs deeper investigation and research to overcome the limitation of earlier studies. In addition, due to the unique nature of academic activities which require a high level of concentration and collaboration, the expectations of productivity in an academic setting are different from any other sectors.

The previous literature found a strong correlation between the physical environment and occupants' emotions and motivation, which consequently affect their judgment and behaviour (Weiss and Cropanzano 1996; Ashkanasy et al. 2014). However, the transferring of academics to an open-plan office layout may generate different emotions. This study argues that the impact of mood and motivation within the academic workplace are important factors that should be taken into consideration for optimal work environment as this field is still under-explored area of research. In contrary to previous studies which in general focused on studying and evaluating one or two factors of the indoor environment quality, this study

provides a thorough insight by investigating six indoor environment quality. These factors (temperature, air quality, lighting, sound level, layout and colour) were investigated to understand how these elements altogether effects on workplace performance and identify the most effected factors in academic open-plan workplace.

# **CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY**

## **3.1 Introduction**

This study investigates how the quality of the indoor environment of open-plan academic workplaces affects productivity in the Western Australian tertiary education sector. Consistent with the study's research question and objectives (Chapter 1, section 1.2) and in relation to the review of the literature (Chapter 2), an exploratory case study methodology has been employed. This methodology was adopted in order to identify the characteristics and the main drivers behind the increasingly occurring phenomenon of the open-plan academic workplace. Multiple case studies have been selected for this in-depth study, to explore different aspects of academic productivity and different characteristics of open-plan designs to analyse data collected from within each case, and then to analyses the data across the three cases.

This chapter explains the research methodology, the data collection framework, the methodological approach used to collect both the qualitative and quantitative data, the data analysis techniques used, the reasons why particular methods were chosen, and the analyses of these data. The chapter concludes with a discussion of ethical considerations and a summary of chapter contents.

## 3.2 Philosophy and the Research Design

Researchers utilise a particular philosophy to guide their research (Holden and Lynch 2004). The term research philosophy can be defined as embracing certain strategies in order to support research methodology and design to obtain and analyse data related to the subject of the research (Žukauskas, Vveinhardt and Andriukaitienė 2018; Saunders, Lewis and Thornhill 2007). Research assumptions create a holistic view of how knowledge is viewed. Research assumptions can be divided into two main types: ontology and epistemology. Ontology concerns assumptions about the nature of being and entity (Burrell and Morgan 1979). Epistemology refers to assumptions about knowledge, and concerns how the knowledge is gained; it also determines what can be deemed as acceptable knowledge of good quality. The current study is consistent with epistemology, as it is concerned with providing evaluation of the perceptions and opinions that occupants hold towards their work environment and how they describe their experience. There are three major research

philosophies or paradigms, worldviews, or belief systems that guide researchers: postpositivist, interpretivist, and pragmatist (Tashakkori and Teddlie 1998). Postpositivists believe that there is a single reality which can be measured with scientific methodologies (Bassey 2009; Cohen, Manion and Morrison 2011); therefore, researchers frequently use quantitative methods to measure this reality, such as a questionnaire (Tuli 2010). Postpositivist epistemology suggests that reality can be measured, hence the focus is on reliable tools to measure it (Yin 2014). Postpositivist research maintains a distance from the participants and what is being researched in order to remain objective and is usually connected with quantitative research (Carson et al. 2001). In contrast, interpretivism, the core philosophy of this research, suggests that there is no single reality or truth, and that reality needs to be interpreted by studying phenomena in their natural environment (Neumann 2003). Therefore, the research design for this philosophy uses a qualitative method to interpret participants' perceptions in-depth about their environment. In interpretivist research, the researcher is more personally involved by embedding their opinion in their analyses of the participants' experiences (Creswell 2013; Smith 2019). Pragmatists believe that reality is constantly renegotiated, debated, interpreted. It provides opportunity to investigate what is important to the research and ensure that it is represented in a practical and applied way. The pragmatist believes that the best method to use is the one that solves the research problem and allows development of mixed method approaches by using both qualitative and quantitative method for collecting and interpreting the data. This allows the researcher to be more subjective at times and objective at other times based on the research aims and objectives (Creswell 2013).

Creswell and Plano Clark (2018) suggest that the research aims and questions dictate the method of the study to be undertaken. Accordingly, to answer the research question "How does indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces"? the researcher needed two types of data: quantitative, to measure the impact of six IEQs on feelings of satisfaction, mood, motivation and perceived productivity in openplan workplaces; and qualitative, to explore the subjective experiences of the academics in their workplace. A combination of qualitative and quantitative methods (mixed method) was thus employed for data collection and analysis. In this sense, this study employed a pragmatic paradigm, which has often been seen as the foundation of mixed method research to obtain knowledge, using both qualitative and quantitative data in order to find answers for research questions (Creswell 2013); this approach provides opportunities to investigate what is of importance to the research in a practical way.

### **3.3 Case Study Research**

A case study is a powerful approach to providing a comprehensive overview of a complex problem. Yin (2014) defined a case study as a practical investigation of a contemporary real-life phenomenon that involves complex relationships with unclear boundaries; for example, the study of a complex social phenomenon such as racism. Benbasat et al. (1987) stated that this approach is appropriate when the research and theory are still at an early formative stage, when there is not enough information about the phenomenon. Yin (2014) stated that the case study is well suited to situations in which questions such as why or how can be posed about current topics that the researcher has limited control over. The primary purpose of a case study is to obtain new perspectives that contribute to an existing phenomenon or theory through investigation within a practical setting (Simons 2009). Furthermore, case studies allow the researcher to combine both qualitative and quantitative data, offering a strong strategy for data collection and analysis. However, there are some identified weaknesses with the case study methodology. For example, it can create biases, because it is subjective by design (Hessler 1992), and both the collected data and the subsequent results cannot necessarily be generalised (Cavaye 1996). This study seeks to understand in depth how the new designs for open-plan workplaces for academics need to respond to the complex relationships between the occupants and their environment according to the differences in their academic activities and roles within universities. The traditional academic office was dominant in most universities until the 2010s, when the open-plan workplace design evolved to include a variety of settings focused on greater flexibility.

According to Yin (2014), case studies can be classified into three types of case studies: exploratory, explanatory and descriptive. Each type aims to serve a specific purpose:

- The exploratory type is employed "to identify the research questions or procedures to be used in a subsequent research study, which might or might not be a case study" (Yin 2014, 238).
- The explanatory type is used to examine data in-depth, to explain how and why some sequence of events happened.

• The descriptive type is a realistic description of a real problem, with a focus on the events, characters, ideas, and solutions proposed by the individuals who face the problem.

This research is both explanatory and descriptive, in order to explain how and why the indoor environmental quality within open-plan workplaces influences academics' productivity. It describes workplace features and academic experiences in real contexts, and identifies specific issues related to their productivity. Yin (2014) has distinguished four types of designs for case studies: single or multiple, and embedded or holistic. A single case is usually conducted to provide rich description of a phenomenon, or for theory development or theory testing (Markus 1989). Multiple case studies using a variety of cases support investigation of cases that are literal replications (producing similar results) and theoretical replications predicting contrasting results for theoretical reasons (Yin, 2014). The benefit of multiple case studies rests in helping researchers understand the differences and the similarities between the cases (Baxter and Jack 2008). Multiple case studies enable researchers to analyse the same phenomenon across several different cases (Yin 2014). In addition, multiple case studies help to overcome issues relating to generalisation of the results and can therefore yield stronger findings (Yin 2014). However, research using multiple case studies requires a greater variety of resources, more time, and increased funding.

The other option would be to select between adopting holistic or embedded design, where the first one depends on the application of a single unit of analysis, while the other uses several units of analysis. An embedded case study contains more than one sub-unit of analysis (Yin 2014) and allows the integration of quantitative and qualitative methods in a single study (Yin 2014). Additionally, more accurate and detailed information can be obtained when adopting the use of sub-units. This study employed embedded, multiple case study design to examine more than one case, with each case study focusing on a particular type of academic work, using the same units of analysis for each case. The units of analysis were: a) the influence of IEQs of open-plan workplaces on academic satisfaction, mood, motivation, and overall productivity, employing a quantitative design through a questionnaire; and b) gathering of in-depth information about academic experiences in open-plan workplaces. For the latter, a qualitative research design was employed, using semi-structured interviews to better understand how and why the open-plan workplace influences academics' experience. The next section explains the case study, mixed method methodology combining quantitative and qualitative data.

### 3.3.1 Case Study Mixed Method Approach

Case studies rely on collecting a variety of quantitative and qualitative data in order to gain in-depth comprehension of the phenomena. Quantitative research is the process of collecting and analysing measurable data and is mainly used to explain the results (Creswell, 2013). In quantitative research, the researcher conducts the investigation in an unbiased and objective manner (Todd et al. 2004). In this research, the quantitative data measures a series of IEQ factors in open-plan workplace. Whereas qualitative research allows the researcher to explore in depth for quality in the data, with the researcher more personally involved (Smith 2019), usually through interviews, focus groups, or observations (Creswell and Plano Clark 2018). When quantitative and qualitative data are combined in one study, this is called mixed methods research design (Ostlund et al. 2011).

Case study and mixed methods integrate well (Yin 2014). Creswell and Plano Clarke (2018, 116) state that integrating case study and mixed methods in one study "provide[s] indepth evidence for a case(s) or develop cases for comparative analysis". Combining case studies and mixed methods in a systematic way can provide a more complete understanding of the phenomena under investigation (Creswell and Plano Clark 2018). Yin (2014) points out that using mixed method design allows for tackling more sophisticated research problems than case studies alone. According to Carolan, Forbat and Smith (2016), case study and mixed methods research are connected; the data from these methods might support or lead the research, based on the purpose of combining these two methods. There are two primary designs for combining case study and mixed method: mixed methods–case study (MM-CS) and case study–mixed methods (CS-MM) (Guetterman and Fetters 2018).

In CS-MM, mixed method is nested in a larger case study research (Guetterman and Fetters 2018). The use of mixed method design in case study research will help to integrate the qualitative and quantitative data for more in-depth understanding for the case (Yin 2014). In MM-CS, on contrary, the case study is nested in a larger mixed method research. Using this method will help to understand the characteristics of the case study research complexities. The current study used CS-MM, because this study performed a case study using a mixed method for data collection.

The mixed method approach explains quantitative and exploratory data through qualitative research questions (Creswell and Plano Clark 2018; Creswell 2013). Mixed methods allow a more comprehensive understanding of the issue under investigation. According to Creswell and Plano Clark (2018), using mixed methods in the same study enables the researcher to obtain a more complete image of human experiences. Besides providing rich and comprehensive data, use of mixed methods has several advantages, such as triangulation of data by verifying or rejecting results from qualitative data using quantitative data, or vice versa. It also helps to answer the research question that cannot be solved by using one type of data exclusively and improves the validity of research findings (Todd et al. 2004). This study utilised both qualitative and quantitative procedures to collect, analyse and interpret the data to triangulate the data towards a comprehensive understanding of the influence of IEQ factors in open-plan workplaces on academic work (Creswell 2013). In this study, the qualitative and quantitative data were gathered and analysed separately; the two sets of results were then merged together to interpret the data, based on convergent design from Creswell et al.'s (2007) four techniques of designing mixed methods, figure 3-1.


Figure 3-1 Mixed methods design adapted from (Creswell et al. 2007, P.158)

Mixed method techniques can be distinguished by the weighting given for each component of the data. Johnson and Christensen (2017) constructed a more detailed set of mixed methods designs to explain the weighting of each type of data in a study, which is presented in Table 3-1.

Data driven	Concurrent Design	Sequential Design
Equal status	Qualitative + Quantitative	Qualitative $\rightarrow$ Quantitative or Quantitative $\rightarrow$ Qualitative
Qualitatively driven	Qualitative + quantitative	<b>Qualitative</b> $\rightarrow$ quantitative or quantitative $\rightarrow$ <b>Qualitative</b>
Quantitatively driven	Quantitative + qualitative	Quantitative $\rightarrow$ qualitative or qualitative $\rightarrow$ Quantitative

**Table 3-1** Set of mixed methods designs to explain the priority of qualitative and quantitative data (adapted from Johnson and Christensen 2017, 478).)

Table 3-1 showcases the two design types of mixed method: concurrent design and sequential design, which can be distinguished by the weighting given to both quantitative and qualitative techniques. The table uses bold letters to identify the priority data that leads the research. These techniques help researchers to identify the research design that will provide valid and relevant data to answer the research question. This study adopted a concurrent design-quantitatively driven type of mixed method (the italic row in the table above), which gives quantitative data the priority, with the addition of qualitative data to help verify or reject results from the quantitative data.

As described in detail in Section 3.3.1, this research study collected quantitative and qualitative data on the same day, involving the same participants — academics working in a recently constructed open-plan workplace. The quantitative data were collected via measuring physical environment factors, and conducting a questionnaire relating to the effect of IEQ on their satisfaction, mood, motivation and overall productivity. Qualitative data was then gathered by conducting working environment observations and interviews with academics to explore their experience and perception of their work environment, and how the new workplace design supported their activities. The two set of data were analysed separately before the results were merged during the interpretation stage, as described by Creswell et al. (2007, 15).

In summary, this study aimed to investigate and understand the open-plan workplace environment and its influence on academics comprehensively. Because of the diversity of the factors that comprise the academic work environment, especially with open-plan workplaces, there is a need for research methodology that provides a holistic understanding of the complexity of research problems. Both case study and mixed methods research provide unique designs for researchers wanting to address complex research issues (Walton et al. 2020). This study, therefore, employed convergent case study-mixed methods (QUANTITATIVE + qualitative) to provide in-depth evidence for the case and help to manage the integration of the two forms of data (Creswell and Plano Clarke 2018).

#### 3.3.2 Triangulation

Using a mixed method approach is more than applying two approaches — quantitative and qualitative. It also enables the data to be triangulated and integrated during the research process (Creswell 2013). Triangulation is suggested as an ideal strategy, using several sources of data or multiple methods to analyse the data, in order to examine a particular phenomenon (Noble and Heale 2019). Therefore, triangulation can increase confidence in the research findings (Walsh 2013; Cohen 2011). When used as part of a case study methodology, the triangulation approach provides the ability to examine the phenomenon from different viewpoints, thus offsetting or counteracting biases, which helps to confirm the validity, thereby contributing to the reliability of the findings (Golafshani 2003). In addition to the multiple methods used for data collection, triangulation can take several other forms. Denzin (2012) identified four forms:

- a) Time triangulation involves collecting data at different times;
- b) Space triangulation collects data from multiple spaces;
- c) Theoretical triangulation uses multiple theories to grow a single viewpoint; and
- d) Investigator triangulation is when data is collected by different investigators.

This study incorporated space triangulation, with data being collected from multiple sites. Three different open-plan workplaces were chosen for data collection, two at Curtin University and the third at the Central Institute of Technology. These three places are characterised as contemporary academic open-plan workplaces with a diversity of design settings and a diversity of academic work being undertaken, but with each workplace specialising in a particular type of academic work.

In summary, by using mixed methods for data collection across multiple sites and diverse academic work being undertaken by participants, this study enabled substantial data collection to gain a full understanding of the phenomenon being investigated in this study.

Furthermore, the multiple viewpoints helped to avoid bias and to increase confidence in the research findings.

#### 3.3.3 Case Studies Selection

There are two main strategies for case selection: random and purposeful sampling selection. Random selection is when the case is chosen arbitrarily from a large sample. This strategy is used to create credibility and to ensure objectivity. In contrast, purposeful sampling focuses on particular characteristics of a large sample that are of interest (Creswell and Plano Clark 2003). The current research employed purposeful sampling because this strategy provides results applicable to the research questions and helps identify shared characteristics across the cases. The following are questions that were considered before selecting cases (Miles and Huberman 1994, 34)

- "Is the sampling relevant to your conceptual frame and research question?"
- "Will the phenomenon you are interested in appear? In principle, can they appear?"
- "Does your plan enhance generalizability of your finding, ethics through conceptual power or representativeness?"
- "Can believable description and explanation be produced, ones that are true to real life?"
- "Is the sampling plan feasible?"
- "Is the sampling plan ethical?" (Miles and Huberman 1994, 34)

Furthermore, Yin (2014) stated three main criteria that the selection of cases can be based on: convenience, access, and geographic proximity. The sample for this study took account of the above considerations to purposefully identify samples based on layout and facilities, which include a variety of alternate work settings for the occupants, such as permanent individual workstations, meeting rooms, and some quiet rooms (for work requiring concentration). The size of the open-plan workplaces chosen is medium, accommodating 9-24 occupants, and large, accommodating more than 24 people, to provide rich information relevant to the academic experience. The workplaces were equipped with modern IT and communications technologies. The selected cases represent diverse primary academic work such as research,

teaching and administrative work. In addition, the sample needed to be feasible; that is, readily accessible to the researcher (Yin 2014).

This study took place in three academic open-plan workplaces which are related to tertiary education. The researcher visited the selected tertiary education institutions in Western Australia to meet with their properties departments and establish what type of open-plan workplaces academics were occupying. In addition, information was sought in relation to workplaces that have been designed, built or refurbished to create open-plan layouts between 2010 and 2015, because the flexible workplace concept has become a more common occurrence in western universities in the last decade.

In total, five cases were initially identified as potentially meeting the criteria for this study. However, after initial site visits to investigate and takes photos by the researcher two cases were discounted due to inadequate workplace facilities for contemporary academic work practices. There is no definitive guidance for determining the number of cases to be studied (Pyett 2003), and it has been suggested by Yin (2014) that the number of cases depends on the type of question that the researcher is asking and the convenience of sampling. Therefore, the total number of case studies of open-plan academic workplaces undertaken in this study is three. The three case study samples were selected purposively to reflect the different perspectives of the phenomenon, such as how open-plan offices perform in supporting particular types of academic work; Curtin University Sustainability Policy (CUSP) focuses on research work, Curtin Teaching and Learning (CTL) focuses on administration work, and Central Institute of Technology (CIT) focuses on teaching work; the overall purpose was to increase the explanatory power and ability to generalise the findings (Miles and Huberman 1994).

#### 3.3.4 Participant Sample

The targeted participants were academics who are regularly undertaking the main academic activities of research, teaching, and administration within the selected open-plan workplaces. For the purposes of this study, any support staff occupying the workplace were not included. Approval was obtained from each office manager to have access to the workplaces in order to collect the data. An invitation email was sent to academic staff, inviting them to participate in both the questionnaire and interview for each case study. The invitation was accompanied by an information sheet providing the research background, procedures, and significance of the study. The researcher arranged appointments via email

with all academics who had agreed to participate, in order to discuss and clarify any issues or questions. In total, 73 academics agreed to participate in both the questionnaire and interview. Table 3-2, below, represents the distribution of participant numbers across each case study.

Case study	Total number of academic staff	Number of participants in this study
CUSP open-plan workplace	23	19
CTL open-plan workplace	23	20
CIT open-plan workplace	60	34
Total number	106	73

Table 3-2 Participant numbers across the three case studies (Rashid 2015).

### **3.4 Quantitative Method**

This study adopted a quantitatively driven concurrent design method, which gives quantitative data the priority (Schoonenboom and Johnson 2017). The quantitative method was designed to generate knowledge and understand a phenomenon by collecting numerical data (Schoonenboom and Johnson 2017). This method allows researchers to explore numeric patterns by conducting complex statistical analysis such as averages and percentages to demonstrate relationships among the data and to enable comparison across different cases. Two types of data, collected through questionnaires and physical environment measurement, were used.

#### 3.4.1 Questionnaire

The questionnaire is a practical and quick data collection instrument for collecting information (Sarantakos 2012) and was employed in this research because it allowed the researcher to gather information from a large population in a short period of time in an affordable way (Sarantakos 2012). In addition, questionnaires are a practical way to gather data because they allow questions to be managed in a variety of ways. The design of the questionnaire survey used in this research aimed to explore each participant's self-rated evaluation of the effects of six indoor environment quality factors within their open-plan workplaces on their satisfaction, mood, motivation, and perceived productivity. This study adopted key indoor environment quality factors from the occupant indoor environmental

quality (IEQ) Survey created by The Centre for the Built Environment (CBE 2019). The survey measures workers' satisfaction and productivity in relation to the essential factors in the workplace.

Prior to commencing the data collection, a draft questionnaire was piloted with five academics who were known to the researcher and who were working in an open-plan workplace (but not in any of the case study workplaces). Consequently, some changes were made to the questionnaire. The researcher delivered a hard copy of the revised questionnaire to each of the case study participants at his or her workplace, and then left the participant to complete it. The questionnaire was divided into six IEQ sections; thermal comfort, air quality, light, sound level, layout, colour, and overall productivity; each section considered the degree of satisfaction, mood and motivation scale. Each section was aligned to two or more of the research objectives (Table 3-3): In addition to participant background, demographic information was also recorded, including gender, age group, academic field, how long they had been working in the current open-plan workplace, and the type of academic work in which the participant was involved. The full questionnaire can be found in Appendix 3.

Artificial lighting		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Sound		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Air quality	How does academic open-plan workplace influence:	Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Thermal comfort	satisfaction, mood, motivation	Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Layout	and overall productivity?	Objectives 1, 2, 3and 4
Colour		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Overall productivity	How is occupant's productivity impacted by: artificial lighting, sound, air quality, thermal comfort, layout and colour?	Objectives 4 and 5

**Table 3-3** Structural design of questionnaire for the current study.

The IEQ factors that follow were adopted and adapted for this study from the CBE survey are briefly described below:

**Temperature:** is one of IEQ factors that has a significant influence on the comfort and productivity of the occupants. The temperature level determines the nature of that effect, whether it is positive or negative, on the occupant's concentration, mood, and motivation to subsequently influence their overall performance. According to Australian standards, optimal temperature degrees range from 20 °C–24°C (AS 1668.2-2012(2026)), but this range was found to be subject to individual occupants' factors such as gender, age, and season (Kang et al. 2017). Moreover, studies revealed that there is a correlation between thermal comfort and occupants' work activities (Tanabe et al. 2007).

**Air quality:** is an important factor that relates to satisfaction of the occupants in open-plan offices. Studies demonstrate that a reduction in occupant's productivity as a result of discomfort stems from poor indoor air quality (Cho et al. 2019; Al Horr et al. 2016). The concentration of CO2 and air fresh are a crucial element that impact on an occupant's satisfaction; for example, odour could result in various adverse feelings (Bluyssen 2010).

**Lighting:** light has a significant impact on open-plan workplace occupants. Lighting illuminance is subject to the influence of the type of work that occupants are engaged with (Villa and Labayrade 2016). Some studies show that providing an appropriate lighting environment is necessary to fulfil both the physical and the psychological needs of the occupants and enhance their performance (van Bommel and van den Beld 2016).

**Sound level:** is one of the IEQ factors that takes part in determining the quality of open-plan offices. Level of noise is a common issue that the occupants complain about, and which has a negative impact on their satisfaction, productivity and health (Lee et al. 2015). There are many noise aspects inside the open-plan office caused by irrelevant speech between occupants and machine noise, which contribute to the overall noise level that distracts attention and reduces productivity (Kaarlela-Tuomaala et al 2009). The quality of the acoustic environment is evaluated by determining two crucial elements, the noise level and sound privacy in the open-plan office.

**Layout**: of open-plan has a significant effect on occupants' satisfaction and productivity. It may support and facilitate communication cohesion and cooperation between occupants, but on the other hand, it may cause lack of privacy among occupants and increasing sound level and interruption, besides reducing space in the personal workstation (Kang et al 2017; Sadick et al. 2020). The special density which can be defined as the area per occupant in the office is the unit that measures and evaluates open-plan quality in terms of the layout.

**Colour**: Colour was found to be one of the physical environment qualities that has a significant impact on occupants' productivity in the workplace. Several studies have been conducted to evaluate the effects of colour on occupants' productivity and mood in a workplace setting (Sorokowski et al. 2014; Baniani and Yamamoto 2015. However, more investigation is required for better understanding of this impact of colour on academic satisfaction, mood, motivation, and productivity in open-plan workplaces.

#### 3.4.1.1 Degree of satisfaction

Data regarding satisfaction with the environment was collected by asking how participants assessed the building performance; when users feel satisfied with the environment, it is considered to be performing well (Samani et al. 2018). The questionnaire on occupant satisfaction with the indoor environment was designed based on the Centre for the Built Environment's (CBE) satisfaction survey. The CBE was started in 1997 under the National Science Foundation (NSF) Industry/University Cooperative Research Centre (I/UCRC) program to assess perceived satisfaction and performance of buildings. The CBE occupant satisfaction survey has an extensive track record in numerous settings, including offices, hospitals, schools, and research centres. Over two decades, the CBE survey has proven reliable in measuring satisfaction in a variety of case studies, regardless of location, size or design (Heinzerling et al. 2013). For this study, the questions about satisfaction used the following structure, in accordance with the CBE occupant satisfaction survey: "How satisfied are you with... in your workstation?" The satisfaction response used a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely satisfied". Each satisfaction question was followed by further questions aimed at diagnosing the source of dissatisfaction if they were dissatisfied with the environment, or alternatively, the respondent could choose "I am happy" (Moezzi and Goins 2011).

#### 3.4.1.2 Mood evaluation scale

Mood evaluation provides data to assess how an IEQ factor impacts on occupants' mood, based on the role mood plays in behaviour in the workplace (Lan and Lian 2009; Stone and English 1998; Wang and Boubekri 2011). The evaluation of the impact of each IEQ on mood was designed based on the profile of mood states (POM) self-report mood scale. As discussed in detail in the literature review (Section 2.4.2.3), this scale has been widely used to evaluate the impact of IEQs on mood in the workplace (McNair et al. 1971). The mood scale adopted covers six different states: annoyed, confused, unhappy, fatigued, energetic and nervous.

Each state employed a 5-point Likert response scale, ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely". Each question about mood followed the structure: "What mood response do you associate with the overall... in your work area during the last week, including today?"

#### 3.4.1.3 Motivation evaluation scale

Motivation evaluation was designed to collect data about how the IEQs of open-plan workplaces facilitate or undermine individuals' sense of willingness and enthusiasm to perform a task. The evaluation questions of the impact of IEQ on motivation were adopted from Lan, Lian, and Pan's (2010) study. They found that motivation and productivity in the workplace can be affected by the indoor physical environment; for more detail, see Section 2.4.3. Motivation is evaluated based on the willingness of staff to perform tasks as well as their enthusiasm to perform tasks. The questions relating to motivation were structured as "Rate the effect of... in your workplace on your willingness to perform tasks?" and "Rate the effect of... in your workplace on your enthusiasm to perform tasks?" The motivation responses used a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely".

#### 3.4.1.4 Measurement of occupant productivity

As a concept, productivity is multidimensional, and thus, there are multiple ways to conceptualise and measure it. Sutermeister (1976) defined productivity as an output per employee hour, with quality considered. The researcher emphasised that both time and quality are more relevant than simply the rate of productivity. However, Hameed and Amjad (2009) stated that the reduction in the rate of part- or full-time absence from work has a positive impact on productivity.

In this study, a worker's productivity is considered as the ability to complete the required work within an appropriate time, while also meeting the standards for accuracy on a daily basis within the work environment. In some cases, researchers have measured an increase in the productivity of organisations as being when there is less absenteeism, fewer employees leaving early, and employees taking fewer breaks. These measurements are effective when applied to group productivity within a team. For measuring an individual's productivity within a workplace, a number of studies use self-report productivity measurement methods based on the occupant's self-assessment (Ramos et al. 2019; Hjalmarsson and Dåderman 2020; Hameed and Amjad 2009). The subjective assessment measurement used to assess an individual's perceptions and attitudes may identify a particular input such as motivation or

obstacles that would be difficult to identify by using an objective method (Haapakangas et al. 2018). This study has therefore adopted a self-rated report as a mechanism for evaluating the effect of IEQ factors on the academics' perceived productivity. The question relating to productivity was structured as "How would you weight the impact of... on your productivity?" The collected data were documented on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Extremely". In addition, the survey questions were extended to explore comparative experiences of traditional workplaces and open-plan workplaces, if the participants had experienced both. The productivity questions were structured as "How do you rate your productivity in the open-plan/individual office?"

#### 3.4.2 Physical Measurements

The physical environment measurements were conducted in each of the selected workplaces to establish whether the indoor environment conditions were within comfort tolerances prescribed by the Australian Standards. Environmental monitoring refers to the physical measurement of the basic IEQ parameters, including lighting illuminance, sound level, thermal conditions (temperature/relative humidity) and air quality (carbon dioxide [CO2] concentration). For each of the three open-plan environments studied, the physical measurements were taken in autumn during the morning and afternoon. Primarily, the physical measurements were taken to draw comparisons between the IEQs of each of the three case studies and the recommended Australian standards for occupant comfort. In addition, the physical measurements were used to evaluate potential IEQ-related sources of dissatisfaction, mood and motivation fluctuations, and productivity. The physical measurements were taken and recorded between 9:30 am and 12:00 noon, and then between 2:00 pm and 5:30 pm.

Prior to conducting the measurements, site visits were undertaken to inspect each of the open-plan workplaces to identify the appropriate locations (areas) for placement of the series of instruments used to take the measurements. The areas were selected based on the recommendation of the National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS 2015), which includes recommendations for proximity to windows, ventilation systems and workstations, as well as instrument height. Four instruments were used to measure lux, humidity, CO2 concentration, and temperature and sound levels. Some training was required and provided to the researcher by Curtin University's Facilities Department to enable the researcher to appropriately use the four instruments. Three devices were borrowed from the

Physics Department at Curtin University to measure illuminance, sound and temperature, and the fourth was purchased directly by the researcher to measure CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and humidity. The instruments measuring temperature, relative humidity, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, and sound levels were deployed near the workstations at a height of 1.1 m. This height is the occupant's breath zone when they are seated. NABERS (2015) recommends that these readings are taken at the location of the workstation chair. However, as the individual workstations were occupied during the time of measurement, this was not possible. The environmental measurements were recorded continuously. A hand-held lux meter was used on the workstations' surfaces to measure the level of lighting at each workstation. Details of the equipment used can be found in Appendix 5.

# **3.5** Qualitative Data: Semi-structured Interviews and Researcher Observations

Face-to-face interviews with academics were used to investigate in depth what lies behind people's decision-making and perceptions, and to capture the more nuanced, subjective, and less quantifiable aspects of the occupants' experiences in the open-plan workplace environments (Hammarberg, Kirkman, and de Lacey 2016). Two types of interviews are commonly defined: structured and semi-structured interviews. In structured interviews, the participants respond to prepared closed-ended questions, while semi-structured interviews allow participants to freely express their thoughts about the research questions. They enable interaction and discussion between the interviewer and participants, to gain their judgements, perceptions and experiences (Patton 1990; Yin 2014). As the interview process in this study aimed to evaluate and understand in depth what lies behind the participants' perceptions by providing opportunities for academics to describe their experiences, it was decided to adopt comprehensive, semi-structured interviews. The face-to-face interviews enabled the researcher to gather more detailed information regarding the suitability of the open-plan workplace for academic activities. These interviews were conducted with the academics after completion of the questionnaire. The interview questions were designed to facilitate interactive conversations between two parties in order to explore and investigate issues that were raised during the meeting in a holistic manner. Each interview was recorded using a high-quality digital recorder to enable the interviewer to fully concentrate on the interviewee while also ensuring an accurate record (Yin 2014). Table 3-4 shows the topic areas covered during the interview. A full version of the interview questions can be found in Appendix 4.

Table 3-4	Structural	design	of interview	for the	current study
I ubic o I	Suactura	acoign	or miter view	ioi uio	current study

Artificial lighting		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Sound		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Air quality	How does the academic open-	Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Thermal comfort	satisfaction, mood, motivation	Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Layout	and overall productivity?	Objectives 1, 2, 3and 4
Colour		Objectives 1, 2, 3 and 4
Overall Productivity	How is occupant's productivity impacted by: artificial lighting, sound, air quality, thermal comfort, layout and colour?	Objectives 4 and 5

After the interviews, the researcher recorded observations of the workplace in terms of the layout, location of the workstations, workstation personalisation, proximity between workstations, access to windows and daylight, direct exposure to sun, colour scheme, and fluctuations in occupancy levels. In addition, photographs of each of the workplaces were taken to develop a better understanding of the academics' experiences in relation to their environments.

# **3.6 Research Framework and Procedures**

The research procedures conducted in this study comprise four main stages:

- A review of the literature to examine studies that focused on understanding the effects of IEQ on an occupant's productivity in open-plan workplaces. This included studies looking at environmental satisfaction and the psychological effects of IEQ on occupants. Results from the literature review were used to conceptualise a framework that enables an informed evaluation of productivity in the open-plan workplace.
- 2. Undertaking a mixed methods design for data collection and analysis. The data collection started with quantitative data by taking physical measurements of IEQ in

specific areas in each case study. Next, a questionnaire survey was conducted with academic participants working in an open-plan environment. Data collection continued with gathering qualitative data through semi-structured interviews with the same participants directly after they completed the questionnaire.

- 3. Separate analysis of the qualitative and quantitative data in line with Creswell and Plano Clark (2011). Quantitative statistical analysis of the questionnaire was carried out using SPSS software. The thematic analysis was used for analyzing the results from the semi-structured interviews.
- 4. Both the quantitative and qualitative results were integrated after analysing the data sets separately; the results were merged together during the interpretation stage (Creswell and Plano Clark 2011). The research framework used in this study is shown in Figure 3-2.



Figure 3-2 Research framework for the current study (Rashid 2020)

# 3.7 Data Analysis

Data analysis is the interplay between researchers and the data; it is a process of breaking down the data and putting it back together in an organised and logical structure (Strauss and Corbin 1990). This section describes how data were reorganised to provide an understanding of the experiences of academics working in their open-plan workplace environments and how the workplaces affected their productivity.

#### 3.7.1 Quantitative Data Analysis

The quantitative data gathered from the questionnaire were organised and the analysis was accomplished using the "Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0" software. The SPSS performed analyses of the responses and provided descriptive statistics of the data. The descriptive analysis was then used to develop an understanding of the data, including the mean, minimum, and maximum of the respondents' demographic information, including age group, gender, years of working in open-plan workplaces, and qualifications. In addition, the descriptive analysis was used to analyse the impact of the six indoor environmental quality factors (temperature, air quality, lighting, sound level, layout, and colour) on the academic participants' satisfaction, mood, motivation, and productivity. The results were then visually screened to fully understand the distribution of data, as well as to identify any outlying results or anomalies. For demographic information a Pearson chisquared test  $\chi^2$  was used to determine whether there is a statistically significant difference between the expected frequencies and the observed frequencies in categories (Plackett 1983). In this study, the test was utilised to analyse the relationship between a categorical variable (gender, age) and an ordinal variable (satisfaction, mood and motivation). Fisher's exact test (Mehta and Patel 1983) was used instead of Pearson's chi-squared test to examine years of experience working as an academic due to the small cell sizes.

The statistical reliability of the mood and motivation constructs were tested using Cronbach's alpha (CA) coefficient test (Sekaran 2003) in order to assess the overall consistency of the POMS mood scale (annoyed, confused, unhappy, fatigued, energetic, and nervous) (McNair et al. 1971) and the motivation questions (willingness and enthusiasm) (Lan, Lian and Pan 2010). The following section (3.7.2) describes the detailed results of this test. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient (Morgan et al. 2004) was subsequently adopted as a non-parametric test to assess the statistical dependence between two variables (perceived productivity on the one hand and the other variable is satisfaction, mood and motivation each separately) by determining the direction and strength of the monotonic relationship between them. The rate of change in monotonic variables occurs according to whether the constant increase or reversible decrease is linear or non-linear; that is, the rate of change might be the same or different for both variables. (Morgan et al. 2004). This coefficient was applied to investigate how the respondents' perceived productivity related to their satisfaction, mood, and motivation.

#### 3.7.2 Statistical Reliability of Mood and Motivation

Reliability refers to the degree of consistency of participants' responses across the items (internal consistency). The purpose of a reliability test is to reduce any errors and provide consistent results. Cronbach's Alpha (CA) test was chosen to examine the mood scale (six items) and motivation (two questions) reliability using the SPSS software program. The test is not a statistical test; it measures the internal consistency of the data. Cronbach's alpha is frequently used to measure reliability of research instruments used by researchers (Sekaran, 2003). Cronbach's alpha test was used to illustrate the validity of the mood groups and motivation questions and assert the legitimacy of the analysis. Different values for alpha have been suggested in the literature; however, according to Nunnally (1978, 244), the generally agreed level of good internal consistency is above 0.70, while results that fall below this mark are considered unreliable and need further investigation. Therefore, in this research, the alpha should exceed 0.70 to indicate internal consistency. All staff responses to mood and motivation for each IEQ in all three workplaces were subjected to Cronbach's Alpha test.

#### 3.7.2.1 Mood scale

To determine whether the six mood items load on to a single factor, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was performed for three case studies and all IEQs. The Cronbach's alpha test results for the impact of thermal comfort and lighting on mood for CUSP and thermal comfort and colour for CIT generated scores below the recommended threshold of 0.70, as illustrated in Table 3-5. 
 Table 3-5 Cronbach's alpha test results for mood construct for the current study.

CUSP-IEQ	Cronbach's Alpha	No. of Items in the mood scale
Thermal comfort	0.654	6
Air quality	0.849	6
Lighting	0.588	6
Sound level	0.821	6
Workplace layout	0.817	6
Colour	0.659	6
CTL-IEQ		
Thermal comfort	0.637	6
Air quality	0.815	6
Lighting	0.727	6
Sound level	0.794	6
Workplace layout	0.828	6
Colour	0.026	6
CIT-IEQ		
Thermal comfort	0.919	6
Air quality	0.893	6
Lighting	0.843	6
Sound level	0.833	6
Workplace layout	0.832	6
Colour	0.938	6

Further investigation of the low alpha values involved respectively removing each of the separate mood responses (annoyed, confused, unhappy, fatigued, energetic and nervous) before re-estimating Cronbach's alpha for each of the 5-item scales. Tables 3-6, 3-7, 3-8 and 3-9 show that the highest alpha-values were generally obtained when the 'energetic' item was

removed from the scale. These results indicate that the remaining five mood items can be averaged to reflect a uni-dimensional mood construct.

Mood response associated with thermal conditions	Scale mean if item deleted	Scale variance if item deleted	Corrected item - total correlation	Cronbach's alpha if item deleted
Annoyed	8.11	7.877	.690	.465
Confused	8.79	12.175	.410	.617
Unhappy	8.11	7.322	.795	.405
Fatigued	8.11	9.766	.515	.560
Energetic	8.47	14.263	122	.789
Nervous	8.95	13.386	.247	.656

Table 3-6 Mood responses associated with thermal conditions CUSP

Table 3-7 Mood responses associated with lighting levels CUSP

Mood response associated with lighting levels	Scale mean if item deleted	Scale variance if item deleted	Corrected item - total correlation	Cronbach's alpha if item deleted
Annoyed	7.74	5.205	.764	.354
Confused	7.84	5.585	.769	.384
Unhappy	7.68	5.228	.660	.386
Fatigued	7.21	5.509	.444	.483
Energetic	7.42	9.702	356	.863
Nervous	7.89	6.988	.394	.533

Mood response associated with thermal conditions	Scale mean if item deleted	Scale variance if item deleted	Corrected item - total correlation	Cronbach's alpha if item deleted
Annoyed	6.80	4.905	.835	.326
Confused	7.45	10.155	.484	.627
Unhappy	6.80	5.537	.769	.384
Fatigued	6.65	5.818	.501	.543
Energetic	7.30	11.379	206	.742
Nervous	7.50	10.895	.000	.664

Table 3-8 Mood responses associated with thermal conditions CTL

Table 3-9 Mood responses associated with colour CIT

Mood response associated with colour	Scale mean if item deleted	Scale variance if item deleted	Corrected item - total correlation	Cronbach's alpha if item deleted
Annoyed	5.90	1.674	.000	.028
Confused	5.80	1.221	.256	221ª
Unhappy	5.80	1.221	.256	221ª
Fatigued	5.85	1.713	153	.092
Energetic	5.25	.829	172	.571
Nervous	5.90	1.674	.000	.028

# 3.7.2.2 Motivation

The 2-item motivation questions measured two aspects of motivation relating to willingness (1 item) and enthusiasm (1 item). All the data for the three workplaces was input into SPSS and Cronbach Alphas were generated across the two items for each of the six quality factors. As illustrated in Table 3-10, all alpha-values were above the recommended threshold of 0.70, which suggests that the willingness and enthusiasm scores can be summed for each participant to produce a reliable measure of motivation.

CUSP-IEQ	Cronbach's Alpha	No. of Items in motivation questions
Thermal comfort	0.924	2
Air quality	0.962	2
Lighting	0.903	2
Sound level	0.924	2
Workplace layout	0.971	2
Colour	0.973	2
CTL-IEQ		
Thermal comfort	0.817	2

Table 3-10 Cronbach's alpha test results for motivation contract for the current study

#### 3.7.3 Qualitative Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis consists of describing the phenomenon studied, the development of the conceptual classification, and the identification of the connection between these concepts (Silverman 2001; Richards 2005). A series of steps constitute the core of the data processing.

Firstly, all the data collected throughout the study (from interviews, open-ended questionnaire answers and the researcher's observational memos) were transcribed, organised and classified, and saved for analysis. After that, the data were saved in a Microsoft Word document.

The second step was to read through the data several times to form a general view about the investigated phenomena. This procedure was an important step in the early stages of data analysis, because it identified key points that were subsequently utilised to initiate the first step of analysis.

The last step was to initiate thorough analysis of the coding procedure. Strauss (1987, 27) emphasised the significance of the coding process, pointing out that "the excellence of the research rests in large part on the excellence of the coding". The coding process provides analytical tools for managing a large amount of raw data systematically and helps researchers

to consider the alternative meaning of the phenomena to build a theory (Strauss 1987). Three stages of coding were conducted in this study: open coding is the first stage of the qualitative analysis process to label the initial themes from the data; axial coding, wherein the researcher draw connections between the data into logical categories (Mehmetoglu and Altinay 2006); and the last stage is selective coding, where integration and refining the categories is done in a systematic, cohesive, and comprehensive way. A thorough discussion of these stages is provided in the following section.

Qualitative data analysis using software such as Nvivo has been criticised in the literature, particularly relating to concerns about disengagement from the data, meaning that relying on software to analyse data could result in the researcher focusing on the technical capabilities of the program instead of gaining the necessary depth of understanding of the data through detailed data investigation (Cope 2014). For this study, the software was not used to auto-code; instead, the researcher chose to identify emerging themes manually. Using the software in this study helped the researcher to organise the raw data, enabling the development of a profound data understanding and identification of the themes without disconnecting from the source of data.

The three case studies were analysed separately; three files were created, identified by the name of each of the three case studies, and all files were imported into Nvivo 10. The researcher followed the three stages defined above in order to connect the labelled themes to their contexts and finally, the supporting evidence was selected in a logical manner.

Before the collapsing of themes, a list of the complete codes was generated. Codes were iteratively refined, moved, merged and deleted, based on evolving themes and their attributes. Coding categories were examined for their utility, salience, credibility, uniqueness, heuristic value and feasibility, internal and external reasonability, and inclusivity (Patton 1990).

### 3.7.3.1 Open Coding

The researcher went through two steps to conduct open coding. Firstly, the interview transcripts were read several times and broken down into key points reflecting the interviewees' main ideas about their experiences within their open-plan workplace environments and how the indoor environment quality was conceptually represented. Basically, during this stage the researcher starts to create tentative categories that summarise masses of participants' words and establish properties of each code. Code names were diverse

and broad at this stage. For example, in the second step of open coding, the researcher looked for similarities among the codes, particularly those sharing commonly defined properties to group the codes into categories. In this step, the number of codes was reduced to facilitate managing the data. The aim of this step in this study was to generate a list of more focused themes concerning the interviewees' experiences of the influence of the indoor environment quality in their open-plan workplace environments. This process of categorisation resulted in 15 main categories across all three case studies. An example of this consolidation process is shown in Table 3-11, which highlights where groups of codes related to academic open-plan workplace characteristics were grouped under a single code, 'academic workplace'.

Open codes	Properties	Participant's words
Office layout	Advantages and disadvantages of open-plan	This type of office. Everyone can see me. Too many papers. Storage space. Individual office better. Collaboration. Diversity in setting. Surrounded by other people. Interaction. Sit in the corner position. People would be able to look. I think this sort of office is very good for business. You have to get out of there and into the room. Surrounded by other people. It is hard to be in open-plan. I can't get students. Nothing confidential.
It depends on the type of work	Different academic work requirements work well in specific situations.	Academic job is quite diverse. For some part of work, it is suitable in terms of writing — those sorts of things — it has definitely decreased. You need quiet time. Busy and noisy, you have to get out of there and into the room to make calsl. A lot of academic work is about thinking. Good for social interaction. Just wear headphones so I block out when I need. Works well for group meeting. Teamwork.
Colleagues' conversations	Words have nothing to do with work	People saying hi. You can't go in there and talk to people. Constantly have people coming and going through reception. Nothing stops people from seeing and interrupting you. Talking about clothes. News about friends.

**Table 3-11** Example of the first step of the open coding process for the current study

#### 3.7.3.2 Axial coding process

Once the data was in a manageable code structure, it was developed systematically, using the key themes identified through the literature review as guidance in main and subcategories to add depth and to identify emerging relationships between categories. For example, the office layout code was developed into a more comprehensive theme and evolved to become 'comfort/discomfort' which included all the emerging factors involved in how an open-plan workplace layout can affect workers' comfort.

#### 3.7.3.3 Selective Coding Process

The last step of the qualitative data analysis process focused on integrating and refining the categories and sub-categories to form a comprehensive network. Through this process, the researcher developed a better understanding of the data across all three case studies. This final step involved reviewing and refining the outcomes regarding the research questions, finalising the categories, and determining how the findings are presented to obtain accurate image of the studied case. This stage was crucial to ensure that those findings were demonstrated in a rational way and the aspects of the studied case were clearly revealed. See Table 3-12.

Open coding	Axial coding	Selective coding	
Office layout, workstation location and size, uncomfortable environment, temperature affects in a bad way, environment stops people from working.	Comfort/discomfort		
It depends on the type of work. Deep thinking work. Academic staff needs. Academic performance depends on the type of work. Intense work needing a lot of concentration. Overheated. Distracts thinking. Interruptions.	Concentration work	Distraction and concentration difficulties	
Colleagues' conversational noise. Disadvantages of open-plan. Causes delays in academic work. Quaint office. Distractions from noise. Informal interaction. Sound privacy. Meetings. Social relationships.	Noise		

Table 3-12 Example of the three steps of coding for the current study

The three detailed coding processes resulted in six themes representing the academic experience and perceptions about their open-plan workplace environments and ensured that the research question could be responded to comprehensively. The researcher used these six themes to analyse the qualitative data, extracted from multiple individual interviews and the open-ended questionnaire responses across all three case studies.

The themes included many factors related to the productivity of the workers, such as the physical environment of the workplace and the psychological and social aspects. These themes are: distraction and concentration difficulties, suitability of the workplace, control, feeling, privacy and communication. Each theme is described below:

- **Distraction**: this theme includes the codes of the impact of open-plan workplace environment on the academics' ability to concentrate and work without distraction.
- **Suitability of the workplace:** the suitability of the workplace arrangements for academic work and how the physical workplace environment supports the academic activities.
- **Control**: this theme includes all the psychological and physical factors in an openplan office that would positively or negatively influence the feeling of ownership and empowerment over the workspace allocated to each individual.
- **Feeling**: the theme comprises responses to a variety of psychological aspects and moods/emotions that have an impact on the academic in open-plan workplaces. This theme includes both negative and positive responses.
- **Privacy:** includes all codes concerned with providing a private visual and sound environment for the academics and their work.
- **Communication:** this theme concerns all factors that affect an academic's ability to conduct informal interactions among colleagues in the workplace.

#### **3.8 Research Trustworthiness**

This study followed the criteria set by Guba and Lincoln (1989) in order to ascertain the degree of credibility and establish validity of the research. These criteria will be discussed in detailed in the following section.

#### 3.8.1 Credibility

Credibility is defined as the techniques used to prove the degree of trustworthiness between research finding and reality (Guba and Lincoln 1989). In addressing credibility, this study used a triangulation of different methods, including the use of multiple data collection instruments, to provide a rich set of data across multiple sites. In addition, the iterative examination of previous research findings was used to measure congruency with results from previous similar studies.

#### 3.8.2 Transferability

Transferability can be defined as the ability to apply research results to similar situations (Guba and Lincoln 1989). To meet this criterion, a sufficient description of the methodology adopted as well as the data collected are required to enable the transfer to similar settings. The description should include detailed information about the phenomena that have been examined, including where and how the data were collected. Use of direct quotes from participants is another technique utilised to allow transfer of research results to similar situations.

#### 3.8.3 Dependability

Dependability can be achieved by providing a detailed report of the study, for the reader to "explore process, judge the decisions that were made and understand what salient factors in the context led the researcher to the decisions and interpretation made" (Guba and Lincoln 1989, 242). This study provides details regarding the cases, methods of collecting the data, and the analysis process.

#### 3.8.4 Confirmability

Confirmability is one of the criteria used to exclude subjectivity, to guarantee that research findings are rooted in appropriate contexts, and that these are not based on the researcher's own perspectives (Guba and Lincoln 1989). In this research, confirmability was achieved through triangulation of multiple sources of evidence, to alleviate investigator bias.

#### 3.8.5 Ethics Approval

The ethical issues of this research project were carefully considered and deemed to pose no threat to any persons or groups within society. The purpose of the research was clarified, and each contributor was provided with a comprehensive information sheet. Participants were never directly or indirectly pressured or forced into their contributions. The ethics application form for approval to conduct research involving humans (Form C) was submitted to the human research ethics committee in compliance with Curtin University's guidelines. In addition, the ethics application was screened by the Curtin survey team because some of the targeted participants for this study were employees of Curtin University. All data collected for the study were stored electronically and securely on Curtin University servers. Data will be kept for not less than seven years. The data will be available to researchers and the committee overseeing the research. After a period of seven years, the data will be destroyed.

#### **3.9 Chapter Summary**

Below is a summary table of the aspects of the research procedure (Table 3-13).

Aspects of the Research	Process
Methodology	Case Study-Mixed Method (CSMM)
Research design	Multiple case study
Research method	Mixed method: Quantitative (questionnaire and physical environment measurements). Qualitative (semi-structured interview, and environment observations)
Data analysis/interpretation	Concurrent Design — quantitatively driven Statistical analysis using SPSS software program for questionnaire data. Identification of themes. Cross-case analysis for qualitative data
Ethical issues	Informed consent, confidentiality

Table 3-13 Summary of approaches to the research process for the current study

This research aimed to explore how the indoor environment quality can impact upon academic productivity in an open-plan workplace. A case study methodology was utilised to obtain a deep record of viewpoints in regard to the investigated workplaces. This chapter discusses the philosophy of the research design as well as the methodology suitable for conducting research of this complexity. Quantitative and qualitative data were examined for their role in this research. The quantitative data included physical measurements and a questionnaire; the qualitative data included interviews and observations. The chapter explains the criteria employed for selecting samples and participants, and the different steps of quantitative and qualitative data analysis and interpretation are explained. Finally, the chapter emphasises research trustworthiness and reports how ethical issues were addressed in the study. The next chapters will present the findings of this research.

# **CHAPTER 4: CASE STUDIES ANALYSIS AND RESULTS**

#### **4.1 Introduction**

This research has examined three open-plan academic workplaces in Perth, Western Australia. This chapter presents analysis and findings data collected using a case study-mixed method. The collection method was designed to explore academic staff experiences in an open-plan workplace and, in particular, how the indoor environment quality, including aspects of the design, affects worker's productivity. The research analysis was designed to enable the researcher to address the research question:

"How does indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in the open-plan workplace?"

This chapter presented the results for each of the three-case studies CUSP, CTL and CIT respectively. Each case study displays:

-Case study description: This section features illustrated photos of the interior space taken by the researcher and an in-depth description of each of the three case studies. This includes an overview of the workplaces, number and demographic information of occupants and academic activity in the workplaces, as well as a detailed description of the physical workplace environments - the office layout including workstations, lighting and HVAC system (Heating, Ventilation and Air Condition).

- Indoor environment quality measurements: This section summarises the results of the IEQ measurements for each of the three case studies: CUSP, CLT and CIT open-plan workplaces. A hand-held device (see Appendix 5) was used to collect data on temperature (°C), relative humidity (%), carbon dioxide concentration (ppm), light (lux) and acoustics (dB). The measurements were taken in identified areas within each of the workplaces. The selected areas were based on recommendations provided by National Australian Built Environment Rating System (NABERS 2015). These areas were selected in order to cover as much of the office environment as possible and to obtain an accurate representation of morning and afternoon IEQ (see section 3.4.2). The physical environment measurements were undertaken to establish whether the physical indoor environment conditions were within comfort standards stipulated by the Australian Standards. In addition, the physical

measurements were used to evaluate potential IEQ-related sources of dissatisfaction, mood and motivation fluctuations, and productivity.

-Statistical analysis of the questionnaire: the data from the questionnaire were analysed in relation to means, percentages and frequencies to explore the impact of IEQ on academic in the three open-plan workplaces. Surveyed academics were asked to rate their perception of satisfaction, Mood, Motivation and productivity in relation to each of the six IEQ factors (thermal comfort, air quality, overall lighting, sound level, office layout, and colour) on a five-point Likert scale from 'Not at all satisfied' (1) through to 'Extremely satisfied' (5). The data were analysed using the SPSS software package.

To explore whether the impact of IEQ on satisfaction, motivation or mood affects academic staff perceptions of productivity, the Spearman rank correlation coefficient was adopted as a non-parametric test to investigate the relationship between satisfaction, mood, and motivation and workers' perceived productivity (p-value \*< 0.05 and \*\*< 0.01).

The literature suggests that the impact of IEQ on satisfaction, mood, motivation, and productivity can vary according to the demographic variables of the population sample (Kwallek 1990). The section examines whether, the age, gender or number of years' working as an academic significantly influenced the responses of academics regarding the IEQ of their workplaces. The resultant tables are shown in Appendix 6,7and 8.

-Semi-structure interview: this section presents the findings revealed by qualitative analysis of the data collected using a semi- structured interview method. The in-person interview was designed to investigate academic staff experiences in the open-plan workplace, particularly to explore how occupant satisfaction, mood, motivation and productivity were affected by IEQ factors. Since the interview process in this research aimed to enrich the case study with additional occupant experiences that build on the findings of the questionnaire, the interviews were conducted with the academic staff participants immediately after completing the questionnaire. The questions that directed the interviews were designed to be clear and flexible in order to explore in-depth issues raised during the interviews. After a series of steps of data processing, six themes were identified: Distraction and concentration difficulties, Suitability of the workplace, Control over environment, Feelings, Privacy, and Communication.

# 4.2 Case Study One: Curtin University Sustainability Policy (CUSP) Institute

#### 4.2.1 Overview

The CUSP workplace is an open-plan environment located on the ground floor of building 209 at the Curtin University 'Bentley campus' Perth, Western Australia. In 2014, the workplace was refurbished by Curtin's Properties, Facilities and Development department. The resulting workspace was occupied by 26 staff members, 23 academics and, three general or support staff.

#### 4.2.1.1 Participants

Of the 23 academics, 19 were available to participate in this study. Table 4-1 provides a summary of the participants' demographics.

Age group	Male	Female	Total
>50 years	3	7	10
31-50 years	3	6	9
Total	6	13	19

 Table 4-1 Demographics of the CUSP workplace participants (Rashid 2015).

# 4.2.1.2 Academic Activity in the Workplace

At the time of this study, CUSP was classified as a multidisciplinary research institute, comprising of a team of academics focused on sustainability policy. Staff within CUSP are responsible for supervision of Higher Degree by Research students, and delivering a Masters by coursework in Sustainability and Climate Policy. CUSP academics were expected to teach, both on campus and online, undertake both research and administrative work, undertake phone conversations and to attend meetings with colleagues. A large proportion of the work required collaboration with other staff members for purposes of conducting research. Figure 4-1, below, describes academic work undertaken in CUSP.



No of academics conducting types of work in CUSP

Figure 4-1 Number of academics conducting types of work (Rashid 2015).

It was noted that academics spent much of their working hours (8 am–5:30 pm) outside of the open-plan workplace, either teaching or attending meetings elsewhere on campus, or working from home. The researcher's observations recorded that the occupancy average for a working day was between 26% and 43%, except on the weekly meeting days, when the workplace was fully attended by all staff.

### 4.2.1.3 Open-plan Layout

Figure 4-2 shows the floor plan of the CUSP workplace layout. The workplace has two entrances from the north and the other from the south side. The north entrance is full-length glass, designed to allow daylight into the indoor environment and to give a sense spaciousness within the workplace. The reception area is situated in front of the south entrance. The building has an open office layout, with two separate small meeting rooms that both house a maximum of four persons and are located in the Centre of the open-plan workplace (Figure 4-3). These rooms are heavily used, on a daily basis, to hold meetings with colleagues or to make phone calls when a degree of confidentiality is required. In order to ensure maximum room availability to all staff, reservations must be made in advance.

Neither of the meeting rooms have direct access to daylight. This also has the added benefit of helping to figure out whether the room is empty or not (Figure 4-3). In the middle

of the north section of the workplace, there is another, larger meeting area that can accommodate up to ten people and is equipped with a large screen, used for weekly meetings and for conducting seminars and presentations (Figure 4-4). Bookshelves with plant beds above to form a visual barrier of approximately 160 cm in height on two sides serve to partly separate the meeting space from the main open-plan area. This barrier helps to define the space and give visual privacy. This area can be busy, and at times noisy, which causes a distraction for those who are not involved in meetings (Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-2 Floor plan of CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-3 Small meeting room (Rashid 2015).

**Figure 4-4** Large meeting area (Rashid 2015).

The workplace environment also includes booth seating for a casual meeting or a short break, located near the printing area on the west side of the workplace. As this area is vacant most of the time it causes the least amount of noise (Figure 4-5). The workplace manager does not have a separate office. The building has one storage room. All walls that face the workstations are painted white. The floor of the workplace is covered by dark grey, light grey and orange carpet, while the ceiling is black.



Figure 4-5 Booth seating for casual meeting (Rashid 2015).

#### 4.2.1.4 Workstation Layout

The CUSP open plan office accommodates 23 permanent workstations. Workstations are lined up in rows of three. Some workstations face each other, and some face the opposite direction. (Figure 4-2)

At the side of each workstation, there is a small storage cabinet (90 cm x 40 cm x 60 cm), and another cabinet which is organised along the side of each row of workstations. However, some workstations were poorly organised and were stacked with piles of accumulated papers and books. This stacking is likely due to the insufficient amount of storage allocated for each workstation. These workstations and storage cabinets are white and separated from each other by a partition that protrudes 40 cm above desk height to the side of each chair. This provides a little privacy from the next workstation while also letting light through. The front partition is approximately 60 cm from the desk level to enhance visual privacy while working at the desk. Ultimately, the workstations and their partitions give a sense of territory (Figure 4-6 and 4-7). Pot plants have been distributed throughout the office. Plant beds have been distributed in the office, adding beauty as well as enhancing visual privacy. Some staff have decorated and personalised their working space for a sense of ownership.



Figure 4-6 Workstation design arrangements in the workplace (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-7 Workstation design arrangements in the workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### 4.2.1.5 Lighting/windows

The CUSP working space is lit by LED strips, white/warm energy-saving light tubes, suspended on the ceiling above the workstations (Figure 4-8). The light (the amount of the illuminance (Lux)) above the presentation area can be adjusted by manual control. In addition to artificial lighting, the office has a set of windows along each of the north and south sides of the building and glazing in the middle of the west wall, allowing the daylight into the office. However, the mid-day sun glimmering from the north side causes discomfort in vision during

the first hours of work each day, forcing staff who sit near the windows to use the blinds to avoid the reflection of sunlight on their desktops.

# 4.2.1.6 HVAC System

The HVAC system controls ventilation and air conditioning. The office has a centrally controlled A/C system for the entire workplace. The circular ventilation diffusers are distributed uniformly to cover the whole workplace. The occupants can not turn the AC on/off.



Figure 4-8 Lighting Distribution (Rashid 2015).

# 4.2.1.7 Summary of Case Study One Overview

Table 4-2 summarises the CUSP workplace description including occupancy, type of academic activities and environmental characteristics.
Case Study	Occupancy	Academics' activities performed by CUSP	Environment
Case study 1: Curtin University Sustainability Policy Institute (CUSPI) – open-plan workplace on Curtin Bentley Campus	Total number for occupants is 26 staff: 23 are academic staff and 3 are support staff	-Focus on conducting research for publication and deep-thinking work -Supervision of postgraduate students -Meetings-face-to- face and online -Teaching preparations and reading	-Thermal comfort AC and automatic ventilation system - Air quality: limited access and control to fresh air. -Lighting: Uniform light distribution and local light, with plenty of daylight access -Layout: Variety of setting designs (two small meeting rooms, one large meeting area and siting for casual interaction) -Few storage shelves and 140 cm high partitions from the floor -Grey partitions and black ceiling -Carpet

 Table 4-2 A summary of CUSP-academic open-plan workplace characteristics (Rashid 2015).

# 4.2.2 Quantitative Results for CUSP

This section presents the analysis and findings of quantitative data (IEQ quality measurements and questionnaire) collected using a mixed method. The quantitative collection method was designed to explore indoor environment quality measurement and academic staff perceptions in relation to how IEQ impacts on occupants' satisfaction, mood motivation, and productivity in the open-plan workplace.

## 4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements

This section summarises the results of the IEQ measurements for CUSP open-plan workplace. The measurements were taken in three designated work areas indicated in (Figure 4-9).



Figure 4-9 Identified spots for physical measurements in CUSP (Rashid 2015).

## Temperature

The average temperatures in the CUSP open-plan workplaces were measured in each of the three selected areas. In accordance with Australian Standards, the recommended temperature range for occupant comfort is 20-24°C (AS/1668.2-2012). There was inconsistency in temperature across the three areas shown in am and pm readings except for area 2. This fluctuation was within half a degree. However, the three measured areas were within the Australian standards recommendation (Figure 4–10).



Figure 4-10 Temperature measurements for CUSP (Rashid 2015).

#### **Humidity Percentage Fluctuations**

The amount of humidity is depending primarily on the temperature of the air because warmer air holds more humidity than cooler air (ASHRAE 2010). The recommended range for relative humidity in the workplace is between 40% and 60% (AS/NZS 1668.2-2012). The average relative humidity recorded was within 1% across all areas during the morning hours, but there was a drop of 3% in the afternoons in area 1 and 2 (Figure 4.11). The relative humidity level in workplaces was within the recommended comfort level for workplaces in accordance with Australian Standards (AS 1668.2-2012 (2016) but, at the lower end of the spectrum.



Figure 4-11 Humidity measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### **CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration**

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations indoors have been associated with air quality (Seppanen, Fisk, and Lei 2005). CO<sub>2</sub> can be affected by many aspects of the indoor environment, including the ventilation rate, sick building syndrome, the furniture and equipment, and the number of occupants (Varjo et al. 2015). According to standards Australia the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration level above 800 ppm is indication of unacceptable work environment (AS/1668.2 2012). The CO<sub>2</sub> readings for the CUSP showed similarity to some extent between area 1 and 2 while the reading of area 3 came different also, the morning and afternoon readings for all areas were similar as shown in Figure 4-12. The measured CO<sub>2</sub> levels were within the acceptable Australian Standards for comfort in all three areas.



Figure 4-12 CO<sub>2</sub> concentration measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### **Artificial Light Measurement**

Lighting illuminance (lux) was measured by recording horizontal lux readings on an 'average' sunny autumn day, with internal lights switched on. Horizontal illuminance is the light landing on a horizontal surface, such as a desk or keyboard; it is important for reading and desk-based tasks. According to Australian Standards, the acceptable horizontal lighting level for office work is 320-600 lux, and the acceptable vertical lighting level is 160-240 lux (AS/NZS 1680.2.2:2008 2002). The results of the recordings are shown in Figure 4–13, there

was difference in the results between areas 1 and 2, and area 3. Area 3 showed incompliance with the standers, across both morning and afternoon reading. The high readings for area 3 was because it was close to the external windows.



Figure 4-13 Lighting measurements for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### Sound Level

The Australian Standard for sound level recommends a level in the range of 43-47 Db (AS/NZS 2107:2000). Generally, the measurement of sound level can be difficult to obtain accurately, due to it being easily altered by somebody speaking or a nearby door closing.

The data collection from the three work areas demonstrate that CUSP has optimum sound levels within the standard range for a.m. and p.m. readings (Figure 4-14). Area 1 in the evening and area 3 in the morning reached the maximum level of 47dB.



Figure 4-14 Sound level results for CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).

### 4.2.2.1.1 Summary of Indoor Environment Quality Measurements for CUSP

All physical readings of the CUSP workplace were taken on a single day in March and June in 2015. The timing was selected to align with the teaching semester, so that the number of occupants of the workplace was complete or almost complete. The results showed that the indoor environment quality for the three workplace areas within CUSP is compliant with Australian Standards except light measurement in area 3 recorded 988 lux, while 600 lux is maximum range for general and screen-based office tasks. The measurement results of the indoor environment showed slight inconsistencies across the different areas and work hours. This process of analysing the recorded physical measurement in different areas in CUSP was helpful to obtain a fuller picture of the microclimates within each of the office environments. However, the results obtained in this study were constrained by the accuracy of the hand-held devices used for the recordings (see Appendix 5).

## 4.2.2.2 Statistical Analysis of the Questionnaire

## 4.2.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction

Occupants' satisfaction was investigated in regard to the six IEQ factors and table 4-3 and figure 4-15 show the results for the mean score and number of respondents of satisfaction across the participants respectively. Satisfaction with an IEQ was considered high when most of the participants chose highly or extremely satisfied. Conversely, participants not satisfied with IEQ were deemed to be those who rated it as 'Not at all satisfied', or 'Slightly satisfied'.

The academic staff in CUSP were most satisfied with the colour of their office spaces (mean rating = 3.28) with 58% of respondents rating their satisfaction level with colour as either highly or extremely satisfied. Of those that were not satisfied with the colour (31.5%), when they asked to provide comments on what they particularly disliked, most of them remarked that the dark colour for the ceiling created an uncomfortable contrast with the overhead lighting. Staff were also satisfied with the lighting conditions, with an average mean rating of 3.26 and a total of 47% of the occupants responding as satisfied. Of the 21% of participants that were unsatisfied with the lighting, 4 out of 19 stated that the glare from the morning sun on the computer's screen caused discomfort. Of interest, all 21% of the not satisfied staff were in the same age group, that is, over 50.

Conversely, the sound levels and air quality within the CUSP workplace were perceived as the least satisfactory environmental factors. The mean score for the sound level was 1.95, with 73% of the respondents rating the sound as not satisfactory. The problems identified included noise from other staff conversations (17/19), lack of acoustic privacy (9/19), and noise from the ventilation system (3/19). Two of the participants who were highly satisfied with the sound level also noted that, while they enjoyed the interaction with their colleagues, the office was occasionally too noisy, especially during the weekly staff meetings. The mean satisfaction level with air quality was 2.47, with 47% rating this aspect as not satisfactory. While a larger number of participants stated during the interview that having limited control over access to fresh air (11/19) and air movement (5/19) made them uncomfortable in their work environment.

IEQ	Not at all satisfied	Slightly Satisfied	Moderately satisfied	Highly satisfied	Extremely satisfied	Mean
Thermal comfort	2 (10.5%)	5 (26.3%)	6 (31.5%)	6 (31.5%)	0	2.8
Air quality	5 (26.3%)	4 (21%)	6 (31.5%)	4 (21%)	0	2.4
Lighting	2 (10.5%)	2 (10.5%)	6 (31.5%)	7 (36.8%)	2 (10.5%)	3.2

Table 4-3 Numbers of re	spondents and mean sco	ore of satisfaction for	CUSP	(Rashid 2015).
-------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	------	----------------

Sound level	8 (42.1%)	6 (31.5%)	3 (15.7%)	2 (10.5%)	0	1.9
Layout	6 (31.5%)	3 (15.7%)	4 (21%)	6 (31.5%)	0	2.5
Colour	4 (21%)	2 (10.5%)	2 (10.5%)	9 (47.3%)	2 (10.5%)	3.2



Figure 4-15 Results of the respondents' perceptions of environment satisfaction for CUSP (Rashid 2015).

# 4.2.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Mood

(EFA) test was used in order to load the six POMS mood responses into a single factor. The results below present the mean scores for the mood scale for CUSP workplace and six IEQ (Figures 4-16). The results indicate that the IEQ factors are not strongly associated with the occupant's mood. However, sound level has the highest mean compared with the other IEQ, with an average rating of 2.3. Colour (1.2) followed by lighting (1.4) within the workplace were perceived as the lowest mean in the workplace.



Figure 4-16 Results of the respondents' perceptions of mood for CUSP (Rashid 2015).

## 4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Motivation

The participants were asked to rate the effects of the six monitored IEQs on their motivation through two questions about 'enthusiasm' and 'willingness' to do tasks, responding on a five-point Likert scale from 'No effect at all' (1) through to 'Extremely affect my motivation' (5). The mean of the two questions for each participant was calculated. A significant effect of an IEQ on staff motivation was deemed to be for those participants who rated an average of four or above, that is, highly or extremely affected. Conversely, participants whose motivation was not deemed to be affected by an IEQ were those who rated it as two or below, that is, 'not at all' or 'slightly affected'.

Figure 4-17 represents the average means of the ratings for each IEQ in the CUSP workplace. In relation to motivation, the results showed a significant effect for IEQ on occupants' motivation to perform tasks. The academics' motivation was most affected by the layout of their office spaces; 11/19 respondents rating their motivation as either highly or extremely affected by layout, with a mean of (3.5), followed by sound level (3.2) and light (3). Conversely, colour within the workplace environment was perceived as the least affecting factor in their motivation to work. The mean score for colour was (2.4), followed by thermal comfort (2.5).



Figure 4-17 Results of the respondents' perceptions of motivation for CUSP (Rashid 2015).

# 4.2.2.2.4 The Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity

The participants were asked to rate their perceptions of their productivity in their openplan workplaces using a five-point Likert scale, from 'Not at all productive' (1) through to 'Extremely productive' (5). A summary of the results is shown in Table 4-4.

 Table 4-4 Productivity in CUSP workplace (Rashid 2015).

	Not at all productive	Slightly productive	Moderately productive	Highly productive	Extremely productive
CUSP	0	7(36.8%)	3(14.7%)	9(47.3%)	0

Almost half of the CUSP (47.3%) respondents perceived their productivity as highly productive. In order to understand the relationships between each of the six IEQs and worker-perceived productivity, the participants were then asked to weight the impact of each IEQ on their productivity on a five-point Likert scale from 'Not at all' (1) through to 'Extremely' (5).

#### **Productivity in CUSP**

Table 4-5 and figure 4-18 represents a summary of the results of the impact of each IEQ on perceived productivity in the CUSP workplace. It shows that sound level was rated as having

the greatest negative impact on staff's productivity. In this workplace, almost three-quarters of the participants (73.6%) rated sound level in their office as having a high negative impact on their productivity, with only one person rating sound as having little impact on their productivity in their workplace. The next highest IEQ result was that of layout, with 68.3% of the participants rating this as having a high impact and only two persons rating layout as having little impact on their productivity; a possible explanation can be brought down to differences in personal preferences. Moreover the 47% of the participants rated light as highly and extremely effected their productivity. In contrast, colour was found to have the least impact on productivity, with more than half of the respondents rating colour as having little impact (52.5%) among the six IEQ.

**Table 4-5** Numbers of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CUSP (Rashid2015).

IEQ	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Highly	Extremely	Mean
Thermal comfort	3 (15.7%)	4 (21%)	3 (15.7%)	5 (26.3%)	4 (21%)	3.1
Air quality	3 (15.7%)	5 (26.3%)	3 (15.7%)	5 (26.3%)	3 (15.7%)	3
Lighting	4 (21%)	1 (5.2%)	5 (26.3%)	4 (21%)	5 (26.3%)	3.2
Sound level	0	1 (5.2%)	4 (21%)	6 (31.5%)	8 (42.1%)	4.1
Layout	0	2 (10.5%)	4 (21%)	4 (21%)	9 (47.3%)	4
Colour	7 (36.8%)	3 (15.7%)	5 (26.3%)	4 (21%)	0	2.3



Figure 4-18 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CUSP (Rashid 2015).

## 4.2.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood, and Motivation

The Spearman correlation coefficient has been used to determine whether an occupant's satisfaction, motivation and mood in regard to each IEQ factor has a relationship with perceived productivity (p-value \*< 0.05 and \*\*< 0.01)<sup>2</sup>. The results showed a significant negative relationship between the impact of sound level and workplace layout on their perceived productivity and their degree of satisfaction, as can be seen in Table 4-6. In other words, when satisfaction is high or extremely high with sound level and workplace layout, the impact of that factors on productivity is very small (i.e., 'not at all' or 'slightly'). The correlation coefficient related to sound level is -0.538 and in relation to layout is -0.504, while the correlations with lighting, air quality, thermal comfort, and colour showed no significant relationships with perceived productivity (p-value < 0.05)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> \* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Buildir	۱g			How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?					
	0			Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CUSP	Spearman's rho	Satisfaction - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)	0.199 0.415					
		Satisfaction - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)		-0.538* 0.018				
		Satisfaction - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)			-0.152 0.535			
		Satisfaction - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)				-0.381 0.108		
		Satisfaction - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)					-0.504* 0.028	
		Satisfaction - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)						-0.303 0.222

**Table 4-6** The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CUSP workplaces for the current study

The results demonstrated that there is a significant positive relationship between mood and productivity in relation to office layout. Higher levels of mood associated with the office layout are related to higher levels of productivity, as can be seen in Table 4-7. The impact of layout on mood and perceived productivity is 0.624, while other IEQ factors showed no significant relationships. The correlation coefficients for mood and perceived productivity in relation to thermal comfort, lighting, air quality and colour were, respectively, 0.863, 0.628, 0.464 and 0.480.

Buildir	Building				How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?				
	0			Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CUSP	Spearman's rho	Mood - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)	-0.119 0.628					
		Mood - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		0.384 0.104				
		Mood - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			0.179 0.464			
		Mood - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				-0.042 0.863		
		Mood - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					0.624** 0.004	
		Mood - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)						0.173 0.480

 Table 4-7 The correlation between productivity and mood in CUSP workplaces for the current study

There are significant positive relationships between motivation and productivity in relation to sound, air quality, thermal comfort, layout, and colour. Higher levels of motivation associated with sound, air quality, thermal comfort, layout, and colour are related to higher levels of productivity, as can be seen in Table 4-8.

Table 4-8 The correlation between productivity	and motivation in CUSP	workplaces for the current
study		

Building			How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?						
				Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CUSP	Spearman's rho	Motivation - Lighting Motivation - Sound	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed) N Correlation coefficient	0.427 0.077 18	0.627**				
		level	Sig. (2-tailed) N		19				
		Motivation - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed) N			0.734** 0.000 19			

Motivation - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed) N		0.877** 0.000 19		
Motivation - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed) N			0.669** 0.002 19	
Motivation - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed) N				0.679** 0.001 19

## 4.2.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for CUSP workplace

The current study used a Pearson chi-squared test  $\chi^2$  (Plackett 1983) to examine whether there is a relationship between two categorical variables: demographic information (age and gender) and satisfaction, mood and motivation each of the six IEQ factors. However, due to the small cell sizes in years of experience working as an academic (cells are less than 5) the chi-squared test was considered unreliable therefore, Fisher's exact test (Mehta and Patel 1983) was alternatively used to analysis this small cell size. The resultant tables are shown in Appendices 6, 7 and 8.

#### Age

In this study, age had no significant impact on satisfaction for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces. Similarly, it was concluded that age groups had (under 50 years, 50 years old and over 50 years) no significant effect on mood and motivation for each of the six IEQ factors (Appendix 6).

#### Gender

Gender (male and female) had no significant impact on satisfaction for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces. Similarly, gender and its impact on mood for each of the six IEQ factors returned no significant relationship (Appendix 7). However, Pearson chi-squared test  $\chi^2$  found that females had reported a greater impact on their motivation to perform tasks for colour in their environments than males ( $\chi^2[4] = 10.71$ , p = 0.030)

#### Years of Experience Working as an Academic

Fisher's exact test results showed no significant impact on satisfaction, mood and motivation for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces in relation to years of working as an academic (< 1 year, 1–3 years, > 3 years) (Appendix 8).

#### 4.2.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results

The results of the questionnaire in CUSP case study shows that the IEQ in open-plan workplace have a significant impact on the feeling of satisfaction, motivation and perceived productivity. Particularly, sound level was the most common factor identified to have a negative impact among the six IEQ.

The results show that sound level and air-quality had a strong negative impact on participants' satisfaction. Additional quantitative analysis showed that most of the participants identified noise from background conversations and lack of acoustic privacy as the most common reasons for dissatisfaction with sound levels. For air quality, lack of fresh air and air movement were the most common reasons for dissatisfaction. The participants were most satisfied with the colour and light, which might be due to the colour scheme of the office being based on the neutral colors (white for the walls and workstations, black for the ceiling and gray with orange for the flooring. Kwallek and Lewis (1990) found that participants preferred working in a white office environment compared to other colours, due to white-coloured offices being more acceptable and prevalent.

Similarly, sound levels were found to have a negative impact on participants' mood. In particular, high sound levels made academics annoyed and unhappy with the environment, while colour and light in the workplace were perceived as the least associated with mood in the workplace. However, the results of the average mood ratings for each IEQ indicate that the IEQ factors are not strongly associated with participants' mood.

Both sound levels and layout had significant negative impacts on participants' motivation and perceived productivity. Perceived productivity was strongly affected by sound levels and layout of the workplace. However, almost half of respondents perceived their productivity in open-plan workplace as highly or extremely productive. This means that many of the academic still perceived their productivity as high even though layout and sound were negatively rated as factors affecting their productivity. Conversely, colour within the workplace environment was perceived as the factor least affecting their motivation to work and perceived productivity. That suggested that academics who were engaging in deep thought were less satisfied, motivated and productive with high sound levels caused by colleagues' conversations noise. This indicates that academic research work requires a higher level of sound and visual control over the environment.

Spearman correlation results found out that relationship of productivity with satisfaction, mood and motivation were signification in terms of sound and layout for satisfaction, layout for mood and all IEQ except light for motivation. Fisher's exact test stated that age groups, gender and years of experience working as an academic had no significant impact on satisfaction and mood for any of the IEQ factors However, females reported a greater impact on their motivation to perform tasks for colour than males

## 4.2.3 Results of Semi-structured Interviews with Academics

After a series of data coding process which, will be applied similarly for all three case studies, six themes were identified and explained in detail in this section: Distraction, Suitability of the workplace, Control over environment, Feelings, Privacy, and Communication.

### **Distraction in the CUSP workplace**

55% (10/19) of the CUSP participants stated that distraction is a big disadvantage of their open-plan workplace. Distraction constantly has a big impact on participants' performance, and it interferes with their abilities to concentrate on their tasks, particularly when these tasks need deep thinking or high levels of concentration. The participants noted that the open-plan nature of their environment was interrupted that all staff were considered 'available' for conversations at all times. One research academic noted that this scenario played both ways:

People interrupt me all the time and I interrupt other people. So, it's not just one, you know, it goes both ways. Because you see somebody and it's like they're easy prey. You know you can just go over and as soon as you have a thought about wanting to speak to them you can go over and speak to them, rather than making an appointment or trying to knock on their door and ask if it's convenient. (CU10)

While there were advantages in the availability of staff, this constant distraction also has an impact on ability to concentrate, particularly on research related tasks. For example:

... It's an advantage for meeting and greeting but it's a disadvantage for doing concentrated work, such as writing a paper.... (CU3)

In addition, 80% (15/19) of the participants believed that the noise levels contributed to a bad working atmosphere, leading to reluctance to collaborate with colleagues. The distraction usually happened on specific days, particularly when the office was fully occupied. One participant noted:

It's too noisy sometimes, 'especially on Wednesday; it's not private enough. (CU12)

Similarly, 60% (11/19) of the participants believed that the layout of the open-plan workplace, and the requirement to support different types of activity, also contributed to the academic staff's exposure to distractions. For example:

...we had a meeting this morning; we all sat here. I thought that was pleasant and very nice. But it may have disturbed other people... and the reason we sat there was because there were nine of us in the meeting. So, we didn't have any other space that accommodated nine people." (CU7)

In addition, location of the workstation plays a significant role in affecting the office workflow. Almost a third, 31% (6/19) of the participants stated that workstations located in the main traffic zone were prone to visually distract staff, and some workstations near to airconditioning outlets caused staff to feel uncomfortable due to noise and room temperature, ultimately making them want to leave the workplace early. However, one of the participants mentioned that the IEQ of the workplace comes into effect as a package and some qualities do not work independently.

... Don't know, I think they combine. I think maybe if the light is low and the air is getting a bit stuffy — the sound — I normally just wear headphones so I block out. (CU18)

#### Suitability of the CUSP workplace

Almost half 47% (9/19) of the CUSP participants thought that an open-plan workplace was suitable for particular types of work and not for others. For example, an open-plan workplace supports academic staff in collaboration and interaction with their colleagues. However, an open-plan workplace is not suitable for deep thinking and writing. For example: With some, productivity in some cases has increased, I guess, but productivity in terms of writing — those sorts of things — it has definitely decreased. So yeah, it's not as cut and dried as an increase or a decrease. Because I think the types of work we do, you do need interaction with people for collaboration, but then to actually do the outputs and stuff, you need quiet time. (CU12)

On the other hand, 31% (6/19) of the participants indicated that an open-plan office is suitable for all kinds of academic tasks and is a more productive environment than any other office. They suggested that there were advantages in the diversity of their open-plan workplace, such as the big meeting room and two separate smaller meeting rooms to provide an opportunity for collaborative work and easy interaction among staff. One explained further:

Without that (diversity in seating) our open plan wouldn't work because it would be far too busy and noisy. With it, the opportunity for just working surrounded by other people, getting things done like your emails or reading something, writing something can happen. But as soon as anyone rings up or comes to visit you, you have to get out of there and into the room. (CU2)

Conversely, 21% (4/19) of the participants stated that the open-plan workplace does not support their entire work, because they need a workplace that can achieve a balance between communication and level of sound or visual privacy. For instance:

A lot of academic work is about thinking and it's about interaction with students and other people. When you're all in together and you're all trying to do that, some are trying to think, and others are trying to interact; then everyone together — it doesn't work. (CU5)

### **Control in the CUSP workplace**

21% (4/19) of CUSP participants believed that control over the physical environment in open-plan workplaces is a problem, leading to an uncomfortable and unhappy work environment. The inability of staff to control air-conditioning systems, window openings and workstation levels of noise creates a less productive work environment. For example:

A lot of the time our climate is good enough to be able to open doors and windows and just breathe the fresh air. I would like to be able to do that but it's not clever enough — our system is not clever enough. So, a more smart system of being able to open and close doors and windows — indoor-outdoor experience of architecture is, for me... very important to feel fresh and pleasant — those cultures that do that well like in Bali, in Broome, and increasingly the new architecture in Perth does that but we can't even keep our doors open for more than a few seconds before it beeps at you and goes off and sets an alarm. We would have a much more collegial and productive research environment if we could manage doors and windows ourselves. (CU10)

However, the rest of the staff did not mention control over the physical environment as a problem facing the staff in their workplace.

#### **Feelings in the CUSP workplace**

Of the academic staff employed at CUSP, 40% (8/19) believed that the high level of noise and the layout of their workplace were affecting their feelings towards their work environment negatively, causing an increase in frustration, bad temper and annoyance. Participants noted that the small space allotted for each workstation and its storage spaces, and the presence of an open presentation area, were the main factors affecting their feelings negatively. One person explained how they could be negatively affected:

...probably the noise again. I guess it can be both 'annoyed' and 'unhappy'. You know, like yesterday we had some exciting news and so that part of it can be positive because you hear, you know what's going on. We do work in close-knit groups so it's nice — you get to know what's happening in people's lives and things like that, so it becomes more than just work. But I guess then, when you are trying to concentrate, it can be very annoying and make you feel very annoyed or unhappy, I guess. Then the other one I think is the constant interruptions [that] can make you very unhappy and annoyed. (CU15)

However, 35% (7/19) of the participants expressed that their interactions with colleagues in their open-plan workplace contributed to a pleasant atmosphere, a feeling of happiness, motivating staff to stay and work until late hours in the open-plan workplace, which in turn increased their productivity. Only 10% (2/19) of the participants stated that their mood could be affected by what happened inside the workplace.

For example, in terms of feeling happiness with the open-plan workplace:

113

*I enjoy coming to work... When you enter you see who's here and you have a little good morning to people on the way past. It's positive, I like it.... (CU6)* 

In terms of the academics' motivations to stay and work late in their workplace, one participant said:

I think all the factors that you listed about air quality, about light, about artificial light, about temperature — they all play a role. I couldn't separate them out. Mostly I feel very comfortable in this setting and it invigorates and motivates me. The only issue I find is that the air conditioning is sometimes too cold, and you can't really control it. (CU10)

#### Privacy in the CUSP workplace

60% (11/19) of staff stated that the open-plan design provided a comfortable level of visual privacy, through partitions, greenery and workstation locations. For example:

The greenery, the plants — I don't know if that's an issue of it being open plan but I think that helps to give it a bit more privacy and makes it feel, yeah, just very nice. (CU4)

It is okay, I'm happy that I have the corner position. I don't think I'd be as comfortable in an open-plan office if I was in a place where people would be able to look over my shoulder as they're walking past and all that sort of thing. So, I think it works for me because of the corner position; just because it feels like you have more privacy and are able to concentrate on your work without the sense of people looking over your shoulder or walking past and — just disturbed less. (CU1)

For 42% (8/19) of the participants, a lack of visual and sound privacy impacted upon their productivity. The layout of the open-plan workspace and absence of high physical partitions between workstations led the staff feeling unprotected, working in an unsecure work environment, and distracted. One person explained:

This place has no privacy .... Privacy is important because you need ... confidentiality on what [you] are doing, and with constant disruption you're losing your line of thought and it's almost like starting over and over again on the same task. (CU2) **Communication in the CUSP workplace** 

77% (15/19) of the participants stated that communication among workers is a big advantage that helps to improve the team's productivity and makes them work happily. The open-plan workplace enhances the idea of teamwork by enabling the staff to sit near each other, without high partitions, and to have communications. For example:

The other big advantage is that I hear what people are involved in, I know what other people are doing, I know what I can help with or where I can get involved. My colleague who sit[s] next to me — we're working on a lot more collaboration than we would otherwise because I'm aware of what she's doing and she's aware of what I'm doing. Otherwise, we may not be aware of each other's work... (CU5)

On the other hand, 21% (4/19) pointed out the difficulties of communicating with each other in open-plan spaces because of the distraction it causes to others working in the same office. However, not all staff work in the office every day. For example:

... you have a good interaction with people, because you just informally cross paths or whatever. But as I say at another level, counter-intuitively, in a sense, you lose some of that interaction because actually quite a few people choose not to come as frequently because they work more from home or whatever. So in a sense it sort of works against each other. It's a bit of an ironic thing. (CU14)

Additionally, one participant made it clear that communication does not necessarily improve productivity. It sometimes causes distraction. For example,

Well, for me, when I'm really focused, I'm deep, deep thinking. Like, analysis of data or really deep stuff — I can actually do it better in a coffee shop than I can do here. Because in a coffee shop it's noisy but there are not people I know, I'm left alone, I'm in my own zone. So it's not so much noise — because I can do that in a coffee shop and I'm just in my bubble, nobody will come and talk to me or bother me and I can concentrate and not get disturbed. (CU5)

## 4.2.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results

The participants engaged in semi-structured interviews individually with the researcher for five-ten minutes. They were asked about their experiences in the open-plan workplace, as a way of exploring how occupants' satisfaction, mood, motivation and productivity were affected by the physical work environment. The academics all stated that distraction is a big issue in their open-plan workplace. They reported that distraction has a constantly negative impact on their ability to concentrate on their tasks, especially when the tasks need deep thinking and high levels of concentration. The main reasons for the distraction are noise levels that come from other staff conversations and staff movement, with the open-plan layout aggravating the problem of distraction. The participants stated that there is a perception that all staff were considered to be 'available' for conversations at all times in open-plan layout, and they agreed that their workplace layout did not support different types of activity, especially deep-thinking work. Moreover, many believed that the open-plan workplace affected their feelings negatively, causing frustration, bad temper and annoyance. The participants noted that the open presentation area, and the small size of the storage spaces allotted for each workstation, were the main causes of negative feelings. The layout of the open plan led the staff to feel unproductive working in an unsecured work environment, due to lack of privacy. However, the results showed that the open-plan workplace provide a good opportunity for communication among workers, which helped to improve the team's productivity and make them work happily. The open-plan workplace enhances the idea of teamwork by enabling the staff to sit near each other, without high partitions.

## 4.2.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CUSP Workplace

The CUSP workspace was occupied by 26 staff members, 23 of whom were academics, with the remaining three classifieds as general or support staff. A large part of the academic work requires writing, research, and deep-thinking.

The quantitative results agreed with the qualitative results that sound was the big problem in open-plan workplace, although the physical measurements for sound were within the acceptable Australian Standards for comfort. The quantitative results show that sound level is the most impactful factor influencing academics' productivity, feeling of satisfaction, mood, and motivation. The quantitative results are consistent with the qualitative results in relation to sound level as the main source of distraction, discomfort with the environment,

116

and have a negative impact on occupants' feelings, which in turn negatively affect the speed of work completion and staff desire to stay behind to accomplish the work inside the workplace. This finding aligns with previous studies by Vassie and Richardson (2017), Di Blasio et al. (2019), and Jahncke et al. (2011). For example, Jahncke et al. (2011) investigated the effect of two different noise levels on mood and cognition in a simulated open-plan workplace. The study found that in the noisy open-plan workplace, participants were tired, and their moods were negative. However, academic work is different in terms of complexity, diversity, and requirements, which makes it difficult to compare with other works.

The quantitative and qualitative results are also consistent in terms of open-plan layout. The results show that the open-plan workplace layout produced a significant negative impact on the academics' productivity and motivation. The occupants responded that the ability to concentrate in open- plan workplace was very difficult and cause more difficulties in implementing their academic work such as writing and deep thinking which need high concentration. The academic in CUSP added that individual workplace would be better for their type of work and open-plan layout did not support diversity of their academic work patterns. Moreover, the participants identified that workstations situated near the hallway and the partition height did not provide visual and sound privacy eventually causing frustration and bad temper. This is in alignment with the existing literature in relation to workplace space-planning and layout (Kang, Ou, and Mak 2017; Kim and de Dear 2013). Kang Ou and Mak (2017), for instance, found that open-plan layout causes distraction and does not support the academic activities. However, half of the participants showed that they were still productive in an open-plan layout. This was supported by the qualitative results, which indicated that half of the participants found that the open-plan workplace was suitable for particular types of work; for example, an open-plan workplace supports academics with collaborative work and social interaction among colleagues. However, it is not suitable for deep thinking and writing tasks. This finding is in line with a previous study by Dimotakis, Scott, and Koopman (2011) which confirmed that positive social interaction among occupant in workplace generates positive feeling and the negative interaction leads to negative feeling. This outcome suggests that academic workplace needs a layout that support concentration work and both formal and informal interaction for better productivity.

117

The quantitative results indicated that air quality was a significant factor negatively influencing feelings of satisfaction, specifically, a lack of fresh air and air ventilation. Furthermore, some participants indicated that the inability to control air-conditioning systems and window openings created annoyance and a less productive work environment. The literature supports this finding, indicating that there is a relationship between both air quality and a feeling of satisfaction (Kang, Ou, and Mak 2017; Ai et al. 2016). This suggests that academic research work requires higher standards for fresh air in order to stimulate a higher level of concentration, thinking and creativity than other types of academic work.

The correlation coefficients between satisfaction and motivation, with productivity and in relation to sound level and workplace layout are significantly similar to Vischer and Wifi (2017) and Samani et al. (2018) research findings which suggest that satisfaction with the physical workplace environment evaluates occupants' performance. The correlation was also strong in relation to mood and productivity in terms of layout. Küller, Mikellides, and Janssens (2009) demonstrated that both mood and performance of workers were enhanced in a multi-coloured environment. Figure 4-19 shows the main findings for CUSP workplace.



Figure 4-19 Outcomes of CUSP workplace (Rashid 2018).

# **4.3 Case Study Two: Curtin Teaching and Learning (CTL)**

## 4.3.1 Overview

The Curtin Teaching and Learning (CTL) office is an open-plan workplace located in the basement level of building 105 at Curtin University's Bentley campus, Perth, Western Australia. In 2014, the CTL workplace was refurbished by the Curtin's Properties and Facilities Development. The building was occupied by approximately 68 staff members: 23 academics, 40 general, and 5 administration staff.

## 4.3.1.1 Participants

Of the 23 academics, 20 participated in this study. Table 4-9 provides a summary of the participant demographics.

Age group	Male	Female	Total
>50 years	3	12	15
31-50 years	2	3	5
Total	5	15	20

Table 4-9 Demographic of the CTL workplace participants (Rashid 2015).

## 4.3.1.2 Academic Productivity in the Workplace

The essential role of Curtin Teaching and Learning is to develop the quality of teaching and learning practice at Curtin University, supporting excellence in course and learning design, assessment practices and policies, quality learning, and learning engagement.

The academic staff are expected to work as a team. Usually, one or two academic staff members lead a group of general staff. A large part of the job requires the use of computers for general administrative work, collaborative work, meeting attendance, research and reading, and some academics in CTL are work-loaded to teach and/or supervise Higher Degree by Research students. Occupants of this open-plan work place are allocated permanent work stations. Here, the academics are required to attend their workplace on a daily basis for

eight hours, five days per week. During the data collection, the researcher observed the attendance percentage to be about 91%. At various times, most of the academics will be required to leave their desks to attend meetings. CTL academics spend most of their time in their workplace. Figure (4-20) below describes academic work in CTL.



Figure 4-20 Number of academics conducting different types of work (Rashid 2015).

## 4.3.1.3 Open-plan Layout

Figure 4-21 shows the floor plan for this workplace layout. The workplace has one main entrance situated on the east side, with a glazed door through which to reach the workplace via the reception area. The reception area is located in the front of the main entrance and isolated from the open-plan area by a partition of long wooden strips. Visitors are not allowed to enter without permission from the office. The building has an open- plan office layout with six separate meeting rooms, each room equipped to accommodate six to seven people. The presence of these rooms supports the collaborative work between team members and minimises potential noise inside the open-plan workplace. Reservations must be made in advance. Each one of the six meeting rooms is in a different colour: orange, green or blue.



Figure 4-21 Floor plan for the CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-22 Meeting room accommodates eight persons (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-23 Meeting room accommodates six persons (Rashid 2015).

In addition, the workplace has three quiet rooms equipped with a desk, chair, table lamp, a small table and one or two seats. There are not enough of these rooms in relation to the number of occupants and their particular responsibilities in this workplace. For example, when these rooms are fully occupied some of the staff have to leave the workplace and go outside to use their personal phones in order to hold discreet work-related conversations. The academic participants emphasised the importance of having a meeting and a quiet room to enhance and achieve their work properly. As with the meeting rooms, each one of the quiet rooms has been painted a different colour: orange, green or blue with the intention being to give the user the opportunity to choose the most comfortable and motivating colour (Figures 4-22,4-23,4-24 and 4-25). The colours were chosen according to a questionnaire conducted among users of the workplace before the office was refurbished by Curtin University's Properties and Facilities department.



**Figure 4-25** Quiet room, in orange colour, for work requiring concentration (Rashid 2015).



**Figure 4-24** Quiet room, in blue colour, for work requiring concentration (Rashid 2015).

The workplace manager occupies an individual office that is partially separated from the open-plan workplace, and which overlooks the workplace through a glazed door, to facilitate monitoring of the workflow. The north side of the workplace have a view of a common room, isolated from the workplace by a glass partition that reaches the ceiling; the opposite side of this common room is also made of glass. The view beyond the glass is of a garden, allowing the daylight to penetrate the indoor environment and it gives a sense of spaciousness (Figure 4-26 and 4-27).



Figure 4-26 North side of the workplace overlooking the common room (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-27 Opposite side of the common room, allowing daylight to enter the workplace (Rashid 2015).

The common room, which is used by staff during lunch breaks, for socialising, and sometimes for informal meetings between colleagues, has storage cabinets, a fridge, sink, dining tables, casual sofas, and bookshelves (Figure 4-28).



Figure 4-28 Common room for informal interactions (Rashid 2015).

The workplace also has a storage room. Walls and ceilings of the workplace are painted white. Along the south side is a planter wall with plants, to simulate the external environment and provide a pleasant feeling. However, at certain times of the year, these plants become uncomfortable due to attracting insects (Figure 4-29). The floor of the workplace is covered by a beige carpet.



Figure 4-29 Planter wall on the south side of the workplace (Rashid 2015).

## 4.3.1.4 Workstation layout

The office has a total of 63 sets of workstations for full-time staff and 6 hot desks for part-time staff. Workstations are organised in "team enclosure style", with four- or six-person workstations situated in a group and surrounded by a green-coloured privacy partition up to a height of 135 cm from the floor (Figure 4-30). This design actively supports the team without any interruptions stemming from other teams and offers optimal team workflow. Each

workstation is L-shaped, white-coloured and provided with storage cabinets, a telephone and a line connected to the telecom system. The amount of storage is appropriate because most work is stored on the computer (Figure 4-31). Pot plants are also located on top of storage cabinets at a height of 160 cm and uniformly distributed within the workplace. Some staff have decorated and personalised their working space.



Figure 4-30 Team enclosure design for workstations (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-31 Individual workstation design (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.1.5 Lighting/windows

The CTL workplace is lit by fluorescent, white/warm tubes situated in the ceiling. The light is distributed uniformly (Figures 4-32 and 4-33). There is also a task light for each workstation. The local illumination (lux) can be manually controlled to give occupants the opportunity to choose the most comfortable amount of light. The office suffers from the absence of windows in most parts. This situation gives rise to some staff feeling discomfort and strain. On the west side of the room, a set of windows provides daylight and some outside views to add some comfort to the environment. The windows cannot be opened or closed, and no window blinds are installed (Figure 4-32). In addition, a glass partition between the common room and the workplace allows natural light into the office space, especially during sunny days.



Figure 4-32 Set of windows in west side of the workplace (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-33 Uniform lighting distribution (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.1.6 HVAC System

Office ventilation and air conditioning is via a centrally controlled A/C system that cools and heats the entire workplace. The ventilation diffusers are uniformly distributed in the ceiling. The occupants have no control over the temperature. Some of the occupants mentioned that there are some days when the office is very hot, forcing them to go outside to obtain some fresh air and then come back to work again.

# 4.3.1.7 Summary Case Study Two Overview

Table 4-10 summarises the CTL workplace description including occupancy, type of academic activities and environmental characteristics.

Case Study	Occupancy	Academics' activities performed by CTL	Environment
Case study 2:	Total number for	-Concentration on office	-Thermal comfort AC and
	occupants is 63	work: collaborative and	automatic ventilation system
Curtin Teaching	staff: 23 are	administrative	
& Learning (CTL)	academic staff and		-Air quality: limited access to
— open-plan	40 are support	-Research and Teaching	fresh air
workplace on	staff	preparations:	
Curtin Bentley		postgraduate and online	-Lighting: Uniform light
Campus		teaching	distribution and local light, with very little daylight access
		-Reading	(basement level)
			-Layout: Variety of setting
			designs: small room for concentration tasks, meeting

 Table 4-10 Summary of CTL workplace characteristics (Rashid 2015).



# 4.3.2 Quantitative Results for CTL

Same steps conducted in CUSP were followed for CTL to analyse the Quantitative date including physical measurements and questionnaire.

# 4.3.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements

The section represents the results for the IEQ measurements for CTL open-plan workplaces. The measurements were taken in identified areas (Figure 4-34).



Figure 4-34 Identified spots for physical measurements in CTL (Rashid 2015).

## Temperature

The average temperatures in the open-plan workplaces were measured in each of the selected areas. The recommended temperature range for occupant comfort is 20-24°C (AS 1668.2-2012 (2016)). There were some inconsistencies in temperature across the areas. This fluctuation was within one degree between area 1 and area 3. However, in general the temperature readings were compliant with the comfort standards for workplaces. Figure 4-35


Figure 4-35 Temperature measurements for CTL (Rashid 2015).

#### **Humidity Percentage Fluctuations**

The recommended range for relative humidity in the workplace is between 40% and 60% (AS/ 1668.2-2012). The results were within 2% across areas 1, 2 and 3 for the a.m. and p.m. readings. However, area 4 was noted as recording an increase in the percentage for both the a.m. and p.m. readings, reaching 55% in the a.m. and 50% in the p.m. (Figure 4-36). The relative humidity level was within the recommended comfort level for workplaces, according to AS.



Figure 4-36 Humidity measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### **CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration**

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations indoors have been associated with perceived air quality and health issues (Seppanen, Fisk, and Lei 2005). The average measurement for CO<sub>2</sub> level was recorded in all designated areas. The CO<sub>2</sub> readings showed some consistency between areas 1, 2, and 3 however, area 4 recorded big different (Figure 4-37). The morning and afternoon readings were similar in CTL. The measured CO<sub>2</sub> levels were within the acceptable Australian Standards for comfort which is below 800 ppm (AS/1668.2 2012).



Figure 4-37 CO<sub>2</sub> concentration measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### **Artificial Light Measurement**

Lighting illuminance (lux) was measured by recording horizontal lux readings on an 'average' sunny autumn day, with internal lights switched on. Horizontal lighting levels for general and screen-based office work is 320-600 lux (AS/NZS 1680.2.2:2008). The results of the recordings are shown in Figure 4-38. It can be noted that one area (area 3) within the CTL workplace fell below the recommended minimum horizontal illuminance, with a recording of 306 lux during the morning and afternoon. The reason for that was lack of daylight due to the CTL is located in the basement.



Figure 4-38 lighting measurements for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).

# Sound Level

The Australian Standard for sound level recommends a level in the range of 43-47 Db (AS/NZS 2107:2000). Generally, the measurement of sound level can be difficult to obtain accurately, due to it being easily altered by somebody speaking or a nearby door closing. The data collection spots demonstrated CTL had optimum sound levels within the standard range for a.m. and p.m. readings. Figure 4-39



Figure 4-39 Sound level results for CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements

Five physical readings were taken on a single day in March and July for CTL workplace in 2015. The timing was selected to align with the working semester that the number of occupants of the workplace is complete or almost complete. The results showed that the indoor environment quality for the workplaces was compliant with Australian standards. However, there was exceptions in area 3, which was under-lit comparing with Australian Standards (Figure 4-38). The reason for that is due to CTL workplace being in the basement receiving limited amount of day light. The measurement results of indoor environment, while compliant, also showed inconsistencies across the different areas and the different work hours.

# 4.3.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire

## 4.3.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction

Occupants' satisfaction was investigated in regard to the six IEQ factors and table 4-11 and figure 4-40 show the results for the mean score and the number of respondents of satisfaction across the participants respectively. The academic staff in CTL were mostly satisfied with the IEQ factors. 70% of respondents rated themselves as being highly or extremely satisfied with the colour, lighting (60%), air quality (50%), and thermal comfort (50%). Two respondents rated their satisfaction with colour as 'not at all' or 'slightly not satisfied' (2/20), and both identified the colour scheme as "clinical". A total of 60% of the staff were satisfied with the lighting. Despite the lack of natural daylight in this basement workplace, only one of the participants (5%) was found to be not at all satisfied with this aspect.

Half of the participants (50%) were either highly or extremely satisfied with air quality. Of the 35% who were dissatisfied, 7/20 recorded the need for more fresh air and air movement as root causes. The thermal comfort results showed that 50% of participants were satisfied while 25% of participants (5/20) were dissatisfied, the participants stated that the temperature was sometimes too cold in the summer and too hot in the winter. And 4/20 were dissatisfied with the humidity, commenting that they needed to adjust their clothing layers because they could not control their workstation's temperature.

The workplace layout and sound levels within the workplace were perceived as the unsatisfactory environmental factors, with 45% of the respondents rating the workplace layout as not satisfactory. The main reasons given for this were the lack of privacy (13/20), the need to consider other workers when interacting with co-workers in the workplace (8/20), and the lack of available storage for each workstation (7/20).

Of the 15% (3 people) that were satisfied with the layout, all were allocated workstations located in a corner, giving them privacy in their workplace while still allowing them to do collaborative work. The results also showed that 40% (8 people) rated the sound level as unsatisfactory, with only 3 (15%) indicating they were satisfied with the sound levels. Reasons given included noise of other staff conversations (9/20) and lack of acoustic privacy, especially when they needed to make confidential phone calls (9/20). (See Figure 4-40 and Table 4-11)

IEQ	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Highly	Extremely	Mean
Thermal comfort	1 (5%)	4 (20%)	5 (25%)	10 (50%)	0	3
Air quality	5 (25%)	2 (10%)	3 (15%)	9 (45%)	1 (5%)	3.5
Lighting	1 (5%)	0	7 (35%)	8 (40%)	4 (20%)	3.7

 Table 4-11 Numbers of respondents and mean score of satisfaction for CTL (Rashid 2015).

Sound level	4 (20%)	4 (20%)	9 (45%)	1 (5%)	2 (10%)	2.4
Layout	4 (20%)	5 (25%)	8 (40%)	2 (10%)	1 (5%)	2.8
Colour	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	4 (20%)	9 (45%)	5 (25%)	3.5





# 4.3.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Mood

Figure 4-41 shows the results for the mood average ratings in the CTL workplace for each IEQ. The results indicate that the IEQ factors are not strongly associated with the occupant's mood. However, an academic's mood is most associated with the sound level (1.9) compering to the other factors. Conversely, colour (1) followed by lighting (1.5) were perceived as being least associated with the mood in the workplace.



Figure 4-41 Results of the respondents' perceptions of mood for CTL (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Motivation

Figure 4-42 represents the average mean ratings for the CTL workplace in terms of each IEQ. The motivation results showed no significant effect for IEQ on occupants' motivation (willingness and enthusiasm). The motivation of academic staff was most affected by the lighting of their office spaces compared to other IEQ factors, with an average of 2.8, possibly because they depend on artificial lighting due to the lack of daylight. Conversely, colour within the CTL workplace was perceived as being the least influential factor on motivation in the work environment. The mean score for colour was 2.2.



Figure 4-42 Results of respondents' perceptions of motivation for CTL (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.2.2.4 The Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity

The participants were asked to rate their perceptions of their productivity in their openplan workplaces using a five-point Likert scale, from 'Not at all' (1) through to 'Extremely' (5). A summary of the results is shown in Table 4-12.

	Not at all productive	Slightly productive	Moderately productive	Highly productive	Extremely productive
CTL	1 (5%)	2 (10%)	8 (40%)	7 (35%)	2 (10%)

 Table 4-12 Productivity in CTL workplace (Rashid 2015).

45% of the respondents perceived their productivity as highly or extremely productive. Conversely, 15% of CTL perceived themselves as either not at all or only slightly productive in their open-plan workplace. In order to understand the relationships between each of the six IEQs and worker-perceived productivity.

# **Productivity in CTL**

Table 4-13 and figure 4-43 represents the number of respondents and mean scores for the weight of the impact of each IEQ on staff productivity in CTL workplace. More than half

(55%) of the participants rated the sound level, layout and (45% rated) thermal comfort as the factors that most affected their productivity. However, a small percentage, 15% (three people) for sound level, 30% (six people) for layout and 30% (six people) for thermal comfort responded that IEQs were 'not at all' or 'slightly' affecting their productivity in the workplace. On the other hand, 50% of the participants reported that colour had no effect on their productivity (Figure4-43 and Table 4-13).

**Table 4-13** Numbers of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CTL (Rashid2015).

IEQ	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Highly	Extremely	Mean
Thermal comfort	3 (15%)	3 (15%)	5 (25%)	7 (35%)	2 (10%)	3.1
Air quality	6 (30%)	1 (5%)	4 (20%)	7 (35%)	2 (10%)	2.9
Lighting	3 (15%)	4 (20%)	6 (30%)	5 (25%)	2 (10%)	2.9
Sound level	1 (5%)	2 (10%)	6 (30%)	4 (20%)	7 (35%)	3.7
Layout	4 (20%)	2 (10%)	3 (15%)	6 (30%)	5 (25%)	3.3
Colour	5 (25%)	5 (25%)	6 (30%)	3 (15%)	1 (5%)	2.5



Figure 4-43 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CTL (Rashid 2015).

# 4.3.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation

The Spearman correlation coefficient has been used to determine whether an occupant's satisfaction, motivation and mood in regard to each IEQ factor has a relationship with perceived productivity (p-value \*<0.05 and \*\*<0.01)<sup>3</sup>. The results showed a predominantly negative relationship between the impact of each IEQ factor on their perceived productivity and their degree of satisfaction with sound level and workplace layout, as can be seen in Table 4-14. That means that when satisfaction is high or extremely high with sound level and workplace layout, the impact of these factors on productivity is very small (i.e., 'not at all' or 'slightly'). The correlation coefficients between satisfaction and perceived productivity, in relation to sound is -0.503; and in relation to layout is -0.535. The correlations with lighting, air quality, thermal comfort and colour showed no significant relationships with perceived productivity (p-value < 0.05) (Table 4-14).

				How wou	ıld you ra	te the imp	pact of the	e followir	ng indoor
Ruildir	ια			Ouality f	ent?	vour proc	ductivity s	ot work?	
Dunum	g			I iohting	Round	Jour proc Lair	Thermal		Colour
CTL	Spearman's rho	Satisfaction - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)	0.049 0.837	bound			Luyou	
		Satisfaction - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		-0.503* 0.024				
		Satisfaction - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			-0.346 0.135			
		Satisfaction - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				-0.143 0.549		
		Satisfaction - O <u>ffice layou</u>	Correlation coefficient tSig. (2-tailed)					-0.535* 0.015	
		Satisfaction - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)						0.032 0.894

 Table 4-14 The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CTL for the current study

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

<sup>\*\*</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

The results demonstrated that there is a significant positive relationship between mood and productivity in relation to sound level, air quality and office layout. Higher levels of mood associated with the sound level, air quality and office layout are related to higher levels of productivity, as can be seen in Table 4-15. The Spearman correlation coefficients for air quality, sound level, and layout (0.641, 0.608 and 0.493 respectively). However, the correlation of colour, lighting and thermal comfort showed no significant relationships with perceived productivity (p-value < 0.05)

Buildi	ıg			How wou environm quality fa	ild you ra ent? ctors on	te the imp	pact of the uctivity a	e followir t work?	ig indoor
				Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CTL	Spearman's rho	Mood - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)	0.301 0.197					
		Mood - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		0.608** 0.004				
		Mood - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			0.641** 0.002			
		Mood - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				0.441 0.051		
		Mood - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					0.493* 0.027	
		Mood - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)						0.007 0.978

**Table 4-15** The correlation between productivity and mood in CTL workplaces for the current study

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 4.16 shows that there are significant positive relationships between motivation and productivity in relation to lighting, sound, air quality and colour. Higher levels of motivation associated with lighting, sound, air quality and colour are related to higher levels of productivity. The correlation coefficients of colour, air quality, lighting, and sound were, respectively, 0.718, 0.661, 0.661 and 0.603. While, in relation to thermal comfort and layout, showed no significant relationship with productivity (0.378 and 0.377, respectively)

۲ نی Building			How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?					
			Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CTL	Motivation C - Lighting c ta	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- ailed)	0.661** 0.002					
	Motivation C - Sound c level S	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		0.603** 0.005				
	Motivation C - Air c quality S	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			0.661** 0.002			
	Motivation C - Thermal c comfort S	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				0.378 0.100		
	Motivation C - Office c layout S	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					0.377 0.101	
	Motivation C - Colour c S	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)						0.718** 0.000

 Table 4-16 The correlation between productivity and motivation in CTL workplaces for the current study

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

# 4.3.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for CTL workplace

To investigate the relationships between demographic information (age and gender) and satisfaction, mood and motivation a Pearson chi-squared test  $\chi^2$  (Plackett 1983) was used. After that, Fisher's exact test (Mehta and Patel 1983) has been adopted as an alternative to the previous test due to the small cell sizes in years of expertise as an academic (cells are less than 5) (Mehta and Patel 1983).

#### Age

In this study, age had no significant impact on satisfaction for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces. Similarly, it was concluded that age groups (under 50 years, 50 years old and over 50 years) had no significant effect on mood and motivation for each of the six IEQ factors (Appendix 6).

#### Gender

Gender (male and female) had no significant impact on satisfaction for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces. Similarly, gender and its impact on mood for each of the six IEQ factors returned no significant relationship (Appendix 7). However, females reported a greater impact on their motivation to perform tasks for colour in their environments than males

 $(\chi^2[4] = 10.71, p = 0.030).$ 

#### Years of Experience Working as an Academic

Fisher's exact test results showed no significant impact on satisfaction, mood and motivation for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces in relation to years of working as an academic (< 1 year, 1-3 years, > 3 years) (Appendix 8).

# 4.3.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results for CTL

The results of the questionnaire in the CTL case study show that the IEQ in this openplan workplace had a significant impact on feelings of satisfaction and perceived productivity, but no significant association with mood and motivation. The results indicate that sound and layout were the most common factors with a negative impact among the six IEQ. The open-plan layout and sound level had a strong negative impact on participants' satisfaction and perceived productivity. Furthermore, quantitative analysis identified that the main reasons given for dissatisfaction with the layout were the lack of privacy, the need to consider other workers when interacting with co-workers in the workplace, and the lack of available storage for each workstation. For sound level, the reasons given were noise from other staff conversations and lack of acoustic privacy, especially when they needed to make confidential phone calls. It can be concluded that the IEQ elements that negatively affect the feeling of satisfaction can be the same as the elements that negatively affect productivity. This could indicate that academics focusing on administrative work requires a higher level of sound reduction and a supportive layout to be satisfied and more productive.

The participants were ether highly or extremely satisfied with the colour, light, airquality and temperature, which rated 50% and over, despite that CTL is located in basement area with lack of natural daylight and area 3 was under-lit according to Australian standards. This may be because the type of work activities the participants do in the workplace do not require a high level of concentration like research work does. However, light had the most impact on motivation to complete tasks compared to other IEQ elements. In general, the academics rated their productivity as highly or extremely productive when asked to rate their perceptions of productivity in open-plan workplaces. This suggests that, with the negative impact of open-plan layout and high sound level, the academics make a greater effort to adjust to their work environment so that they can complete their work in any circumstances. However, that may have a bad effect on workers' general health and desire to complete their job. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient showed a strong relationship between satisfaction with sound and layout and perceived productivity. Mood and motivation had a strong correlation with IEQ factors: air quality, sound level and layout for mood and colour, air quality, lighting and sound level for motivation and perceived productivity. Demographics information stated that age groups, gender and years of experience working as an academic had no significant impact on satisfaction and mood for any of the IEQ factors However, females reported a greater impact on their motivation to perform tasks for colour than males

# 4.3.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)

Similar to the case study one, a semi- structured interview data were analysed and six themes obtained from thematically analysis process. The six themes are: Distraction, Suitability of the workplace, Control over environment, Feelings, Privacy, and Communication.

#### Distraction in the CTL workplace

Half (50%; 10/20) of the CTL participants believed that distraction was a big disadvantage of their open-plan workplace. Staff conversations and movement around the office creates a continuously distracting environment. As a result, the participants believe that individual offices would be less distracting and more productive. For example:

*Oh, the most effect is the noise. So I think that's the biggest thing that affects my work and my mood. It's the sound. (CT19)* 

I think it's distractions from noise and movement, people walking and up and down in terms of noise. Sometimes, other people are having a telephone conversation very distracting. (CT6) However, 25% (5/20) of participants found that the temperature inside their workplace was the main reason for distraction. The staff indicated that the temperature in summer is usually low, while in winter it is too high, and that has a negative impact on their concentration, causing distraction and eventually creating an uncomfortable environment.

... it's extremely cold or too hot. So what happens is, in summer, it's way too cold and we have to wear winter clothes and then the opposite happens in winter — it gets overheated; that distract[s] my thinking. (CT14)

In contrast, about 25% (5/20) of the participants believed that their open-plan workplace provided a productive and distraction-free environment. They mentioned that the presence of small meeting rooms in their workplace controls the noise and facilitates their work. For example:

*Not that much. We try to keep our noise very low and this room [small meeting room] is very helpful. (CT3)* 

#### Suitability of the CTL workplace

Most of the CTL participants (70%; 14/20) thought that their open-plan workplace was suitable for routine business functions but not for academic purposes; they stated that academic work needs a private, secure and quiet office. Therefore, the open-plan workplace reduced their productivity. For example:

I don't think it does. I think this sort of office is very good for business-as-usual type work, for where people have got very routine administrative functions and that sort of stuff. (CT12)

However, 33% (6/20) had a contrary point of view. They believed that the open-plan workplace was suitable for academic work because they could manage to switch off the outside noise and do their work. Also, the meeting rooms and the coffee room were more suitable for providing a level of privacy to complete deep reading, online calls and phone calls. Two participants explained their work practices:

It is suitable. If I need to make a work phone call, I can make a phone call and not everybody hears the conversation here [in the small meeting room]. (CT7)

*I do my Skypes from there. I do my webinars. I just put the headphones on. I probably drive other people mad but no one's ever said anything. (CT19)* 

#### **Control in the CTL workplace**

In the CTL workplace, 30% (6/20) of the participants mentioned that control over their physical environment would empower the staff to be more productive and encourage them to do their tasks. The participants found it was hard to take control of their workplace because it is a big working environment and accommodates a large number of occupants, so it is hard to understand every one's needs. Also, they stated that an uncontrollable physical environment can affect eye and general health in a bad way. For example:

In [an] individual office I can close the door and work to my - if I want to put some music on, I can do that. I can work away to my liking, satisfaction. Open plan - I have to put earphones on to cover up the noise if I want to play music. Then no one can talk to me because I'm covered with earphones. So I guess, for me, the productivity thing means I'm in control of the environment when I'm in a private office. In this case I'm not in control of the environment - less control anyway." (CT12)

I find, as I'm getting older, that my eyesight is struggling, so I need to control the light to... not affect me more — too much glare on my desk. (CT13)

#### **Feelings in the CTL workplace**

The results showed that 45% (9/20) of the CTL employees felt annoyed and discouraged in their open-plan workplace because the layout does not support their work as academic staff. In particular, the participants noted that the constant level of noise and lack of privacy can change the occupant's mood to annoyance and unhappiness with the work environment. In addition, one participant found it very annoying to have to book and move to an individual meeting room for quiet and private work:

... would be feeling annoyed when I can't find somewhere to have a private conversation with somebody who needs to talk to me. That's when I might be a bit annoyed about it but never really any more than that... Then I need to very quickly find a room that's available with a phone so that I can ring them back and have that conversation in privacy. That's something that's quite annoying when you have to do that, especially if you then have to hunt quite awhile before you can find a room. I remember there was one time when I had that problem when I ended up ringing them back on my mobile phone from the garden outside rather than using one of our phones because I couldn't find one because they were all busy. (CT18)

On the contrary, 25% (5/20) of the academic staff felt happy and comfortable with their work environment. They believed that colour and being close to each other can enhance their mood. For example:

*I am very happy that I've got a team in my immediate surroundings that work really well with me and they're very respectful of me and my time and space. (CT12)* 

Yeah, I think it's mostly comfortable. I like it. It's nice. I don't have that many problems. (CT13)

A minority of the participants (13%; 3/20) stated that the mood can go both ways, positively and negatively, depending upon the people you work with and the level of distraction. One explained it this way:

I guess that depends on who you're working with. So if you're working around people that — when they interrupt you it's light and interesting and that sort of thing but it's not terribly disruptive — that's fine. But if it's negative and draining and that sort of interruption, then that can have an impact on your work effectiveness in the environment. (CT2)

#### Privacy in the CTL workplace

The majority of CTL academic staff (85%; 17/20) demonstrated the importance of privacy in enhancing their productivity. The open-plan workplace did not support their activities due to the lack of privacy, creating an unproductive and uncomfortable environment. In the CTL workplace, lots of the work requires making phone calls, usually about sensitive issues related to other staff members or students. This kind of work needs to be secure and private. For example:

Because that's what I used to have, privacy. Lack of privacy causes me to be uncomfortable. (CT20)

If I need to make a work phone call, I can make a phone call and not everybody hears what the conversation is. Now, I find if I have to make a phone call I usually have to do it on my mobile. So I delay it because I have to go outside. Sometimes I may miss the call for a day or two because, if I phone another staff member, everybody can hear the conversation. (CT12)

#### **Communication in the CTL workplace**

Many (60%; 12/20) of the academic staff in CTL stated that communication is a big advantage in an open-plan workplace. They found that the tearoom facilitated interaction and communication in regard to their academic work and social life. For example:

It's good in the sense that we can interact with each other. We can see each other. We can access each other. There's no restriction. So, kind of easy access to everybody. (CT4)

However, 40% (8/20) stated that the open-plan design does not support communication. The staff have to be quiet for the consideration of others in the same workplace. One person explained:

Interaction is quite minimal and restricted because you can't speak loudly. It will interfere with other people around you, so we don't really achieve the benefits of sitting closely to each other. (CT11)

## 4.3.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CTL

The results from the interview highlight issues that affect participants' experience in the open-plan workplace. The CTL participants believed that distraction was a big disadvantage of their open-plan workplace. They identified that sound from staff conversation and movement around the office creates a continuous distraction in their environment. Some of the participants found that temperature inside their work environment in summer is usually low, while in winter it is too high, and that leads to a negative impact on their concentration, causing distraction and eventually creating an uncomfortable environment. This is due to human differences and preferences for room temperature, as well as their proximity to the airconditioning outlets. The open plan office was a source of annoyance and unhappiness, and the participants felt discouraged because the layout in their open-plan workplace does not support the diversity of their academic role. In particular, the participants noted that the

147

constant level of noise and lack of privacy can change the occupant's mood so that they become annoyed and unhappy with the work environment. Similarly, the majority noted the importance of privacy in enhancing their productivity, as they conducted a lot of work that need to be secure and private, such as, making sensitive phone calls related to other staff members or students.

Some the participants believed that control over their physical environment would empower them to be more productive and encourage a feeling of ownership. They commented that an uncontrollable physical environment can affect general health in a bad way. Many of the academic staff stated that their workplace enhanced communication. They found that the common room (tearoom) facilitated interaction and communication regarding their academic work and social life. However, it was hard to communicate from the workstations, as the staff have to be quiet for the consideration of others in the same workplace. Most of the participants thought that their open-plan workplace was suitable for routine business functions and teamwork but not for confidential work.

#### 4.3.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CTL Workplace

The quantitative results were consistent with qualitative results in regard to feelings of satisfaction and perceived productivity. Workplace layout and sound level were identified by the quantitative results as the most influential factors on feelings of satisfaction and perceived productivity. The qualitative results were consistent with the quantitative results regarding the sound level, particularly from colleagues' conversations and movement, and lack of privacy was a major source of distraction, annoyances, and discomfort. This problem is exacerbated by the large number of employees: about 63 staff members and different type of employees classified as academic, general, and administration staff that occupied the same workplace. This finding aligns with previous studies (Kaarlela-Tuomaala et al. 2009; Lamb and Kwok 2016). According to several field studies, colleagues' conversation is the greatest source of annoyance in open-plan offices (Pierrette et al. 2015; Hongisto et al. 2016).

The participants in CTL believed that their workplace does not support the diversity of academic work requirements, such as visual and sound privacy. The majority of participants noted the importance of privacy in enhancing their productivity, as a large part of the job requires the use of computers for general administrative work, collaborative work, meeting attendance, research and reading, confidential phone calls; moreover, some

148

academics are work-loaded to teach and/or supervise Higher Degree by Research students. This kind of job needs to be secure, private and flexible. Baldry and Barnes (2012) stated that office layouts are constantly being redesigned based on occupants' needs, to improve effectiveness and to support work activities. Moreover, the participants believed that individual offices would be more comfortable and productive than the open-plan workplace, as it is very difficult to concentrate when they need to do writing and solitary work. The lack of control over the environment and lack of privacy in the open-plan office had a major impact on their ability to function cognitively and emotionally. This finding aligns with a previous study by Samani et al. (2015), who concluded that lack of personal control over the work environment that an open-plan office creates can negatively affect employees' satisfaction.

The quantitative results indicated that the majority rated their productivity in the open-plan workplace as a high and extremely high. The qualitative finding attributed that open-plan layout and workstation design (semi-enclosed workstations) support teamwork and facilitate communication. They described that some of their time is spent on communication and working in team groups. This suggests that, while individual offices represented the academic identity for many years, now, it does not suit the new way of working, which calls for more cooperation and teamwork. However, the open-plan workplace has real problems such as lack of privacy and constant noise, especially when the office is large and includes many employees like the CTL workplace. Therefore, the academic office needs to achieve a balance by finding design solutions commensurate with the diverse academic work activities. The correlation coefficients between satisfaction mood and motivation, and productivity show significant relation in terms of IEQ factors, such as sound and layout were common factors between these correlations. Previous studies indicated same relation (Vischer and Wifi 2017; Samani et al. 2018; Küller, Mikellides, and Janssens 2009)

The quantitative results suggest that the six IEQ elements did not show a significant relationship with motivation and mood in CTL. However, the literature review indicated specific IEQs within an open-plan workplace such as colour, light and temperature have significant effects on worker mood (Pejtersen et al. 2006, Cuttle 2013) and motivation (Lan et al. 2010). A possible reason for this conflict with previous literature is that these previous studies were conducted in an experimental (simulated) lab while, in an actual work environment, there are so many contributing factors affecting perceived mood that the

149

effect of specific IEQs alone is difficult to identify (Bakker et al. 2013). Figure 4-44 shows the main findings for CTL workplace.



Figure 4-44 Outcomes of CTL workplace (Rashid 2018).

# 4.4 Case Study Three: Central Institute of Technology (CIT)

# 4.4.1 Overview

The Central Institute of Technology (CIT) building is part of North Metropolitan TAFE in Perth, Western Australia. The building is the newest building on the Perth campus. Construction of this building began in 2009, with occupancy in early 2011. The open-plan workplace is located on the third floor of the building at 2 Aberdeen Street, Perth, WA. The workplace is occupied by different disciplines: engineering, building and architecture, design, beauty therapy and massage. The open-plan office is occupied by 67 staff, 60 academics, and seven general and reception staff.

## 4.4.1.1 Participants

The total number of academics in CIT is 60, but only 34 academic staff participated in this study. Table 4-17 provides a summary of the occupants' demographics.

Age group	Male	Female	Total
>50 years	12	8	20
31-50 years	11	2	13
<30 years	1		1
Total	24	10	34

 Table 4-17 Demographics of the CIT workplace participants (Rashid 2015).

## 4.4.1.2 Academic Activities in the Workplace

The CIT employees concentrate on teaching, material preparation, use of computers for e-mail messages, phone conversations, administrative work, and meeting attendance. The academic staff members are often required to leave the office for teaching and meetings. The office is occupied by academic staff and support staff at permanent desks. The academic staff normally are required to attend five days a week for eight working hours each day. The researcher's observations recorded that attendance was approximately 85%. The CIT staff spent most of their time teaching and working in their open-plan workplace. Figure 4-45, below, illustrates a statistical analysis of the number of academics conducting different types of work.





## 4.4.1.3 Open-plan Workplace Layout

Figure 4-46 shows the floor plan of the workplace layout. The CIT workplace occupies most of the third floor of building 2. The building has one main entrance with a glazed door to reach the workplace through the reception area. The building has an open-plan office layout with two separate meeting rooms, each equipped to accommodate a maximum of eight people, and supplied with a white board (Figure 4-47). These pre-booked rooms are used moderately to hold meetings with colleagues but, in general, the staff prefer to do all their work, even making phone calls, at their own workstations and, as a result, there is a high level of noise in the office. The workplace has one large meetingn room to accommodate at least 16 people and is used occasionally (Figure 4-48).





Figure 4-46 Floor plan for CIT workplace



Figure 4-47 Meeting room that accommodates six (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-48 Large meeting room (Rashid 2015).

The four workplace managers occupy individual offices, each of which overlooks the workplace through a glazed door to enable the managers to watch the workflow (Figure 4-49).



Figure 4-49 Individual offices for managers (Rashid 2015).

The north side of the workplace overlooks a common room, isolated from the place of work by a glass wall. This area includes cabinets, a fridge, a sink and dining tables. The common room is not specifically just for lunch breaks. Some other activities can be undertaken there, such as holding meetings related to work, which is due to overcrowding. (Figure 4-50).

The workplace has five storage rooms. The walls of the workplace are painted white, except for some parts that are painted light orange. Dark grey carpet covers the floor, and the ceiling is formed by white ceiling tiles (Figure 4-51).



Figure 4-50 Common room (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-51 Orange wall on the north side of the workplace (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.1.4 Workstation layout

The office has a total of 60 sets of workstations and chairs. There are two types of workstations: full-time staff are allocated permanent 'L-shaped' stations (Figure 4-52), while part-time staff share an allocation of approximately eight rectangular 'hot' desks. Each station has a shelf, a drawer, a computer and a phone. It was observed that, even though the area appeared to provide substantial storage space, most of the workstation surfaces were filled with papers and books.

In front of each workstation, 135cm height dark purple partition. This provides little privacy whereas letting daylight through. Behind each workstation are 180 cm high bookshelves and white drawers. The staff are free to personalise their workstations.



Figure 4-52 Workstation designed in an 'L-shape (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.1.5 Lighting/windows

The CIT open-plan workplace is illuminated by warm fluorescent tubes, distributed as general lighting in the ceiling. There is no local light in the workstations. The open- plan design includes a wall of windows on the north and east sides. These windows allow plenty of natural lighting into the office space, and window blinds have been installed to block the sun during the day (Figures 4-53).



Figure 4-53 Uniform lighting distribution (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.1.6 HVAC system

For its ventilation and air conditioning, the office has a centrally controlled A/C system for the entire workplace. The ventilation diffusers are uniformly distributed in the ceiling. The occupants have no control over the temperature

# 4.4.1.7 Summary of Case Study Three Overview

Table 4-18 summarises the CIT workplace description including occupancy, type of academic activities and environmental characteristics.

Table 4-18 A summary of the three-academic open-plan workplace characteristics (Rashid 2015).

Case Study	Occupancy	Academics' activities performed by CIT	Environment
Case study 3: Central Institute of Technology (CIT) — open- plan workspace including: Engineering, building and architecture design, beauty therapy and massage departments.	Total number for occupancy is 67 staff: 60 are academic staff and 7 are support staff	-Teaching preparations -Evaluation and assessment	<ul> <li>Thermal comfort AC and automatic ventilation system</li> <li>Air quality: Limited access to fresh air</li> <li>Lighting: Uniform light distribution and local light</li> <li>Plenty of daylight access</li> <li>Layout: Variety of setting designs</li> <li>Individual workstations, each one surrounded by three partitions, the front partition height being 120cm</li> <li>Moderate amount of storage shelves.</li> <li>-Carpet</li> </ul>

# 4.4.2 Quantitative Results for CIT

Physical measurement and questionnaire were used in similar way to the previous case studies to collect the data. The analysed data were presented for the CIT case to explore and understand the impact of IEQ on academics' satisfaction, mood motivation, and productivity in open-plan workplace.

# 4.4.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality Measurements

The measurements of the physical environment of CIT workplace were taken in four identified areas see (Figure 4-54) and the results were presented in this section.



Figure 4-54 Identified spots for physical measurements in CIT (Rashid 2015).

#### Temperature

The average temperatures in CIT were measured in each of the selected areas. The recommended temperature range for occupant comfort is 20-24°C (AS/ 1668.2-2012). There were some inconsistencies in temperature across the area except for the afternoon measurements. This fluctuation was just below two degrees. The larger difference in recordings across the CIT workplace was largely due to solar heating, with the late morning sun hitting area 4 resulting in an increased temperature recording. It is worth noting that the

number of occupants was high (67 people) However, in general the temperature readings were compliant with the comfort standards for workplaces. See figure 4-55.



Figure 4-55 Temperature measurements for CIT (Rashid 2015).

#### **Humidity Percentage Fluctuations**

The recommended range for relative humidity in the workplace is between 40% and 60% (AS 1668.2-2012 (2016)). The average relative humidity is recorded in Figure 4-56. The readings from the CIT workplace were reasonably consistent across all areas at both a.m. and p.m. readings, except for area 4, which showed a slight drop in both the a.m. and p.m. readings. The relative humidity level in all three workplaces was within the recommended comfort level for workplaces (AS/ 1668.2-2012).



Figure 4-56 Humidity measurements for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015).

## **CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration**

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations indoors have been associated with perceived air quality and health issues (Seppanen, Fisk and Lei 2005). CO<sub>2</sub> can be affected by many aspects of the indoor environment, including the ventilation rate, indoor pollution from the building, the furniture and equipment, and the number of occupants (Varjo et al. 2015). The CO<sub>2</sub> readings for CIT workplaces showed some inconsistencies between the areas. CIT showed slightly more variance between a.m. and p.m., with the exception of area 3 (Figure 4-57). The measured CO<sub>2</sub> levels were within the acceptable Australian standards for comfort (AS/1668.2 2012).



Figure 4-57 CO2 concentration results for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015).

#### **Artificial Light Measurement**

Figure 4- 58 showcases the recorded results of measuring lighting illuminance of CIT. The same process that applied in the previous case studies were applied for CIT in terms of lighting measurement. Namely, the horizontal and vertical lighting level for desk-based work was applied in consistence with Australian Standards. In general, the results were relatively high and exceeded the acceptable amount of light illuminance for office work in areas 3 and 4 for both am and pm readings. The reason for this is due to the office have large windows along the north and east side that allow plenty of daylight accesses to the workplace, therefore, the occupants preferred to roll up the blinds during working hours.



Figure 4-58 Lighting measurements for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015).

## Sound Level

The Australian standard for sound level recommends a level in the range of 43-47 Db (AS/NZS 2107:2000). Generally, the measurement of sound level can be difficult to obtain accurately because it is easily altered by somebody speaking or a nearby door closing. The data collection area demonstrated that sound level readings in CIT were not optimal, with sound measurements above the standards for area 1 in both a.m. and p.m. readings. Figure 4-59.



Figure 4-59 Sound level results for CIT workplace (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.2.1.1 Summary of Physical Measurements

These readings were taken on a single day in March and July 2015. The timing was selected to align with the teaching semester. The results showed that the indoor environment quality for CIT workplaces was compliant with Australian standards. However, there were exceptions in area 1, which was over the optimum in sound level, and area 3 and 4 which were over-lit. The measurement results for the indoor environment showed inconsistencies across the different areas and the different work hours.

## 4.4.2.2 Statistical Analysis for the Questionnaire

# 4.4.2.2.1 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Satisfaction

The academic staff in CIT were most satisfied with the lighting of their office spaces, with 64.7% of respondents rating their satisfaction with light as either highly or extremely satisfied, as shows in table 4-19 and figure 4-60. Of note, this workplace has plenty of access to daylight. However, one person (2.9%) was found to be slightly not satisfied with the lighting. When asked to provide comments on what they particularly disliked, light reflection on computer screens was causing discomfort. Staff were also satisfied with the colour in CIT, with a total of 64.7% of the occupants responding as satisfied. Of the 14.7% (5/34) participants who were dissatisfied with the colour, most stated that the colour itself and

colour disharmony in the workplace made them dissatisfied. Sound level and workplace layout were rated as the least satisfactory environmental factors.

The mean score for the sound level was 2.6, with 44% of the respondents rating the sound as not satisfactory. The problems identified included the amount of sound from the other conversations (20/34) and lack of sound privacy (11/34). In addition, three participants found that the presence of different departments in the same workplace created a noisy environment because each department undertook different types of task. This was especially true of the Beauty and Massage departments, who were perceived to have a noisier culture than the engineering, building and architecture, design, and beauty therapy and massage departments that shared the space.

A total of 35.2% rated that they were not at all or slightly satisfied with the layout of the CIT workplace (2.5). Visual privacy (height of partitions), space available for individual work, storage at the workstations (12/34) and noise from interaction with co-workers (9/34) were the main reasons for dissatisfaction with layout. However, 29.3% rated themselves as being highly or extremely satisfied with the layout, and, interestingly, there was no identifiable demographic commonality among these people (i.e., they were from different departments, locations and age groups). However, many other factors (such as personality types) or conditions (such as dyslexia), which could cause people to be unable to concentrate in disruptive environments, were not part of this study (Figure 4-60 and Table 4-19).

IEQ	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Highly	Extremely	Mean
Thermal comfort	3 (8.8%)	8 (23.5%)	11 (32.3%)	8 (23.5%)	4 (11.7%)	3.2
Air quality	2 (5.8%)	4 (11.7%)	8 (32.3%)	15 (44.1%)	5 (14.7%)	3.1
Lighting	0	1 (2.9%)	7 (20.5%)	17 (50%)	9 (26.4%)	3.8
Sound level	9 (26.4%)	6 (17.6%)	16 (47.0%)	1 (2.9%)	2 (5.8%)	2.6
Layout	7 (20.5%)	5 (14.7%)	12 (35.2%)	6 (17.6%)	4 (11.7%)	2.5
Colour	2 (5.8%)	3 (8.8%)	7 (20.5%)	17 (50%)	5 (14.7%)	3.8

 Table 4-19 Numbers of respondents and mean score of satisfaction for CIT (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-60 Results of the respondents' perceptions of environment satisfaction for CIT (Rashid 2015).

Satisfaction with IEQ results suggest that academics in all three workplaces were significantly dissatisfied with sound level, followed by the layout of the workplace. Academics in all three workplaces agreed on the positive effects of colour and light within their environments.

# 4.4.2.2.2 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Mood

Figure 4-61 displays the results for the mood average ratings in the CIT workplace for each IEQ. The results indicate that the IEQ factors are not strongly associated with the occupant's mood. However, academic staff mood is most associated with the sound level of the workplace, with an average rating of (2.2). Conversely, colour (1.3) followed by lighting (1.4) within the CIT workplace were perceived as being the least associated with mood in the workplace.


Figure 4-61 Results of the respondents' perception of mood for CIT (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.2.2.3 Indoor Environment Quality and the Impact on Staff Motivation

A significant effect of an IEQ on staff motivation was deemed to be for those participants who rated an average of four or above, that is, highly or extremely affected. Conversely, participants whose motivation was not deemed to be affected by an IEQ were those who rated it as two or below, that is, 'not at all' or 'slightly affected'. The results below represent the average of both 'enthusiasm' and 'willingness' for motivation. Figure 4-62 represents the mean ratings for the CIT workplace in terms of each IEQ.

The motivation results showed no significant effect for IEQ on occupants' motivation (willingness and enthusiasm). The motivation of academic staff was most affected by the sound level (2.2) comparing to other IEQ factors. Conversely, colour within the CTL workplace was perceived as being the least influential factor on motivation in the work environment. The mean score for colour was (1.3).

The three workplaces produced different responses for the effect of each IEQ on motivation; however, there was agreement that the colour of the workplace had no negative effect on the academic's motivation to perform tasks.



Figure 4-62 Results of the respondents' perceptions of motivation for CIT (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.2.2.4 Impact of Indoor Environment Quality on Staff Productivity

The participants were asked to rate their perceptions of their productivity in their openplan workplaces using a five-point Likert scale, from 'Not at all' (1) through to 'Extremely' (5). A summary of the results is shown in Table 4-20.

Table 4-20 Productivity in	n CIT open-plan	workplace (Rashid 2015).
----------------------------	-----------------	--------------------------

	Not at all productive	Slightly productive	Moderately productive	Highly productive	Extremely productive
CIT	1 (2.9%)	9 (26.4%)	8 (23.5%)	12 (35.2%)	4 (11%)

Almost half of the respondents in CIT (46.2%) perceived their productivity as highly or extremely productive. Conversely, 29.3% of CIT staff perceived themselves as either not at all or only slightly productive in their open-plan workplace (Figure 4-63).

#### **Productivity in CIT**

Figure 4-63 and table 4-21 represent the number of respondent and mean scores for the impact of each IEQ on individual staff productivity in the CIT workplace. The office sound

level was rated by 61.6% of the participants as affecting their productivity, while only 14.6% (five people) rated it as 'not at all or only slightly' affecting their productivity. This result was followed by thermal comfort, layout, air quality and light. On the other hand, more than half of the respondents (58.7%) recorded that colour had no significant effect on their productivity. (Table 4-21).

IEQ	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Highly	Extremely	Mean
Thermal comfort	5 (14.7%)	5 (14.7%)	8 (23.5%)	7 (20.5%)	9 (26.4%)	3.2
Air quality	8 (23.5%)	3 (8.8%)	7 (20.5%)	13 (38.2%)	3 (8.8%)	3
Lighting	8 (23.5%)	3 (8.8%)	7 (20.5%)	11 (32.3%)	5 (14.7%)	3
Sound level	3 (8.8%)	2 (5.8%)	6 (17.6%)	12 (35.2%)	9 (26.4%)	3.5
Layout	5 (14.7%)	6 (17.6%)	9 (26.4%)	10 (29.4%)	4 (11.7%)	3.2
Colour	14 (41.1%)	6 (17.6%)	7 (20.5%)	7 (20.5%)	0	2.2

Table 4-21 Number of respondents and mean score of perceived productivity for CIT (Rashid 2015).



Figure 4-63 Results of the respondents' perceptions of own productivity for CIT (Rashid 2015).

# 4.4.2.2.5 Relationships of Productivity with Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation

The Spearman correlation coefficient has been used to determine whether an occupant's satisfaction, motivation and mood in regard to each IEQ factor has a relationship with perceived productivity<sup>5</sup> (p-value \*<0.05 and \*\*<0.01). Table 4.22 shows that there is a significant negative relationship between satisfaction and productivity in relation to lighting, sound, air quality and office layout. In other words, when satisfaction is high or extremely high with a certain IEQ, the effect of that IEQ on productivity is very small (i.e. 'not at all' or 'slightly'). The correlation coefficients result in relation to lighting, sound, air quality and layout were

-0.355\*, -0.493\*\*, -0.433\* and -0.482\*\* respectively.

Buildii	Building			How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?					
				Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CIT	Spearman's rho	Satisfaction - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)	-0.355* 0.039					
		Satisfaction - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		-0.493** 0.003				
		Satisfaction - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			-0.433* 0.012			
		Satisfaction - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				-0.107 0.545		
		Satisfaction - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					-0.482** 0.004	
		Satisfaction - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed)						-0.059 0.742

 Table 4-22 The correlation between productivity and satisfaction in CIT workplaces for the current study

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 4-23 shows that there is a significant positive relationship between mood and productivity in relation to sound level, layout, thermal comfort, and air quality. Higher levels of mood associated with sound level, layout, thermal comfort, and air quality are related to higher levels of productivity. The correlation coefficients were, respectively, 0.643, 0.601,

0.492 and 0.469. The results for colour and light showed no significant relationship. Table 4-23.

**Table 4-23:** The correlation between productivity and mood in CIT workplaces for the current study

Buildi	Building			How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?					
				Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CIT	Spearman's rho	Mood - Lighting	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2- tailed) N	0.073 0.682 34					
		Mood - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		0.643** 0.000				
		Mood - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			0.469** 0.005			
		Mood - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				0.492** 0.003		
		Mood - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					0.601** 0.000	
		Mood - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)						0.206 0.243

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level(2-tailed).

Table 4.24 shows that there are significant positive relationships between motivation and productivity in relation to colour, air quality, thermal comfort and workplace layout. Higher levels of motivation associated with colour, air quality, thermal comfort and workplace layout are related to higher levels of productivity. The correlation coefficients, respectively, were 0.771, 0.521, 0.517 and 0.409.

Table 4-24	The correlation between	productivity	and motivation	in CIT	workplaces fo	r the current
study;						

Building		How would you rate the impact of the following indoor environment? quality factors on your productivity at work?							
				Lighting	Sound	Air	Thermal	Layout	Colour
CIT		Motivation	Correlation	0.235					
		- Lighting	coefficient Sig. (2-	0.182					
			tailed)						

Motivation - Sound level	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)	0.145 0.414				
Motivation - Air quality	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		0.521** 0.002			
Motivation - Thermal comfort	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)			0.517** 0.002		
Motivation - Office layout	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)				0.409* 0.016	
Motivation - Colour	Correlation coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)					0.771** 0.000

\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

# 4.4.2.3 The Impact of Demographic Variables for cusp workplace

A Pearson chi-squared test  $\chi^2$  (Plackett 1983) was adopted to examine the relationships between demographic information (age and gender) and satisfaction, mood and motivation in terms of six IEQs. However, Pearson chi-squared test was unreliable for analysis years of experience working as an academic due to the small cell sizes (cells are less than 5) therefore, Fisher's exact test (Mehta and Patel 1983) was alternatively used to analysis this small cell size.

### Age

In this study, age had no significant impact on satisfaction and mood for each of the six IEQ factors (Appendix 6).However, when the tests were run to examine the relationship between age groups (years, 50 years old and over 50 years) and its impact on motivation for each of the six IEQ factors, the results indicated that there was a significant relationship between age and the degree to which the colours of the indoor environment impacted on motivation in the CIT case study. Compared to the under 50s, the over 50s a reported a greater impact of the colours in their environment on their motivation to perform tasks ( $\chi^2[4] = 11.96$ , p = 0.018)

#### Gender

Gender (male and female) had no significant impact on satisfaction for any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplaces. Similarly, gender and its impact on mood for each of the six IEQ factors returned no significant relationship (Appendix 7). However, females reported a greater impact on their motivation to perform tasks for colour in their environments than males.

#### Years of Experience Working as an Academic

No significant impact on satisfaction, mood and motivation of any of the IEQ factors in the selected workplace was recorded in relation to years of working as an academic (< 1 year, 1-3 years, > 3 years) (Appendix 8). However, there is just one significant effect (Appendix 8, highlighted in blue). It seems that years of experience working as an academic is associated with the degree to which environmental colours affect motivation to perform tasks. Compared to participants with fewer years of service, participants with more years of service reported a greater impact of environmental colours on their motivation to perform tasks.

# 4.4.2.4 Summary of Quantitative Results CIT

The results of the questionnaire show that the IEQ in the open-plan workplace has a significant impact on feelings of satisfaction and perceived productivity, and no significant association with mood and motivation. The results indicated that sound was the most common factor that had a negative impact among the six IEQ. The results showed that sound level and layout had a strong negative impact on participants' satisfaction. Additional analyses showed that co-workers conversations and lack of sound privacy were the main source of noise. In addition, the workplace held three different departments in the same workplace, which created a noisy environment because each department undertook different academic scope of work. For layout the participants identified that visual privacy (height of partitions), space available for individual work, and storage at the workstations, were the main reasons for dissatisfaction with layout. The academics were most satisfied with the lighting of their office spaces, despite those physical measurements exceeded the Australian standards limit in some areas; this workplace has plenty of access to daylight. The participants were also satisfied with the colour.

The results also indicated that air quality and lighting equally had a negative impact on productivity. Less than half of the respondents rated their productivity as highly or extremely productive, when asked to rate their perceptions of productivity in their open-plan workplaces. Conversely, colour within the workplace environment was perceived as the factor least affecting perceived productivity. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient showed a strong relationship between satisfaction, mood and motivation, and perceived productivity. This could indicate that academic focus on teaching and teaching-related work requires a higher level of sound reduction, a supportive layout, and good air quality and light to be satisfied and productive.

# 4.4.3 Research Results and Analysis — Qualitative Data (Semi-Structured Interviews)

By conducting a semi-structured interview method and by following the same analysis steps that applied in the previous two case studies. Six thematic categories were obtained which are: Distraction, Suitability of the workplace, Control over environment, Feelings, Privacy and Communication.

#### **Distraction in the CIT workplace**

For the CIT workplace, 75% (26/34) pointed out that distraction and concentration difficulties were a big disadvantage of the space, constantly impacting upon the academics' performance, particularly when required to do deep thinking and writing papers. The staff indicated that the main reasons for distraction in the open-plan setting were colleagues' conversational noise and movement around the workstations that created an uncomfortable environment, leading eventually to reduced productivity and more delays in their work. Thus, the participants believed that individual offices would be less distracting and more productive. For example:

I think the productivity is probably better in a closed office, although sometimes having an open environment it's easier to communicate with other people in an informal basis. But the open office can be distracting if people are talking, depending on what type of work I'm doing. If it's intense work needing a lot of concentration and quiet then it's not so good. (C2) Additionally, 15% (4/34) stated that sometimes the temperature of the indoor environment was the factor causing most distraction and negatively influencing their productivity. This finding pointed to the poor location of the workstation, such as being in a main traffic zone (near a door) or near a window, where the sun may cause disturbing; these are important factors in open-plan workplaces that can lead to distraction in workflow. For example:

*Temperature affects me in a bad way. This building is notorious for being either too hot or too cold and that really stops people from working. (C31).* 

... it depends where you sit in the open plan. I'm on a corner where there's people coming in both directions, which is not the best place, particularly if you want to work... want to say hello — sometimes — and of course you have to say, I'm sorry, I'm busy, I've just got to do this. But they often walk past and it depends where you sit. It does. I think that's a big factor. (C12).

However, some academic staff (10%; 3/34) pointed out that the distractions do not affect their productivity level and they are productive anyway. One stated:

No, I don't think it makes a difference. It doesn't really affect productivity. Well, it doesn't affect it for me. I don't mind working with noise around, and I don't really easily get distracted. (C30)

#### Suitability of the CIT Workplace

Almost half (43%; 15/34) of the CIT participants thought that the open-plan workplace was suitable for academic work. The layout of their workspaces supports collaborative work among the staff, and the presence of the small meeting rooms within the open-plan makes it more convenient for academic work, such as doing deep thinking or meeting students and colleagues. For example:

It's good, and you have to collaborate. So, as academic staff, we have to collaborate a lot; so it's easier to either walk over to someone to see if they're there, or just talk across the partitions. So that's quite useful. (C13)

However, 40% (14/34) had a contrary view, that the open-plan layout was not suitable for academic work because it is a distractive, unproductive environment. One participant stated: I don't think it's good for academic stuff. I don't mind having a group of people in a room but it's too big a space and it echoes, so you hear all the conversations. I can hear conversations that are sort of down here and I'm the furthest away. (C23)

In addition, some staff (17%; 6/34) stated that open-plan workplace perform well for particular types of work such as administration, and it encourages collaborative work among the staff, but the workplace is not suitable for online teaching and deep- thinking work. For example:

To a certain extent, yeah; it's definitely better than having individual offices because of the collaboration and things involved, but if we are moving towards more online teaching and learning, then you would require [an] individual office because you're going to be talking to the online students. So, typically, if I have to go online... I would have to find a room like this to do my sessions, which sometimes can be not comfortable because I have to carry a lot of things, and I can't find [them]. (C20)

#### **Control in the CIT workplace**

Almost a third (30%; 10/34) of the CIT participants stated that control over their physical environment would empower the staff to be more productive and comfortable. They complained about the inability to control the air conditioning system, of feeling too cold in summer and too hot in winter, and not being able to open and close the windows to get fresh air. Those factors made the office uncomfortable and generated a desire among employees to leave their offices as soon as possible. One participant complained:

*We've got no control over the air-conditioning. Where I'm situated it seems to be away from air flow so at odd times it gets a little bit stuffy and uncomfortable. (CI21)* 

However, the rest of the participants did not mention control over the physical environment as a real problem in their workplace

#### **Feelings in the CIT workplace**

Half (50%; 17/34) of the CIT participants had negative mood responses because of noise level, interruptions, and lack of privacy that affected their productivity in the open-plan workplace. The participants were annoyed, stressed and unhappy, particularly when they had limited time for their work. Therefore, the academic staff expressed preference for

alternatives to their workstations, such as the library and a laptop computer to do their work. For example:

*I find it really frustrating and annoying if I need to get work done and I can't concentrate because of noise. (C1)* 

Well, annoyed, when I have to do lots of stuff like, for example, today we have to prepare all the documentation for next semester and we just cannot actually be absolutely productive. We are making mistakes and we have to go back and fix those mistakes. You cannot focus on the work really. (C33)

However, about 30% (10/34) of the academic staff responded positively in regard to their mood. They believed that the open-plan layout provides opportunity for better communication with their colleagues and that would encourage them for better performance. For example:

The thing is that when [in] an open space we can actually say greetings to each other say good morning ... So I think that actually creates [a] friendly environment. It's good. This office is good.... If my mood is not okay to work at that time [it remains with me], but if I can get relief of that — if I find — if I talk to some others around me... (C22)

Ten percent (3/34) found that there was no relationship between the IEQ of their workplace and their mood/productivity, or they did not know whether it affected them or not. Another 10% of the participants pointed out that mood change can go both ways — positively and negatively — depending on what is going on in the office and what type of work is being done. Both views are expressed here:

... to be honest, it's kind of hard to answer that question because I don't really think about how I feel when I'm thinking about work. (C14)

It can go both ways, positively and negatively. I think it depends on your mood your frame of mind — and what's going on in the office. If there's friction within the office, it can be very negative because you're exposed to that straight away. But if it's positive you're also exposed to those positive experiences as well. So, swings and roundabouts. (C13)

#### **Privacy in the CIT workplace**

The results for CIT demonstrated that about 66% (22/34) did not believe the visual or sound privacy affected their productivity, but it likely reinforced the feeling of discomfort for them. One person explained:

... don't think it's important for the work. I just, like — I feel more comfortable when I know I've got a bit of privacy. When you know you can do things and not have to worry about having someone looking over your shoulder you just get things done. (C33).

However, 31% (11/34) believed that the need of academic staff for privacy is important for their productivity, especially when working on confidential issues. Unlike the individual office, this open-plan workplace arrangement with low dividers between the workstations, cannot achieve a good level of visual and sound privacy to secure the academic work. For example:

[An] individual office [is] more efficient and you have your documents, you have your workstation — everything secured. In this case, I don't know whether someone can open my documentation. I didn't have any level of privacy. (C2)

The problem with the layout is the partitions are a bit too low. I would like to have higher partitions or a base activity design, if we have to actually work in this environment of course. (C5)

#### **Communication in the CIT workplace**

Many (61%; 21/34) of the academic agreed that communication in the open-plan CIT workplace is one of the advantages that enables interaction among colleagues, to discuss work-related-issues and create a friendly environment. For example:

That's fine. There are up sides to an open-plan office. In fact, I think that the communication is easier and it's good. It's good to be able to talk to your fellow colleagues and discuss things and just chat, whereas in an individual office it's often difficult. I think in an individual office you're often hidden away so you can be left out, isolated. (C31)

However, 34% (12/34) of the academics stated that communication can produce a negative effect on the staff's productivity. Their open-plan office does enable good communication between workers but also fails to achieve the balance between communication and noise. This duality was described, as:

Two things: One is — it's good for interaction. It's good for a kind of teamwork. But sometimes you need some kind of silence, privacy. [Unclear] ... some sort of silence or quiet in the environment. I think sometimes we don't get that because when I was working I found twelve of my colleagues were talking to each other, so sometimes my concentration doesn't work that much. That's the only — I think — negative. (C11)

# 4.4.3.1 Summary of Qualitative Results for CIT

This section presents a summary of qualitative data from the interviews with the academics in the CIT workplace. The participants believed the open-plan workplace has a significant effect on their work experience as academics. Most of the participants were unhappy with the sound level that comes from other department member's conversations, which are the source of interruption, stress and unhappiness, and eventually reduces academic productivity and causes delays in their work. The participants preferred to find alternatives to their workstations, such as working from library, particularly when they had limited time for their work. In addition, some participants were annoyed that in the open-plan workplace it was difficult to meet students inside the office, they had to reserve the meeting room in advance to ensure that it was not occupied, and this may mean that students do not communicate with their teacher directly.

Interestingly, many of the participants did not believe that privacy affected their productivity, but it could reinforce the feeling of discomfort for them. They complained about their inability to control the air conditioning system, of feeling too cold in summer and too hot in winter, and not being able to open and close the windows to get fresh air. Those factors made the office uncomfortable and generated the desire among employees to leave their offices as soon as possible. The academic participants agreed that communication in the open-plan workplace is one of the advantages that enables interaction among colleagues, to discuss work issues and create a friendly environment. They stated that an open-plan office enables good communication between workers but fails to achieve a balance between communication and noise.

Almost half (43%) of the participants thought that the open-plan workplace was suitable for academic work, and the presence of small meeting rooms within the open- plan makes it more convenient for academic work, such as doing deep thinking or conducting meeting. However, (40%) had a contrary view, that the open-plan layout was not suitable for academic work because it is a distracting and unproductive environment.

# 4.4.4 Conclusion and Discussion for CIT Workplace

The qualitative results were consistent with the quantitative results in the finding that the colleagues' conversational noise, interruptions, and lack of sound privacy were the main source of dissatisfaction and could cause distraction and concentration difficulties in the open-plan workplace. It is important to note that CIT is a large workplace occupied by four different department staff (engineering, building and architecture, design, beauty therapy and massage); the total number is 67 people. This contributed to noise being one of the most important problems affecting the occupants in CIT. In addition, the qualitative results identified anther issue that made the workplace uncomfortable and generated desire among employees to leave their offices when possible: the inability to control their environment, especially, when they wanted to meet students and have control over the air conditioning system and fresh air. According to Vischer (2008), ownership and control over physical ambient conditions meet the psychological comfort needs for occupants and help them to adapt more quickly to an environment. Inability to control the environment in workplace decision-making has been described as 'demotivating' (McCoy and Evans 2005).

Further anlaysis of the qualitative results identified some issues related to workstation design, such as the height of partitions, which did not provide an adequate level of sound privacy, and the small space available for individual workstations and storage. For teaching-related work, usually academics have a many papers and books around to deal with, such as student reports, exam sheets, and books. This finding aligns with previous studies for example, Lindberg et al. (2018) stated that appropriate workstation design that provides a sense of visual and sound privacy helps to improve workflow and reduce occupant stress levels. Moreover, Kim and de Dear (2013) emphasised that workstation size has a powerful effect and might outweigh the effect of all other physical work environment factors on occupants' overall satisfaction. This suggests that the workstation design for academic work should consider appropriate size and shape to provide sufficient storage capacity according to

the type of work, and provide enclosures for privacy, which is important within the academic office in terms of increasing the workflow and providing functional and physical comfort to the occupants. However, the qualitative data showed that the lack of visual privacy in the CIT workplace did not affect productivity, but it likely reinforced feelings of discomfort. That might be because the type of work is focused on teaching and related work, so privacy is not the priority for completing the work.

The correlation coefficients between satisfaction mood and motivation, and productivity show significant relation in terms of some factors. Layout and air quality were common factors between these correlations. Qualitative results explained that inability to control the air conditioning system, and not being able to open and close the windows to get fresh air, made the staff frustrated and unable to concentrate on their work. In terms of light, the academics who were sitting in workstations near windows tended to rate light as having a negative effect on productivity. The reason behind this result might be attributed to the fact that the physical measurements of light in some areas have exceeded the maximum level established by Australian standards. Also, it was found that the sun's heat and the reflection of the sun on computer screens cause distraction. Hamedani et al. (2020) found that glare and reflection on computer screens can disturb the occupants and cause health issues such as headaches. However, light effects were inconsistent in terms of feelings of satisfaction and productivity. The participants were satisfied with the lighting, but they believed it had a negative effect on their productivity. This suggests that not all elements of IEQ have a negative effect on occupants' satisfaction in the same way that they influence perceived productivity.

The quantitative results suggest that the six IEQ elements did not show a significant relationship with motivation and mood in CIT. Three participants agreed with the quantitative results in the qualitative study; some felt that there was no relationship between the IEQ of their workplace and their mood/productivity; others did not know whether it affected them or not. However, the literature review indicates that specific individual IEQs within an open-plan workplace have significant effects on workers' mood, such as colour and light (Cuttle 2013) and on motivation (Lan et al. 2010). These previous studies were experimental studies where all the variables are controlled; however, in a real space, internal and external factors overlap, making it difficult to determine the extent of the effects on participants' mood and motivation. Figure 4-64 shows the main findings for CIT workplace.



Figure 4-64 Outcomes of CIT workplace (Rashid 2018).

# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

# **5.1 Introduction**

There are limited studies that have evaluated open-plan academic workplaces in the higher education sector, and none investigating multiple factors influencing the IEQ. This study aimed to investigate open-plan academic workplaces within higher education institutions for the impact of IEQ on academics' perceptions of their own productivity. Through three carefully selected case studies, the research focused on the effects of six key IEQ factors (thermal comfort, air quality, sound level, lighting, layout and colour) on satisfaction, motivation, mood and productivity. Prior to the case studies, each of the six IEQ factors was first evaluated to understand its effect on satisfaction, motivation and mood. Then, the perceived productivity of the academics was evaluated, taking into account demographic information. Case study methodology was selected to gather data using mixed methods, both qualitative and quantitative, to explore the negative and positive aspects of open-plan workplace environment on academic productivity. This study employed convergent technique for designing mixed methods, when both qualitative and quantitative data collected and analysed separately (Creswell et al. 2007). The two sets of results then emerged together to interpret with giving the quantitative data the priority to explain and investigate measurable data in an unbiased and objective manner (Todd et al. 2004). Drawing on both qualitative and quantitative methods for the methodology proved to be an appropriate choice for this study, because it enabled the researcher to evaluate and explore the effects of the six IEQ factors on the academics' perceived productivity, satisfaction, motivation, and mood.

As universities across the globe are adjusting to changing work practices, due to the development of technologies and collaborative work demands, they are facing increasing pressures to create space efficacies and to restructure themselves through organisational change mechanisms. It is within this context that this research tackled the important issues in regard to the impact of open-plan workplace on academics and their productivity — a topic that has not yet received adequate attention. The main question is: how does indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces? In order to assess the suitability of open-plan workplaces for academic work, each of the three case studies selected for this research represented at least one of the main academic activities; that

is, research, teaching and administration. Through evaluation of the three different academic open-plan case studies, the current study offers new and constructive knowledge for academic property managers who manage academic workplace as well as designers, by providing a richer understanding of the impact of open-plan workplace on academic work tasks and productivity. This chapter provides a discussion of key findings in relation to the impact of the six IEQ elements on the academics' satisfaction, motivation, mood and perceived productivity. Finally, the results will be examined to understand the relationship between satisfactions, mood, and/or motivation with academic productivity.

In the first section of the chapter, the results will be discussed in relation to each of the research objectives (see Chapter 1, section 1.2). The second and third sections present the conclusions and contributions of this study to the field of academic workplace design. The final two sections will discuss limitations of the research, suggesting the direction of future research.

# 5.1.1 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on the Degree of Satisfaction

The literature review found studies indicating that IEQ has a significant impact on worker satisfaction in an open-plan workplace (Vischer and Wifi 2017; Kang, Ou and Mak 2017). The results from the questionnaire survey showed that the academic staff in all three workplaces were satisfied with the colour scheme and lighting. Some participants attributed their satisfaction with lighting to windows that provide daylight, and sustain the occupant's connection with outside environment, which in turn reduces the feeling of isolation. According to Bluyssen et al. (2003), occupants feel satisfied with the environment when they have no complaints, and the risk of illness or injury is low. The latter is especially of interest, given that the location of the case study two, CTL, was in a basement with minimum natural daylight, but overall, participants were satisfied with the lighting. That is not in alignment with the results from the literature review, which indicated that lighting levels are a common cause of dissatisfaction in open-plan workplaces (Cuttle 2013). The possible explanation for this may be that the Australian Standard provides a guidance for lighting design that ensure satisfactory environment with lighting for administrative academic workers in CTL who spend a lot of time working on computers.

Both quantitative and qualitative results identified that in terms of IEQ factors, the most negative impacts on satisfaction were associated with noise levels, office layout, air quality, and thermal comfort in the workspace. Other research agreed with the findings of this study, that these factors are the main cause of dissatisfaction among occupants (Kim and de Dear 2019; Kim and de Dear 2013). In relation to sound level, the questionnaire results were very much in alignment with the extant literature, since sound levels were found to be a cause for dissatisfaction in all three case studies. Further qualitative analysis through the interview indicated that the most common sources of noise in the open-plan workplace included colleagues' conversations and sound from ventilation systems. In addition, participants recorded dissatisfaction with the lack of acoustic privacy, noting that their environment made it uncomfortable to talk to others for fear of disturbing those around them. The inability to control the noise level is a problem in open-plan workplaces, leading to reduce their ability to concentrate on deep thinking work, which leads to less productive work environment. Radun el al. (2021) findings were in agreement with this study, they found that working during other people conversation was annoying and raising level of stress therefore, they emphasised that special care should be paid to control the level of noise in workplace environment with activities that require high level of concentration.

Staff located in areas, such as around meeting rooms or the main entrance, reported experiencing higher levels of discomfort. Pejtersen et al.'s (2011) study stated that the distance from the noise source determines amount of noise impact on people comfort. Academics engaging in administrative work (CTL) were most disturbed by sound levels, particularly due to other colleagues' conversations. They were also negatively affected by the lack of acoustic privacy, especially when they needed to make confidential phone calls. This suggests that academic administrative work might require a higher standard of sound control than that required for either research or teaching-related activities. However, it is also important to note that, due to the nature of their work, staff in CUSP and CIT had more flexibility to work from home when required to do deep-thinking tasks.

Despite differences across a range of academic work activities, sound was consistently reported as the most significant contributor to dissatisfaction in all three case studies. This indicates that, regardless of academic activity, sound levels in an academic environment can have a significant impact on worker satisfaction. This problem was identified as requiring appropriate consideration during the design processes of academic workplace. Sound

problems can be further exacerbated when different departments, or different academic scope of work, are co-located in the same workplace for example, in CIT the Beauty and Massage department was sharing the open-plan workplace with Engineering and Design department. Here, the differing needs of these departments resulted in conflicts around noise levels in their shared space. The questionnaire results were very much in alignment with the existing literature in relation to workplace space-planning and layout (Kang, Ou, and Mak 2017; Kim and de Dear 2013), which was found to be the second highest ranking factor causing dissatisfaction in the three case studies. Further quantitative analysis identified dissatisfaction with visual privacy (for example, the height of partitions), individual academic's access to available storage space, and difficulties with work interactions between co-workers. The qualitative analysis of interview responses indicated that the most common causes of dissatisfaction with the open-plan layouts included distraction and lack of concentration due to noise and movement around the workstations. This finding is consistent with a previous study conducted by Park et al. (2020) who identified that a large population in an open-plan workplace increased audio distractions, which impact negatively on participants' privacy and job characteristics such as skills task significant and task identity.

The lack of privacy created an insecure environment, as illustrated in this study, with participants stating that they had difficulties undertaking confidential work and finding private places for holding confidential conversations. Moreover, increasing requirements to engage with online teaching and the associated video-conferencing essential to be carried out by the academics on their computers posed problems in an open-plan workplace. Similarly, other researchers have found that open- plan offices have a negative impact on the ability of staff to focus or implement confidential tasks (Bluyssen et al. 2011; Lee 2010; Veitch et al. 2007). In conclusion, the lack of privacy causes higher levels of discomfort during the workday, especially for staff located in areas around meeting rooms and along passageways, for example.

Another impact of the layout on occupants' satisfaction is evident in participants' perceptions of their control over the physical environment, and their ability to accommodate the differences in individual needs. The results of Borgeson et al. (2008) went to the same conclusion, as their study stated that employees' ability to control the opening and closing of windows was an important factor which determined their satisfaction. Their qualitative results indicated that the lack of individual control over fresh air, temperature, and sound levels due

to the open-plan layout has a negative effect on occupants' comfort and happiness. Other studies (Shahzad et al. 2016; Xue, Mak, and Ai 2016) support that control over fresh air and room temperature is a major quality which determines employees' comfort.

While there was no evidence that the workplace air quality was causing any dissatisfaction in CIT or CTL, there were some issues noted in the CUSP case study. This is despite the recorded air quality measurements in all three workplaces being well within the Australian Standards guidelines. Further quantitative analysis showed that the lack of fresh air and the lack of air movement in this open-plan workplace were the most common reasons for dissatisfaction. This outcome might be attributed that staff in CUSP specialised and have more awareness regarding sustainability policy. The interview results indicated that increased controlover the air conditioning system and the ability to open and close the windows would help to resolve the issues. Respondents noted that the CUSP environment was uncomfortable to stay in for a long time and affected their ability to concentrate. Academics focusing on research and work requiring higher levels of concentration were more dissatisfied with air quality, particularly their inability to open windows. This could indicate that academic research work requires higher levels of fresh air to stimulate concentration, thinking and creativity than that required by either administrative or teaching-related activities. This study came to conclusion that each type of works requires particular type of design setting.

# 5.1.2 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Mood

The literature review found studies that indicated physical environment has a significant relationship with emotion in workplace (Ashkanasy et al. 2014; Ashkanasy, Hartel and Daus 2002). Most of the previous research investigating the relationship between the IEQ factors and mood of workers focused on a specific single factor within the IEQ; for example, the workplace temperature (Pejtersen et al. 2006). Some other studies focused on two elements; for example, colour and light (Küller et al. 2006; Hoffmann et al. 2008; Cuttle 2013). However, the quantitative data of this study indicated that the six IEQ factors are not strongly associated with occupants' mood, although responses to the study's questionnaire showed that the academics' mood is most affected by the element of sound levels in the open-plan work environment. The possible explanation for this result may be that mood is difficult to evaluate in the academic workplace because it covers a wide spectrum of academic activities

such as research, teaching, and administration, as illustrated by Leathwood and Hey (2009). In addition, according to Stets (2010), and Wegge et al. (2006), characteristics of the academic identity which are competitive and collaborative produce a mix of positive and negative responses, which in turn cause more difficulties in evaluating the mood. Therefore, more investigation is needed to understand the role of mood in the academic work environment. The quantitative results indicated that about half of the participants in CTL and CIT workplaces and 40% of the participants in CUSP determined that sound levels had the highest negative impact on their mood and can determine levels of annoyance or unhappiness in the work environment. The most common source of noise is colleagues' conversations; participants reported that uncontrollable sound levels can shift their mood towards annoyance and stress. A study by Haapakangas et al. (2017) stated that the negative impact of sound levels stem from the nature of the open-plan layout itself, which amplifies sounds because sound waves are not absorbed within the space. Also, the findings of this study were consistent with a previous study conducted by Jahncke et al. (2011); they investigated the effect of two different noise levels (high noise: 51 LAeq, and low noise: 39 LAeq) on mood, stress and cognition in an open plan office. They found that in the noisy, open-plan workplace environment, the participants were tired, and they were in a negative mood. When work demands high levels of concentration, an open-plan office becomes very annoying because of constant distraction. In conclusion, the empirical outcomes are in agreement with Ashkanasy et al. (2014) theoretical framework which explained how the IEQ factors in open-plan workplaces reshapes occupants' attitude and behaviour through effecting their emotion, to result in influencing on both behaviour and productivity.

Despite the differences across the diversity of academic activities, sound consistently appeared to have an impact on mood, as demonstrated across all three case studies. The literature review revealed that the effect of sound on mood in workplace has been neglected in comparison with the studies that investigated the impact of sound on occupants' satisfaction in the workplace. This suggests that there is an urgent need for more investigations in relation to the impact of workplace sound on occupants' mood in open-plan workplaces.

The interviews showed that some of the participants in the three cases reported that open-plan offices could not support their work needs. They emphasised the impact the lack of privacy can have on their mood, raising the feelings of annoyance and unhappiness within the workplace environment. In addition, one of the participants stated that having to relocate to a quiet, private workplace with their laptops and books was a source of annoyance and frustration.

In terms of temperature, the literature review supports that workplace temperature has a negative impact on worker's mood in the open plan, causing discomfort and leading to physiological consequences. For example, Lan, Lian, and Pan (2010) found a significant correlation between temperature and mood, in that the study's participants experienced a more negative mood in the warmer environment of 28°C and a less negative mood in the cooler environment of 21°C. However, the findings of the current study do not support the previous research. The collected data of this study suggests that thermal comfort did not have significant effect on mood possibly due to the temperature being within the recommended range.

On the other hand, analysis of the qualitative data indicated that the academics agreed that the open-plan workplace has its advantages in enabling and sustain social interaction among colleagues, which affected their mood positively. The results of this study align with previous research by Dimotakis, Scott, and Koopman (2011) the study conducted an experimental study, which found a relationship between mood and interaction in the workplace, confirming that positive social interaction correlated positively with mood and that a negative mood resulted from negative interactions.

The interviews showed that 25% of the academics in CTL were happy and comfortable with their work environment, and they reported that the open plan workplace sustained their work activities. This 25% percent of respondents were working within team groups; they stated that the open- plan office facilitated their teamwork by increasing the rate of interaction between the groups, and bringing them closer to each other and eventually enhancing their positive mood. It can be concluded from this outcome that an open-plan layout may be more suitable for academic teamwork activities.

# 5.1.3 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ Factors on Motivation

Wibowo (2016) consider motivation to be a process that stimulates continuous efforts and directs a person's behavior towards the achievement of aims. The literature review confirms that workplace environments have a significant impact on worker motivation and productivity (Rozman, Treven and Cancer 2017; Veitch et al. 2013; Lan et al. 2010), mostly focusing on a single IEQ element; for example, light. However, there is limited studies

evaluating multiple IEQ elements and their effects on motivation. Motivation feeling in workplace is essential to increase occupant performance. Self-determination Theory (SDT) provides a framework to investigate how the surrounding environment facilitates an individual's sense of motivation and productivity. In addition, SDT theory suggests that if any of these psychological needs are obstructed, there will be a negative impact on performance and wellness (Ryan and Deci 2017). In line with this theory the results from the questionnaire survey of this study demonstrated that the motivation of the academics was affected by their environment particularly layout, sound level, lighting and air quality in CUSP. Kim and de Dear (2013) highlighted how the occupants who experiencing uncontrollable noise work environment in open-plan can impact negatively on their motivation. Similarly, this study revealed that high sound levels and the layout (space-planning) of CUSP's open-plan workplace negatively affected the academics' motivation (willingness and enthusiasm) to work. Participants noted that the high levels of concentration required to work effectively necessitated a work environment isolated from distraction and noise. They added that the open-plan layout did not support the diversity of academic work. Consequently, academics reported leaving their workstations early to find somewhere else to complete their day's work. Some participants in CUSP believed that all the IEQs had a role in impacting their motivation in their workplace and it was hard to identify specific factors. However, 30% of the participants noted that the value of informal interactions was facilitated by the layout of the open-plan workplace and that the absence of barriers between workstations positively affected their motivation and made them stay and work late with their colleagues to complete tasks. In line with this, Hughes and Kinder (2007) highlighted that an optimum workplace quality would encourage workers to work an extra hour in their workday to the researcher's knowledge.

The CUSP building has general lighting distribution (LED white/warm light, suspended on the ceiling above the workstations) and each workstation has local light. In addition to artificial lighting, the office has a set of windows along both north and south sides of the building and glazing in the middle of the west wall, allowing the daylight to penetrate inside. Despite that, the participants reported that the lighting impacted negatively on their motivation. The glare caused by morning sun which reflected on computer screens in CUSP was found to give rise to both discomfort and frustration to the academics, and eventually impacted negatively on their motivation. The finding reached here is consistent with the literature, which indicated that lighting (including illuminance and glare) in the workplace

was a common factor affecting workers' motivation to undertake required tasks (Flynn 1973; Küller et al. 2006). In addition, some participants who sit on the south side of the building mentioned that looking at concrete wall from their window was frustrating and uninspiring. This situation created a desire to leave the workstation and go outside and make a connection with the nature for a while, and come back later, which negatively affects the consistency of the work. Several studies support this finding, reporting that occupants of an open-plan office situated next to an outside view reacted positively, because the outdoor space provided the occupants with a feeling of satisfaction and calmness (Kim et al. 2018; Ko et al. 2020)

In terms of air quality, Cui et al. (2013), found that fresh air and room temperature changes in open-plan workplaces was a common factor affecting workers' motivation to undertake tasks, and their motivation improved when they were more comfortable with their indoor environment's temperature which was in consistencies with the findings of this study. Some participants in the interviews of this study indicated that the lack of control over the air conditioning, sound and light can negatively affect academic motivation, which effecting their behaviour and productivity. This result agrees with the outcome of McCoy and Evans (2005) who found that uncontrollable workplace created demotivating work environment.

In CTL and CIT workplaces, the correlation between the IEQ and motivation was found to be weak. The reason behinds this may be attributed to academic staff are usually motivated by the job itself (Zhang 2014). They are influenced by desire for achievement, a sense of responsibility, performance recognition, job significance and personal growth. Gagne and Deci (2005) also came to the same conclusion that internal motivating comes from worker's personal engagement found in undertaking a certain task. Another explanation for these differences between CTL, CIT, and CUSP cases may be attributed to the differences in the main academic activity. Namely, motivation for academic activities focused on administration and teaching are less impacted by IEQ. In contrast, the mental and creative academic works showed more sensitivity towards some IEQs that have a significant impact on their motivation. The statistical analysis conducted to find the relationship between demographic information and motivation showed that females reported a greater impact of colour on their motivation to perform tasks in their environments than males in the three case studies. The outcome of many studies supports this finding and confirmed that colour preference and effect are not universal and influenced by the differences in gender, age and culture (Sorokowski et al. 2014; Baniani and Yamamoto 2015).

# 5.1.4 Evaluation of the Direct Impact of IEQ on Perceived Productivity

While there is some controversy surrounding the relationship between IEQ and worker productivity, the majority of the results from the in-depth literature review indicated that IEQ factors have a significant impact on worker productivity in an open-plan workplace. Kim (2014) in his model to understand the impact of physical work environment on occupants' outcomes, showed that the IEQ factors had a significant effect on behavioral responses, ultimately creating better work performance. The study results of CUSP, CIT, and CTL workplaces are generally in agreement with the extant literature. However, the quantitative results from the questionnaire survey showed some variance across the three case studies. For example, most of the six IEQ factors have an impact on perceived productivity in both CUSP and CIT workplace, whereas only three factors — sound level, layout, and thermal comfort were perceived as the factors influencing productivity in CTL. The results from the three case studies emphasised that sound levels had the highest perceived negative impact among other factors upon academic productivity.

Further qualitative analysis of the interviews indicated that the open-plan layout failed to block the noises from co-workers nearby, which in turn impacted on their concentration level. These results reinforce the significance of high noise levels in reducing worker productivity in open-plan workplaces, as found in the literature review. However, in previous studies, sound levels were not the highest-ranking factor among the IEQ elements (Mak and Lui 2012; Frontczak et al. 2012). A possible explanation for this could be that the nature of activities in which the academics within the three case studies of CUSP, CIT and CTL were engaged were, for the most part, complex mental activities requiring a high level of concentration, and that those activities are different to those conducted in general office work. This suggests that an academic environment has a higher requirement for acoustic control to improve productivity. Further analysis of the qualitative data supports this proposition, with lack of sound privacy being noted as particularly detrimental to those academics engaging in online teaching while at their workstations. This kind of work needs a workplace that provides a secure and private place. Participants in all three case studies believed that individual offices would be less distracting and would allow them to be more productive. This was not surprising, as Wilhoit et al. (2016) study stated that academic tend to be workplace change resistance to keep their identity.

The questionnaire results indicated that there was a significant relationship between the open-plan layout and academic productivity. The qualitative analysis of the data collected through the interviews revealed that, within the open-plan workplace layout, it was the lack of visual privacy, difficulties in concentrating, and increased interruptions that were the root causes of the poor acoustic environment that negatively affected academic productivity. This result supports the significant impact of workplace layout on workers' productivity in open-plan work environments (Al Horr et al. 2016; Vischer and Wifi 2017).

The possible explanation for the differences in the results between CUSP, CIT, and CTL, might attribute to the differences in the scope of works between these three cases. These case studies indicated that an open-plan layout has a negative impact on the high level of concentration required and the intellectual demands of research activities, while it has a lower negative impact on teaching-related activities.

Results from previous studies investigating the open-plan workplaces indicated that lack of thermal comfort has a negative impact on productivity (Hellwig 2015; Shahzad et al 2016). In agreement with that, the results of this study confirmed this relationship between thermal comfort and perceived productivity of the academic work which characterised as complex and creative. The literature has found that the optimal thermal temperature for creative or complex activities is higher than any other type of intellectual work, and that creative work is positively affected by the moderate rise in temperature (Wyon and Wargocki 2006). This can be attributed to those moderate temperatures that do not cause sweating and reduce arousal among workers lead to an enhancement of productivity, considering the inverse relationship between arousal and productivity (Wyon 1996). The case studies also revealed that the academics felt frustrated, tended to take breaks, and leave the workplace frequently to seek out fresh air. They believed that not having control over the ventilation system and not being able to open and close windows contributed to changing workplace temperatures.

In terms of lighting, in both CUSP and CIT was found to have a significant impact on productivity. And this result is consistent with the physical measurements in both workplaces which confirmed that the occupants were exposed to high light intensity. Some participants in both places raised the issue of glare reflection from computer which affected on their eyes. The literature supported this result, and some studies found the same reaction from the

participants when they were unable to control artificial or natural lighting (Al Zaabi, Nassif and Mushtaha 2017). This result suggests that providing the required standard levels of indoor environment quality such as lighting important to guarantee obtaining the optimal level of productivity. On the other hand, CTL results did not show any significant impact on productivity in terms of lighting. But a small ratio of CTL participants who were in a slightly lit area compared with Australian Standards indicated that artificial light had a negative impact on their productivity. When examining why the results were different across the three case studies, it was found that the various factors, including sun's heat, natural light, number of academics in the workplace, and inability to control windows for fresh air, all led to distraction, affecting workers' productivity. In some instances, technology was seen to be impeding individual's control, for example with security measures ('beeping') relating to doors and windows.

The questionnaire results also revealed that less than half of the academics in the openplan workplaces of CUSP (47.3%), CTL (45%) and CIT (46.2%) perceived their productivity as being high or extremely high when they asked to rate their perceptions of productivity in their open-plan workplaces. Further, some academics in CUSP (36.8%), CTL (15%) and CIT (29.3%) perceived themselves as being less productive in the open-plan workplace. The reason behind the low rate of productivity for those academic participants might be attributed to the significant amount of energy exerted to cope with the workplace environment due to the high level of distraction. According to Vischer (2008), the difference between a work environment with functional comfort and work environment without functional comfort is based on the amount of energy maintained and exerted on their tasks, with part of their energy spent in coping with different work environment conditions. Therefore, when the occupants were influenced negatively, as indicated in this study, when the environment did not support their work, this eventually impacted upon their productivity. Qualitative analysis found that most academics noted that open-plan workplaces might suit some types of work, such as routine administration, but did not suit all academic activities, and that academic work needs a private, quiet and secure environment in order to be completed effectively. This finding aligns with the literature review, where several studies found that workers in openplan workplaces were less productive, even though the open-plan environment was conducive to more successful teamwork because it stimulated interaction and facilitated collaboration (O'Neill 2008; Kim and de Dear 2013). The result for CTL as an example of an academic

teamwork workplace, presenting the lowest rate of occupants' unproductivity among the three case studies. This was inconsistent with the literature, supporting the position that the main incentive to create an open-plan office is to sustain the interactions among occupants.

# 5.1.5 Does the Impact of IEQ on Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation Influence on Productivity?

The relationship between IEQ and productivity has received much attention and still remains controversial. More attention has turned to the psychological impacts of the indoor environment of general open-plan workplaces, particularly in relation to workers' satisfaction, motivation, and mood and the associated impact on their productivity (Zibarras and Lewis 2013; Veitch et al. 2008). To date, most of these research have focused on the relationship with satisfaction, due to the concept of workplace environment satisfaction goes beyond what occupants like or dislike, to be a way of assessing building performance itself by evaluating building performance to support different activities accomplished by employees (Samani et al. 2018). Affective events theory has proven the relationship between the worker's emotion and reaction to their work environment, which affects productivity and wellbeing (Ashkanasy et al. 2014). However, less attention has been paid to investigating the relation between mood and motivation with productivity in workplaces.

In Chapter 4, The Spearman correlation coefficient was used to determine whether occupants' satisfaction, motivation and mood in regard to each IEQ factor has a relationship with perceived productivity. In terms of satisfaction with each of the six IEQ factors and perceived academic productivity, the level of dissatisfaction with the sound level and layout had a significant correlation with perceived low productivity in the three academic workplaces (CUSP, CTL and CIT). The dissatisfaction with the air quality and light in CIT also had a significant correlation with perceived productivity. Thus, when academics are satisfied with the IEQ factors in their workplace, there is no perceived effect on their productivity. For example, in CUSP, whilst the academics were on average dissatisfied with the air quality of their workplace, they did not feel that the air quality was influencing their productivity. Conversely, in CIT, where the academics were on average satisfied with the air quality, they did feel that the air quality had an impact on their productivity. A similar contradiction was reported by van Voordt (2004), who conducted a POE in a new open-plan workplace, activity-based work. The results showed that, while the participants were satisfied with the

new workplace IEQ, such as the design layout which, from their point of view, positively fostered interaction and communication, 40% of the respondents indicated that the new workplace had a negative impact on their own perceived productivity; another 40% had a neutral opinion; only 20% were positive. However, it is worth noting that in the current study, the correlation coefficients between satisfaction and productivity related to sound level and workplace layout are consistently strong, and are common across all three workplaces, reinforcing the notion that noise and workplace layout type in an academic setting have very significant effects on the occupants' productivity. According to Vischer and Wifi (2017) and Samani et al. (2018) satisfaction with the physical workplace environment evaluates environment ability to support different activities performed by employees. This suggests that when users feel satisfied with the physical workplace, the environment will be considered as a productive one.

The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient between the effect of IEQ factors on mood and perceived academic productivity showed a positive correlation (p-value < 0.05). This means that the participants' perceived productivity increased when they are in good mood and vice versa. The strongest relationship was demonstrated between the impact of workplace layout on mood and productivity, seen in all three case studies. Sound level and air quality also had a significant positive correlation with perceived productivity in both CTL and CIT, and thermal comfort in CIT. However, in all three of these workplaces, the results did not indicate that no significant relationship between the IEQ factors and academic's mood. These results are in direct contradiction to previous studies, which demonstrated that workers' mood response is affected by the quality of their surrounding workplace environment, which in turn influences their productivity. In particular, Küller, Mikellides, and Janssens (2009) demonstrated that both mood and performance of workers were enhanced in a multi-coloured environment when compared to a monotone grey room. Jahncke et al. (2011) showed that as noise levels increased, participants' performance and motivation decreased, and mood was negatively impacted. However, these previous studies were all conducted in a simulated workplace where all other variables were under control. In this study, there was no such control, and it is possible that in this authentic setting, with so many other factors impacting on mood, the impact of IEQ was lost.

The results also showed that the IEQ factors that affect motivation and have a significantly positive correlation between impact on motivation and perceived productivity in

the three academic workplaces (see Chapter 4, Table 5-16) are sound level and layout (CUSP) and thermal comfort (CIT). While the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient result showed that thermal comfort, air quality, colour, layout and sound level in CUSP, colour, air quality, light and sound in CTL, and colour, air quality, thermal comfort and layout in CIT, all showed a significant relationship between motivation and productivity. It should be noted that, for example, if thermal comfort is not considered to have an impact on motivation, it will not have any impact on productivity. Thus, only those results which have a corresponding impact on motivation can be considered as relevant. These results reinforce the findings of Lan et al. (2010) and Hellwig (2015) which demonstrated that productivity in the workplace can be affected by IEQ and worker motivation.

While the data purposefully collected for this study is not suited for an analysis of the mediating effect of satisfaction, mood and motivation on productivity, the results suggest the need to pay more attention for better understanding of the effect of sound level and open-plan layout in the academic workplace. In addition, thorough investigation is required to comprehend the significance of the IEQ factors on occupants' satisfaction, mood, and motivation, which in turn impacted on their productivity.

# **5.2 Conclusion**

The intention of this study was to evaluate the suitability of open-plan layout for academic purposes and establish a knowledge base for optimum workplace design that supports academic work needs. The research objectives arose from the research question: "How does the indoor environment quality impact upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces?"

The significance of this study is derived from its general but inclusive focus on the impact of the six IEQ factors while investigating the academic open-plan workplace. While utilization of the open-plan workplace design has been well documented, only a limited number of studies have investigated academic open-plan workplace (Sadick, Kpamma and Agyefi-Mensah 2020; Wilhoit et al. 2016). The review of literature revealed a gap in knowledge specifically in relation to a holistic approach placing emphasis on evaluating all six IEQs in open-plan academic workplaces, and their relation with the satisfaction, mood, motivation and perceived productivity. This study therefore addressed the limitations of

research regarding academic open-plan workplaces adding useful knowledge for professionals and designers to better understand needs of academic open-plan offices.

This study found that most modern workplace buildings in universities meet basic physical standards by addressing health and safety concerns of the occupants. However, they don't ensure functional comfort of the workplace that supports academic performance. As a result, uncomfortable workplace may cause energy drain due to academics need to exert their energy to tackle the environmental barriers instead of focusing on performing their tasks.

The analysis of the qualitative and quantitative data suggests that there is a direct correlation between the IEQ factors in open-plan workplaces and levels of academic staff's satisfaction, motivation, mood and perceived productivity. The academic staff in all three workplaces were satisfied with the colour scheme and lighting, though varying degrees of sensitivity and motivation were recorded in relation to colour between males and females, with females showing greater sensitivity towards colour than males in terms of its impact on motivation. In addition, data indicates that high sound levels are consistently ranked as having the biggest negative impact on satisfaction, motivation, mood and productivity. For example, the participants emphasised that noise generated by colleagues' conversations and movements, impeded their ability to concentrate on tasks. This study also found that the location of workstations, particularly in relation to work activities, can result in different sensitivities to sound level and distraction, principally due to the needs for quiet and privacy. For example, the workstations located adjacent to main traffic zones, such as near an entrance increase the distraction which leads to dissatisfaction with the sound levels and layout. On the contrary, similar studies in other sectors show that temperature, light levels and lack of natural lighting in the workplace were found to be the most significant in causing dissatisfaction and stress among employees (Bluyssen et al., 2011; Cuttle 2013). Accordingly, this study confirmed that sound level control is particularly important in an academic context because academic work requires high levels of concentration. However, analysis of the quantitative data showed that the correlation between IEQ factors and mood was not strongly associated in all three workplaces. This may be attributed to mood being difficult to evaluate in real academic workplace because the academic work covers a wide spectrum of activities which aligns with the finding of Leathwood and Hey's (2009) study.

Qualitative data analysis indicates that because open-plan design is limited in its ability to provide an individual level of control, it fails to cater to the often-conflicting needs of occupants. Lack of control over fresh air was the most common factor to negatively influence academics' mood and motivation. The study found that occupants with greater control over their workplace environment tend to report increase in their motivation levels due to the feeling of empowerment which subsequently increases their productivity. Control over air-conditioning systems to adjust temperature, movable blinds on windows, and ability to control the noise level around workstations were therefore shown to be important.

This study identified that deep thinking, collaboration and interaction are three main work requirements for any academic activities and any failure to meet these requirements might negatively affect academic staff's productivity. In order to fulfil these requirements, the optimal academic workplace design should be secure, private, quiet and a flexible. Conversely, this study also showed that open-plan workplaces within an academic context appear to promote teamwork, collaboration, and communication with colleagues which in turn enhances academic productivity. This result is consistent with outcomes of previous studies which showed that the nature of open-plan layout sustains both collaboration and interaction among occupants (O'Neill 2008; Kim and de Dear 2013). This research emphasises that the degree of diversity in design setting plays an important role in impeding or facilitating the academic work activities.

Regarding the relationship between perceived productivity and satisfaction, mood and motivation, this study found that degree of perceived productivity depends on the participants satisfaction, mood or motivation status, with staff having better productivity perception when they are experience positive satisfaction, mood and motivation.

# 5.2.2 Recommendations from this Study

This research has important implications for evaluation of the effects of IEQ factors on satisfaction, motivation, mood and productivity, particularly in the context of an academic open-plan workplace in the Tertiary Education sector. This study enhances the theoretical ideas about how IEQ factors affect productivity for academic types of work, and it provides a comprehensive model for evaluating perceived productivity in the workplace. In addition, several valuable recommendations resulting from the research findings are presented, which higher education organisations could address when aiming to deliver academic open-plan workplaces:

Use of more effective and advanced insulation techniques to reduce the noise levels in the open-plan workplaces.

Given the occupants a greater control over work environment which in turn strengthen the sense of satisfaction and motivation and subsequently the perceived of productivity among occupants, such as control over fresh air and provide occupants with adjustable light.

Presentation areas or meeting rooms should be acoustically and visually separated from open-plan workplaces to reduce distraction and minimize noise level for those who are not participating in these activities.

Academic open-plan workplaces should be designed with consideration given to the different types of academic work to be undertaken and their specific requirements. Such as, small meeting room to maintain privacy and reduce noise level.

While academic roles are rapidly adapting to a new digital age, there is still a need to provide adequate storage options for staff to keep their files, books, papers and archived materials. Even though these information and documents will not be used frequently but, still useful to have them on hand instead of shelving them in storage rooms.

This research recommended that workplace design requires integration of multiple disciplinary to obtain optimal productive workplace. Such as interdisciplinary investigation process would provide better comprehension of how academic satisfaction and wellbeing could improve performance and productivity.

This study highlighted that the impact of IEQ factors on mood and motivation within the complexities of the tertiary education workplace is an important consideration in workplace design and, so for, remains an under-explored area of research.

# 5.2.3 Limitations of this Study

This research has limitations in terms of sample size, IEQs studied and productivity measurement.

The first limitation in the current study is the sample size. The study used a case study sample of three higher education institutes in the state of Western Australia. Therefore, the

results of the current study may not represent a wide range of open-plan workplaces internationally or nationally. However, the three workplaces were selected to represent the three main academic work activities of research, administration and teaching and, hence, could be viewed as a representative sample.

This study addressed the effects of a broad range of IEQ elements (thermal comfort, air quality, sound level, light, layout and colour) on academic productivity. Consequently, the results provide a breadth of knowledge across all six IEQ elements rather than an in-depth study of an individual IEQ element. This was considered appropriate, because the aim of this study is to present a comprehensive understanding of the influence of the indoor environment quality on academics' satisfaction, motivation, mood and productivity.

The quantitative data collected and analysed for each of the case studies used a selfreported measurement to evaluate productivity. This was considered to be appropriate, because no agreed measurement exists for productivity within an academic workplace. However, the nature of self-reporting means that the results are subjective, and interpretations of scales may differ across institutes and regions.

Physical measurements (sound level, light illuminance, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, and humidity) were taken to check for compliance with Australian Standards. The instrument was not the most dependable but does give indications of the legitimacy of environment conditions across the cases.

The physical measurements for the three academic workplaces were taken in autumn/winter, therefore, these measurements and related data collection may not be generalized for all seasons of the year.

While a rigorous pilot testing of the data collection instrument was conducted, some language issues became apparent during the analysis of the case study data. While it is acknowledged that the instrument would be revised for any future studies, the data collected is still considered to be valid. The author understands the nuances of the language used and has interpreted the results accordingly.

# 5.2.4 Future Studies

The results of this study contribute to the current understanding of the impact of IEQ factors upon academic productivity in open-plan workplaces. The study shows that IEQ

factors have a significant effect on academics' degree of satisfaction, motivation, mood and perceived productivity. Based on the result of this study, five key areas for future research have emerged and are recommended:

- This study focused on the measurement of psychological and psychosocial aspects to understand the effects of IEQ on productivity. In future studies, it is recommended that these measurements should be coupled with less subjective, physical measurements, such as heart rate, skin moisture levels, etc., to better understand the relationships with productivity.
- This study relied on self-reported measurement of productivity. While studies have already been conducted using objective productivity measurements, such as speed and accuracy of completing tasks, there is a need for further research in this area, particularly relating to academic productivity.
- Investigation of the psychological factors that have a mediating effect on productivity in open-plan workplaces is required, particularly with larger samples.
- The results from this study indicate that noise levels in academic environments plays a very significant role in affecting productivity. It is recommended that future studies of the effectiveness of noise treatments in open-plan offices should be conducted, including consideration of the impact of transient noise sources, such as colleagues' conversations, as well as sounds from systems such as the ventilation. While this study covered a breadth of IEQ factors, further studies would benefit from exploration of other indoor workplace environmental factors, such as daylight, views to the outside, and external noise.
# REFERENCES

- Abbas, Nadeen, Prashant Suryanarayanan, and Dinesh Kumar. 2005. "Psychophysiological Impact of Colour and Lighting Conditions on Space Users." In 5th NSSA Australian Space Science Conference, Melbourne, September 14–16, 2005. 117–123. Melbourne: RMIT University. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.044718538232845.
- Abdou, Ossama A. 1997. "Effects of Luminous Environment on Worker Productivity in Building Spaces." *Journal of Architectural Engineering* 3 (3): 124–32. doi:10.1061/(asce)1076-0431(1997)3:3(124).
- Ai, Zheng T., Cheuk M Mak, D.J. Cui, and P. Xue. 2016. "Ventilation of Air-Conditioned Residential Buildings: A Case Study in Hong Kong." *Energy and Buildings* 127: 116– 27. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.05.055.
- Al Horr, Yousef, Mohammed Arif, Amit Kaushik, Ahmed Mazroei, Martha Katafygiotou, and Esam Elsarrag. 2016. "Occupant Productivity and Office Indoor Environment Quality: A Review of the Literature." *Building and Environment* 105: 369–389. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2016.06.001
- Al junaibi, ArwaA., Eman J. Al Zaabi, Reem Nassif, and Emad Mushtaha. 2018.
  "Daylighting in Educational Buildings: Its Effects on Students and How to Maximize Its Performance in the Architectural Engineering Department of the University of Sharjah". In *Proceedings of 3rd International Sustainable Buildings Symposium (ISBS 2017). ISBS 2017. Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering*, 6: 141–59. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63709-9\_11
- Algrari, Ahmed Y. 2017. "The Influnces of Telecommuting on Teleworkers Skills." *IOSR Journal of Computer Engineering* 19 (2): 45–48. doi:10.9790/0661-1902044548.
- Allport, Carolyn. 2007. "Public Interest Role of Universities at Stake." Advocate: Newsletter of the National Tertiary Education Union 14 (3): 2. https://search.informit.org/doi/abs/10.3316/informit.024496078227564
- Altbach, Philip G. 2013. "Globalization and Forces for Change in Higher Education." *The International Imperative in Higher Education*, 7–10. doi:10.1007/978-94-6209-338-6\_2.
- Altbach, Philip G. 2014. *International Higher Education Volume 1 An Encyclopedia*. New York: Routledge.
- Altbach, Philip G. 2016. *Global Perspective on Higher Education*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Altman, Irwin. 1975. *The Environment and Social Behavior: Privacy, Personal Space, Territory, and Crowding*. Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.
- Al Zaabi, Eman J, Reem Nassif, and Emad Mushtaha. 2017. "Daylighting in Educational Buildings: Its Effects on Students and How to Maximize Its Performance in the Architectural Engineering Department of the University of Sharjah" International Sustainable Buildings Symposium: Springer.
- Apte, Komalkirti, and Salvi, Sundeep. 2006. "Household air pollution and its effects on health." F1000Research 5. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.7552.1
- Arundell, Lauren, Bronwyn Sudholz, Megan Teychenne, Jo Salmon, Brooke Hayward, Genevieve Healy, and Anna Timperio. 2018. "The Impact of Activity Based Working (ABW) on Workplace Activity, Eating Behaviours, Productivity, and Satisfaction." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 15 (5): 1005. doi:10.3390/ijerph15051005.
- Ashkanasy, Neal M., Oluremi B. Ayoko, and Karen A. Jehn. 2014. "Understanding the Physical Environment of Work and Employee Behavior: An Affective Events Perspective." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 35 (8): 1169–84. doi:10.1002/job.1973.
- Ashkanasy, Neal M., Charmine E.J. Härtel, and Catherine S. Daus. 2002. "Diversity and Emotion: The New Frontiers in Organizational Behavioral Research." *Journal of Management* 28 (3): 307–38. doi:10.1016/S0149-2063(02)00130-7.
- ASHRAE. 2010. *Thermal Environmental Conditions for Human Occupancy*. Alanta: American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers Inc.
- ASHRAE. 2009. Handbook-Fundamentals. Atlanta: American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers Inc.
- Avey, James B., Fred Luthans, Ronda M. Smith, and Noel F. Palmer. 2010. "Impact of Positive Psychological Capital on Employee Well-Being over Time." *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 15 (1): 17–28. doi:10.1037/a0016998.
- Ayoko, Oluremi Remi B, Neal M Ashkanasy, and Karen A Jehn. 2009. "Workplace Territorial Behaviors: A Conceptual Model of the Impact of Employees' Territorial Behaviors on Conflict and Outcomes in Diverse Teams". Paper presented at 22nd Annual International Association of Conflict Management Conference, Tokyo, June 15–18, 2009. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1484772

- Bakker, Iris, Theo J.M. van der Voordt, Jan de Boon, and Peter Vink. 2013. "Red or Blue Meeting Rooms: Does It Matter?" *Facilities* 31 (1/2): 68–83. doi:10.1108/02632771311292527.
- Baldry, Chris, and Alison Barnes. 2012. "The Open-Plan Academy: Space, Control and the Undermining of Professional Identity." *Work, Employment and Society* 26 (2): 228–45. doi:10.1177/0950017011432917.
- Baniani, Mahshid, and Sari Yamamoto. 2015. "A Comparative Study on Correlation between Personal Background and Interior Color Preference." *Color Research & Application* 40 (4): 416–24. doi:10.1002/col.21906.
- Bargh, John A., and Idit Shalev. 2012. "The Substitutability of Physical and Social Warmth in Daily Life." *Emotion* 12 (1): 154–62. doi:10.1037/a0023527.
- Barnes, Alison. 2007. "The Construction of Control: the Physical Environment and the Development of Resistance and Accommodation within Call Centres." *New Technology, Work and Employment* 22 (3): 246–59. doi:10.1111/j.1468-005x.2007.00197.x.
- Bassey, Michael. 2009. *Case Study Research in Educational Settings*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Baxter, Pamela, and Susan Jack. 2008. "Qualitative Case Study Methodology: Study Design and Implementation for Novice Researchers." *The Qualitative Report* 13 (4): 544–59. doi:10.46743/2160-3715/2008.1573.
- Beck, Ulrich. 2007. "Beyond Class and Nation: Reframing Social Inequalities in a Globalizing World." *British Journal of Sociology* 58 (4): 679–705. doi:10.1111/j.1468-4446.2007.00171.x.
- Bedford, Michael, and David Tong. 1997. "Planing for Diversity: New Structures That Reflect the Past." In *Reinventing the workplace*, edited by John Worthington, 64–75. London: Routledge.
- Berthelsen, Hanne, Tuija Muhonen, and Susanna Toivanen. 2018. "What Happens to the Physical and Psychosocial Work Environment When Activity-Based Offices Are Introduced into Academia?" *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 20 (4): 230–43. doi:10.1108/JCRE-06-2017-0017.
- Bektas, Esra. 2013. "Knowledge Sharing Strategies for Large Complex Building Projects." *Architecture and the Built Environment* 3 (4): 1–332. doi:10.7480/abe.2013.4

- Bell, Martin. 1996. "How Often Do Australians Move? Alternative Measures of Population Mobility." *Journal of the Australian Population Association* 13 (2): 101–24. doi:10.1007/bf03029490.
- Benbasat, Izak, David K. Goldstein, and Melissa Mead. 1987. "The Case Research Strategy in Studies of Information Systems." *MIS Quarterly* 11 (3): 369. doi:10.2307/248684.
- Bernstein, Ethan S., and Stephen Turban. 2018. "The Impact of the 'Open' Workspace on Human Collaboration." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 373 (1753): 20170239. doi:10.1098/rstb.2017.0239.
- Bitner, Mary Jo. 1992. "Servicescapes: The Impact of Physical Surroundings on Customers and Employees." *Journal of Marketing* 56 (2): 57. doi:10.2307/1252042.
- Bluyssen, Philomena M. 2008. "Management of the Indoor Environment: from a Component Related to an Interactive Top-down Approach." *Indoor and Built Environment* 17 (6): 483–95. doi:10.1177/1420326x08098687.
- Bluyssen, Philomena M., Myriam Aries, and Paula van Dommelen. 2011. "Comfort of Workers in Office Buildings: The European HOPE Project." *Building and Environment* 46 (1): 280–88. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2010.07.024.
- Bluyssen, Philomena M. 2010. "Towards New Methods and Ways to Create Healthy and Comfortable Buildings." *Building and Environment* 45 (4): 808–18. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.08.020.
- Bluyssen, Philomena M., Christian Cox, Olli Seppänen, Eduard Oliveira Fernandes, Geo Clausen, Birgit Müller, and Claude Alain Roulet. 2003. "Why, When and How Do HVAC-Systems Pollute the Indoor Environment and What to Do about It? The European AIRLESS Project." *Building and Environment* 38 (2): 209–25. doi:10.1016/S0360-1323(02)00058-6.
- Bodin, Danielsson, Christina, Holendro Singh Chungkham, Cornelia Wulff, and Hugo
  Westerlund. 2014. "Office Design's Impact on Sick Leave Rates." *Ergonomics* 57 (2): 139–47. doi:10.1080/00140139.2013.871064.
- Bommel, W. J.M. Van, and G. J. Van den Beld. 2004. "Lighting for Work: A Review of Visual and Biological Effects." *Lighting Research and Technology* 36 (4): 255–69. doi:10.1191/1365782804li122oa.
- Borgeson, Sam, and Gail Brager. 2008. "Occupant Control of Windows: Accounting for Human Behavior in Building Simulation." Report. Center for the Built Environment, University of California, Berkeley. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5gx2n1zz

- Boyce, Peter Robert. 2003. "Lighting for the Elderly." In *Human Factors in Lighting*, 165–80. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Boyce, Peter, Claudia Hunter, and Owen Howlett. 2003. "The Benefits of Daylight through Windows." *Troy, New York: Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute*. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.lrc.rpi.edu/programs/daylighting/pdf/DaylightBenefits.pdf
- Brack, Jessica, and Kip Kelly. 2012. "Maximizing Millennials in the Workplace." *UNC Executive Development* 22 (1): 2–14. http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/405117.
- Bradley, Denise, Peter Noonan, Helen Nugent, and Bill Scales. 2008. *Review of Australian Higher Education: final report [Bradley review]*. Canberra: DEEWR. http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/44384.
- Bradley, Margaret M., and Peter J. Lang. 1994. "Measuring Emotion: The Self-Assessment Manikin and the Semantic Differential." *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry* 25 (1): 49–59. doi:10.1016/0005-7916(94)90063-9.
- Brandi, Ulrike. 2012. *Lighting Design: Principles, Implementation, Case Studies*. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter. doi:10.11129/detail.9783034615693.
- Brennan, Aoife, Jasdeep S. Chugh, and Theresa Kline. 2002. "Traditional versus Open Office Design." *Environment and Behavior* 34 (3): 279–99. doi:10.1177/0013916502034003001.
- Bresnahan, Timothy F., Erik Brynjolfsson, and Loren M. Hitt. 2002. "Information Technology, Workplace Organization, and the Demand for Skilled Labor: Firm-Level Evidence." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117 (1): 339–76. doi:10.1162/003355302753399526.
- Brief, Arthur P., and Howard M. Weiss. 2002. "Organizational Behavior: Affect in the Workplace." Annual Review of Psychology 53 (1): 279–307. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135156.
- Brookes, Malcolm J. 1978. "Changes in Employee Attitudes and Work Practices in an Office Landscape." In *Environmental Design Evaluation*, 35–45. Boston, MA: Springer.
- Brown, Andrew D. 2015. "Identities and Identity Work in Organizations." *International Journal of Management Reviews* 17 (1): 20–40. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12035.
- Brunia, Sandra, and Anca Hartjes-Gosselink. 2009. "Personalization in Non-Territorial Offices: a Study of a Human Need." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 11 (3): 169–82. doi:10.1108/14630010910985922.

- Bryson, Colin. 2004. "What about the Workers? The Expansion of Higher Education and the Transformation of Academic Work." *Industrial Relations Journal* 35 (1): 38–57. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2338.2004.00299.x.
- Burrell, Gibson W., and Gareth Morgan. 1979. *Sociological paradigms and organizational analysis*. London: Heinemann.
- Cai, Jing, Valery T. Youngblood, Elena A. Khodyreva, and Anvar N. Khuziakhmetov. 2017.
  "Higher Education Curricula Designing on the Basis of the Regional Labour Market Demands." *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education* 13 (7): 2805–19. doi:10.12973/eurasia.2017.00719a.
- Candido, Christhina, Jessica Zhang, Jungsoo Kim, Richard de Dear, LE Thomas, Paula Strapasson, and Camila Joko. 2016. "Impact of Workspace Layout on Occupant Satisfaction, Perceived Health and Productivity" *Proceedings of 9<sup>th</sup> Windsor Conference: Making Comfort relevant, April 7–10 2016.* Windsor, UK: Network for Comfort and Energy Use in Buildings. https://opus.lib.uts.edu.au/bitstream/10453/122457/1/WC16\_Candido.pdf
- Candido, Christhina, Leena Thomas, Shamila Haddad, Fan Zhang, Martin Mackey, and Wei Ye. 2019. "Designing Activity-Based Workspaces: Satisfaction, Productivity and Physical Activity." *Building Research & Information* 47 (3): 275–289. doi:10.1080/09613218.2018.1476372
- Carolan, Clare M., Liz Forbat, and Annetta Smith. 2016. "Developing the DESCARTE Model." *Qualitative Health Research* 26 (5): 626–39. doi:10.1177/1049732315602488.
- Carson, David, Audrey Gilmore, Chad Perry, and Kjell Gronhaug. 2001. *Qualitative Marketing Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cascio, Wayne F, and Ramiro Montealegre. 2016. "How Technology Is Changing Work and Organizations." *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior* 3: 349–375. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-041015-062352
- Cavaye, A.L.M. 1996. "Case Study Research: a Multi-Faceted Research Approach for IS." Information Systems Journal 6 (3): 227–42. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2575.1996.tb00015.x.
- CBE. 2019. "Occupant Survey Toolkit." *Center for the Built Environment*. July 10. Accessed April 28, 2021. https://cbe.berkeley.edu/resources/occupant-survey/.
- Chatzopoulou, M., A. Vlachvei, and Th. Monovasilis. 2015. "Employee's Motivation and Satisfaction in Light of Economic Recession: Evidence of Grevena Prefecture-Greece." *Procedia Economics and Finance* 24: 136–45. doi:10.1016/s2212-5671(15)00633-4.

- Cho, Hyun Mi, Jongki Lee, Seunghwan Wi, and Sumin Kim. 2019. "Field Study on Indoor Air Quality of Wood Remodeled Welfare Facilities for Physical and Psychological Benefits." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 233 (1): 197–208. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.05.293
- Clarke, Marie, Aidan Kenny, and Andrew Loxley. 2015. Creating a Supportive Working Environment for Academics in Higher Education: Country Report Ireland. Dublin, Ireland: Irish Federation of University Teachers and Teachers' Union of Ireland. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://www.tui.ie/ fileupload/Third%20Level%20Report.pdf
- Clements-Croome, Derek. 2006. "Indoor Environment and Productivity." In *Creating the Productive Workplace*, 53–82. New York: Routledge.
- Clements-Croome, Derek. 2013. Intelligent Buildings: An Introduction. New York: Routledge.
- Coates, Hamish, and Leo Goedegebuure. 2010. "The Real Academic Revolution: Why We Need to Reconceptualise Australia's Future Academic Workforce, and Eight Possible Strategies for How to Go About This." Research Briefing, *LH Martin Institute*. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://melbournecshe.unimelb.edu.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/2565070/Why-we-need-toreconceptualise-Australias-future-academic-workforce.pdf
- Cohen, Louis, Lawrence Manion, and Keith Morrison. 2011. Research Methods in Education. Seventh Edition. New York: Routledge.
- Cole, Raymond J., Amy Oliver, and Aiste Blaviesciunaite. 2014. "The Changing Nature of Workplace Culture." *Facilities* 32 (13/14): 786–800. doi:10.1108/f-02-2013-0018.
- Courtney, Kathy. 2013. "Adapting Higher Education through Changes in Academic Work." *Higher Education Quarterly* 67 (1): 40–55. doi:10.1111/hequ.12002.
- Colenberg, Susanne, Tuuli Jylhä, and Monique Arkesteijn. 2020. "The Relationship between Interior Office Space and Employee Health and Well-Being – a Literature Review." *Building Research & Information* 49 (3): 352–66. doi:10.1080/09613218.2019.1710098.
- Comm, Clare L., and Dennis F. Mathaisel. 1998. "Evaluating Teaching Effectiveness in America's Business Schools: Implications for Service Marketers." *Journal of Professional Services Marketing* 16 (2): 163–70. doi:10.1300/j090v16n02\_09.
- Cope, Diane G. 2014. "Computer-Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software." *Oncology Nursing Forum* 41 (3): 322–23. doi:10.1188/14.onf.322-323.

- Craik, Kenneth H.1966. *The Prospects for an Environmental Psychology*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Creswell, John W., and Vicki L. Plano Clark, eds. 2018. *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*, edited by. Third edn. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, John W. 2013. "Steps in Conducting a Scholarly Mixed Methods Study." *DBER Speaker Series* 48. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/dberspeakers/48
- Creswell, John W., Ann Carroll Klassen, Vicki L. Plano Clark, and Katherine Clegg Smith. 2011. *Best Practices for Mixed Methods Research in the Health Sciences*. Bethesda (Maryland): National Institutes of Health.
- Creswell, John W., William E. Hanson, Vicki L. Clark Plano, and Alejandro Morales. 2007a. "Qualitative Research Designs: Selection and Implementation." *The Counseling Psychologist* 35 (2): 236–264. doi:10.1177/0011000006287390.
- Creswell, John W., and Vicki L. Plano Clark. 2007b. "Choosing a Mixed Methods Design." In *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*, edited by Lisa Cuevas Shaw, 79–83. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, John W, Vicki L. Plano Clark, Michelle L. Gutmann, and William E. Hanson.
  2003. "An Expanded Typology for Classifying Mixed Methods Research into Designs." In *ndbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral*, edited by A. Tashakkori and C. Teddlie, 209–40. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crozier, Sarah E., and Helen Woolnough. 2020. "Is Age Just a Number? Credibility and Identity of Younger Academics in UK Business Schools." *Management Learning* 51 (2): 149–67. doi:10.1177/1350507619878807.
- Cui, Weilin, Guoguang Cao, Jung Ho Park, Qin Ouyang, and Yingxin Zhu. 2013. "Influence of Indoor Air Temperature on Human Thermal Comfort, Motivation and Performance." *Building and Environment* 68: 114–22. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.06.012.
- Currie, Jan, and Joan Eveline. 2011. "E-Technology and Work/Life Balance for Academics with Young Children." *Higher Education* 62 (4): 533–50. doi:10.1007/s10734-010-9404-9.
- Cuttle, C. 2013. "A New Direction for General Lighting Practice." *Lighting Research & Technology* 45 (1): 22–39. doi:10.1177/1477153512469201.
- Craik, K.H. 1966. *The Prospects for an Environmental Psychology*. Berkeley, Ca: University of California Press.

- Dane, Jo 2017. *New Frontiers in Designing the Academic Workplace*. Adelaide: Woods Bagot Pty Ltd. https://d2um9prq37tvxi.cloudfront.net/store/39941fd571806641ae36b65d8619b2f3.pdf
- Danielsson, Christina Bodin, and Lennart Bodin. 2008. "Office Type in Relation to Health, Well-Being, and Job Satisfaction Among Employees." *Environment and Behavior* 40 (5): 636–68. doi:10.1177/0013916507307459.
- De Croon, Einar, Judith Sluiter, P Paul Kuijer, and Monique Frings-Dresen. 2005. "The Effect of Office Concepts on Worker Health and Performance: a Systematic Review of the Literature." *Ergonomics* 48 (2): 119–34. doi:10.1080/00140130512331319409.
- De Dear, Richard J. 2012. "Shivering in Summer? Sweating in Winter? Your Building Is Living a Lie." The Conversation. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://theconversation.com/shivering-in-summer-sweating-in-winter-your-buildingis-living-a-lie-9194
- de Dear, Richard J., and Gail S. Brager. 2002. "Thermal Comfort in Naturally Ventilated Buildings: Revisions to ASHRAE Standard 55." *Energy and Buildings* 34 (6): 549–61. doi:10.1016/s0378-7788(02)00005-1.
- Deem, Rosemary. 2006. "Changing Research Perspectives on the Management of Higher Education: Can Research Permeate the Activities of Manager-Academics?" *Higher Education Quarterly* 60 (3): 203–28. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2273.2006.00322.x.
- Deloitte Access Economics. 2016. *The Value of International Education to Australia*: Australian Government Department of Education and Training. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://internationaleducation.gov.au/research/research-papers/Documents/ValueInternationalEd.pdf
- Denson, Thomas F., Marija Spanovic, and Norman Miller. 2009. "Cognitive Appraisals and Emotions Predict Cortisol and Immune Responses: A Meta-Analysis of Acute Laboratory Social Stressors and Emotion Inductions." *Psychological Bulletin* 135 (6): 823–53. doi:10.1037/a0016909.
- Denzin, Norman K. 2012. "Triangulation 2.0." *Journal of Mixed Methods Research* 6 (2): 80–88. doi:10.1177/1558689812437186.
- Desmet, Pieter M.A. 2002. "Designing Emotions" (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands, 2002).
- Desmet, Pieter M.A., Paul Hekkert, and Jan J Jacobs. 2000. "When a Car Makes You Smile: Development and Application of an Instrument to Measure Product Emotions

Advances in Consumer Research 27: 111–17. https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/8369/volumes/v27/NA-27

- Di Blasio, Sonja, Louena Shtrepi, Giuseppina Puglisi, and Arianna Astolfi. 2019. "A Cross-Sectional Survey on the Impact of Irrelevant Speech Noise on Annoyance, Mental Health and Well-Being, Performance and Occupants' Behavior in Shared and Open-Plan Offices." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 16 (2): 280. doi:10.3390/ijerph16020280.
- Dimotakis, Nikolaos, Brent A. Scott, and Joel Koopman. 2011. "An Experience Sampling Investigation of Workplace Interactions, Affective States, and Employee Well-Being." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 32 (4): 572–88. doi:10.1002/job.722.
- Dobre, Ovidiu-Iliuta. 2013. "Employee Motivation and Organizational Performance." *Review* of Applied Socio-Economic Research 5 (1): 53–60. https://EconPapers.repec.org/RePEc:rse:wpaper:v:5:y:2013:i:1:p:53-60
- Duffy, Francis. 1992. The Changing Workplace: New York: Phaidon Press.
- Duffy, Francis. 1999. The New Office. 2nd Ed. London: Conran Octopus Limited.
- Duffy, Jeanne F, and Kenneth P Wright Jr. 2005. "Entrainment of the Human Circadian System by Light." *Journal of biological rhythms* 20 (4): 326–338. doi: 10.1177/0748730405277983
- Duncan, Roderick, Kerry Tilbrook, and Branka Krivokapic-Skoko. 2015. "Does Academic Work Make Australian Academics Happy?" *Australian Universities' Review* 57 (1): 5-12. Acccessed 26 April, 2021. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1053517.pdf
- Durak, Ayşe, Nilgün Camgöz Olguntürk, Cengiz Yener, Dilek Güvenç, and Yusuf Gürçınar. 2007. "Impact of Lighting Arrangements and Illuminances on Different Impressions of a Room." *Building and Environment* 42 (10): 3476–82. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.10.048.
- Ekman, Paul. 1992. "Are There Basic Emotions?" *Psychological Review* 99 (3): 550–53. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.99.3.550.
- Evans, Gary W., and Dana Johnson. 2000. "Stress and Open-Office Noise." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 85 (5): 779–83. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.85.5.779.
- Fanghanel Joëlle. 2012. Being an Academic. Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Fassoulis, Konstantinos, and Nikolaos Alexopoulos. 2015. "The Workplace as a Factor of Job Satisfaction and Productivity." *Journal of Facilities Management* 13 (4): 332–49. doi:10.1108/jfm-06-2014-0018.

- Fayard, A, and John Weeks. 2011. "Who Moved My Cube." *Harvard Business Review* 89 (7/8): 102–10. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://hbr.org/2011/07/who-moved-my-cube
- Fink, I. 2005. Offices on Campus. Facilites Manager. 21 (3). Accessed April 26, 2021. https://archive.appa.org/FacilitiesManager/article.cfm?ItemNumber=2293&parentid= 2286

Fischer, Gustave-Nicolas. 1989. Psychologie Des Espaces De Travail. Paris: Armand Colin.

- Fisher, Cynthia D., and Christopher S. Noble. 2004. "A Within-Person Examination of Correlates of Performance and Emotions While Working." *Human Performance* 17 (2): 145–68. doi:10.1207/s15327043hup1702\_2.
- Flynn, John E., Terry J. Spencer, Osyp Martyniuk, and Clyde Hendrick. 1973. "Interim Study of Procedures for Investigating the Effect of Light on Impression and Behavior." *Journal of the Illuminating Engineering Society* 3 (1): 87–94. doi:10.1080/00994480.1973.10732231.
- Frey, Carl Benedikt, and Michael A. Osborne. 2017. "The Future of Employment: How Susceptible Are Jobs to Computerisation?" *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 114: 254–80. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2016.08.019.
- Friedmann, Aron, Craig Zimring, and Ervin H. Zube. 1978. *Environmental Design Evaluation*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Frontczak, M., S. Schiavon, J. Goins, E. Arens, H. Zhang, and P. Wargocki. 2012. "Quantitative Relationships between Occupant Satisfaction and Satisfaction Aspects of Indoor Environmental Quality and Building Design." *Indoor Air* 22 (2): 119–31. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0668.2011.00745.x.
- Gagné, Marylène, and Edward L. Deci. 2005. "Self-Determination Theory and Work Motivation." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 26 (4): 331–62. doi:10.1002/job.322.
- Gaskell, A. 2018. "How Open Plan Offices Impact Collaboration." Forbes. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.forbes.com/sites/adigaskell/2018/08/06/how-open-plan-offices-impact-collaboration.
- Gaston Frenken, Koen, J. Heimeriks, and Jarno Hoekman. 2017. "What Drives University Research Performance? An Analysis Using the CWTS Leiden Ranking Data." *Journal of Informetrics* 11 (3): 859–72. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2017.06.006.
- Gastelaars, Marja. 2010. "What Do Buildings Do? How Buildings-in-Use Affect Organizations." In Organizational Spaces: Rematerializing the Workaday World. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar: 77–95.

- Gifford, Robert. 2014. "Environmental Psychology Matters." *Annual Review of Psychology* 65 (1): 541–79. doi:10.1146ff/annurev-psych-010213-115048.
- Golafshani, Nahid. 2003. "Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research." *The Qualitative Report* 8 (4): 597–606. doi:10.46743/2160-3715/2003.1870.
- Gorgievski, Marjan J., Theo J.M. van der Voordt, Sanne G.A. van Herpen, and Sophie van Akkeren. 2010. "After the Fire." *Facilities* 28 (3/4): 206–24. doi:10.1108/02632771011023159.
- Greene, C., and J. Myerson. 2011. "Space for Thought: Designing for Knowledge Workers." *Facilities* 29 (1): 19–30. doi:10.1108/02632771111101304.
- Guba, Egon G., and Yvonna S. Lincoln. 1989. *Fourth Generation Evaluation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Guetterman, Timothy C., and Michael D. Fetters. 2018. "Two Methodological Approaches to the Integration of Mixed Methods and Case Study Designs: A Systematic Review." *American Behavioral Scientist* 62 (7): 900–918. doi:10.1177/0002764218772641.
- Haapakangas, Annu, David M. Hallman, Svend Erik Mathiassen, and Helena Jahncke. 2018.
  "Self-Rated Productivity and Employee Well-Being in Activity-Based Offices: The Role of Environmental Perceptions and Workspace Use." *Building and Environment* 145: 115–24. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.09.017.
- Haapakangas, Annu, Valtteri Hongisto, Mervi Eerola, and Tuomas Kuusisto. 2017.
  "Distraction Distance and Perceived Disturbance by Noise—An Analysis of 21 Open-Plan Offices." *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 141 (1): 127–36. doi:10.1121/1.4973690.
- Haller, K. 2017. "Colour in Interior Design." In *Colour Design*, 317–48. Elsevier. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-101270-3.00014-X.
- Halloran, Lucille, and Catherine Friday. 2018. *Can the Universities of Today Lead Learning for Tomorrow? The University of the Future*. EYGM Limited. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://assets.ey.com/content/dam/ey-sites/ey-com/en\_au/topics/governmentand-public-sector/ey-university-of-the-future-2030.pdf
- Hameed, Amina, and Shehla Amjad. 2009. "Impact of Office Design on Employees Productivity: A Case Study of Banking Organizations of Abbottabad, Pakistan." *Journal of Public Affairs Administration and Management* 3 (1): 1–13. https://www.academia.edu/4990880/Impact\_of\_Office\_Design\_on\_Employees\_Productivity\_A\_Case\_study\_of\_Banking\_Organizations\_of\_Abbottabad\_Pakistan

- Hammarberg, K., M. Kirkman, and S. de Lacey. 2016. "Qualitative Research Methods: When to Use Them and How to Judge Them." *Human Reproduction* 31 (3): 498–501. doi:10.1093/humrep/dev334.
- Hassell. 2016. "What If Academics Interacted as Much as Students?: A Review of Academic Workplace Design." Hassell. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.hassellstudio.com/uploads/RP\_20200130\_WhatIfAcademics\_FINAL-LR.pdf

Hassel. 2020 "The Future Academic Workplace a Literature Review." Hassell. https://www.hassellstudio.com/uploads/FutureAcademicWorkplace.pdf

- Haynes, Barry P, C. Greene, and J. Myerson. 2011. "Space for Thought: Designing for Knowledge Workers." *Facilities*. 29 (1/2): 19–30. doi: 10.1108/02632771111101304
- Haynes, Barry, Louise Suckley, and Nick Nunnington. 2017. "Workplace Productivity and Office Type." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 19 (2): 111–38. doi:10.1108/jcre-11-2016-0037.
- Heerwagen, Judith .H., Kevin Kelly, and Kevin Kampschroer. (2016). "Changing Nature of Organisations, Work and Workplace". Whole Building Design Guide. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.wbdg.org/resources/changing-nature-organizations-work-andworkplace.
- Heinzerling, David, Stefano Schiavon, Tom Webster, and Ed Arens. 2013. "Indoor Environmental Quality Assessment Models: A Literature Review and a Proposed Weighting and Classification Scheme." *Building and Environment* 70: 210–22. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.08.027.
- Hellwig, Runa Tabea. 2015. "Perceived Control in Indoor Environments: a Conceptual Approach." *Building Research & Information* 43 (3): 302–15. doi:10.1080/09613218.2015.1004150.
- Henry, Richard, Stephen Marshall, and Prem Ramburuth, eds. 2013. *Improving Assessment in Higher Education: A Whole of Institution Approach*. Sydney: UNSW Press.
- Hessler, Richard Michael. 1992. *Social Research Methods*. St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.
- Highsmith, Carol M. 2011. "Work area at the Johnson Wax Building, headquarters of the S.C. Johnson and Son Co., Racine, Wisconsin". PICRYL. https://picryl.com/media/work-area-at-the-johnson-wax-building-headquarters-of-thesc-johnson-and-son

- Hjalmarsson, Annica K., and Anna M. Dåderman. 2020. "Relationship between Emotional Intelligence, Personality, and Self-Perceived Individual Work Performance: A Cross-Sectional Study on the Swedish Version of TEIQue-SF." *Current Psychology*. doi:10.1007/s12144-020-00753-w.
- Hofbauer, Johanna. 2000. "Bodies in a Landscape: On Office Design and Organization." Body and Organization Body and Organization, 166–91. doi:10.4135/9781446218303.n9.
- Hoffmann, Georg, Veronika Gufler, Andrea Griesmacher, Christian Bartenbach, Markus Canazei, Siegmund Staggl, and Wolfgang Schobersberger. 2008. "Effects of Variable Lighting Intensities and Colour Temperatures on Sulphatoxymelatonin and Subjective Mood in an Experimental Office Workplace." *Applied Ergonomics* 39 (6): 719–28. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2007.11.005.
- Hofmann, Stefan G., Alice T. Sawyer, Angela Fang, and Anu Asnaani. 2012. "Emotion Dysregulation Model of Mood and Anxiety Disorders." *Depression and Anxiety* 29 (5): 409–16. doi:10.1002/da.21888.
- Holden, Mary T., and Patrick Lynch. 2004. "Choosing the Appropriate Methodology: Understanding Research Philosophy." *The Marketing Review* 4 (4): 397–409. doi:10.1362/1469347042772428.
- Holmberg-Wright, Kristin, Tracy Hribar, and Jennifer D. Tsegai. 2017. "More Than Money: Business Strategies to Engage Millennials." *Business Education Innovation Journal* 9 (2): 14–23. http://www.beijournal.com/images/2\_V9N2\_final\_2-2.pdf
- Hongisto, Valtteri, Annu Haapakangas, Johanna Varjo, Riikka Helenius, and Hannu Koskela. 2016. "Refurbishment of an Open-Plan Office – Environmental and Job Satisfaction." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 45: 176–91. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.12.004.
- Hotchi, T, AT Hodgson, and William J. Fisk. 2006. "Indoor Air Quality Impacts of a Peak Load Shedding Strategy for a Large Retail Building." *LBNL Report*, no. January. <u>http://eetd.lbl.gov/ie/pdf/LBNL-59293.pdf</u>.
- Hou, Ya-Wen, and Jacob, W. James. 2017. "What contributes more to the ranking of higher education institutions? A comparison of three world university rankings."
  International Education Journal: Comparative Perspectives 16, no. 4: 29-46. https://openjournals.library.sydney.edu.au/index.php/IEJ
- Howitz-Bennett, B. 2014. *Staff Supports: Designing Optimal Healthcare Environment* Healthcare Design Magazine. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://healthcaredesignmagazine.com/trends/architecture/staff-support-designingoptimal-healthcare-work-environments/

- Hughes, Jason. 2007 Office Design Is Key to Employee Productivity. Hughes Marino. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://hughesmarino.com/sandiego/blog/2007/07/02/office-design-is-key-to-employee-productivity/
- Huizenga, C, S Abbaszadeh, Leah Zagreus, and Edward A Arens. 2006. "Air Quality and Thermal Comfort in Office Buildings: Results of a Large Indoor Environmental Quality Survey." *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2006, Lisbon.* 3: 393–97. <u>http://escholarship.org/uc/item/7897g2f8</u>
- Hurdley, Rachel. 2010. "The Power of Corridors: Connecting Doors, Mobilising Materials, Plotting Openness." *Sociological Review* 58 (1): 45–64. doi:10.1111/j.1467-954X.2009.01876.x.
- Ibrahim, Anwar, Hikmat Ali, Aroub Zghoul, and Suha Jaradat. 2021. "Mood State and Human Evaluation of the Thermal Environment Using Virtual Settings." *Indoor and Built Environment* 30 (1): 70–86. doi:10.1177/1420326x19880325.
- Innes, Malcolm. 2012. *Lighting for Interior Design (Portfolio Skills)*. London: Laurence King Publishing.
- Jahncke, Helena, Staffan Hygge, Niklas Halin, Anne Marie Green, and Kenth Dimberg. 2011. "Open-Plan Office Noise: Cognitive Performance and Restoration." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 31 (4): 373–82. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2011.07.002.
- Johnson, R. Burke, and Larry Christensen. 2017. "Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches" Sage publications (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA.
- Jones, Fiona, Daryl B O'connor, Mark Conner, Brian McMillan, and Eamonn Ferguson. 2007. "Impact of Daily Mood, Work Hours, and Iso-Strain Variables on Self-Reported Health Behaviors." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 92 (6): 1731–40. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92.6.1731.
- Junaibi, Arwa A. Al, Eman J. Al Zaabi, Reem Nassif, and Emad Mushtaha. 2017.
  "Daylighting in Educational Buildings: Its Effects on Students and How to Maximize Its Performance in the Architectural Engineering Department of the University of Sharjah." In *3rd International Sustainable Buildings Symposium (ISBS 2017)*, 6:141– 59. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-63709-9\_11.
- Kaarlela-Tuomaala, A., R. Helenius, E. Keskinen, and V. Hongisto. 2009. "Effects of Acoustic Environment on Work in Private Office Rooms and Open-Plan Offices – Longitudinal Study during Relocation." *Ergonomics* 52 (11): 1423–44. doi:10.1080/00140130903154579.

- Kang, Shengxian, Dayi Ou, and Cheuk Ming Mak. 2017. "The Impact of Indoor Environmental Quality on Work Productivity in University Open-Plan Research Offices." *Building and Environment* 124: 78–89. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2017.07.003.
- Katabaro, Justine Mushobozi, and Yonghong Yan. 2019. "Effects of Lighting Quality on Working Efficiency of Workers in Office Building in Tanzania." *Journal of Environmental and Public Health* 2019: 1–12. doi:10.1155/2019/3476490.
- Kaufmann-Buhler, Jennifer. 2020. "Politics and Logistics of Ergonomic Design." Making Disability Modern: Design Histories, edited by Elizabeth Guffey and Bess
   Williamson, 177–92. London: Bloomsbury Visual Arts. doi:10.5040/9781350070462.ch-010
- Khalil, Natasha, and Husrul N. Husin. 2009. "Post Occupancy Evaluation towards Indoor Environment Improvement in Malaysia's Office Buildings." *Journal of Sustainable Development* 2 (1): 186–91. doi:10.5539/jsd.v2n1p186.
- Kim, Jungsoo, and Richard de Dear. 2019. "Employee Satisfaction and the Quality of Workplace Environment." In Organizational Behaviour and the Physical Environment, 17. Routledge.
- Kim, Jeonghwan, Seung Hyun Cha, Choongwan Koo, and Shiu-keung Tang. 2018. "The Effects of Indoor Plants and Artificial Windows in an Underground Environment." *Building and Environment* 138: 53–62. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.04.029.
- Kim, Jungsoo, and Richard de Dear. 2013. "Workspace Satisfaction: The Privacy-Communication Trade-off in Open-Plan Offices." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 36: 18–26. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.06.007.
- Kim, Seok Eun. 2014. "Physical Workplace as a Strategic Asset for Improving Performance in Public Organizations." *Administration & Society* 46 (5): 496–518. doi:10.1177/0095399713479104.
- Knez, Igor, and Christina Kers. 2000. "Effects of Indoor Lighting, Gender, and Age on Mood and Cognitive Performance." *Environment and Behavior* 32 (6): 817–31. doi:10.1177/0013916500326005.
- Ko, Won Hee, Stefano Schiavon, Hui Zhang, Lindsay T. Graham, Gail Brager, Iris Mauss, and Yu-Wen Lin. 2020. "The Impact of a View from a Window on Thermal Comfort, Emotion, and Cognitive Performance." *Building and Environment* 175: 106779. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2020.106779.

Kotlyarov, Anton. 2015. History of the Office. Milan: Politecnico di Milano.

- Küller, Rikard, Byron Mikellides, and Jan Janssens. 2009. "Color, Arousal, and Performance-A Comparison of Three Experiments." *Color Research & Application* 34 (2): 141–52. doi:10.1002/col.20476.
- Küller, Rikard, Seifeddin Ballal, Thorbjörn Laike, Byron Mikellides, and Graciela Tonello. 2006. "The Impact of Light and Colour on Psychological Mood: a Cross-Cultural Study of Indoor Work Environments." *Ergonomics* 49 (14): 1496–1507. doi:10.1080/00140130600858142.
- Kwallek, N., and C.M. Lewis. 1990. "Effects of Environmental Colour on Males and Females: A Red or White or Green Office." *Applied Ergonomics* 21 (4): 275–78. doi:10.1016/0003-6870(90)90197-6.
- Kwiek, Marek, and Dominik Antonowicz. 2013. "Academic Work, Working Conditions and Job Satisfaction." In *The Work Situation of the Academic Profession in Europe: Findings of a Survey in Twelve Countries*, 37–54. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5977-0\_3.
- Kwon, Minyoung, Hilde Remøy, Andy van den Dobbelsteen, and Ulrich Knaack. 2019.
  "Personal Control and Environmental User Satisfaction in Office Buildings: Results of Case Studies in the Netherlands." *Building and Environment* 149: 428–35. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.12.021.
- "Larkin Administration Building / Frank Lloyd Wright / Buffalo, New York / 1904-06". 2016. flickr. https://www.flickr.com/photos/143771393@N04/30944568220/in/photostream/
- Lamb, S., and K.C.S. Kwok. 2016. "A Longitudinal Investigation of Work Environment Stressors on the Performance and Wellbeing of Office Workers." *Applied Ergonomics* 52: 104–11. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2015.07.010.
- Lan, Li, and Zhiwei Lian. 2009. "Use of Neurobehavioral Tests to Evaluate the Effects of Indoor Environment Quality on Productivity." *Building and Environment* 44 (11): 2208–17. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.02.001.
- Lan, Li, Zhiwei Lian, and Li Pan. 2010. "The Effects of Air Temperature on Office Workers' Well-Being, Workload and Productivity-Evaluated with Subjective Ratings." *Applied Ergonomics* 42 (1): 29–36. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2010.04.003.
- Lancione, Michele, and Stewart Clegg. 2013. "The Chronotopes of Change: Actor-Networks in a Changing Business School." *Journal of Change Management* 13 (2): 117–42. doi:10.1080/14697017.2012.753930.

- Landström, Ulf, Elisabeth Åkerlund, Anders Kjellberg, and Maria Tesarz. 1995. "Exposure Levels, Tonal Components, and Noise Annoyance in Working Environments." *Environment International* 21 (3): 265–75. doi:10.1016/0160-4120(95)00017-f.
- Landy, Frank J. 1989. *Psychology of Work Behavior*: Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company
- Lang, Peter J. 1980. "Behavioral Treatment and Bio-Behavioral Assessment: Computer Applications." In *Technology in Mental Health Care Delivery Systems*, edited by Joseph B. Sidowski, James. H. Johnson, & Thomas A. Williams, 119–67. Norwood, NY: Ablex.
- Lansdale, Mark, Jennifer Parkin, Simon Austin, and Thom Baguley. 2011. "Designing for Interaction in Research Environments: A Case Study." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 31 (4): 407–20. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2011.05.006.
- Leaman, Adrian, and Bill Bordass. 2007. "Are Users More Tolerant of 'Green' Buildings?" *Building Research & Information* 35 (6): 662–73. doi:10.1080/09613210701529518.
- Leathwood, Carole, and Valerie Hey. 2009. "Gender/Ed Discourses and Emotional Sub-Texts: Theorising Emotion in UK Higher Education." *Teaching in Higher Education* 14 (4): 429–40. doi:10.1080/13562510903050194.
- Lee, Jin-Soo, Ki-Joon Back, and Eric S.W. Chan. 2015. "Quality of Work Life and Job Satisfaction among Frontline Hotel Employees." *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management* 27 (5): 768–89. doi:10.1108/ijchm-11-2013-0530.
- Lee, Young S., and Denise A. Guerin. 2009. "Indoor Environmental Quality Related to Occupant Satisfaction and Performance in LEED-Certified Buildings." *Indoor and Built Environment* 18 (4): 293–300. doi:10.1177/1420326x09105455.
- Lee, Young S., and Francesco Aletta. 2019. "Acoustical Planning for Workplace Health and Well-Being: A Case Study in Four Open-Plan Offices." *Building Acoustics* 26 (3): 207–20. doi: 10.1177/1351010X19868546.
- Lee, Young S., and J. L. Brand. 2010. "Can Personal Control over the Physical Environment Ease Distractions in Office Workplaces?" *Ergonomics* 53 (3): 324–35. doi:10.1080/00140130903389019.
- Lee, Young S., and Suk-Kyung Kim. 2008. "Indoor Environmental Quality in Leed-Certified Buildings in the Us." *Journal of Asian Architecture and Building Engineering* 7 (2): 293–300. doi:10.3130/jaabe.7.293

- Lindberg, Casey M, Karthik Srinivasan, Brian Gilligan, Javad Razjouyan, Hyoki Lee, Bijan Najafi, Kelli J Canada, et al. 2018. "Effects of Office Workstation Type on Physical Activity and Stress." *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 75 (10): 689–95. doi:10.1136/oemed-2018-105077.
- Lou, Huading, and Dayi Ou. 2019. "A Comparative Field Study of Indoor Environmental Quality in Two Types of Open-Plan Offices: Open-Plan Administrative Offices and Open-Plan Research Offices." *Building and Environment* 148: 394–404. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.11.022.
- Mahn, Jeffrey. 2015. "Video Dosimetry as a Method to Reduce Noise Induced Hearing Loss1)." *Noise Control Engineering Journal* 63 (4): 359–69. doi:10.3397/1/376332.
- Mak, C.M., and Y.P. Lui. 2012. "The Effect of Sound on Office Productivity." *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology* 33 (3): 339–45. doi:10.1177/0143624411412253.
- Malik, Nadeem. 2011. "A Study on Occupational Stress Experienced by Private and Public Banks Employees in Quetta City." *African Journal of Business Management* 5 (8): 3063–70. doi: 10.5897/AJBM10.199.
- Markova, Gergana, and Cameron Ford. 2011. "Is Money the Panacea? Rewards for Knowledge Workers." *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management* 60 (8): 813–23. doi:10.1108/17410401111182206.
- Markus, M. Lynne. 1989. "Case Selection in a Disconfirmatory Case Study." In *The information systems research challenge: Qualitative research methods*, edited by A.S. Lee and J. Liebenau, 20–26. Boston, Ma: Springer
- Marginson, Simon, and Marijk van der Wende. 2007. *Globalisation and Higher Education: OECD Education Working Papers. OECD Publishing (NJ1).* doi:10.1787/173831738240.
- Martens, Pim, and Mohsin Raza. 2010. "Is Globalisation Sustainable?" *Sustainability* 2 (1): 280–93. doi:10.3390/su2010280.
- Maslow, Abraham H. 1943. "A Theory of Human Motivation." *Psychological Review*, 50 (4): 370–96. doi:10.1037/h0054346
- McCoy, Janetta M., and Gary W Evans. 2005. "Physical Work Environment." In *Handbook* of work stress, edited by Julian Barling, E. Kevin Kelloway, and Michael R. Frone, 219–45. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- McNair, Douglas M., Maurice Lorr, and Leo F. Droppleman 1971. *Manual Profile of Mood States*. San Diego: Educational & Industrial testing Service.
- Medina, John J. 2008. Brain Rules. New York: Pear Press.
- Mehmetoglu, Mehmet, and Levent Altinay. 2006. "Examination of Grounded Theory Analysis with an Application to Hospitality Research." *International Journal of Hospitality Management* 25 (1): 12–33. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2004.12.002.
- Mehta, Cyrus R., and Nitin R. Patel. 1983. "A Network Algorithm for Performing Fisher's Exact Test in r × c Contingency Tables." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 78 (382): 427–34. doi:10.2307/2288652.
- Mehta, R., and R. Zhu. 2009. "Blue or Red? Exploring the Effect of Color on Cognitive Task Performances." *Science* 323 (5918): 1226–29. doi:10.1126/science.1169144.
- Miles, Matthew B., and Michael A. Huberman. 1994. *Qualitative Data Analysis: an Expanded Sourcebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Moezzi, Mithra, and John Goins. 2011. "Text Mining for Occupant Perspectives on the Physical Workplace." *Building Research & Information* 39 (2): 169–82. doi:10.1080/09613218.2011.556008.
- Moore, T, DJ Carter, and AI Slater. 2003. "Long-Term Patterns of Use of Occupant Controlled Office Lighting." *Lighting Research & Technology* 35 (1): 43–57. doi:10.1191/1477153503li061oa.
- Morfeld, Matthias, Corinna Petersen, Anja Krüger-Bödeker, Sylvia Von Mackensen, and Monika Bullinger. 2007. "The Assessment of Mood at Workplace-Psychometric Analyses of the Revised Profile of Mood States (Poms) Questionnaire." *GMS Psycho-Social Medicine* 4 (doc06). <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2736534/</u>
- Morgan, George A, Nancy L Leech, Gene W Gloeckner, and Karen C Barrett. 2004. SPSS for Introductory Statistics: Use and Interpretation. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Mujan, Igor, Aleksandar S Anđelković, Vladimir Munćan, Miroslav Kljajić, and Dragan Ružić. 2019. "Influence of Indoor Environmental Quality on Human Health and Productivity-a Review." *Journal of cleaner production* 217: 646-657.
- Mujeebu, Muhammad Abdul. 2019. "Introductory Chapter: Indoor Environmental Quality." Indoor Environmental Quality.
- Muller, Matthew D., Sarah M. Muller, Edward J. Ryan, David M. Bellar, Chul Ho Kim, and Ellen L. Glickman. 2011. "Pain and Thermal Sensation in the Cold: The Effect of

Interval versus Continuous Exercise." *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 111 (6): 979–87. doi:10.1007/s00421-010-1726-x.

- Mulville, Mark, Nicola Callaghan, and David Isaac. 2016. "The Impact of the Ambient Environment and Building Configuration on Occupant Productivity in Open-Plan Commercial Offices." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*.
- NABERS. 2015. Indoor Environment for Offices:Rules for Colleciting and Using Data. Sydney: Office of Environment and Hertiage https://www.nabers.gov.au/file/1336/download?token=zkaI5EUH
- Noble, Helen, and Roberta Heale. 2019. "Triangulation in Research, with Examples." *Evidence-Based Nursing* 22 (3): 67–68. doi:10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145.
- Nosworthy, Phill. 2015. *The Future of Management*. https://wheniwork.com/blog/millennials-in-the-workplace.
- Nelson, T. M., T. H. Nilsson, and M. Johnson. 1984. "Interaction of Temperature, Illuminance and Apparent Time on Sedentary Work Fatigue." *Ergonomics* 27 (1): 89– 101. doi:10.1080/00140138408963466.
- Neumann, Laura J. 1999. "Paper, Piles, and Computer Files: Folklore of Information Work Environments." *Library Trends* 47 (1): 439–69. https://www.ideals.illinois.edu/bitstream/handle/2142/8232/librarytrendsv47i3i\_opt.p df?isAllowed=y&sequence=1
- Neuman, William L. (2003). *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches*. 5th edn. Boston: Allyn and Bacon
- Newsham, Guy. R. 2003. *The Open-Plan Office a Better Place to Work*. National Research Council of Canada. https://nrc-publications.canada.ca/eng/view/object/?id=2a1d5a23ba4e-4908-af48-ffbd66193cb8
- Newsham, Guy, Jay Brand, Cara Donnelly, Jennifer Veitch, Myriam Aries, and Kate Charles.
   2009. "Linking Indoor Environment Conditions to Job Satisfaction: a Field Study."
   *Building Research & Information* 37 (2): 129–47. doi:10.1080/09613210802710298.
- Nicol, Fergus, and Michael Humphreys. 2010. "Derivation of the Adaptive Equations for Thermal Comfort in Free-Running Buildings in European Standard EN15251." *Building and Environment* 45 (1): 11–17. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2008.12.013.

Norton, Bonny, and Peter I. De Costa. 2018. "Research Tasks on Identity in Language Learning and Teaching." *Language Teaching* 51 (1): 90–112. doi:10.1017/s0261444817000325.

Nunnally, Jum C. 1978. Psychometric Theory. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Oldman, Tim, and Peggie Rothe. 2017. "2017 Q1 Data Summary." In Leesman Review, 6-7.
- O'Neill, Michael J. 2007. *Measuring Workplace Performance*. 2nd ed. New York: Taylor and Francis.
  - 2008. Open Plan and Enclosed Private Offices. Knoll Workplace Research.
     Accessed April 26, 2021.
     https://www.knoll.com/document/1352940440109/OpenClosed\_Offices\_wp.pdf
- Oommen, V.G., M. Knowles, and I. Zhao. 2008. "Should Health Service Managers Embrace Open Plan Work Environments: A Review," *Journal of Health Management*. 3 (3): 37–43. https://eprints.qut.edu.au/16732/
- Ordenes, Pat 2019. "Higher Education Kpis Most Commonly Used Kpis." Sydney: Cascade. https://www.cascade.app/blog/higher-education-kpis
- Orel, Marko, and María del Alonso Almeida. 2019. "The Ambience of Collaboration in Coworking Environments." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 21 (4): 273–89. doi:10.1108/jcre-12-2018-0050.
- Osgood, Charles E., George J. Suci, and Percy H. Tannenbaum. 1957. *The Measurement of Meaning*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Östlund, Ulrika, Lisa Kidd, Yvonne Wengström, and Neneh Rowa-Dewar. 2011. "Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Research within Mixed Method Research Designs: A Methodological Review." *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 48 (3): 369–83. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2010.10.005.
- Park, Sang Hee, Pyoung Jik Lee, Byung Kwon Lee, Michael Roskams, and Barry P. Haynes. 2020. "Associations between Job Satisfaction, Job Characteristics, and Acoustic Environment in Open-Plan Offices." *Applied Acoustics* 168. Elsevier Ltd: 107425. doi:10.1016/j.apacoust.2020.107425.
- Parkin, Jennifer K., Simon A. Austin, James A. Pinder, Thom S. Baguley, and Simon N. Allenby. 2011. "Balancing Collaboration and Privacy in Academic Workspaces." *Facilities* 29 (1/2): 31–49. doi:10.1108/02632771111101313.
- Patton, Michael Quinn. 1990. *Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Pejtersen, Jan H., L. Allermann, T. S. Kristensen, and O. M. Poulsen. 2006. "Indoor Climate, Psychosocial Work Environment and Symptoms in Open-Plan Offices." *Indoor Air* 16 (5): 392–401. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0668.2006.00444.x.
- Pejtersen, Jan H., Helene Feveile, Karl B Christensen, and Hermann Burr. 2011. "Sickness Absence Associated with Shared and Open-Plan Offices – a National Cross Sectional Questionnaire Survey." *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 37 (5): 376–82. doi:10.5271/sjweh.3167.
- Pierrette, M., E. Parizet, P. Chevret, and J. Chatillon. 2015. "Noise Effect on Comfort in Open-Space Offices: Development of an Assessment Questionnaire." *Ergonomics* 58 (1): 96–106. doi:10.1080/00140139.2014.961972.
- Pinder, James, Jennifer Parker, Simon Austin, Fiona Duggan, Mark Lansdale, and Peter Demian, et al. 2009. *The Case for New Academic Workspace*. Loughborough University. https://hdl.handle.net/2134/6037
- Plackett, R. L. 1983. "Karl Pearson and the Chi-Squared Test." *International Statistical Review / Revue Internationale De Statistique* 51 (1): 59. doi:10.2307/1402731.
- Pochepan, Jeff. 2018. "How to keep three generations happy in your modern office." Inc. Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.inc.com/jeff-pochepan/how-to-keep-three-agegenerations-happy-in-your-modern-office.html
- Pratt, Michael G., and Anat Rafaeli. 2001. "Symbols as a Language of Organizational Relationships." *Research in Organizational Behavior* 23: 93–132. doi:10.1016/s0191-3085(01)23004-4.
- Preiser, Wolfgang. F.E. 1995. "Post-Occupancy Evaluation: How to Make Buildings Work Better." *Facilities* 13 (11): 19-28. doi:10.1108/02632779510097787.
- Preiser, Wolfgang F.E., and Jacqueline. C. Vischer. 2005. *Assessing Building Performance*. Oxford, UK: Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann
- Prentice, Mike, Eranda Jayawickreme, and William Fleeson. 2019. "Integrating Whole Trait Theory and Self-Determination Theory." *Journal of Personality* 87 (1): 56–69. doi:10.1111/jopy.12417.
- Pyett, Priscilla M. 2003. "Validation of Qualitative Research in the 'Real World."" *Qualitative Health Research* 13 (8): 1170–79. doi:10.1177/1049732303255686.
- Pyöriä, Pasi. 2005. "The Concept of Knowledge Work Revisited." *Journal of Knowledge Management* 9 (3): 116–27. doi:10.1108/13673270510602818.

- Radun, Jenni, Henna Maula, Ville Rajala, Mika Scheinin, and Valtteri Hongisto. 2021.
  "Speech Is Special: The Stress Effects of Speech, Noise, and Silence during Tasks Requiring Concentration." *Indoor Air* 31 (1): 264–74. doi:10.1111/ina.12733.
- Rahim, Marlisa Abdul, and Wan Norhayate Wan Daud. 2012. "A Proposed Conceptual Framework for Rewards and Motivation among Administrators of Higher Educational Provider in Malaysia." *International Journal of Business and Commerce* 1 (9): 67-78. https://www.ijbcnet.com/1-9/IJBC-12-1806.pdf
- Ramos-Villagrasa, Pedro J., Juan R. Barrada, Elena Fernández-del-Río, and Linda Koopmans. 2019. "Assessing Job Performance Using Brief Self-Report Scales: The Case of the Individual Work Performance Questionnaire." *Revista De Psicología Del Trabajo y De Las Organizaciones* 35 (3): 195–205. doi:10.5093/jwop2019a21.
- Rashid, Mahbub, Jean Wineman, and Craig Zimring. 2009. "Space, Behavior, and Environmental Perception in Open-Plan Offices: a Prospective Study." *Environment* and Planning B: Planning and Design 36 (3): 432–49. doi:10.1068/b33034.
- Rassia, Stamatina Th. 2017. "Office Building: A Brief Historical Overview." In *Workplace Environmental Design in Architecture for Public Health*, 9-15. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Richards, L. 2005. Handling Qualitative Data. London: Sage.
- Roskams, Michael, Barry Haynes, Pyoung-Jik Lee, and Sang-Hee Park. 2019. "Acoustic Comfort in Open-Plan Offices: the Role of Employee Characteristics." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 21 (3): 254–70. doi:10.1108/jcre-02-2019-0011.
- Rottenberg, Jonathan, James J. Gross, and Ian H. Gotlib. 2005. "Emotion Context Insensitivity in Major Depressive Disorder." *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 114 (4): 627–39. doi:10.1037/0021-843x.114.4.627.
- Rožman, Maja, Sonja Treven, and Vesna Cancer. 2017. "Motivation and Satisfaction of Employees in the Workplace." *Business Systems Research* 8 (2): 14–25. doi:10.1515/bsrj-2017-0013.
- Russell, James A., and Lisa Feldman Barrett. 1999. "Core Affect, Prototypical Emotional Episodes, and Other Things Called Emotion: Dissecting the Elephant." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 76 (5): 805–19. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.76.5.805.
- Ryan, Richard M., and Edward L. Deci. 2018. Self-Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development, and Wellness. New York: Guilford Press.

- Sadick, Abdul-Manan, Zoya Evans Kpamma, and Stephen Agyefi-Mensah. 2020. "Impact of Indoor Environmental Quality on Job Satisfaction and Self-Reported Productivity of University Employees in a Tropical African Climate." *Building and Environment* 181: 107102. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2020.107102.
- Salmi, Jamil. 2009. The Challenge of Establishing World-Class Universities. Directions in Development; Human Development. The World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2600
- Samani, Sanaz Ahmadpoor, Alireza Eskandari, Farahnaz Orojali Zadeh, and Jamshid Ebrahimpoor Samani. 2018. "The Impact of Environmental Design on Employee Performance at PNPI Group." *Global Business and Organizational Excellence* 37 (2): 41–48. doi:10.1002/joe.21841.
- Samani, Sanaz Ahmadpoor, Siti Zaleha Rasid, and Saudah bt Sofian. 2015. "Perceived Level of Personal Control Over the Work Environment and Employee Satisfaction and Work Performance." *Performance Improvement* 54 (9): 28–35. doi:10.1002/pfi.21499.
- Santisi, Giuseppe, Paola Magnano, Zira Hichy, and Tiziana Ramaci. 2014. "Metacognitive Strategies and Work Motivation in Teachers: An Empirical Study." *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences* 116: 1227–31. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.373.

Sarantakos, Sotirios. 2012. Social Research. London: Red Globe Press.

- Saunders, Mark Nk. 1997. "Research Methods for Business Students" Chapter 4: Understanding Research Philosophy and Approaches to Theory Development. Researchgate.Net. <u>www.pearson.com/uk</u>.
- Schoonenboom, Judith, and R. Burke Johnson. 2017. "Wie Man Ein Mixed Methods-Forschungs-Design Konstruiert." *Kolner Zeitschrift Fur Soziologie Und Sozialpsychologie* 69: 107–31. doi:10.1007/s11577-017-0454-1.
- Scottish Funding Council. 2006. Spaces for Learning: A Review of Learning Spaces in Further and Higher Education. AMA Alexi Marmot Associates. Accessed April 26, 2021. http://aleximarmot.com/userfiles/file/Spaces%20for%20learning.pdf
- Sekaran, Uma, and Roger Bougie. 2003. *Research Methods For Business: A Skill Building Approach*. 7th ed. John Wiley and Sons.
- Seppanen, Olli, William J. Fisk, and David Faulkner. 2004a. "Control of Temperature for Health and Productivity in Offices." *Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory*. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/39s1m92c
- Seppanen, Olli, William J Fisk, and Q.H. Lei. 2005. "Ventilation and Work Performance in Office Work." https://escholarship.org/uc/item/2374990t

- Shahzad, Sally, John Brennan, Dimitris Theodossopoulos, Ben Hughes, and John Kaiser Calautit. 2016. "A Study of the Impact of Individual Thermal Control on User Comfort in the Workplace: Norwegian Cellular vs. British Open Plan Offices." *Architectural Science Review* 60 (1): 49–61. doi:10.1080/00038628.2016.1235544.
- Silverman, David. 2001. *Interpreting Qualitative Data*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Simons, Helen. 2009. Case Study Research in Practice: New York: Sage Publications.
- Smith, Malcolm. 2019. Research Methods in Accounting: New York: Sage Publications.
- Smith-Jackson, Tonya L., and Katherine W. Klein. 2009. "Open-Plan Offices: Task Performance and Mental Workload." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 29 (2): 279–89. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2008.09.002.
- SMG. 2006. *Space Utilization: Practice, Performance and Guidelines*. UK Higher Education Space Management Group (SMG) http://www.smg.ac.uk/documents/utilisation.pdf
- Smolders, Karin C.H.J., and Yvonne A.W. de Kort. 2014. "Bright Light and Mental Fatigue: Effects on Alertness, Vitality, Performance and Physiological Arousal." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 39: 77–91. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.12.010.
- Smollan, Roy K. 2015. "Causes of Stress before, during and after Organizational Change: A Qualitative Study." *Journal of Organizational Change Management* 28 (2): 301–14. doi:10.1108/JOCM-03-2014-0055.
- So Albert T.P., and L. M. Leung. 1998. "Indoor Lighting Design Incorporating Human Psychology." *Architectural Science Review* 41 (3): 113–24. doi:10.1080/00038628.1998.9697420.
- Sorokowski, Piotr, Andrzej Szmajke, Takeshi Hamamura, Feng Jiang, and Agnieszka Sorokowska. 2014. "Red Wins', 'Black Wins' and 'Blue Loses' Effects Are in the Eye of Beholder, but They Are Culturally Universal: A Cross-Cultural Analysis of the Influence of Outfit Colours on Sports Performance." *Polish Psychological Bulletin* 45 (3): 318–25. doi:10.2478/ppb-2014-0039.
- Standards Australia/Standards New Zealand. 2000. "Australian / New Zealand Standard <sup>™</sup>: Acoustics — Recommended Design Sound Levels and Reverberation Times for Building Interiors (AS/NZS 2107:2000) Australian/New."
- Standards Australia/Standards New Zealand. 2008. "Interior and Workplace Lighting. Part 2.2: Specific Applications—Office and Screen-Based Tasks (Vol. AS/NZS 1680.2.2:2008).

- Standards Australia/Standards New Zealand. 2012. "The use of ventlation and air conditioning in building- Mecanical ventlation "—Office and Screen-Based Tasks (Vol. AS/1668.2-2012).
- Stets, Jan E. 2010. "Future Directions in the Sociology of Emotions." *Emotion Review* 2 (3): 265–68. doi:10.1177/1754073910361975.
- Stone, Nancy J. 2001. "Designing Effective Study Environments." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 21 (2): 179–90. doi:10.1006/jevp.2000.0193.
- Stone, Nancy J., and Anthony J. English. 1998. "Task Type, Posters, and Workspace Color on Mood, Satisfaction, and Performance." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 18 (2): 175–85. doi:10.1006/jevp.1998.0084.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1987. *Qualitative Analysis for Social Scientists*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Strauss, Anselm L., and Juliet M. Corbin. 1990. *Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sundstrom, E. 1978. "Crowding as a Sequential Process:Review of Research on the Effects of Density on Humans " In *Human Response to Crowding*, edited by Andrew E. Baum and Yakov M. Esptein, 31-116. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Sundstrom, E., Sundstrom, M.G. 1986. Work Places: The Psychology of the Physical Environment in Offices and Factories Environment and Behavior Series. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sundstrom, Eric, R., Kring Herbert, and David W. Brown. 1982. "Privacy and Communication in an Open-Plan Office: A Case Study." *Environment and Behavior* 14 (3): 379-92. doi:10.1177/0013916582143007

Sutermeister, Robert A. 1976. People and Productivity. 3rd Edn. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Tanabe, Shin-ichi, Naoe Nishihara, and Masaoki Haneda. 2007. "Indoor Temperature, Productivity, and Fatigue in Office Tasks." *HVAC&R Research* 13 (4): 623–33. doi:10.1080/10789669.2007.10390975.
- Tashakkori, Abbas, Charles Teddlie, and Charles B Teddlie. 1998. *Mixed Methodology: Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches*. 46. New York: Sage Publications.
- Teichler, Ulrich, and Ester Ava Höhle. 2013. "The Work Situation of the Academic Profession in Europe: Findings of a Survey in Twelve Countries." *The Work Situation*

of the Academic Profession in Europe: Findings of a Survey in Twelve Countries, 1–290. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5977-0.

- Thatcher, Andrew, and Karen Milner. 2012. "The Impact of a 'Green' Building on Employees' Physical and Psychological Wellbeing." *Work* 41: 3816–23. doi:10.3233/wor-2012-0683-3816.
- Todd, Zazie, Brigitte Nerlich, Suzanne McKeown, and David D. Clarke. 2004. *Mixing Methods in Psychology: The Integration of Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Theory and Practice*: Hove: Psychology Press.
- Toftum, Jørn, Søren Lund, Jesper Kristiansen, and Geo Clausen. 2012. "Effect of Open-Plan Office Noise on Occupant Comfort and Performance" 10th International Conference on Healthy Buildings. https://backend.orbit.dtu.dk/ws/portalfiles/portal/51557775/6E.1.pdf
- Torres, Russell, and Anna Sidorova. 2015. "The Effect of Business Process Configurations on User Motivation." *Business Process Management Journal* 21 (3): 541–63. doi:10.1108/bpmj-09-2013-0131.
- Tuli, Fekede. 2010. "The Basis of Distinction between Qualitative and Quantitative Research in Social Science: Reflection on Ontological, Epistemological and Methodological Perspectives." *Ethiopian Journal of Education and Sciences* 6 (1). doi: 10.4314/ejesc.v6i1.65384
- Valks, Bart, Monique H. Arkesteijn, Alexandra C. Den Heijer, and Herman J.M. Vande Putte. 2018. "Smart Campus Tools – Adding Value to the University Campus by Measuring Space Use Real-Time." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 20 (2): 103–16. doi:10.1108/JCRE-03-2017-0006.
- Valks, Bart, Elizabeth Blokland, Paul Uiterdijk, Monique Arkesteijn, and Alexander Koutamanis. 2021. "Supporting Strategic Decision- Making on the Future Campus with Space Utilisation Studies : A Case Study." doi:10.1108/PM-09-2020-0054.
- van der Voordt, Theo J.M. 2004. "Productivity and Employee Satisfaction in Flexible Workplaces." *Journal of Corporate Real Estate* 6 (2): 133–48. doi:10.1108/14630010410812306.
- Varjo, Johanna, Valtteri Hongisto, Annu Haapakangas, Henna Maula, Hannu Koskela, and Jukka Hyönä. 2015. "Simultaneous Effects of Irrelevant Speech, Temperature and Ventilation Rate on Performance and Satisfaction in Open-Plan Offices." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 44: 16–33. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.08.001.

- Vassie, Ken, and Miles Richardson. 2017. "Effect of Self-Adjustable Masking Noise on Open-Plan Office Worker's Concentration, Task Performance and Attitudes." *Applied Acoustics* 119: 119–27. doi:10.1016/j.apacoust.2016.12.011.
- Veitch, Jennifer A., Mariska G.M. Stokkermans, and Guy R. Newsham. 2013. "Linking Lighting Appraisals to Work Behaviors." *Environment and Behavior* 45 (2): 198–214. doi:10.1177/0013916511420560.
- Veitch, JA, GR Newsham, PR Boyce, and CC Jones. 2008. "Lighting Appraisal, Well-Being and Performance in Open-Plan Offices: A Linked Mechanisms Approach." *Lighting Research & Technology* 40 (2): 133–51. doi:10.1177/1477153507086279.
- Veitch, Jennifer A., Kate E. Charles, Kelly M.J. Farley, and Guy R. Newsham. 2007. "A Model of Satisfaction with Open-Plan Office Conditions: COPE Field Findings." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 27 (3): 177–89. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2007.04.002.
- Villa, C., and R. Labayrade. 2016. "A Suitable and Energy-Efficient Luminous Environment for a Shared Office." *Lighting Research and Technology* 48 (6): 755–70. doi:10.1177/1477153515578309.
- Vischer, Jacqueline. C. 2008. "Towards an Environmental Psychology of Workspace: How People Are Affected by Environments for Work." *Architectural Science Review* 51 (2): 97–108. doi:10.3763/asre.2008.5114.
- Vischer, Jacqueline. C., and Gustave-Nicolas. Fischer. 2005. "User Evaluation of the Work Environment: a Diagnostic Approach." *Le Travail Humain* 68 (1): 73. doi:10.3917/th.681.0073.
- Vischer, Jacqueline C., and Mariam Wifi. 2017. "The Effect of Workplace Design on Quality of Life at Work." *Handbook of Environmental Psychology and Quality of Life Research*, 387–400. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-31416-7\_21.
- Walsh, Kieran. 2013. "When I Say ... Triangulation." *Medical Education* 47 (9): 866–66. doi:10.1111/medu.12241.
- Walton, Janet B., Vicki L. Plano Clark, Lori A. Foote, and Carla C. Johnson. 2020.
  "Navigating Intersecting Roads in a Mixed Methods Case Study: A Dissertation Journey." *Journal of Mixed Methods Research* 14 (4): 436–55. doi:10.1177/1558689819872422.
- Wang, Haiying, Guodan Liu, Songtao Hu, and Chao Liu. 2018. "Experimental Investigation about Thermal Effect of Colour on Thermal Sensation and Comfort." *Energy and Buildings* 173: 710–18. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.06.008.

- Wang, Na, and Mohamed Boubekri. 2011. "Design Recommendations Based on Cognitive, Mood and Preference Assessments in a Sunlit Workspace." *Lighting Research & Technology* 43 (1): 55–72. doi:10.1177/1477153510370807.
- Wang, Xiaohu, and Gerasimos A. Gianakis. 1999. "Public Officials' Attitudes toward Subjective Performance Measures." *Public Productivity & Management Review* 22 (4): 537. doi:10.2307/3380935.
- Wargocki, Pawel, David P. Wyon, Yong K. Baik, Geo Clausen, and P. Ole Fanger. 1999.
  "Perceived Air Quality, Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) Symptoms and Productivity in an Office with Two Different Pollution Loads." *Indoor Air* 9 (3): 165–79. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0668.1999.t01-1-00003.x.
- Watson, David, and Lee Anna Clark. 1997. "Measurement and Mismeasurement of Mood: Recurrent and Emergent Issues." *Journal of Personality Assessment* 68 (2): 267–96. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa6802\_4.
- Wegge, Jürgen, Rolf Van Dick, Gary K. Fisher, Christiane Wecking, and Kai Moltzen. 2006.
  "Work Motivation, Organisational Identification, and Well-Being in Call Centre Work." *Work & Stress* 20 (1): 60–83. doi:10.1080/02678370600655553.
- Wegge, Jurgen, Rolf van Dick, Gary K. Fisher, Michael A. West, and Jeremy F. Dawson. 2006. "A Test of Basic Assumptions of Affective Events Theory (AET) in Call Centre Work1." *British Journal of Management* 17 (3): 237–54. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2006.00489.x.
- Wei, Minchen, Kevin W. Houser, Brian Orland, Dean H. Lang, Nilam Ram, Martin J. Sliwinski, and Mallika Bose. 2014. "Field Study of Office Worker Responses to Fluorescent Lighting of Different CCT and Lumen Output." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 39: 62–76. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2014.04.009.
- Weiss, Howard M. 2002. "Conceptual and Empirical Foundations for the Study of Affect at Work." In *Emotions in the Workplace: Understanding the Structure and Role of Emotions in Organizational Behavior*, edited by Robert G. Lord, Richard J. Klimoski, and Ruth Kanfer, 20–63. New York: Wiley.
- Weiss, Howard M., and Russell Cropanzano. 1996. "Affective Events Theory: A Theoretical Discussion of The Structure, Causes and Consequences of Affective Experiences at Work". In *Research in Organizational Behavior: An Annual Series of Analytical Essays and Critical Reviews*, edited by Barry M. Staw and Larry L. Cummings, 18: 1–74. Oxford: Elsevier Science/JAI Press.

Wells, Meredith M., Luke Thelen, and Jennifer Ruark. 2007. "Workspace Personalization and Organizational Culture." *Environment and Behavior* 39 (5): 616–34. doi:10.1177/0013916506295602.

Wibowo, SE. 2016. Manajemen Kinerja. Jakarta: PT. Raja Grafindo Persada.

- Wilhoit, Elizabeth D., Patricia Gettings, Parul Malik, Lauren B. Hearit, Patrice M. Buzzanell, and Brad Ludwig. 2016. "STEM Faculty Response to Proposed Workspace Changes." *Journal of Organizational Change Management* 29 (5): 804–15. doi:10.1108/jocm-04-2015-0064.
- Winefield, Anthony H., Nicole Gillespie, Con Stough, Jagdish Dua, John Hapuarachchi, and Carolyn Boyd. 2003. "Occupational Stress in Australian University Staff: Results from a National Survey." *International Journal of Stress Management* 10 (1): 51–63. doi:10.1037/1072-5245.10.1.51.
- Woods, Charlotte. 2012. "Exploring Emotion in the Higher Education Workplace: Capturing Contrasting Perspectives Using Q Methodology." *Higher Education* 64 (6): 891–909. doi:10.1007/s10734-012-9535-2.
- Woods, Charlotte. 2010. "Employee Wellbeing in the Higher Education Workplace: a Role for Emotion Scholarship." *Higher Education* 60 (2): 171–85. doi:10.1007/s10734-009-9293-y.
- Wong, Venessa. 2013. "Ending the Tyranny of the Open-Plan Office." Bloomberg. Accessed April 27, 2021. <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-07-01/ending-the-tyranny-of-the-open-plan-office</u>
- Wormley, Rob. 2015. Epic Guide To Managing Millennials In The Workplace. Minneapolis, MN: When I Work, Inc. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://wheniwork.com/blog/millennials-in-the-workplace.
- Wright, M.S., S.L. Hill, G.K. Cook, and K.T. Bright. 1999. "The Perception of Lighting Quality in a Non-Uniformly Lit Office Environment." *Facilities* 17 (12/13): 476–84. doi:10.1108/02632779910293479.
- Wright, Thomas A, and Russell Cropanzano. 2007. "The Happy/Productive Worker Thesis Revisited." In *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*. Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Würmli, Peter. n.d. "[Google workplace in Dublin, Ireland]". Ofdesign. https://www.ofdesign.net/interior-design/the-google-headquarters-in-ireland-behind-the-scenes-1436

- Wyon, David. 1996. "Creative thinking as the dependent variable in six environmental experiments: a review." 7th International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate. Indoor Air '98 Nagoya, Japan.
- Xue, Peng, C.M. Mak, and Z.T. Ai. 2016. "A Structured Approach to Overall Environmental Satisfaction in High-Rise Residential Buildings." *Energy and Buildings* 116: 181–89. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.01.006.
- Xue, Peng, C.M. Mak, and H.D. Cheung. 2014. "The Effects of Daylighting and Human Behavior on Luminous Comfort in Residential Buildings: A Questionnaire Survey." *Building and Environment* 81: 51–59. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2014.06.011.
- Yee, Rachel W.Y., Andy C.L. Yeung, and T.C. Edwin Cheng. 2008. "The Impact of Employee Satisfaction on Quality and Profitability in High-Contact Service Industries." *Journal of Operations Management* 26 (5): 651–68. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2008.01.001.
- Yildirim, Kemal, Aysu Akalin-Baskaya, and Mine Celebi. 2007. "The Effects of Window Proximity, Partition Height, and Gender on Perceptions of Open-Plan Offices." *Journal* of Environmental Psychology 27 (2): 154–65. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2007.01.004.
- Yin, Robert K. 2014. *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 5th edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Zalesny, Mary D., and Richard V. Farace. 1987. "Traditional Versus Open Offices: A Comparison of Sociotechnical, Social Relations, and Symbolic Meaning Perspectives." *Academy of Management Journal* 30 (2): 240–59. doi:10.5465/256272.
- Zhang, Qin. 2014. "Assessing the Effects of Instructor Enthusiasm on Classroom Engagement, Learning Goal Orientation, and Academic Self-Efficacy." *Communication Teacher* 28 (1): 44–56. doi:10.1080/17404622.2013.839047.
- Zibarras, Lara, and Rachel Lewis, eds. 2013. *Work and Occupational Psychology: Integrating Theory and Practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Žukauskas, Pranas, Jolita Vveinhardt, and Regina Andriukaitienė. 2018. "Philosophy and Paradigm of Scientific Research." *Management Culture and Corporate Social Responsibility*. doi:10.5772/intechopen.70628.
- ZZA. 2013. 32 Lincoln's Inn Fields: Post Occupancy Evaluation. ZZA Responsive User Environments. https://www.zza.co.uk/sharing/publications/post-occupancy-evaluation/

# **APPENDIX 1**

## Curtin University

## **Permission Letter**

#### Dear Sir/Madam

It is my understanding that you/your organisation are the copyright holder for the following material:xxxxxx. I would like to reproduce an extract of this work in a doctor's thesis which I am currently undertaking at Curtin University in Perth, Western Australia. The subject of my research is Academic workplace. I am carrying out this research in my own right and have no association with any commercial organisation or sponsor.

Once completed, the thesis will be made available in online form via Curtin University's Institutional Repository espace (<u>http://espace.curtin.edu.au</u>). The material will be provided strictly for educational purposes and on a non-commercial basis.

I would be most grateful for your consent to the copying and communication of the work as proposed. If you are willing to grant this consent, please complete and sign the attached approval slip and return it to me at the address shown. Full acknowledgement of the ownership of the copyright and the source of the material will be provided with the material.

If you are not the copyright owner of the material in question, I would be grateful for any information you can provide as to who is likely to hold the copyright.

I look forward to hearing from you and thank you in advance for your consideration of my request.

Kind regards Samhar Rashid PhD Candidate, Architecture and Interior Architecture Curtin University, Design and built environment Faculty of Humanities Email: s.rashid3@student.curtin.edu.au

# **APPENDIX 2**

Curtin University

## Invitation, Information Sheet and Consent Sheet

Dear academic staff

I am Samhar Rashid a PhD student / Interior Architecture Department. My thesis tittle is: "**The Influence of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Productivity in the Open-plan Workplace**". I need volunteers who could give me their opinion about the influence of indoor environment quality (thermal, air quality, acoustic, lighting, layout and colour) in an open-plan workplace, on their productivity .The questionnaire and the interview will take about 30-45 minutes and include judging the influence of the variety of indoor environment qualities on the productivity.

Please let me know if you are willing to donate 30-45 minutes from your time and I will be extremely grateful.

Please contact me using the details below

Kind regards Samhar Rashid PhD Candidate / Department of Architecture Interior Architecture School of Built Environment Curtin University Mobile: Email | s.rashid3@student.curtin.edu.au Web | http://curtin.



## **Information Sheet**

Dear Participant,

- 1. This PhD student research project aims to explore the main research objective:
  - Evaluate the impact of IEQ on satisfaction
  - Evaluate the impact of IEQ on mood
  - Evaluate the impact of IEQ on motivation
  - Evaluate the impact of IEQ on productivity, and
  - Explore whether the impact of IEQ upon satisfaction, motivation or mood affects academic staff perceptions of productivity.
- 2. You will be required to answer a questionnaire and do an interview.
- 3. The total expected time for your responses is 30-45 minutes

4. Your participation is completely voluntary; you will be at liberty to withdraw at any time without giving a reason for withdrawal.

5. The proposed research will not involve potential physical or psychological harms. The researcher will take every possible precaution to minimise the participants' discomfort and inconvenience.

### The contact details of the principal supervisor should readers require further information:

- Dr. Lynn Churchilll, Senior Lecturer, School of Built Environment, Architecture and Interior Architecture.
- E-mail: s.rasid3@student.curtin.edu.au

### The contact details of the researcher should readers require further information:

- Samhar Hikmat Rashid, PhD candidate
- School of Built Environment, Architecture and Interior Architecture.

Curtin University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) has approved this study (HREC number 5276). Should you wish to discuss the study with someone not directly involved, in particular, any matters concerning the conduct of the study or your rights as a participant, or you wish to make a confidential

complaint, you may contact the Ethics Officer on (08) 9266 9223 or the Manager, Research Integrity on (08) 9266 7093 or email hrec@curtin.edu.au.


# **Letter of Consent**

Dear Participant,

Thank you for your cooperation in this study. Your signature will certify that you

-Have been informed of and understand the purposes of the study.

-Have been given an opportunity to ask questions.

-Have received enough information about this study.

-Understand that you are free to withdraw from this study at any time without giving a reason for your withdrawal.

-Are aware that any information, which might potentially identify you, will not be used in published material.

Do you agree to take part in this study? YES NO

Signature of participant: Date:

Name (BLOCK LETTER):

Signature of investigator: Date:

# **APPENDIX 3**

Curtin University

### **Questionnaire – Quantitative Data**

Code of participant:

University Site:

# The Influence of Indoor Environment Quality on Academic Productivity in the Open-plan Workplace

I would like to thank you for your cooperation in assisting with the proposed research. The following questions ask about your experience in a workplace environment.

The questionnaire is divided into seven sections:

- Section One: Artificial Lighting Quality
- · Section Two: Sound
- Section Three: Air Quality
- Section Four: Thermal Conditions
- Section Five: Layout
- Section Six: Colour
- Section Seven: Overall

In each Section you will be asked to consider:

- A: degree of satisfaction;
- B: mood evaluation
- C: motivation scale.

All responses will be kept strictly confidential.

### Section one: Artificial Lighting quality

**A**-Degree of satisfaction

### How satisfied you are with the quality of **artificial lighting** in your workstation?

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

State what you dislike or what is uncomfortable in relation to the **artificial lighting** in your workstation:

Quantity of light in your workstation surface
Glare
Colour of light (e.g. bluish, reddish)
I am happy with artificial lighting
Others, please explain

Do you have access to natural **daylight** in your workplace?

None	Not enough	Reasonable	Plenty	Too much

Do you have control over the **daylight** in your workplace?

	Yes
--	-----

Sometimes No

# **B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: **"What mood response do you associate with the overall lighting level in** your work area during the last week ?"

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

# C: Motivation scale

# Rate the effect of the following factors in your workplace on your willingness to perform tasks.

-Artificial Lighting quality of your workstation

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

Rate the effect of the following factors on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks.

-Lighting quality

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

### Section two: Sound

**A**-Degree of satisfaction

How satisfied you are with the **sound level** in your workstation?

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

State what you dislike or what is uncomfortable in relation to the **sound level** of your workstation:

Amount of sound from other people's conversations

Amount of sound from ventilation

Acoustic privacy

I am happy with the sound level

Others, please explain

**B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: "What mood response do you associate with the sound level in your work area during the last week?"

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

# C- Motivation scale

Rate the effect of the **sound level** on your **willingness** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

Rate the effect of the **sound level** on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# Section three: Air quality

**A-** Degree of Satisfaction

How satisfied are you with the overall **air quality** in your workplace?

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

State what you dislike or what is uncomfortable in relation to the **air quality** in your workplace:



Air movement

Fresh air

	I am happy with the air quality
	Others
Please	, explain

# **B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: "What mood response do you associate with the air quality in your work area during the last week?"

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

**C**-Motivation scale

Rate the effect of the **air quality** on your **willingness** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

Rate the effect of the **air quality** on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# **Section four: Thermal conditions**

Do you have **air conditioning** in your workplace?

Yes No

Do you have control over thermal conditions in your workplace?

Yes Sometime No

A- Degree of satisfaction

How satisfied you are with the thermal conditions in your workplace?

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

State what you dislike or what is uncomfortable in relation to the thermal conditions in your workplace.

	The temperature (e.g. cold, hot)
	Humidity
	I am happy with the thermal condition
	Others
Please	, explain

# **B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: "What mood response do you associate with the thermal conditions in your work area during the last week?"

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

# C-Motivation scale

# Rate the effect of the **thermal conditions** on your **willingness** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# Rate the effect of the **thermal conditions** on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

### Section five: Layout

# **A-** Degree of satisfaction

## How satisfied you are with the open -plan office as a workplace

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# State what you dislike or uncomfortable in relation to the **layout of open plan office** of your workstation:

Space available for individual work and storage in your office.

Visual privacy (height of partitions).

Interaction with co-workers in your office.

I am happy with the layout of open plan office

Others, please explain

**B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: "What mood response do you associate with the Layout in your work an	ea
during the last week?"	

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

# C- Motivation scale

Rate the effect of the office **layout on** your **willingness** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

Rate the effect of the office **layout** on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks.

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# Section six: Colour

A-Degree of satisfaction

How satisfied you are with the **colours** in your workplace

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

State what you dislike or what is uncomfortable in relation to the **colour conditions in** your workplace



Colour itself



Depth of colour



Too much colour

	Colour Disharmony
	I am happy with the colours
	Others
Please	, explain

### **B:** Mood evaluation

Please answer the question: "What mood response do you associate with the colour in your work area during the last week?"

Mood	Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
response					
Annoyed					
Confusion					
Unhappy					
Fatigued					
Energetic					
Nervous					

# C -Motivation scale

# Rate the effect of the **colours** on your **willingness** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# Rate the effect of the **colours** on your **enthusiasm** to perform tasks:

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# Section seven: Overall

How would you weight the impact of the following indoor environment quality factors on your productivity at work?

# 1-Lighting system

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# 2-Sound level

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# **3-Air quality**

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

### **4-Thermal conditions**

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# 5-Layout

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# 6-Colour

Not at all	Slightly	Moderately	Quite	Extremely

# **Background information**

How long have you been working as an academic in an open-plan office?

Less than one year.

From 1 year to 3 years.

More than 3 years.

Has your academic workplace ever been an individual office?

 $\Box_{\text{Yes}}$   $\Box_{\text{No}}$ 

If yes, how do you rate your productivity in an individual office?

Very	Substandard	Moderately	Good	Extremely good
substandard				

How do you rate your productivity in open-plan office?

Very	Substandard	Moderately	Good	Extremely good
substandard				

What are the types of work you are involved in?

Teaching (undergraduate or postgraduate)

Collaboration work

Undertaking research

Consultation with students

\_\_\_\_ Staff meeting

\_\_\_\_ Administrative work,

Online meeting

Preparing for study materials	
Evaluation and assessment	
Others, please clarify	
N	
Name:	_
Date:	
Age:	
Under 50 years 50 years old over 50 years	
Gender:	
Male - Female	
Academic Field:	
Academic qualification:	

# **APPENDIX 4**



### Semi-Structured Interview — Quantitative Data

1- Describe your open-plan office.

2- Have you worked in a private office? If yes, compare your productivity between private and open-plan office.

3- What aspect of indoor environment quality affects your work in the office? .... Why do IEQ factors influence your work?

- 4- Do you think IEQ affects your mood/ motivation? Which one the most and why?
- 5- Do you think this kind of office is suitable for your work activates as academic?
- 6- How many hours do you spend in your office?
- 7- Do you want to add something?
- 8- Do you think this study has covered all aspects of working in open-plan office?

# **APPENDIX 5**

# Handhold Devices Details



Lux Meters to measure

light intensity light

Measuring Range	0 - 20000 Lux, 0 - 40000 Lux, 0 - 100000 Lux,
(Lux)	0- 200000 Lux, 0 - 50000 Lux
Accuracy (%)	3 %, 10 %, 5 %
Resolution (Lux)	100 Lux, 0.1 Lux, 10 Lux, 1 Lux
Model	LX-10
Power	Electric



# Digital Carbon Dioxide Temperature Humidity

Measurements:	CO2 level, temperature & Humidity Meter
CO2 Range:	0~9999ppm
Temperature Range:	-10~60°C (14~140°F)
Humidity Range:	0.1% ~ 99.9%RH
Dew Point Range:	-20.0~59.9°C



Sound Level meter

# **APPENDIX 6**

Relationship Between age (< 50, >=50) and Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation with six IEQ Factors

#### - Satisfaction

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and satisfaction with sound level

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	7.259	4	.123
	Likelihood Ratio	7.897	4	.095
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.443	1	.230
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.155	3	.161
	Likelihood Ratio	5.606	3	.132
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.401	1	.121
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.283	4	.369
	Likelihood Ratio	4.787	4	.310
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.824	1	.093
	N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and satisfaction with air quality

	Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)	
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	5.778	5	.328	
	Likelihood Ratio	7.217	5	.205	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.032	1	.858	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	2.249	4	.690	
	Likelihood Ratio	2.637	4	.620	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.273	1	.601	
	N of Valid Cases	19			

CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	1.033	4	.905
	Likelihood Ratio	1.399	4	.844
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.109	1	.741
	N of Valid Cases	33		

# Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and satisfaction with thermal conditions

-						
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)		
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	.533	3	.912		
	Likelihood Ratio	.773	3	.856		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.295	1	.587		
	N of Valid Cases	20				
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.505	3	.212		
	Likelihood Ratio	5.409	3	.144		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.929	1	.087		
	N of Valid Cases	19				
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	11.276	5	.056		
	Likelihood Ratio	13.706	5	.018		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.526	1	.468		
	N of Valid Cases	34				

Chi-Square Tests

# Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and satisfaction with colours

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	5.067	4	.281
	Likelihood Ratio	6.032	4	.197
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.000	1	1.000
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.950	5	.422
	Likelihood Ratio	6.820	5	.234
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.538	1	.463
	N of Valid Cases	18		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	.745	4	.946
	Likelihood Ratio	.745	4	.946

Linear-by-Linear Association	.074	1	.786
N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and satisfaction with office layout

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
<u>ت</u> ۲۵۱	Pearson Chi-Square	5.067	1	281
TOL		5.007	Ŧ	.201
	Likelihood Ratio	6.032	4	.197
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.000	1	1.000
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.950	5	.422
	Likelihood Ratio	6.820	5	.234
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.538	1	.463
	N of Valid Cases	18		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	.745	4	.946
	Likelihood Ratio	.745	4	.946
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.074	1	.786
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Chi-Square Tests

#### -Mood

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by overall lighting level

	Chi-Square Tests				
				Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Building		Value	df	sided)	
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	5.600	8	.692	
	Likelihood Ratio	6.766	8	.562	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.004	1	.947	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.130	6	.527	
	Likelihood Ratio	6.939	6	.327	

	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.876	1	.090
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	9.129	8	.331
	Likelihood Ratio	11.801	8	.160
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.185	1	.276
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by sound level

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.711	11	.944
	Likelihood Ratio	6.399	11	.845
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.360	1	.548
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	14.214	12	.287
	Likelihood Ratio	19.272	12	.082
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.447	1	.504
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	14.395	14	.421
	Likelihood Ratio	18.972	14	.166
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.920	1	.166
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by air quality

	Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Ballaling		Value	ŭ	sided)	
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.000	6	.238	
	Likelihood Ratio	8.997	6	.174	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.763	1	.383	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.505	6	.609	
	Likelihood Ratio	5.950	6	.429	
-		-	257		

	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.154	1	.142
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	9.241	12	.682
	Likelihood Ratio	12.595	12	.399
	Linear-by-Linear Association	3.801	1	.051
	N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by thermal conditions

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.000	6	.238
	Likelihood Ratio	8.997	6	.174
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.763	1	.383
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.505	6	.609
	Likelihood Ratio	5.950	6	.429
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.154	1	.142
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	9.241	12	.682
	Likelihood Ratio	12.595	12	.399
	Linear-by-Linear Association	3.801	1	.051
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by colours

Chi-Squ	lare	Tests	
			_

Duiteline		Malua	-16	Asymp. Sig. (2-
Building		value	ar	sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	3.407	2	.182
	Likelihood Ratio	3.424	2	.181
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.433	1	.119
	N of Valid Cases	20		

CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	1.907	4	.753
	Likelihood Ratio	2.637	4	.620
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.778	1	.378
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	9.075	6	.169
	Likelihood Ratio	12.054	6	.061
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.254	1	.263
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and mood evoked by office layout

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)	
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	3.378	9	.947	
	Likelihood Ratio	4.673	9	.862	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.229	1	.268	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	12.847	10	.232	
	Likelihood Ratio	17.546	10	.063	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.116	1	.146	
	N of Valid Cases	19			
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	14.685	12	.259	
	Likelihood Ratio	19.903	12	.069	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.039	1	.308	
	N of Valid Cases	34			

**Chi-Square Tests** 

#### -Motivation

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and the degree to which lighting level impacts motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.489	6	.371
	Likelihood Ratio	8.125	6	.229
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.413	1	.520
	N of Valid Cases	20		

CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	7.200	7	.408
	Likelihood Ratio	9.821	7	.199
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.651	1	.420
	N of Valid Cases	18		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	14.115	7	.059
	Likelihood Ratio	17.497	7	.014
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.458	1	.227
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and the degree to which sound level impacts motivation to perform tasks

Buildina		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
				01000)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	9.333	7	.230
	Likelihood Ratio	11.036	7	.137
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.011	1	.918
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	2.454	6	.874
	Likelihood Ratio	3.178	6	.786
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.124	1	.725
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	5.945	8	.653
	Likelihood Ratio	7.846	8	.449
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.165	1	.684
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Chi-Sa	uaro	Toete
CU1-20	uare	Tests

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) the degree to which air quality impacts motivation to perform tasks

	Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)	
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.000	7	.780	
	Likelihood Ratio	5.491	7	.600	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.305	1	.581	
	N of Valid Cases	20			

Α

CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	3.958	7	.785
	Likelihood Ratio	5.042	7	.655
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.198	1	.656
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	12.219	8	.142
	Likelihood Ratio	15.350	8	.053
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.794	1	.373
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and the degree to which thermal conditions impact motivation to perform tasks

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	9.206	6	.162
	Likelihood Ratio	10.160	6	.118
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.029	1	.864
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	9.086	4	.059
	Likelihood Ratio	10.552	4	.032
	Linear-by-Linear Association	3.985	1	.046
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	10.301	7	.172
	Likelihood Ratio	13.678	7	.057
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.640	1	.200
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Chi-Square Tests

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and the degree to which environmental colours impact motivation to perform tasks

	Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)	
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.667ª	6	.587	
	Likelihood Ratio	6.363	6	.384	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.002	1	.960	
	N of Valid Cases	20			

	_			_
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.140 <sup>b</sup>	4	.273
	Likelihood Ratio	6.259	4	.181
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.777	1	.378
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	11 <b>.962</b> °	4	.018
	Likelihood Ratio	14.758	4	.005
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.009	1	.926
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between age (< 50, >=50) and the degree to which the office layout impacts motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	9.511	8	.301
	Likelihood Ratio	10.898	8	.208
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.450	1	.502
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.105	5	.534
	Likelihood Ratio	5.213	5	.390
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.039	1	.844
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	3.057	6	.802
	Likelihood Ratio	3.808	6	.703
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.168	1	.682
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Chi-Squ	are T	ests
---------	-------	------

# **APPENDIX 7**

Relationship Between Gender and Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation with six IEQ Factors

### -Satisfaction

A

Relationship between gender and satisfaction with sound level

	Chi-Square Tests			
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	2.667	4	.615
	Likelihood Ratio	3.765	4	.439
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.443	1	.230
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	2.801	3	.423
	Likelihood Ratio	2.703	3	.440
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.241	1	.265
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.172	4	.383
	Likelihood Ratio	4.466	4	.347
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.090	1	.297
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and satisfaction with air quality

Chi-Square Tests				
				Asymp. Sig. (2-
Building		Value	df	sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.593	5	.468
	Likelihood Ratio	6.309	5	.277
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.578	1	.108
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	3.958	4	.412
	Likelihood Ratio	5.337	4	.254
	Linear-by-Linear Association	3.295	1	.069

	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	5.607	4	.230
	Likelihood Ratio	5.620	4	.229
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.544	1	.214
	N of Valid Cases	33		

# Relationship between gender and satisfaction with thermal conditions

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	.533	3	.912
	Likelihood Ratio	.773	3	.856
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.295	1	.587
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	6.658	3	.084
	Likelihood Ratio	8.423	3	.038
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.056	1	.152
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.399	5	.493
	Likelihood Ratio	4.478	5	.483
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.085	1	.298
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and satisfaction with colours

				Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Building		Value	df	sided)	
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.148	4	.086	
	Likelihood Ratio	10.128	4	.038	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.239	1	.625	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	3.500	5	.623	
	Likelihood Ratio	5.004	5	.415	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.054	1	.817	

	N of Valid Cases	18		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	5.434	4	.246
	Likelihood Ratio	5.286	4	.259
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.012	1	.913
	N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between gender and satisfaction with office layout

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	5.600	5	.347
	Likelihood Ratio	6.766	5	.239
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.173	1	.279
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.501	3	.139
	Likelihood Ratio	7.063	3	.070
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.252	1	.133
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.384	4	.356
	Likelihood Ratio	5.693	4	.223
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.258	1	.611
	N of Valid Cases	34		

#### - Mood

# Relationship between gender and mood evoked by overall lighting level

				Asymp. Sig. (2-
Building		Value	df	sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.000	8	.433
	Likelihood Ratio	9.677	8	.288
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.358	1	.549
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	3.352	6	.764
	Likelihood Ratio	4.774	6	.573

	Linear-by-Linear Association N of Valid Cases	1.825 19	1	.177
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	6.215	8	.623
	Likelihood Ratio	6.925	8	.545
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.012	1	.911
	N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between gender and mood evoked by sound level

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.844	11	.812
	Likelihood Ratio	8.125	11	.702
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.069	1	.792
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	13.600	12	.327
	Likelihood Ratio	17.107	12	.146
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.294	1	.255
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	16.874	14	.263
	Likelihood Ratio	19.926	14	.132
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.048	1	.827
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and mood evoked by air quality

Chi-Square Tests				
Buildina		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			-	elaea)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.667	6	.353
	Likelihood Ratio	8.630	6	.195
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.014	1	.156
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	8.047	6	.235
	Likelihood Ratio	10.377	6	.110
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.933	1	.334

	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	10.024	12	.614
	Likelihood Ratio	11.940	12	.451
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.075	1	.784
	N of Valid Cases	34		

### Relationship between gender and mood evoked by thermal conditions

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.667	6	.353
	Likelihood Ratio	8.630	6	.195
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.014	1	.156
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	8.047	6	.235
	Likelihood Ratio	10.377	6	.110
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.933	1	.334
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	10.024	12	.614
	Likelihood Ratio	11.940	12	.451
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.075	1	.784
	N of Valid Cases	34		

#### Chi-Square Tests

# Relationship between gender and mood evoked by colours

	Chi-Square Tests				
				Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Building		Value	df	sided)	
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	3.407	2	.182	
	Likelihood Ratio	3.424	2	.181	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.433	1	.119	
	N of Valid Cases	20			
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.344	4	.361	
	Likelihood Ratio	5.650	4	.227	

	Linear-by-Linear Association	.592	1	.442
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	7.194	6	.303
	Likelihood Ratio	9.579	6	.144
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.950	1	.330
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and mood evoked by office layout

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	11.733	9	.229
	Likelihood Ratio	12.991	9	.163
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.031	1	.861
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	10.129	10	.429
	Likelihood Ratio	12.609	10	.246
	Linear-by-Linear Association	2.556	1	.110
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	12.348	12	.418
	Likelihood Ratio	13.586	12	.328
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.693	1	.405
	N of Valid Cases	34		

#### - Motivation

Relationship between gender and the degree to which lighting level impacts motivation to perform tasks

-	Chi-Square Tests				
				Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Building		Value	df	sided)	
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	2.933	6	.817	
	Likelihood Ratio	3.765	6	.708	
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.020	1	.312	
	N of Valid Cases	20			

1				
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	6.750	7	.455
	Likelihood Ratio	9.052	7	.249
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.045	1	.832
	N of Valid Cases	18		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	7.259	7	.402
	Likelihood Ratio	8.040	7	.329
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.910	1	.340
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between gender and the degree to which sound level impacts motivation to perform tasks

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.667	7	.464
	Likelihood Ratio	8.264	7	.310
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.011	1	.918
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	3.804	6	.703
	Likelihood Ratio	4.832	6	.566
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.058	1	.809
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	5.956	8	.652
	Likelihood Ratio	7.579	8	.476
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.641	1	.200
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Chi-Square	Tests
------------	-------

Relationship between gender and the degree to which air quality impacts motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	5.778	7	.566
	Likelihood Ratio	7.584	7	.371

	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.836	1	.175
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.115	7	.646
	Likelihood Ratio	6.696	7	.461
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.843	1	.175
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	9.273	8	.320
	Likelihood Ratio	9.999	8	.265
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.880	1	.348
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and the degree to which thermal conditions impact motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square Tests				
Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2- sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.762	6	.575
	Likelihood Ratio	5.661	6	.462
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.735	1	.391
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.344	4	.361
	Likelihood Ratio	4.568	4	.335
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.037	1	.847
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	3.394	7	.846
	Likelihood Ratio	4.221	7	.754
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.988	1	.320
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# Relationship between gender and the degree to which environmental colours impact motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square Tests				
			Asymp. Sig. (2-	
Building	Value	df	sided)	
T & L Pearson Chi-Square	2.444	6	.875	

	Likelihood Ratio	3.591	6	.732
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.721	1	.396
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.851	4	.303
	Likelihood Ratio	5.682	4	.224
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.775	1	.379
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	10.709	4	.030
	Likelihood Ratio	13.473	4	.009
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.175	1	.676
	N of Valid Cases	34		

Relationship between gender and the degree to which the office layout impacts motivation to perform tasks

		-		
				Asymp. Sig. (2-
Building		Value	df	sided)
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	7.733	8	.460
	Likelihood Ratio	9.172	8	.328
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.216	1	.642
	N of Valid Cases	20		
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.509	5	.479
	Likelihood Ratio	5.820	5	.324
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.578	1	.209
	N of Valid Cases	19		
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	3.063	6	.801
	Likelihood Ratio	3.542	6	.738
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.058	1	.809
	N of Valid Cases	34		

# **APPENDIX 8**

Relationship between Years Working as an Academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and Satisfaction, Mood and Motivation with six IEQ Factors

#### -Satiation

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and satisfaction with sound level

Cni-Square lests									
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point		
Building		Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability		
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	22.231	8	.005	.039				
	Likelihood Ratio	10.691	8	.220	.177				
	Fisher's Exact Test	10.725			.193				
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.940	1	.164	.183	.118	.054		
	N of Valid Cases	20							
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		6.821	6	.338	.393				
	Likelihood Ratio	5.878	6	.437	.587				
	Fisher's Exact Test	5.849			.545				
	Linear-by-Linear	830	1	362	457	238	003		
	Association	.030	1	.302	.457	.230	.093		
	N of Valid Cases	19							
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.610	8	.798	.738				
	Likelihood Ratio	4.111	8	.847	.860				
	Fisher's Exact Test	8.708			.576				
	Linear-by-Linear	650	4	410	407	255	097		
	Association	.052	1	.419	.497	.255	.087		
	N of Valid Cases	34							

Chi-Square Tests

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and satisfaction with air quality

				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Building		Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.389	10	.928	.913		
	Likelihood Ratio	5.629	10	.845	.913		
	Fisher's Exact Test	9.201			.887		
	Linear-by-Linear	.998	1	.318	.362	.210	.081
	Association						
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		5.846	8	.664	.805		
	Likelihood Ratio	5.337	8	.721	.858		
	Fisher's Exact Test	7.011			.858		
	Linear-by-Linear	004	4	222	254	044	000
	Association	.981	1	.322	.354	.214	.080
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.724	8	.787	.704		
	Likelihood Ratio	5.027	8	.755	.802		
	Fisher's Exact Test	7.650			.703		
	Linear-by-Linear	070		054	45.4		
	Association	.870	1	.351	.454	.226	.089
	N of Valid Cases	33					

# Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 – 3 years, > 3 years) and satisfaction with thermal conditions Chi-Square Tests

Building		Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)	Point Probability
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	3.517	6	.742	.807		
	Likelihood Ratio	3.488	6	.746	.907		
	Fisher's Exact Test	5.185			.853		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.007	1	.933	1.000	.523	.158
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		4.209	6	.648	.674		
	Likelihood Ratio	4.832	6	.566	.674		
	Fisher's Exact Test	4.689			.807		
	Linear-by-Linear	1 450	1	227	262	162	083
	Association	1.459	1	.221	.202	.102	.005
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	13.053	10	.221	.206		
Likelihood Ratio	13.339	10	.205	.081			
---------------------------------	--------	----	------	------	------	------	
Fisher's Exact Test	14.588			.096			
Linear-by-Linear Association	.066	1	.797	.878	.468	.119	
N of Valid Cases	34						

### Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and satisfaction with colours

	Chi-Square Tests										
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point				
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability				
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	12.770	8	.120	.128						
	Likelihood Ratio	11.716	8	.164	.093						
	Fisher's Exact Test	12.605			.086						
	Linear-by-Linear	.093	1	.761	.850	.422	.131				
	Association			_			-				
	N of Valid Cases	20									
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	4.367	10	.929	.917						
	Likelihood Ratio	5.912	10	.823	.917						
	Fisher's Exact Test	8.370			1.000						
	Linear-by-Linear	161	1	600	705	125	106				
	Association	.101	1	.000	.795	.420	.100				
	N of Valid Cases	18									
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	3.454	8	.903	.870						
	Likelihood Ratio	3.747	8	.879	.949						
	Fisher's Exact Test	7.063			.761						
	Linear-by-Linear	000	4	005	4 000	520	4.4.4				
	Association	.029	1	.865	1.000	.539	.144				
	N of Valid Cases	34									

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and satisfaction with office layout

	Chi-Square resis									
			Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point				
Building	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability				
T & L Pearson Chi-Square	10.544	10	.394	.382						

	Likelihood Ratio	6.904	10	.734	.805		
	Fisher's Exact Test	10.165			.772		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.454	1	.500	.621	.313	.109
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	2.582	6	.859	1.000		
	Likelihood Ratio	2.739	6	.841	1.000		
	Fisher's Exact Test	3.514			1.000		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.169	1	.681	.770	.408	.110
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	5.900	8	.658	.794		
	Likelihood Ratio	6.433	8	.599	.754		
	Fisher's Exact Test	6.433			.829		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.068	1	.794	.888	.457	.109
	N of Valid Cases	34					

### -Mood

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by overall lighting level

	Chi-Square Tests								
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point		
Buildin	ıg	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability		
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.900	16	.917	.918				
	Likelihood Ratio	8.997	16	.914	.939				
	Fisher's Exact Test	16.558			.939				
	Linear-by-Linear	000	1	002	064	509	004		
	Association	.000	1	.903	.904	.506	.004		
	N of Valid Cases	20							

CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	5.011	12	.958	.975		
	Likelihood Ratio	6.362	12	.897	.975		
	Fisher's Exact Test	9.876			1.000		
	Linear-by-Linear	4 00 4		405	101	075	010
	Association	1.924	1	.165	.181	.075	.018
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	10.363	16	.847	.713		
	Likelihood Ratio	8.507	16	.932	.701		
	Fisher's Exact Test	20.999			.655		
	Linear-by-Linear	2000	4	<b>F07</b>	004	255	000
	Association	.296	1	.987	.604	.300	.008
	N of Valid Cases	34					

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by sound level

				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Buildin	Building		df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	14.211	22	.894	.887		
	Likelihood Ratio	13.129	22	.929	.945		
	Fisher's Exact Test	25.519			.935		
	Linear-by-Linear	506	1	477	523	272	008
	Association	.500		.477	.020	.212	.000
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	23.092	24	.514	.562		
	Likelihood Ratio	22.514	24	.549	.411		
	Fisher's Exact Test	30.362			.411		
	Linear-by-Linear	760	1	291	405	200	000
	Association	.709	1	.301	.405	.209	.009
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	27.601	28	.486	.458		
	Likelihood Ratio	20.216	28	.856	.292		
	Fisher's Exact Test	38.313			.243		
	Linear-by-Linear	064	4	900	920	457	020
	Association	.064	1	.800	.830	.457	.030
	N of Valid Cases	34					

#### **Chi-Square Tests** Asymp. Sig. Exact Sig. Exact Sig. Point Building Value df (2-sided) (2-sided) (1-sided) Probability T & L Pearson Chi-Square 6.625 12 .881 .860 7.410 12 .829 .913 Likelihood Ratio Fisher's Exact Test 11.700 .886 Linear-by-Linear .036 1.073 1 .300 .360 .199 Association N of Valid Cases 20 CUSP Pearson Chi-Square 10.348 12 .585 .714 Likelihood Ratio 11.965 12 .449 .535 Fisher's Exact Test 12.819 .615 Linear-by-Linear .009 .927 1 .336 .358 .176 Association N of Valid Cases 19 CIT Pearson Chi-Square 23.815 24 .472 .444 13.025 Likelihood Ratio 24 .966 .606 Fisher's Exact Test 34.120 .502 Linear-by-Linear .029 .345 1 .557 .596 .321 Association N of Valid Cases 34

### Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by air quality

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by thermal conditions

Duildin		Value	-16	Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Buildin	g	value	ar	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	6.625	12	.881	.860		
	Likelihood Ratio	7.410	12	.829	.913		
	Fisher's Exact Test	11.700			.886		
	Linear-by-Linear	1 072	4	200	260	100	026
	Association	1.073	1	.300	.300	.199	.036
	N of Valid Cases	20					

							1
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	10.348	12	.585	.714		
	Likelihood Ratio	11.965	12	.449	.535		
	Fisher's Exact Test	12.819			.615		
	Linear-by-Linear	007	4	220	250	470	000
	Association	.927	1	.330	.358	.176	.009
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	23.815	24	.472	.444		
	Likelihood Ratio	13.025	24	.966	.606		
	Fisher's Exact Test	34.120			.502		
	Linear-by-Linear	245	4	667	506	204	020
	Association	.345	1	.007	.596	.321	.029
	N of Valid Cases	34					

### Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by colours

				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Buildin	Building		df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T & L	Pearson Chi-Square	4.463	4	.347	.447		
	Likelihood Ratio	3.929	4	.416	.447		
	Fisher's Exact Test	6.337			.447		
	Linear-by-Linear	1 216	1	270	250	250	158
	Association	1.210	•	.270	.200	.200	.100
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	1.997	8	.981	1.000		
	Likelihood Ratio	2.739	8	.950	1.000		
	Fisher's Exact Test	6.503			1.000		
	Linear-by-Linear	221	4	620	604	202	072
	Association	.221	1	.639	.094	.383	.073
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	4.001	12	.983	.726		
	Likelihood Ratio	4.130	12	.981	.847		
	Fisher's Exact Test	14.641			.675		
	Linear-by-Linear	070	4	700	000	500	00.4
	Association	.078	1	.780	.838	.509	.034
	N of Valid Cases	34					

Chi-Square Tests

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and mood evoked by office layout

		Chi-S	quare Tes	sts			
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	8.900	18	.962	.972		
	Likelihood Ratio	9.677	18	.942	.972		
	Fisher's Exact Test	18.926			.975		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.660	1	.198	.215	.100	.003
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	16.515	20	.684	.737		
	Likelihood Ratio	18.015	20	.586	.553		
	Fisher's Exact Test	24.236			.580		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.488	1	.222	.246	.117	.014
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	12.645	24	.972	.879		
	Likelihood Ratio	11.213	24	.987	.875		
	Fisher's Exact Test	30.310			.879		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.059	1	.809	.832	.472	.022
	N of Valid Cases	34					

### -Motivation

## Relationship between years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which lighting level impacts motivation to perform tasks

				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Building		Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	14.178	12	.290	.311		
	Likelihood Ratio	14.176	12	.290	.186		
	Fisher's Exact Test	15.850			.189		
	Linear-by-Linear	1.727	1	.189	.211	.113	.028
	N of Valid Cases	20					

CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	14.150	14	.439	.455		
	Likelihood Ratio	15.505	14	.345	.310		
	Fisher's Exact Test	17.072			.360		
	Linear-by-Linear	4 007	4	000	070	405	0.14
	Association	1.037	1	.308	.370	.185	.041
	N of Valid Cases	18					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	18.790	14	.173	.154		
	Likelihood Ratio	15.521	14	.344	.115		
	Fisher's Exact Test	18.756			.135		
	Linear-by-Linear	1 007	4	055	200	454	000
	Association	1.297	1	.255	.280	.151	.038
	N of Valid Cases	34					

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which sound level impacts motivation to perform tasks

	Chi-Square Tests									
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point			
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability			
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	13.111	14	.518	.604					
	Likelihood Ratio	12.221	14	.589	.539					
	Fisher's Exact Test	15.080	1 '		.643					
	Linear-by-Linear	269		544	509	210	056			
	Association	.300	1 ''	.044	.090	.519	.050			
	N of Valid Cases	20	L							
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	9.354	12	.672	.726					
	Likelihood Ratio	10.918	12	.536	.601	1				
1	Fisher's Exact Test	12.819	1 '		.616	1				
1	Linear-by-Linear	1.10	1 /	600	750	200	057			
	Association	.149	1 1	.699	./52	.300	.057			
	N of Valid Cases	19	L'							
СІТ	Pearson Chi-Square	19.858	16	.227	.247	 				
	Likelihood Ratio	14.071	16	.593	.288					
	Fisher's Exact Test	20.422	1		.267					

Linear-by-Linear Association	.025	1	.874	.938	.479	.067
N of Valid Cases	34					

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which air quality impacts motivation to perform tasks

	Chi-Square Tests									
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point			
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability			
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	10.611	14	.716	.756					
	Likelihood Ratio	11.680	14	.632	.619					
	Fisher's Exact Test	15.527			.579					
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.737	1	.391	.461	.234	.048			
	N of Valid Cases	20								
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		12.131	14	.596	.634					
	Likelihood Ratio	13.150	14	.515	.644					
	Fisher's Exact Test	15.846			.644					
	Linear-by-Linear	1.076	1	.300	.338	.178	.035			
	Association									
	N of Valid Cases	19								
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	13.920	16	.605	.436					
	Likelihood Ratio	12.381	16	.717	.328					
	Fisher's Exact Test	22.503			.346					
	Linear-by-Linear									
	Association	3.102	1	.078	.077	.039	.009			
	N of Valid Cases	34								

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which thermal conditions impact motivation to perform tasks

				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point				
Buildin	ıg	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability				
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	15.361	12	.222	.248						
	Likelihood Ratio	13.634	12	.325	.176						
	Fisher's Exact Test	16.434			.124						

#### Chi-Square Tests

### Appendices

	Linear-by-Linear Association	1.419	1	.234	.256	.138	.036
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		3.459	8	.902	1.000		
	Likelihood Ratio	3.785	8	.876	1.000		
	Fisher's Exact Test	6.119			1.000		
	Linear-by-Linear	214	4	644	745	274	091
	Association	.214	1	.644	.745	.374	.081
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	22.159	14	.075	.112		
	Likelihood Ratio	17.247	14	.243	.055		
	Fisher's Exact Test	20.507			.055		
	Linear-by-Linear	4 404		005	004	045	007
	Association	4.421	1	.035	.031	.015	.007
	N of Valid Cases	34					

# Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which environmental colours impact motivation to perform tasks

	Chi-Square Tests									
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point			
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability			
T&L	Pearson Chi-Square	7.750	12	.804	.783					
	Likelihood Ratio	8.595	12	.737	.746					
	Fisher's Exact Test	12.275			.862					
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.784	1	.376	.418	.224	.039			
	N of Valid Cases	20								
CUSP	Pearson Chi-Square	6.222	8	.622	.618					
	Likelihood Ratio	7.408	8	.493	.561					
	Fisher's Exact Test	8.275			.569					
	Linear-by-Linear	000	1	988	1 000	538	106			
	Association	.000		.000	1.000	.000	.100			
	N of Valid Cases	19								
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	14.538	8	.069	.092					
	Likelihood Ratio	14.336	8	.073	.023					
	Fisher's Exact Test	13.709			.024					

Linear-by-Linear Association	.000	1	.986	1.000	.574	.108
N of Valid Cases	34					

Relationship between 'years working as an academic' (< 1 year, 1 - 3 years, > 3 years) and the degree to which the office layout impacts motivation to perform tasks

Chi-Square resis							
				Asymp. Sig.	Exact Sig.	Exact Sig.	Point
Buildin	g	Value	df	(2-sided)	(2-sided)	(1-sided)	Probability
CTL	Pearson Chi-Square	28.600	16	.027	.074		
	Likelihood Ratio	16.948	16	.389	.181		
	Fisher's Exact Test	21.292			.158		
	Linear-by-Linear Association	.002	1	.962	1.000	.497	.059
	N of Valid Cases	20					
CUSP Pearson Chi-Square		10.231	10	.420	.450		
	Likelihood Ratio	11.366	10	.330	.304		
	Fisher's Exact Test	12.112			.300		
	Linear-by-Linear	1 704	1	190	217	115	022
	Association	1.794	'	.100	.217	.115	.032
	N of Valid Cases	19					
CIT	Pearson Chi-Square	6.291	12	.901	.987		
	Likelihood Ratio	6.604	12	.883	.982		
	Fisher's Exact Test	9.577			.982		
	Linear-by-Linear	470	1	400	EC1	295	052
	Association	.472	1	.492	100.	.285	.053
	N of Valid Cases	34					